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Purpose 
 
Pursuant to Ordering Paragraph 5 of Decision (D.) 16-12-010 (GT&S Phase II 
Decision), PG&E is required to file and serve a copy of PG&E’s request to the Internal 
Revenue Service (IRS) for a private letter ruling regarding whether the adopted rate 
base offset complies with IRS normalization rules at least 30 days in advance of 
submission to the IRS. 
 
Background 
 
On December 5, 2016, the Commission (Commission or CPUC) issued D.16-12-010 
which finalized the ratemaking treatment related to the $850 million San Bruno Penalty 
adopted in D.15-14-024 and affirmed that the capital portion of the San Bruno penalty 
should equal $688.5 million.     
 
In D.16-12-010, the Commission created a regulatory liability in the amount of $688.5 
million ($379.3 million relating to capital costs incurred in 2015 and $309.2 million 
relating to capital costs incurred in 2016) as an offset to rate base.  To address PG&E’s 
concern that the approach adopted could violate the normalization rules of the IRS, the 
Commission expressed its intention that PG&E comply with normalization rules and 
allowed PG&E to establish a Tax Normalization Memorandum Account to track relevant 
costs. 
 
On December 9, 2016, PG&E filed a Tier 2 Advice Letter 3790-G to establish a Tax 
Normalization Memorandum Account to track relevant costs.   
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The Commission also ordered that, in the event that PG&E seeks a ruling from the IRS 
on the normalization issue, PG&E must file a Tier 1 advice letter at least 30 days before 
sending the request to the IRS.  
 
A copy of PG&E’s ruling request to be filed with the IRS is attached as Attachment A. 
 
This filing would not increase any current rate or charge, cause the withdrawal of 
service, or conflict with any rate schedule or rule. 
 
Protests 
 
Anyone wishing to protest this filing may do so by letter sent via U.S. mail, facsimile or 
E-mail, no later than February 27, which is 21 days1 after the date of this filing.  Protests 
must be submitted to: 
 

CPUC Energy Division 
ED Tariff Unit 
505 Van Ness Avenue, 4th Floor 
San Francisco, California  94102 
 
Facsimile: (415) 703-2200 
E-mail: EDTariffUnit@cpuc.ca.gov 

 
Copies of protests also should be mailed to the attention of the Director, Energy 
Division, Room 4004, at the address shown above. 
 
The protest shall also be sent to PG&E either via E-mail or U.S. mail (and by facsimile, 
if possible) at the address shown below on the same date it is mailed or delivered to the 
Commission:  
 

Erik Jacobson 
Director, Regulatory Relations 
c/o Megan Lawson 
Pacific Gas and Electric Company 
77 Beale Street, Mail Code B10C 
P.O. Box 770000 
San Francisco, California  94177 
 
Facsimile: (415) 973-1448 
E-mail: PGETariffs@pge.com 
 

                                            
1  The 20-day protest period concludes on a weekend, therefore, PG&E is moving this date to 

the following business day. 
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Any person (including individuals, groups, or organizations) may protest or respond to 
an advice letter (General Order 96-B, Section 7.4).  The protest shall contain the 
following information: specification of the advice letter protested; grounds for the protest; 
supporting factual information or legal argument; name, telephone number, postal 
address, and (where appropriate) e-mail address of the protestant; and statement that 
the protest was sent to the utility no later than the day on which the protest was 
submitted to the reviewing Industry Division (General Order 96-B, Section 3.11). 
 
Effective Date 
 
PG&E requests that this Tier 1 advice filing become effective on March 8, 2017 which is 
30 calendar days after the date of filing. 
 
Notice 
 
In accordance with General Order 96-B, Section IV, a copy of this advice letter is being 
sent electronically and via U.S. mail to parties shown on the attached list and the parties 
on the service list for A.13-12-012.  Address changes to the General Order 96-B service 
list should be directed to PG&E at email address PGETariffs@pge.com.  For changes to 
any other service list, please contact the Commission’s Process Office at (415) 703-
2021 or at Process_Office@cpuc.ca.gov.  Send all electronic approvals to 
PGETariffs@pge.com.  Advice letter filings can also be accessed electronically at: 
http://www.pge.com/tariffs/. 
 
 
  /S/    
Erik Jacobson 
Director, Regulatory Relations 
 
Attachment A - PG&E’s Ruling Request to IRS 
Attachment B – D.15-04-024 
Attachment C – D.16-12-010 (without Appendices) 
Attachment D – D.16-12-010 Appendix G   
 
cc:  Service list for A.13-12-012 



 

CALIFORNIA PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION 
ADVICE LETTER FILING SUMMARY 

ENERGY UTILITY  

MUST BE COMPLETED BY UTILITY (Attach additional pages as needed) 

Company name/CPUC Utility No. Pacific Gas and Electric Company (ID U39 G) 

Utility type:   Contact Person: Annie Ho 

 ELC  GAS        Phone #: (415) 973-8794 

 PLC  HEAT  WATER E-mail: AMHP@pge.com and PGETariffs@pge.com 

EXPLANATION OF UTILITY TYPE 

ELC = Electric              GAS = Gas  
PLC = Pipeline              HEAT = Heat     WATER = Water 

(Date Filed/ Received Stamp by CPUC)

Advice Letter (AL) #: 3805-G Tier: 1 
Subject of AL: Advance Notice of PG&E’s Request to the Internal Revenue Service Seeking a Ruling Concerning Tax 

Normalization Rules regarding the Adopted Ratebase Offset for the Capital Portion of the $850 Million 
Penalty 

Keywords (choose from CPUC listing): Compliance 
AL filing type:  Monthly  Quarterly   Annual    One-Time   Other _____________________________ 

If AL filed in compliance with a Commission order, indicate relevant Decision/Resolution #:  D.16-12-010 
Does AL replace a withdrawn or rejected AL?  If so, identify the prior AL: No 
Summarize differences between the AL and the prior withdrawn or rejected AL: ____________________ 

Is AL requesting confidential treatment?  If so, what information is the utility seeking confidential treatment for: No 

Confidential information will be made available to those who have executed a nondisclosure agreement: N/A 
Name(s) and contact information of the person(s) who will provide the nondisclosure agreement and access to the confidential 
information: __________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Resolution Required?  Yes  No   
Requested effective date: March 8, 2017 No. of tariff sheets:  N/A 
Estimated system annual revenue effect (%): N/A 
Estimated system average rate effect (%): N/A 
When rates are affected by AL, include attachment in AL showing average rate effects on customer classes (residential, small 
commercial, large C/I, agricultural, lighting). 
Tariff schedules affected: N/A 
Service affected and changes proposed: N/A 
Pending advice letters that revise the same tariff sheets: N/A 

Protests, dispositions,  and all other correspondence regarding this AL are due no later than 21 days1 after the date of this filing, unless 
otherwise authorized by the Commission, and shall be sent to:
California Public Utilities Commission Pacific Gas and Electric Company 

Energy Division 
EDTariffUnit 
505 Van Ness Ave., 4th Flr.  
San Francisco, CA 94102 
E-mail: EDTariffUnit@cpuc.ca.gov 

Attn: Erik Jacobson 
Director, Regulatory Relations 
c/o Megan Lawson 
77 Beale Street, Mail Code B10C 
P.O. Box 770000 
San Francisco, CA 94177 
E-mail: PGETariffs@pge.com 

 

                                                 
1  The 20-day protest period concludes on a weekend, therefore, PG&E is moving this date to the following business day. 
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VIA HAND DELIVERY 

Associate Chief Counsel 

Internal Revenue Service 

Attn: CC:PA:LPD:DRU, Room 5336 

1111 Constitution Avenue, NW 

Washington, DC 20224 

 Re: Ruling Request for Pacific Gas and Electric Company (EIN# 94-0742640) 

Dear Sir or Madam: 

A ruling is respectfully requested on behalf of Pacific Gas and Electric Company 

(“Taxpayer”) regarding the application of the depreciation normalization rules of §168(i)(9) of 

the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (“Code”), and Treas. Reg. §1.167(l)-1 

(collectively, “Normalization Rules”) to the rate base offset procedure used by the California 

Public Utilities Commission (“CPUC” or “Commission”) in a recent rate proceeding to 

implement its prior determination that $688.5 million of Taxpayer’s otherwise allowable capital 

expenditures must be funded by shareholders and not by ratepayers.  

I. STATEMENT OF FACTS 

 Taxpayer A.

Taxpayer (EIN# 94-0742640) is a regulated public utility incorporated under the laws of 

the State of California. Its principal executive offices are located at 77 Beale Street, P.O. Box 

770000, San Francisco, California 94177 and its telephone number is (415) 973-7000.  For 

Federal income tax purposes, Taxpayer reports on a calendar year basis and uses the accrual 

method of accounting.   
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Taxpayer is wholly-owned by PG&E Corporation (“Corp”) (EIN# 94-3234914), also a 

California corporation. Corp’s executive offices are located at 77 Beale Street, P.O. Box 

770000, San Francisco, California 94177 and its telephone number is (415) 973-1000. 

Taxpayer is included in a consolidated U.S. Corporation Income Tax Return filed by an 

affiliated group of which Corp is the common parent.  This return is filed with the Internal 

Revenue Service Center in Ogden, Utah and is under the audit jurisdiction of the Large 

Business and International Division (Communications, Technology and Media Industry) of the 

Internal Revenue Service (“IRS” or “Service”). 

 Taxpayer’s Business B.

Taxpayer is an investor-owned public utility that generates electricity and provides 

electric transmission and distribution services throughout its service territory in northern and 

central California.  Taxpayer also owns and operates a natural gas transmission, storage, and 

distribution system whose service territory includes most of northern and central California.  

As of December 31, 2015, PG&E’s natural gas system consisted of approximately 42,800 

miles of distribution pipelines, over 6,700 miles of backbone and local transmission pipelines, 

and several storage facilities.  

 Taxpayer’s Ratemaking Framework C.

Taxpayer’s rates for electricity and natural gas utility services are subject to the 

jurisdiction of the CPUC and the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (“FERC”).  Both 

regulators set rates at levels that are intended to allow Taxpayer an opportunity to recover its 

costs of providing service including a return on invested capital (“rate of return” or “cost-of-

service” ratemaking).  Before setting rates, the CPUC and the FERC conduct proceedings to 

determine the amounts that Taxpayer will be authorized to collect from its customers 

(Taxpayer’s “revenue requirements”).  Taxpayer’s base revenue requirements are established 

mainly in three different proceedings.  Its electric transmission business is rate-regulated by the 

FERC in transmission owner proceedings (typically filed annually).  Its gas and electric 

distribution and electric generation businesses are rate-regulated by the Commission, typically 
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in general rate case proceedings conducted every three years.  Its gas transmission and storage 

(“GT&S”) lines of business are also rate regulated in CPUC proceedings conducted every three 

or four years.   

This ruling request involves the CPUC’s decision in Taxpayer’s most recent GT&S rate 

case. 

 The San Bruno Investigations and the CPUC Decision on Fines and D.

Remedies  

On September 9, 2010, an explosion of a segment of Taxpayer’s gas transmission line 

in San Bruno, California killed eight people, injured 58 more, and caused significant amounts 

of property damage (“Incident”).  Following the Incident, the CPUC initiated three 

investigations (collectively, “Investigations”) related to the Incident and to Taxpayer’s gas 

transmission practices.  The Investigations were conducted by the CPUC’s Safety and 

Enforcement Division (previously known as the Consumer Protection and Safety Division or 

“CPSD”).  The Investigations concerned (1) whether Taxpayer violated state or federal statutes 

as well as Commission orders in connection with the Incident,
1
 (2) whether Taxpayer violated 

the California Public Utilities Code, CPUC orders or decisions, or other applicable rules or 

requirements pertaining to gas safety recordkeeping for its gas transmission system
2
 and (3) 

whether Taxpayer’s operations relating to its natural gas transmission pipeline systems in 

locations with higher population density were in violation of state or federal statutes and 

regulations or Commission rules, general orders, or decisions.
3
  A number of parties in addition 

                                                 
1
 Order Instituting Investigation on the Commission’s Own Motion into the Operations and Practices of Pacific 

Gas and Electric Company to Determine Violations of Pub. Util. Code § 451, General Order 112, and Other 

Applicable Standards, Laws, Rules and Regulations in Connection with the San Bruno Explosion and Fire on 

September 9, 2010, Investigation12-01-007 (Jan. 12, 2012).   
2
 Order Instituting Investigation on the Commission’s Own Motion into the Operations and Practices of Pacific 

Gas and Electric Company with Respect to Facilities Records for its Natural Gas Transmission System 

Pipelines, Investigation 11-02-016 (Feb. 24, 2011).   
3
 Order Instituting Investigation on the Commission’s Own Motion into the Operations and Practices of Pacific 

Gas and Electric Company’s Natural Gas Transmission Pipeline System in Locations with High Population 

Density, Investigation 11-11-09 (Nov. 10, 2011).    
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to Taxpayer and CPSD participated in the Investigations (collectively, “Intervenors”).
4
  

Taxpayer, as well the Intervenors, submitted multiple written filings in the cases.   

On April 9, 2015, the CPUC issued its final decisions in the three investigations which 

concluded that Taxpayer had violated laws related to pipeline safety and record-keeping.
5
  On 

the same date, the Commission also issued a fourth decision – Decision on Fines and Remedies 

(“DFR”) – addressing fines and remedies to be imposed upon Taxpayer as a result of its 

findings in the Investigations,
6
 a copy of which is appended as Attachment 1.  The amount of 

the various fines and remedies imposed totaled $1.6 billion.  

The DF&R, issued during the pendency of Taxpayer’s most recent GT&S rate case 

(described in greater detail below), required, inter alia, that shareholders fund future, post-

2014 safety-related programs and projects adopted in the GT&S proceeding in the amount of 

$850 million.
7
  Of the $850 million in mandated shareholder funded future safety enhancement 

costs, the Commission determined that up to $161.5 million could be for expenditures that 

would otherwise be expensed and the remainder (at least $688.5 million) would be required to 

fund expenditures that would otherwise represent capital expenditures for regulatory purposes.
8
 

To track expenditures and to ensure that its objectives of shareholder funding would be 

achieved, the CPUC required Taxpayer to establish two subaccounts: one to track expenses 

that would be shareholder funded and another to track capital expenditures that would be  

                                                 
4
 The Intervenors included, in addition to others, the Division of Ratepayer Advocates (now called the Office 

of Ratepayer Advocates), the City of San Bruno, The Utility Reform Network (“TURN”), and the City and 

County of San Francisco. 
5
 San Bruno Violations Decision, D.15-04-023 (April 9, 2015); Record Keeping Violations Decision, D.15-04-

021 (April 9, 2015); Class Location Violations Decision, D.15-04-022 (April 9, 2015). 
6
 Decision on Fines and Remedies to be Imposed on Pacific Gas and Electric Company for Specific Violations 

in Connection with the Operations and Practices of its Natural Gas Transmission System Pipelines, D. 15-04-

024 (April 9, 2015). 
7
 DF&R, pg. 93.  It also imposed a $300 million fine to be paid to the California General Fund in addition to 

mandating a $400 million bill credit and “Other Remedies” that the Commission estimated would cost $50 

million. 
8
 DF&R, pgs. 94-95. 
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shareholder funded (“Capital Sub-Account”).  The Commission imposed additional conditions 

to ensure that only capital expenditure amounts that otherwise would have been allowable for 

ratemaking purposes could count against the $688.5 million.  Amounts eligible by program or 

project were limited to the lesser of (i) the amount authorized for the program or project and 

(ii) the amount actually expended.  Thus, if the Commission disallowed or limited any 

proposed safety-related expenditures in the GT&S rate case, only the actual expenditures up to 

the allowed amounts could be recorded in the Capital Sub-Account.  The Commission also set 

forth very specific requirements to ensure that amounts to be paid by shareholders will not be 

recovered in rates: 

Similarly, the GT&S proceeding will exclude from its forecast of rate base those 

capital projects or programs to be funded by shareholders and tracked through 

the Capital Sub-Account, and therefore shall exclude from its rate-payer funded 

revenue requirement all related fixed capital charges for those projects or 

programs, such as depreciation and rate of return.
9
   

As a matter of ratemaking mechanics and to ensure the required amounts would be 

spent, Taxpayer is required to submit detailed accounting to the Commission, including 

program-level and project-level detail.  If the amounts actually incurred as expenses do not 

equal $161.5 million, the shortfall will be transferred to the Capital Sub-Account to be spent on 

capital projects or programs.  If the total capital expenditure amounts do not then equal the 

required $850 million, Taxpayer is required to make a separate filing informing the 

Commission and interested parties.  In that event, future GT&S rate cases may authorize 

additional shareholder funding of pipeline safety enhancements to reach the $850 million. 

The Commission was abundantly clear as to its intended ratemaking impact for the 

shareholder funded costs, stating: 

                                                 
9
 DF&R, pg. 99. 
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PG&E shall not include amounts recorded in the Capital Sub-Account in its rate 

base, such that ratepayers will not ever be responsible for any depreciation, or 

rate of return on these capital amounts.
10

 

The Commission further stated: 

 

A key effect of excluding from rate base plant placed in service that is funded 

by shareholders via the Capital Sub-Account will be that, throughout the 

expected useful life of that plant, ratepayers will never be charged for 

depreciation or a rate of return on the excluded plant in future general rate 

cases.
11

 

In sum, the Commission’s stated purpose as articulated in its DF&R was to deny Taxpayer a 

return of and a return on $688.5 of prudently incurred, safety-related capital investments.  

 2015 GT&S Rate Case E.

On December 19, 2013, Taxpayer filed Application 13-12-012 to set revenue 

requirements for its GT&S business for the period 2015 through 2017 (“GT&S Rate Case”).  

Taxpayer used as its starting point actual data from the historic base year period calendar 2012.  

It then forecast expenditures for 2013 through 2017.  Rates in this proceeding were intended to 

be effective for the three-year period beginning January 1, 2015.
12

   

The DF&R was issued after the close of evidentiary hearings in the 2015 GT&S Rate 

Case and shortly before opening briefs were to be filed.  Because of this timing, an issue arose 

as to whether the final GT&S Rate Case revenue requirement decision should implement the 

DF&R disallowance or whether the process should be divided into two phases:  a Phase 1 to set 

the revenue requirement without regard to any disallowance and a Phase 2 to then reduce the 

Phase 1 revenue requirement to reflect the disallowed expense and capital costs.  A 

Commission ruling dated June 11, 2015 adopted the second (two-phase) alternative. 

                                                 
10

 DF&R, pg. 98. The Commission clarified that ratepayers would be responsible for ongoing operation and 

maintenance of these facilities, unless those costs are otherwise required to be funded by shareholders, or 

disallowed. 
11

 DF&R, pg. 99. 
12

 In the final Phase 1 GT&S Decision, the Commission added a third post-test year.  The 2015 GT&S Rate 

Case therefore set rates for 2015 through 2018. 
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1. Phase 1 Decision (Revenue Requirement Decision) 

A final decision in Phase 1 of the GT&S Rate Case (D.16-06-056) ("Phase 1 Decision") 

was issued by the CPUC on July 1, 2016 and established GT&S revenue requirements for a 

four year period beginning January 1, 2015.  For the 2015 forecast test year, the CPUC 

determined Taxpayer’s capital costs using a traditional results of operation (“RO”) model that 

included factors reflecting historical plant as of December 31, 2012, plant additions, removal 

costs, depreciation, cash working capital and deferred taxes, along with a return on calculated 

rate base, including income taxes.  For the post-test year period (2016-2018), revenue 

requirements were determined by an adopted stipulation that was based on a simplified RO 

method that separately computed the different capital cost elements using a consistent 

methodology, based on forecasts of future capital expenditures and plant additions.  In this 

phase, the revenue requirements for the relevant years were calculated without regard to the 

$850 million shareholder funded component of the DF&R. 

In the Phase 1 Decision, all of the costs that are to be recorded in Taxpayer’s Capital 

Sub-Account were treated as though they were no different from any other allowed capital 

costs.  These costs were included in rate base and depreciated through cost of service.  

Moreover, to the extent that these assets produce deferred federal income taxes (“Capital Sub-

Account-Related ADFIT”), those accumulated deferred federal income taxes (“ADFIT”) were 

incorporated into the rate base calculation as an incremental rate base reduction, just as they 

would have been absent the DF&R.  In accordance with the earlier ruling, the Phase 1 Decision 

deferred until Phase 2 the determination of the projects and programs that were subject to the 

$850 million disallowance. 

2. Phase 2 Decision (Decision Implementing $850 Million 

Disallowance) 

A final decision in Phase 2 of the GT&S Rate Case (D.16-12-010) (“Phase 2 Decision”) 

was issued by the CPUC on December 5, 2016.  A copy (without appendices) is included as 

Attachment 2.  It calculated the adjustments to the Phase 1 revenue requirements to reflect the 

implementation of the $850 million shareholder funded component of the DF&R.  The Phase 2 
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Decision described its objective in implementing the penalty in terms similar to those set forth 

in the DF&R:   

Since the $850 million penalty was to be funded exclusively by 

shareholders, we thus required that any safety-related costs associated with the 

$850 million penalty be excluded from PG&E’s GT&S revenue requirements 

adopted in Application13-12-012.  Accordingly, any expenses funded through 

the $850 million penalty were to be excluded from the revenue requirement.  

Likewise, capitalized expenditures funded through the $850 million penalty 

were to be permanently excluded from PG&E’S rate base.  PG&E was not 

permitted to add such expenditures to rate base or to earn a profit on them.  By 

excluding these capital expenditures from rate base via the Capital Sub-

Account, ratepayers will never pay for depreciation or a return on the excluded 

plant in future general rate cases. 

Only costs for which PG&E would have been granted rate recovery in 

the GT&S proceeding count towards the $850 million penalty.  Work that 

PG&E chose to do at shareholder expense (i.e., not approved in the GT&S 

proceeding or a similar subsequent proceeding) does not count towards the $850 

million total.
13

 

 

The Phase 2 Decision affirmed that the portion of the penalty applied to disallowed capital 

expenditures should equal $688.5 million.  Further, it adopted Taxpayer’s proposed list of 

safety related programs and projects that would count towards the $850 million disallowance 

pursuant to the DF&R.
14

   

Taxpayer, the Energy Division (“ED”) of the CPUC and TURN all proposed different 

methodologies to reflect the capital expenditure disallowance in the computation of rate base 

and the revenue requirement.  Taxpayer proposed an approach that followed the treatment of 

disallowances generally which resulted in the reduction of Phase 1 revenue requirement by the 

effect on that amount of shareholders funding $688.5 million of capital costs.  Taxpayer 

proposed to reduce rate base, depreciation and deferred tax liabilities as if the $688.5 million in 

capital costs had never been incurred.   

                                                 
13

 Phase 2 Decision, pgs. 5-6 (footnote omitted). 
14

 Phase 2 Decision, Appendix G, pgs. 2 and 3, appended to this request as Attachment 3. 
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The ED proposed an approach that was conceptually similar to Taxpayer’s but 

interpreted the DF&R decision as disallowing $688.5 million of capital additions rather than 

$688.5 million of capital expenditures.  This interpretive difference had an impact on cost of 

removal which resulted in a roughly $55.5 million greater rate base disallowance than under 

Taxpayer’s proposal.   

TURN supported a different approach asserting that the intent of the Commission in the 

DF&R “is that the entire amount of the capital penalty be removed from rate base.”  In its 

Phase 2 Decision, the Commission agreed with TURN’s approach stating: 

As stated by parties at the workshop, this is a novel situation.  It appears 

that few, if any, parties directly addressed certain fine details of the application 

of the capital penalty in the RO model prior to our decision setting the penalty 

in D.15-04-024.  As a result, we must now reiterate and clarify our intent that 

was originally expressed in D.15-04-024.  In that decision, we repeatedly 

framed the penalty in terms of “capital expenditures” without defining that term.  

However, we also discussed the penalty in terms of “rate base” and as “plant,” 

again, without defining these terms.  Further, we clearly stated our intent that 

PG&E would not earn depreciation or rate of return on the capital penalty. 

We find TURN’s interpretation is most consistent with our discussion of 

the penalty in terms of rate base.  The language of D.15-04-024 indicates our 

expectation that the entire penalty amount would be removed from rate base, 

particularly:  “the amounts of capital expenditures to be funded by shareholders 

shall be excluded from PG&E’s rate base to be determined in A.13-12-012 and 

in all PG&E proceedings thereafter.” We find that by simply relying on the 

default RO model dynamic calculations and the underlying assumptions, the 

result would be to lessen the impact of capital penalty on rate base and future 

revenue requirements relative to our intent in D.15-04-024.  Therefore, as a 

policy matter, we require that the rate base reduction due to application of the 

penalty equal $688.5 million.
15

 

 

The mechanics used to implement this decision (described further below) are the subject of this 

ruling request. 

                                                 
15

 Phase 2 Decision, pgs. 26-27 (footnotes omitted). 
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3. Phase 2 Decision Implementation Mechanics 

The Phase 2 Decision implemented the $688.5 million capital cost shareholder funding 

in the following way.  The Phase 2 Decision did not directly adjust or alter anything relating to 

the Capital Sub-Account costs.  They remained in rate base, they produced depreciation 

expense which was included in cost of service and the Capital Sub-Account-Related ADFIT 

reduced rate base.  However, the Phase 2 Decision created a regulatory liability in the total 

amount of $688.5 million ($379.3 million relating to capital costs incurred in 2015 and $309.2 

million relating to capital costs incurred in 2016).  This regulatory liability was included as an 

offset to Taxpayer’s rate base.  This effectively neutralized the impact of including the Capital 

Sub-Account balance in rate base.  The regulatory liability was amortized as a reduction in cost 

of service over 58 years, the weighted average life of Taxpayer’s assets.
16

  The amortization 

was included as a credit to expense in the cost of service calculation.  This essentially offset the 

annual depreciation expense relating to the assets recorded in the Capital Sub-Account.  No 

adjustment was made to ADFIT balances on account of the creation or amortization of the 

regulatory liability.  Consequently, the reduction in rate base attributable to the Capital Sub-

Account-Related ADFIT balance remained in place and was not counteracted.
17

 

 Potential Application of the Normalization Rules  F.

Before issuance of the final Phase 2 Decision, the assigned administrative law judge 

issued a proposed decision (“PD”).  In accordance with California law and procedural rules of 

the CPUC, parties to the proceeding were allowed to file comments.  Taxpayer filed comments 

on the PD expressing its view that the IRS could likely find that implementation of the DF&R 

shareholder funding as proposed in the PD would violate the Normalization Rules.  The basis 

of Taxpayer’s concern was that, by reducing rate base by the Capital Sub-Account-Related 

ADFIT and not offsetting the reduction by the ADFIT effect of the regulatory liability, it could 

                                                 
16

 This weighted average life was calculated on Phase 2 Decision, Appendix G, pg. 5 (Attachment 3). 
17

 This procedure will produce similar offsets over the 58 year depreciable life of the Capital Sub-Account 

assets. 
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be construed that regulated rate base was reduced by ADFIT produced by depreciable assets 

with respect to which the CPUC has disallowed recovery.   

TURN disagreed with Taxpayer’s position, maintaining that the private letter rulings 

upon which Taxpayer’s concern was premised were non-precedential and, in any case, none of 

them addressed Taxpayer’s unique facts.   

The Commission adopted the PD essentially unchanged.  With regard to Taxpayer’s 

normalization violation concern, the CPUC stated: 

PG&E discusses Private Letter Rulings issued by the Internal Revenue Service.  

As PG&E notes, the Private Letter Rulings cannot be cited as precedent as they 

address the unique circumstances of the taxpayer to whom they are issued.  We 

disagree with PG&E’s conclusion that the rate base offset creates a 

normalization violation.
18

   

However, the Commission did vary its final decision from the PD to address Taxpayer’s 

concerns on the normalization issue.  The Commission expressed its intent to comply with the 

Normalization Rules and to avoid the potential adverse consequences associated with the 

finding of a normalization violation by the IRS.  It also authorized Taxpayer to establish a 

memorandum account to track relevant costs.  It went on to state: 

If PG&E chooses to seek a ruling from the Internal Revenue Service on this 

subject, PG&E shall file and serve a copy of the request as a Tier 1 advice letter 

at least 30 days before sending the request to the Internal Revenue Service.  

Then, PG&E may seek an appropriate adjustment to its revenue requirement 

and/or rate base by Tier 2 advice letter in the event that PG&E receives a 

relevant ruling from the Internal Revenue Service contradicting this decision.
19

  

This ruling request is made in connection with this directive. 

                                                 
18

  Phase 2 Decision, pg. 31. 
19

   Phase 2 Decision, pg. 31. 
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II. RULING REQUESTED 

Taxpayer respectfully requests that Internal Revenue Service issue one of the following 

two rulings: 

1. The Phase 2 Decision rate base offset procedure described above, including 
the reduction of Taxpayer’s rate base by the Capital Sub-Account-Related 
ADFIT as described above, is consistent with (and, hence, will not violate) 
the requirements of Code §168(i)(9) and Treasury Regulations §1.167(l)-1.  

2. The Phase 2 Decision rate base offset procedure described above, including 
the reduction of Taxpayer’s rate base by the Capital Sub-Account-Related 
ADFIT as described above, is inconsistent with (and, hence, will violate) the 
requirements of Code §168(i)(9) and Treasury Regulations §1.167(l)-1.  

III. STATEMENT OF LAW 

Code §168(f)(2) provides that MACRS depreciation does not apply to any public utility 

property if the taxpayer does not use a normalization method of accounting. 

Code §168(i)(9)(A) provides that, in order to use a normalization method of accounting, 

the taxpayer, in computing its tax expense for establishing its cost of service for ratemaking 

purposes, must use a method of depreciation with respect to public utility property that is the 

same as, and a depreciation period for such property that is not shorter than, the method and 

period used to compute its depreciation expense for such purposes.  This section also provides 

if the amount allowable as a deduction under Code §168 (i.e., accelerated tax depreciation) 

differs from the amount that would be allowable as a deduction under the ratemaking method 

of depreciation, the taxpayer must make adjustments to a reserve to reflect the deferral of taxes 

resulting from such difference.  

Code §168(i)(9)(B)(i) provides that the requirements of  Code §168(i)(9)(A) will not be 

satisfied if the taxpayer, for ratemaking purposes, uses a procedure or adjustment which is 

inconsistent with such requirements.   

Code §168(i)(9)(B)(ii) provides that one way a procedure or adjustment will be 

inconsistent is if it uses an estimate or projection of the taxpayer’s tax expense, depreciation 
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expense, or reserve for deferred taxes under  Code §168(i)(9)(A)(ii), unless such estimate or 

projection is also used, for ratemaking purposes, with respect to all three of these items and with 

respect to the rate base.  

Treas. Reg. §1.46-6(b) provides that cost of service or rate base will be considered to 

have been reduced if such reduction is made in an indirect manner, which includes any 

ratemaking decision intended to achieve a result similar to a direct reduction to cost of service 

or rate base.   

Treas. Reg. §1.46-6(b)(3)(ii)(A) states that in determining whether, or to what extent, a 

tax benefit has been used to reduce rate base, reference shall be made to any accounting 

treatment that affects rate base.   

Treas. Reg. §1.46-6(b)(4)(iii) describes the evidence relevant to determining whether or 

not an indirect reduction has transpired.  Consideration is given to all the relevant facts and 

circumstances in each case and includes, but is not limited to: 

(A) The record of the proceeding; 

(B) The regulatory body’s orders or opinions (including any dissenting views); and 

(C) The anticipated effect of the ratemaking decision on the company’s revenues in 

comparison to a direct reduction to cost of service or rate base by reason of the investment tax 

credits available to the regulated company. 

Treas. Reg. §1.167(l)-1(h)(6)(i) provides that a taxpayer does not use a normalization 

method of accounting if the reserve by which rate base is reduced exceeds the amount of such 

reserve used in determining the taxpayer’s expense in computing cost of service in such 

ratemaking.  

In Private Letter Ruling (“PLR”) 8920025 (Feb. 15, 1989) the Service ruled that when a 

utility’s assets were deregulated and removed from its regulatory books of account, the ADFIT 

associated with those assets is required by the Consistency Rule to also be removed from 

regulation.  
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In PLR 9547008 (Nov. 24, 1995) the taxpayer was a utility, part of whose plant 

investment was determined by its regulator to have been imprudent.  The regulator did not 

allow that portion to be included in rate base or to be depreciated in cost or service.  The 

Service ruled that it would violate the Consistency Rule to reduce the utility’s tax expense 

component of cost of service for the accelerated depreciation attributable to the disallowed 

portion of the plant. 

In both PLRs 9552007 (Dec. 29, 1995) and 9613004 (Mar. 29, 1996) the taxpayer was 

a utility, part of whose plant investment was determined by its regulator to have been 

imprudent.  The regulator did not allow that portion to be included in rate base or to be 

depreciated in cost of service.  The Service ruled that it would violate the Consistency Rule to 

reduce the utility’s tax expense component of cost of service for a tax benefit equal to the tax 

basis of the disallowed plant divided by the book life of the plant. 

In PLR 9846006 (Nov. 13, 1998) the Service ruled that it would be a violation of section 

203(e) of the Tax Reform Act of 1986 for the taxpayer to adopt any accounting treatment that, 

directly or indirectly, circumvented the requirements of that section. 

In PLR 200418001 (Apr. 29, 2004) the taxpayer was a utility that reached a regulatory 

settlement pursuant to which certain depreciable property was removed from its regulated 

books of account.  Thereafter the property was excluded from the computation of rate base and 

no depreciation on the property was included in depreciation expense included in cost of 

service.  The Service ruled that it would violate the Consistency Rule to reduce the utility’s rate 

base by the ADFIT relating to the excluded property. 

In PLR 200945006 (Nov. 6, 2009) the Service ruled that the taxpayer would violate the 

investment tax credit (“ITC”) normalization rules if it directly or indirectly passed through the 

unamortized balance of accumulated deferred ITC associated with a gas business the taxpayer 

had sold. 

In PLR 201438003 (Jun. 12, 2014) the Service ruled that the assignment of a zero rate of 

return to the balance of the taxpayer’s net operating loss carryforward-related ADFIT account 
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balance would, in effect, flow the tax benefits of accelerated depreciation deductions through to 

ratepayers. 

In PLR 201541010 (Oct. 9, 2015) the Service ruled that taxpayers may not adopt any 

accounting treatment that directly or indirectly circumvents the Normalization Rules.  In that 

case, the treatment was an adjustment to cash working capital made in an attempt to mitigate 

the effects of the application of the Normalization Rules. 

IV. DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

 The Analysis of the CPUC A.

As stated previously, the CPUC does not believe that the Phase 2 Decision 

methodology constitutes a violation of the Normalization Rules.  The Commission’s primary 

rationale is that the purpose of the DF&R and the Phase 2 Decision was to impose a penalty 

upon Taxpayer for its conduct and that ordinary ratemaking principles matching tax benefits 

with underlying cost responsibility (i.e., ratepayers only receive tax benefits attributable to 

expenditures included in cost of service) do not apply.  The CPUC distinguished the retention 

by ratepayers of the benefits of the ADFIT, which is derived from capital expenditures borne 

by shareholders that are imposed as a penalty, from CPUC precedent addressing the 

ratemaking treatment of shareholder funded voluntary disbursements of dues, donations and 

political contributions (where all related tax benefits are retained by shareholders).  As TURN 

stated in its comments on the PD: 

Here, the excluded capital expenditures are of an entirely different 

nature; they are a penalty. The Commission has mandated that shareholders pay 

for the capital expenditures in this case as a penalty for PG&E’s “egregious 

actions and legal violations,” including failing to direct “monies collected from 

rates into safety investments.”  Contrary to the disallowances addressed in D.84-

05-035, PG&E shareholders are mandated to make these capital expenditures as 

a remedy for violations that include failure to make necessary investments in the 

past.  Nothing in D.84-05-035 supports the notion that shareholders should 

appropriate the tax benefits from a penalty that takes the form of remedial 

capital expenditures.  Instead, as the Tax Letter makes clear, allowing 
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shareholders to gain tax benefits from the penalty would be directly contrary to 

the Commission’s intent in the San Bruno Penalties Decision.
20

 

TURN further stated: 

In addition, PG&E’s speculation that the IRS would potentially find a 

normalization violation is not a reason for the Commission to allow PG&E’s 

shareholders to garner tax benefits from the penalty.  As PG&E concedes (p. 8, 

fn. 31), the private letter rulings it cites in support of its position are applicable 

only to the specific facts and circumstances presented by the taxpayer to whom 

the ruling is issued and may not be cited or used as precedent.  Furthermore, 

none of the private rulings quoted in PG&E’s comments involved the unique 

circumstances present here of a penalty that took the form of mandated capital 

expenditures.
21

 

The CPUC adopted TURN’s approach towards the ADFIT stating that it did “not intend 

the rate base offset, or the penalty generally, to create tax timing differences.”
22

  The CPUC, 

therefore, disagrees with Taxpayer and asserts that the ratemaking does not violate the 

Normalization Rules.   

 Taxpayer’s Analysis B.

As stated above, Taxpayer believes that the implementation procedure adopted by the 

CPUC in the Phase 2 Decision conflicts with the requirements of the Normalization Rules.  

Taxpayer argued to the CPUC that the PD removed $688.5 million of capital additions from 

rate base (and from future depreciation expense) while retaining the deferred taxes associated 

with those same capital additions as a rate base reduction and that this violated the Consistency 

Rule (as described hereafter).  Taxpayer is unaware of any authority that would not apply the 

Normalization Rules to a disallowance because the intent of the regulator was to penalize the 

utility. 

Taxpayer’s concern is based on the following analytical sequence: 

                                                 
20

 A.13-12-012; I.14-06-016, Reply Comments of TURN on the Proposed Decision Regarding $850 Million 

Penalty Allocation filed Nov. 28, 2016, pg. 2 (footnote omitted). 
21

 Id. 
22

 Phase 2 Decision, pg. 31. 
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1. The CPUC’s determination in the DF&R that $688.5 million of safety-related 

capital expenditures must be funded by shareholders intended the equivalent of a disallowance 

of utility plant;   

2. Taxpayer’s analysis of the relevant authorities has led it to conclude that the 

Normalization Rules, specifically the Consistency Rule, do not permit the reflection in the 

computation of rate base of ADFIT that is related to disallowed utility plant;   

3. Under the Normalization Rules, a taxpayer cannot do indirectly what it cannot 

do directly; 

4. Taxpayer believes that the implementation of the DF&R mandate through the 

rate base offset procedure adopted in the Phase 2 Decision, while not in itself a classic utility 

plant disallowance in form, can be viewed as tantamount to a plant disallowance;   

5. Since the Normalization Rules would preclude Taxpayer from reflecting ADFIT 

relating to disallowed plant as a rate base reduction, they may preclude Taxpayer from 

reflecting the Capital Sub-Account-Related ADFIT as an incremental rate base reduction.  

A discussion of each of these points follows. 

1. The Nature of the CPUC’s Actions 

The denial of a regulator to allow a capital cost to be included in rate base and to permit 

its cost to be recovered through depreciation is generally referred to as a capital cost 

disallowance.  The penalty imposed by the CPUC in the DF&R consisted of four components: 

Fines $300 million 

Bill Credit $400 million 

Shareholder funding of gas infrastructure $850 million 

Other Remedies $50 million
23

 

 

                                                 
23

 $50 million represents the Commission’s estimate of what it would cost to implement the Other Remedies.  

The Commission adopted PG&E’s forecast of $5.1576 million of the amount of overlap costs to be removed 

from the GT&S revenue requirement.  Phase 1 Decision, pgs. 282-289. 
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In establishing the definitional ground rules in the DF&R, the CPUC stated: 

We note, however, that parties use the term “penalty” to refer to monies paid to 

the General Fund, as well as to refer to the combination of fines, disallowances 

and other remedies.  To avoid further confusion in this decision, we refer to 

monies imposed under Pub. Util. Code §2107 and paid to the General Fund as 

“fines”, whereas the term “penalties” in this decision refers to the combination 

of fines, disallowances and remedies.
24

   

 

The references to “disallowances” suggest that the CPUC conceived of its shareholder funding 

mandate as a capital cost disallowance.  Consistent with this concept, shortly following the 

statement excerpted above, the Commission continued: 

 As applicable here, these remedies include exercising our ratemaking authority 

to disallow expenditures that are needed to redress violations found in these 

proceedings, i.e., PG&E’s failure to maintain its gas transmission pipeline 

system and records in accordance with applicable statutes, regulations and 

orders.
25

 

The Commission described its intent as follows:  

A key effect of excluding from rate base plant placed in service that is funded 

by shareholders via the Capital Sub-Account will be that, throughout the 

expected useful life of that plant, ratepayers will never be charged for 

depreciation or a rate of return on the excluded plant in future general rate 

cases.
26

 

In a ruling dated June 11, 2015, the Assigned Commissioner and Administrative Law 

Judge defined the issues involved in the implementation of the DF&R in the GT&S Phase 2 

proceeding to be as follows: 

There appears to be no dispute that the issue of implementing penalties adopted 

in D.15-04-024 must be added to this proceeding.  Consequently, the scope of 

this proceeding is amended to add this issue.  The issue will consider the 

following matters: 

 …. 

 

                                                 
24

 DF&R, pg. 27. 
25

 DF&R, pg. 27. 
26

 DF&R, pg. 99. 
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2. Which programs and projects are safety-related and should be funded by the 

$850 million disallowance adopted in D.15-04-024?
27

  [Emphasis added.] 

All of these statements align with the intent of the DF&R to impose a total 

disallowance of $850 million, including a $688.5 million disallowance of plant.  

2. The Application of the Consistency Rule to Disallowed Plant 

Code §168(i)(9)(B)(i) provides that the requirements of  Code §168(i)(9)(A) will not be 

satisfied if the taxpayer, for ratemaking purposes, uses a procedure or adjustment which is 

inconsistent with such requirements.  Code §168(i)(9)(B)(ii) provides that one way a procedure 

or adjustment will be inconsistent is if it uses an estimate or projection of the taxpayer’s tax 

expense, depreciation expense, or reserve for deferred taxes under Code section 168(i)(9)(A)(ii), 

unless such estimate or projection is also used, for ratemaking purposes, with respect to all three 

of these items and with respect to the rate base (hereafter, the “Consistency Rule”).   

This rule has been applied by the Service on a number of occasions in situations where a 

party sought to recognize in ratemaking tax attributes relating to depreciable assets which were 

not, themselves, included in the ratemaking process.  PLRs 9547008, 9552007 and 9613004 all 

addressed situations in which a portion of a utility’s plant costs had been determined by a 

regulator to be imprudent and disallowed in ratemaking.  In each case, a party to the rate 

proceeding proposed to reflect as a reduction in the tax expense element of cost of service some 

amount of the tax benefit produced by claiming depreciation for tax purposes on the disallowed 

costs.  In all three cases, the Service reached the same conclusion.  In the regulator’s 

computation of each utility’s tax expense, 100% of the tax basis of the plant would be 

considered while, for purposes of computing rate base and regulated depreciation expense, it 

would only be the allowed portions of the plants that would be recognized.  The Service ruled in 

all three cases that this discrepancy in regulatory conventions violated the Consistency Rule.   

                                                 
27

 Application of Pacific Gas and Electric Company Proposing Cost of Service and Rates for Gas Transmission 

and Storage Services for the Period 2015 – 2017, Ruling of Assigned Commissioner and Administrative Law 

Judge Amending Scope to Consider Remedies and Disallowances Adopted in Decision 15-04-024, pg. 3, 

filed June 11, 2015.  Note the title of the ruling itself refers to disallowances. 
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In PLR 200418001 the utility had some property excluded from the calculations of both 

rate base and regulatory depreciation but, nevertheless, a party proposed to include the ADFIT 

associated with the excluded property in the computation of rate base.  The Service ruled: 

If the ADFIT reserve associated with the Excluded Property is not removed from 

Taxpayer’s regulated books of account and is used to reduce Taxpayer’s rate 

base, the consistency requirement of section 168(i)(9)(B) will be violated 

because Taxpayer will not include the cost of the Excluded Property in its rate 

base or include the amount of related depreciation in its computation of tax 

expense and depreciation expense for ratemaking purposes. 

 

The Service also ruled in PLR 8920025 that, where the property was not disallowed but 

removed from the utility’s regulated books of account because it was deregulated, the 

Consistency Rule requires that “all taxes previously deferred in compliance with section 167(l) 

and 168(i)(9) of the Code attributable to such property must also be removed from regulation.”   

In light of the above, Taxpayer has concluded that the Consistency Rule does not permit 

ADFIT associated with disallowed plant to be included in the rate base calculation. 

3. Direct vs. Indirect Normalization Violations 

A fundamental premise of the Normalization Rules is that a taxpayer cannot avoid 

violating those rules simply by employing a procedure that is not literally violative but which 

has the same economic effect as a violation.  This principle is embedded in the regulations that 

establish the ITC normalization rules.  Treas. Reg. §1.46-6(b)(4) states, in pertinent part: 

(i) Cost of service or rate base is also considered to have been reduced by 

reason of all or a portion of a credit if such reduction is made in an indirect 

manner. 

… 

(iii) A second type of indirect reduction is any ratemaking decision intended 

to achieve an effect similar to a direct reduction to cost of service or rate base. 

 

Treas. Reg. §1.46-6(b)(4)(iii) goes on to describe the evidence relevant to determining whether 

or not an indirect reduction has transpired, which includes: 

(A) The record of the proceeding; 
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(B) The regulatory body’s orders or opinions (including any dissenting views); and  

(C) The anticipated effect of the ratemaking decision on the company’s revenues in 

comparison to a direct reduction to cost of service or rate base by reason of the 

investment tax credits available to the regulated company. 

In PLR 200945006 the Service recited this “direct/indirect” principle in the context of 

proposed ratemaking involving accumulated deferred ITC.  It stated: 

Under §1.46-6(b)(4), it is clear that a commission cannot achieve indirectly the 

accounting equivalent of a pass-through of ADITC where the direct pass-

through is not permitted. 

The Service has cross-applied this principle such that it clearly applies not just to the ITC 

normalization rules but to the Normalization Rules as well.   

In PLR 9846006, the Service considered ratemaking for certain tax benefits (excess 

deferred federal income taxes) subject to the Normalization Rules.  It explicitly articulated the 

“direct/indirect” principle as applicable in the following language: 

Rev. Proc. 88-12 provides that under the ARAM, excess tax reserves pertaining 

to a particular vintage or vintage account are not flowed through to ratepayers 

until such time as the timing differences in the particular vintage account 

reverse.  Moreover, it is a violation of section 203(e) of the Act for taxpayers to 

adopt any accounting treatment that, directly or indirectly, circumvents the 

rule set forth in the previous sentence. [Emphasis added.] 

 

Similarly, in PLR 201438003, a ruling involving the requirement of the Normalization 

Rules to recognize the tax impact of a utility’s net operating loss carryover (“NOLC”), the 

Service held that the application of a zero rate of return to the balance of the utility’s NOLC-

related ADFIT balance would have the same effect as the failure to recognize the NOLC-

related ADFIT balance and would, therefore, violate the Normalization Rules.  This, again, 

represented the application of the “direct/indirect” principle to the Normalization Rules.   

More recently, in PLR 201541010 the Service addressed the proration requirement of 

the Normalization Rules.  A party to a utility rate proceeding proposed to alter the cash 

working capital allowance if proration was determined to be required by the Normalization 

Rules.  The Service ruled: 



 

Associate Chief Counsel 

Internal Revenue Service 

Draft of February 6, 2017 

Page 22 of 27 

 

 we hold only that, where, as here, it is adjusted or removed in an attempt to 

mitigate the effects of the application of the proration methodology or similar 

normalization rule, that adjustment or removal is not permitted under the 

normalization rules.   

The employment of a procedure that, while it may not literally contravene any one of the 

Normalization Rules, produces the same effect as such a contravention, will be deemed a 

violation of the Normalization Rules.   

4. Phase 2 Decision Implementation as the Equivalent of a 

Disallowance 

When a regulator disallows a utility’s capital cost (that is, it determines that the utility 

will not be permitted to recover the cost of or earn a return on a capital asset), the conventional 

regulatory accounting treatment is for the utility to remove the disallowed cost from its 

regulatory books of account so that prospectively it does not enter into the computation of rate 

base or depreciation expense.  The Phase 2 Decision does not adhere to this conventional 

treatment.  Instead, under the Phase 2 Decision’s treatment, the Capital Sub-Account costs 

remain on Taxpayer’s regulatory books of account and are included in both rate base and 

depreciation expense.  However, the creation of the regulatory liability, its inclusion as a rate 

base offset and its amortization (as a negative expense) through cost of service effectively 

neutralize the rate impacts caused by the “non-standard” treatment of the Capital Sub-Account 

costs.  In other words, the economic result of the regulatory liability procedure is (save for the 

impact of Capital Sub-Account-Related ADFIT) to replicate the rate effect of a conventional 

disallowance.  This comports with the intent of the Commission as articulated in its statements 

from the DF&R excerpted earlier in this ruling request.   

5. The Potential for a Normalization Violation 

In light of the above, Taxpayer arrived at its belief that the IRS is likely to find that the 

Phase 2 Decision implementation methodology violates the Consistency Rule insofar as it 

represents a disallowance of the capital costs recorded in the Capital Sub-Account without the 

necessary elimination of the associated ADFIT (the Capital Sub-Account-Related ADFIT) 

from Taxpayer’s regulatory books of account. 
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V. CONCLUSION 

Taxpayer respectfully requests that the Service issue one of the requested rulings. 

VI. PROCEDURAL MATTERS 

 Statements required by Rev. Proc. 2017-1 A.

1. Section 7.01(4) –To the best of the knowledge of both Taxpayer and 

Taxpayer’s representative, the issue that is the subject of this requested letter ruling is not 

addressed in any return of Taxpayer, a related taxpayer within the meaning of §267, or of a 

member of an affiliated group of which Taxpayer is also a member within the meaning of 

§1504 that is currently or was previously under examination, before Appeals, or before a 

Federal court. 

2. Section 7.01(5)(a) – Taxpayer, a related party taxpayer within the 

meaning of §267, or a member of an affiliated group of which Taxpayer is also a member has 

not, to the best of the knowledge of both Taxpayer and Taxpayer’s representative, received a 

ruling on the issue that is the subject of this requested letter ruling. 

3. Section 7.01(5)(b) – To the best of the knowledge of Taxpayer and 

Taxpayer’s representative, neither Taxpayer, a related taxpayer, a predecessor, nor any 

representatives previously submitted a request involving the same or a similar issue to the 

Service but with respect to which no letter ruling or determination letter was issued. 

4. Section 7.01(5)(c) – To the best of the knowledge of Taxpayer and 

Taxpayer’s representative, neither Taxpayer, a related taxpayer, nor a predecessor, previously 

submitted a request (including an application for change in method of accounting) involving 

the same or a similar issue that is currently pending with the Service. 

5. Section 7.01(5)(d) – To the best of the knowledge of Taxpayer and 

Taxpayer’s representative, neither Taxpayer nor a related taxpayer are presently submitting 

additional requests involving the same or a similar issue. 
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6. Section 7.01(5)(e) – To the best of the knowledge of Taxpayer and 

Taxpayer’s representative, neither Taxpayer nor a related taxpayer had, or has scheduled, a 

pre-submission conference involving the same or a similar issue. 

7. Section 7.01(8) – The law in connection with this request is uncertain 

and the issue is not adequately addressed by relevant authorities. 

8. Section 7.01(9) – Taxpayer has included all supportive as well as all 

contrary authorities of which it is aware. 

9. Section 7.01(10) – Taxpayer is unaware of any pending legislation that 

may affect the proposed transaction. 

10. Section 7.02(5) – Taxpayer hereby requests that a copy of the ruling and 

any written requests for additional information be sent by facsimile transmission (in addition to 

being mailed) and hereby waives any disclosure violation resulting from such facsimile 

transmission.  Please fax the ruling and any written requests to James I. Warren at (202) 626-

5801. 

11. Section 7.02(6) – Taxpayer respectfully requests a conference on the 

issues involved in this ruling request in the event the Service reaches a tentatively adverse 

conclusion. 

12. Taxpayer will permit the CPUC to participate in any Associate office 

conference concerning this ruling request.  Taxpayer has provided the CPUC with a copy of 

this ruling request prior to its being filed. 

 Administrative B.

1. The deletion statement and checklist required by Rev. Proc. 2017-1 are 

enclosed. 

2. The required user fee of $28,300 is enclosed. 

3. A Form 2848 Power of Attorney granting Taxpayer’s representative the 

right to represent Taxpayer is enclosed. 
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If you have any questions or need additional information regarding this ruling request, 

pursuant to the enclosed Power of Attorney please contact James I. Warren at (202) 626-5959. 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

 

 

James I. Warren 

Miller & Chevalier Chartered 

Attorney for Pacific Gas & Electric Company 
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PENALTIES OF PERJURY STATEMENT 

Pacific Gas and Electric Company 

Under penalties of perjury, I declare that I have examined this request, including 

accompanying documents, and, to the best of my knowledge and belief, the request contains 

all the relevant facts relating to the request, and such facts are true, correct, and complete. 

 

 

Pacific Gas and Electric Company 

 

 

 

BY:   

 

 

DATE:   
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PENALTIES OF PERJURY STATEMENT 

PG&E Corporation 

Under penalties of perjury, I declare that I have examined this request, including 

accompanying documents, and, to the best of my knowledge and belief, the request contains 

all the relevant facts relating to the request, and such facts are true, correct, and complete. 

 

 

PG&E Corporation 

 

 

 

BY:   

 

 

DATE:   

 



 

 

DELETION STATEMENT 

For purposes of Section 6110(c)(1) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, 

Taxpayer requests the deletion of all names, addresses, EINs, locations, dates, amounts, 

regulatory bodies and other taxpayer identifying information contained in the attached request 

for private letter ruling. 

Taxpayer reserves the right to review, prior to disclosure to the public, any information 

related to this request for private letter ruling and to provide redacted copies of any 

documents to be released to the public. 

 

 

Date:      

James I. Warren 

Miller & Chevalier Chartered 

Attorney for Pacific Gas & Electric Company 
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1 

DECISION ON FINES AND REMEDIES TO BE IMPOSED ON  
PACIFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY FOR SPECIFIC VIOLATIONS  

IN CONNECTION WITH THE OPERATION AND PRACTICES 
 OF ITS NATURAL GAS TRANSMISSION SYSTEM PIPELINES 

 

1. Executive Summary 

On September 9, 2010, a segment of Pacific Gas and Electric Company’s 

(PG&E) 30-inch gas transmission line exploded in San Bruno, claiming the lives 

of eight people, injuring 58 people, destroying 38 homes and damaging 70 other 

homes.  The Commission’s investigations into the San Bruno gas transmission 

pipeline explosion, PG&E’s recordkeeping practices and PG&E’s pipeline 

classification related to higher density populations have brought to light the 

characteristics and consequences of PG&E’s longstanding failure to heed federal 

and state regulations governing the safe operation of natural gas transmission 

pipelines throughout its system.   

This decision adopts penalties to be imposed on Pacific Gas and Electric 

Company (PG&E) for violations arising from:  (1) the September 9, 2010 San 

Bruno explosion and fire; (2) PG&E’s recordkeeping practices for its gas 

transmission pipeline system; and (3) PG&E’s failure to maintain the proper class 

designation for pipelines in areas of higher population density.  The Commission 

hereby imposes a fine and other penalties and remedies totaling $1.6 billion.  

This consists of: 

 $850 million in future gas infrastructure improvements related to 
transmission pipeline safety to be paid for by PG&E 
shareholders; 

 $300 million fine payable to the General Fund;  

 $400 million bill credit to PG&E’s gas ratepayers in the form of a 
one-time bill credit; and  

 Approximately $50 million to implement over 75 remedies 
proposed by the Commission’s Safety and Enforcement Division 
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previously called the Consumer Protection and Safety Division 
(CPSD) 1 and other intervenors to enhance pipeline safety.   

The total of $1.6 billion in penalties and remedies imposed on PG&E in this 

decision, to be paid for by PG&E shareholders, when added to the disallowances 

already adopted in Rulemaking (R.) 11-02-019 (Order Instituting Rulemaking on the 

Commission’s Own Motion to Adopt New Safety and Reliability Regulations for Natural 

Gas Transmission and Distribution Pipelines and Related Ratemaking Mechanisms), 

would exceed $2.2 billion.   

These penalties and remedies are based on our findings – in our 

companion decisions issued today, Decision (D).15-04-021, (D).15-04-022 and 

(D).15-04-023 – that PG&E committed 2,425 violations of various provisions of 

Part 192 of Title 49 of the Code of Federal Regulations, Pub. Util. Code § 451, the 

1955 American Society of Mechanical Engineers Standard B.31.8 (and its 

subsequent revisions), General Order 112 (and its subsequent revisions), and 

Rule 1.1 of the Commission’s Rules of Practice and Procedure.  Many of these 

violations occurred over a number of decades, for a total of 18,447,803 days in 

violation.2  In some cases, the violations lasted for nearly 60 years.  PG&E 

identified some violations in prior years, and some later violations prevented the 

identification and/or correction of prior violations.  Records indicating the 

deficient materials, installation techniques, and pipeline locations were lost, in 

some cases with PG&E’s knowledge that records were missing, PG&E deferred 

some needed pipeline integrity investments, even though the Commission had 

                                              
1  Prior to January 1, 2013, the Safety and Enforcement Division had been called the Consumer 
Protection and Safety Division (CPSD).  However, for consistency and to avoid confusion, this 
Decision continues to refer to the Safety and Enforcement Division by its former name, CPSD.   

2  “Days in violation” refers to the number of violations multiplied by the number of days that 
violation continued. 
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authorized rate recovery for gas transmission safety investments.  Where 

violations accumulate in the manner PG&E allowed, the accumulation 

compounds the risk to the safety of the public and to workers.   

Our decision to use a mix of penalties and remedies is based on our 

intention to penalize PG&E for its violations and to deter similar behavior and 

violations in the future.  This decision differs from the Presiding Officers’ 

Decision (POD) on Fines and Remedies as follows: 1) the overall amount of 

penalties and remedies is increased by $200 million, from $1.4 billion to  

$1.6 billion; 2) the amount of future gas infrastructure improvements related to 

transmission pipeline safety to be paid for by PG&E shareholders is increased 

from zero to $850 million; 3) PG&E will pay a fine to the General Fund of  

$300 million instead of $950 million; and 4) intervenor compensation will be 

processed through our statutory intervenor compensation program as is 

standard practice. 

We believe that a significant portion of the total penalty should be 

committed to making PG&E’s gas transmission system as safe as possible for the 

public, ratepayers, utility workers, and the environment.  Thus we will require 

PG&E shareholders to pay an $850 million penalty to be spent on these safety 

improvements.  Most of the $850 million penalty will be spent on capital 

investments which PG&E will not add to its rate base and thus will not earn any 

profit on them.   

At the same time, we recognize both the statutory tool for penalties (i.e., 

fines to the state General Fund) and the Commission’s long-standing policy and 

practice of imposing fines on IOUs as a means of penalizing and deterring, and 

therefore require PG&E to pay $300 million of the total penalties and remedies in 

the form of a fine to the state General Fund.   
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We also order that PG&E provide a bill credit of $400 million.  This portion 

of the penalties and remedies recognizes that, when PG&E committed these 

violations, it breached the trust between a regulated utility with an exclusive 

franchise and its customers that PG&E would maintain and operate a safe gas 

transmission system.  We accordingly believe a bill credit provided directly to 

PG&E’s gas customers is an appropriate part of the total penalties and remedies.   

Finally, we order PG&E shareholders to fund approximately $50 million to 

implement over 75 remedies proposed by CPSD and other intervenors to 

enhance pipeline safety.     

This decision recognizes that some of these remedies adopted here may 

have already been mandated by the National Transportation Safety Board, the 

Pipeline and Hazardous Materials Safety Administration, the Blue Ribbon Panel 

or decisions issued in Rulemaking 11-02-019.  Therefore, PG&E shall file a 

Compliance Filing in these dockets, which: 

1. Identifies the remedies ordered in this decision that have already 
been ordered elsewhere, where that remedy (decision, report, 
etc.) was ordered, and PG&E’s progress to date in complying 
with that remedy.   

2. Identifies any remedy ordered in this decision that modifies or 
eliminates any remedies ordered elsewhere. 

The Compliance Filing shall also include a timeframe for completion of 

each of the remedies adopted in Appendix E of this decision.  This Compliance 

Filing shall be filed within 60 days of the date this decision is issued. 

Investigations (I.) 12-01-007, I.11-02-016 and I.11-11-009 remain open. 

2. Background 

On September 9, 2010, a 30-inch diameter segment of a natural gas 

transmission pipeline owned and operated by Pacific Gas and Electric Company 

(PG&E) ruptured in a residential area in San Bruno, California.  In the months 
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following the explosion, the Commission opened the following investigations 

into PG&E operations and practices: 

 Investigation (I.) 11-02-016 (Recordkeeping OII) – The 
Commission’s investigation into whether PG&E violated any 
provision or provisions of the California Public Utilities Code, 
Commission general orders or decisions, or other applicable rules 
or requirements pertaining to safety recordkeeping for its gas 
service and facilities. 

 I.11-11-009 (Class Location OII) – The Commission’s investigation 
into whether any of PG&E's operations and practices of its 
natural gas transmission pipeline system in locations with higher 
population density were in violation of state or federal statutes 
and regulations or Commission rules, general orders or decisions.   

 I.12-01-007 (San Bruno OII) – The Commission’s investigation 
into whether PG&E violated any state or federal statutes or 
Commission orders in connection with the San Bruno explosion.3   

Due to the overlap of witnesses and issues among the Pipeline OIIs, the 

assigned Administrative Law Judges (ALJs) coordinated hearing and briefing 

schedules as needed.  On September 7, 2012, CPSD filed two coordinated 

motions in the Pipeline OIIs seeking leave to serve additional prepared 

testimony regarding PG&E’s financial resources and permission to file a single 

coordinated brief regarding fines and remedies.  The two motions were granted 

on September 25, 2012.  As noted in that ruling, a coordinated brief on fines and 

remedies would benefit the decisionmaking process, as the Commission could 

then consider CPSD’s recommendations in a comprehensive manner.4 

                                              
3  Together, the three OIIs are referred to as the “Pipeline OIIs”.  In addition to the Pipeline OIIs, 
the Commission also opened Rulemaking (R.) 11-02-019 to adopt new safety and reliability 
programs for natural gas transmission and distribution pipelines. 

4  Administrative Law Judges’ Ruling Granting Motions of Consumer Protection and Safety Division for 
Leave to Serve Additional Prepared Testimony and for Permission to File a Single Coordinated Brief 
Regarding Fines and Remedies and Notice of Hearing, filed September 25, 2012, at 2-3.  
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CPSD served Financial Analysis of PG&E Corporation (Overland Report) on 

September 7, 2012.5  The date for intervenors to serve financial testimony was 

December 17, 2012.  No intervenor testimony was served.  PG&E served its 

rebuttal testimony, Wells Fargo Report, on January 11, 2013.6  CPSD served 

Rebuttal by Overland Consulting to Report by Wells Fargo Securities (Overland 

Rebuttal) on February 8, 2013.7 

Evidentiary hearings on fines and remedies were held on March 4  

and 5, 2013.  Opening briefs were filed on May 6, 2013 by CPSD, the Division of 

Ratepayer Advocates (DRA);8 the City of San Bruno (CSB); The Utility Reform 

Network (TURN); and the City and County of San Francisco (CCSF).9  PG&E 

filed its response on May 24, 2013.10  On June 5, 2013, CPSD filed its reply brief; 

DRA, TURN, CCSF and CSB filed their reply briefs on June 7, 2013. 

On July 8, 2013, CPSD filed a motion for permission to file an amended 

reply brief.  CPSD’s motion was granted on July 12, 2013 in an electronic ruling, 

which also provided for a round of response/rebuttal briefs.  CPSD filed its 

amended reply brief (CPSD Amended Reply) on July 16, 2013.  PG&E filed its 

response to the CPSD Amended Reply on August 21, 2013.  Rebuttal briefs to 

                                              
5  The confidential version of the Overland Report is Exh. JOINT-50; the public version of the 
Overland Report is Exh. JOINT-51. 

6  The confidential version of the Wells Fargo Report is Exh. JOINT-66; the public version is 
JOINT-67. 

7  The confidential version of the Overland Rebuttal is Exh. JOINT-53; the public version is 
JOINT-54. 

8  The Division of Ratepayer Advocates (DRA) was renamed the Office of Ratepayer Advocates 
(ORA) effective September 26, 2013, pursuant to Senate Bill 96.  However, for consistency and to 
avoid confusion, this Decision continues to refer to ORA by its former name, DRA. 

9  DRA, TURN, CSB and CCSF are jointly referred to as “Intervenors.” 

10  Pursuant to an ALJ Ruling issued on June 3, 2013, PG&E filed an amended brief on 
June 5, 2013. 
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PG&E’s August 21st response were filed on August 28, 2013 by CPSD, TURN, 

DRA, CCSF, CSB and the Californians for Renewable Energy (CARE).11  Table 1 

below summarizes the penalty proposals. 

 
TABLE 1 

Penalty Proposals 

Party 
Fine to be Paid to 

General Fund 
Other Disallowances/Remedies 

CPSD12 Minimum $300 million - $635 million disallowance for 
shareholders from D.12-12-030 

- $1.515 billion for payment of 
ratepayers’ share of Pipeline Safety 
Enhancement Plan (PSEP) Phase I 
costs, with any remaining amounts 
to pay for the ratepayers’ share of 
PSEP Phase II costs. 

- Specific remedies to address 
violations in each proceeding 

DRA13 $550 million - Shareholders responsible for all 
approved costs of Phase I of the 
PSEP, including the $1.169 billion 
approved in D.12-12-030  

- Hire independent monitor 

- Implement NTSB recommendation 
regarding comprehensive audit of 
all aspects of PG&E’s operations 

TURN14 $670 million - $785 million already or to be paid 
by PG&E shareholders for PSEP 

                                              
11  CARE is a party in only the Recordkeeping OII. 

12  Amended Reply Brief of the Consumer Protection and Safety Division on Fines and Remedies (CPSD 
Amended Reply), filed July 16, 2013, at 4. 

13  Opening Brief of the Division of Ratepayer Advocates Regarding Fines and Remedies (DRA Opening 
Brief), filed May 6, 2013, at 4-5. 

14  Opening Brief of The Utility Reform Network on Fines and Remedies (TURN Opening Brief), filed 
May 6, 2013, at viii – x. 
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work ordered in D.12-12-030 

- $1.0 billion of PSEP costs 
apportioned to PG&E’s ratepayers 
in D.12-12-030 (after-tax cost = 
$740 million) 

- $50 million associated with 
proposed remedies 

- Centralized database on reused 
pipeline 

- PG&E should pay costs for 
independent auditor 

CSB15 $900 million - Require $2.333 billion in PSEP 
investments be made at 
shareholder expense  

- Appoint Independent Monitor 

- $100 million to establish and fund 
California Pipeline Safety Trust 

- $150 million to establish and fund 
Peninsula Emergency  Response 
Fund 

- Require memorandum of 
understanding (MOU) with city, 
county and fire districts regarding 
emergency response role 

- Direct PG&E to undertake 
automated safety value pilot 
program 

- Direct PG&E to modify incentive 

                                              
15  Rebuttal Brief of the City of San Bruno Concerning the Fines and Remedies to be Imposed on Pacific 
Gas and Electric Company (CSB Rebuttal Brief), filed June 7, 2013, at 7-8.  In its opening brief, CSB 
had proposed a fine amount of $1.25 billion fine to be paid to the State’s General Fund and 
various remedies.  (Opening Brief of the City of San Bruno Concerning the Fines and Remedies to be 
Imposed on Pacific Gas and Electric Company (CSB Opening Brief), filed May 6 2014, at 7.)  In its 
rebuttal brief, CSB updated its penalty proposal to “support, oppose or respond to specific 
proposals” advanced by CPSD, TURN, DRA, CCSF and PG&E in their opening briefs on fines 
and remedies, and by CPSD in its rebuttal brief.  (CSB Rebuttal Brief at 6.) 
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structure. 

CCSF16 Total amount of at least $2.25 
billion.  No allocation between 
fines and disallowances, but 
advocates that a large portion 
should be directed to remedial 
measures proposed by CSB, 
DRA and TURN. 

 

On July 30, 2013, the ALJs issued a ruling requesting additional comment 

in the following areas: 

1. PG&E was asked to respond to various questions concerning 
how it would treat any fines or disallowances.  
(Section 3 Questions) 

2. All parties were asked to respond to various questions 
concerning “the impact that fines and disallowances would 
have on PG&E’s ability to raise capital and otherwise remain 
financially viable, including the tax treatment of amounts 
disallowed.”17  (Section 4 Questions) 

PG&E filed its response to the Section 3 Questions on August 21, 2013.18  

Responses to the Section 4 Questions were filed on September 20, 2013 by CPSD, 

PG&E, TURN and CSB.19  Replies to those responses were filed on October 15, 

2013 by CPSD, PG&E, and TURN.  

 

                                              
16  Opening Brief of the City and County of San Francisco on Penalties (CCSF Opening Brief), filed 
May 6, 2013, at 15-17 & 47-50. 

17  Administrative Law Judges’ Ruling Requesting Additional Comment, filed July 30, 2013, at 4. 

18  Pursuant to an ALJ Ruling issued on September 16, 2013, PG&E filed an amended response 
on September 17, 2013. 

19  Pursuant to an ALJ Ruling issued on October 9, 2013, PG&E and CSB filed amended 
responses on October 11, 2013. 
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On April 9, 2015 the Commission issued decisions on violations associated 

with the three investigations – Decision (D).15-04-023 (San Bruno Violations 

Decision), (D).15-04-021 (Recordkeeping Violations Decision) and (D).15-04-022 (Class 

Location Violations Decision). 20  The violations found in these three decisions form 

the basis for our consideration of the penalties to be imposed. 

3. Summary of Violations 

In the decisions on violations, we found that PG&E committed a total of 

2,425 violations of various provisions of Part 192 of Title 49 of the Code of 

Federal Regulations (CFR), Pub. Util. Code § 451, American Society of 

Mechanical Engineers Standard B.31.8 (ASME B.31.8) (and its subsequent 

revisions), General Order (GO) 112 (and its subsequent revisions), and Rule 1.1 of 

the Commission’s Rules of Practice and Procedure.  These violations are 

summarized below. 

3.1. San Bruno Violations Decision (I.12-01-007) 

In the San Bruno Violations Decision, we found PG&E had committed 

32 violations, many of them continuing for years, and a total of 59,255 separate 

offenses.  These violations are: 

1. PG&E violated Section 841.412(c) of ASME B31.1.8-1955 by not 
conducting a hydrostatic test on Segment 180 post-installation, 
creating an unsafe system in violation of Pub. Util. Code § 451.  
This violation began in 1956 and, because PG&E did not 
subsequently conduct a hydrostatic test, continued to 
September 9, 2010. 

2. By failing to visually inspect for and discover the defects in 
Segment 180, PG&E violated Section 811.27(A) of ASME  
B31.1.8-1955, creating an unsafe system in violation of Pub. Util. 
Code § 451.  This violation occurred in 1956.   

                                              
20 These three decisions are the Modified Presiding Officer (ModPod) Decisions in these three 
OIIs.   
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3. By installing pipe sections in Segment 180 that were less than  
5 feet in length, PG&E violated API 5LX Section VI, creating an 
unsafe system in violation of Pub. Util. Code § 451.  This 
violation occurred in 1956. 

4. By assigning a yield strength value for Segment 180 above  
24,000 psi when the yield strength was actually unknown, PG&E 
violated Section 811.27(G) of ASME B31.1.8-1955, creating an 
unsafe system in violation of Pub. Util. Code § 451.  This 
violation occurred in 1956.   

5. By not completely welding the inside of the longitudinal seams 
on pups 1, 2, and 3 of Segment 180 and failing to measure the 
wall thickness to ensure compliance with the procurement orders 
which required 0.375-inch wall thickness, PG&E violated  
Section 811.27(C) of ASME B31.1.8-1955, creating an unsafe 
system in violation of Pub. Util. Code § 451.  This violation 
occurred in 1956.  

6. By welding the pups in a deficient manner such that the girth 
welds contained incomplete fusion, burnthrough, slag inclusions, 
cracks, undercuts, excess reinforcement, porosity defects, and 
lack of penetration, PG&E violated Section 1.7 of API standard 
1104 (4th edition, 1956), creating an unsafe system in violation of 
Pub. Util. Code § 451.  This violation occurred in 1956.  

7. By failing to properly account for the actual conditions, 
characteristics, and specifications of the Segment 180 pups when 
it established the MAOP of 400 psig for Segment 180, PG&E 
failed to comply with the maximum allowable operating pressure 
(MAOP) determination requirements in Section 845.22 of ASME 
B31.1.8-1955.  PG&E therefore created an unsafe system condition 
in violation of Pub. Util. Code § 451.  This violation occurred in 
1956. 

8. By installing pipeline sections in Segment 180 out of compliance 
with industry standards and transmission pipe specifications, 
and not suitable or safe for the conditions under which they were 
used, contrary to Section 810.1 of ASME B31.1.8-1955, PG&E 
created an unreasonably unsafe system in violation of Pub. Util. 
Code § 451.  Because the unsafe condition remained uncorrected, 
this violation continued from 1956 to September 9, 2010.  
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9. PG&E violated ASME-B31.8S Appendix A, Section 4.2, and  
49 CFR 192.917(b), by failing to use conservative assumptions 
where PG&E was missing important pipeline data such as pipe 
material, manufacturing process, and seam type.  This violation 
continued from December 17, 2004 to September 9, 2010. 

10. PG&E violated 49 CFR 192.917(b), by not adequately gathering 
and integrating required pipeline data, thereby not having  
an adequate understanding of the threats on Line 132.   
This violation continued from December 17, 2004 to  
September 9, 2010. 

11. PG&E’s failure to analyze the data on pipeline weld defects 
resulted in an incomplete understanding of the manufacturing 
threats to Line 132, in violation of 49 CFR 192.917(a) and  
ASME-B31.8S Section 2.2.  This violation continued from 
December 17, 2004 to September 9, 2010. 

12. PG&E violated 49 CFR 192.917(e)(2), by failing to consider and 
test for the threat of cyclic fatigue on Segment 180.  This violation 
continued from December 17, 2004 to September 9, 2010. 

13. As a result of ignoring the category of Double Submerged Arc 
Welded (DSAW) as one of the weld types potentially subject to 
manufacturing defects, PG&E failed to determine the risk of 
failure from this defect in violation of 49 CFR 192.917(e)(3).   
This violation continued from December 17, 2004 to  
September 9, 2010. 

14. PG&E violated 49 CFR 192.917(e)(3) by not considering 
manufacturing and construction defects on Line 132 unstable and 
prioritizing the covered segments as high risk for the baseline 
assessment or a subsequent reassessment, and thereby failing to 
determine the risk of failure from manufacturing and 
construction defects of Line 132 after operating pressure 
increased above the maximum operating pressure experienced 
during the preceding five years.  This violation continued from 
December 17, 2004 to September 9, 2010. 

15. By not performing pipeline inspections using a method capable 
of detecting seam issues, PG&E violated 49 CFR 192.921(a).   
This violation continued from December 17, 2004 to  
September 9, 2010. 
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16. PG&E violated 49 CFR 192.917(c) and ASME-B31.8S Section 5, by 
using risk ranking algorithms that did not:  (1) properly weigh 
the threats to Line 132, because PG&E did not include its actual 
operating experience; (2) properly identify the Potential Impact 
Radius of a rupture, by using a value of 300 feet where the PIR is 
less than that; (3) identify the proper Consequence of Failure 
formula, by not accounting for higher population densities;  
(4) use conservative values for electrical interference on Line 132, 
which created an external corrosion threat; (5) include any 
consideration of one –call tickets, which indicates third party 
damage threats; (6) include any consideration of historic 
problems with the type of pipe used on Segment 180.   
This violation continued from December 17, 2004 to  
September 9, 2010. 

17. PG&E violated Pub. Util. Code § 451 by engaging in the practice 
of increasing the pressure on Line 132 every 5 years to set the 
MAOP for the purpose of eliminating the need to deem 
manufacturing and construction threats unstable, thereby 
avoiding the need to conduct hydrostatic testing or in-line 
inspections on Line 132.  This violation continued from  
December 17, 2004 to September 9, 2010. 

18. PG&E violated 49 CFR 192.13(c), by failing to follow its internal 
work procedures that are required to be established under  
49 CFR 192.  This violation occurred on September 9, 2010. 

19. By failing to follow its work procedures on September 9, 2010, 
PG&E created an unreasonably dangerous condition in violation 
of Pub. Util. Code § 451.  This violation occurred on  
September 9, 2010. 

20. PG&E violated 49 CFR 192.605(c), by failing to establish adequate 
written procedures for maintenance and operations activities 
under abnormal conditions.  This violation occurred on 
September 9, 2010. 

21. PG&E created an unreasonably unsafe system in violation of  
Pub. Util. Code § 451, by poorly maintaining a system at Milpitas 
that had defective electrical connections, improperly labeled 
circuits, missing wire identification labels, aging and obsolete 
equipment, and inaccurate documentation.  This violation 
continued from February 28, 2010 to September 9, 2010. 
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22. PG&E’s slow and uncoordinated response to the explosion 
violates the requirement of 49 CFR 192.615(a)(3) for an operator 
to respond promptly and effectively to an emergency.  This 
violation occurred on September 9, 2010. 

23. PG&E did not adequately receive, identify, and classify notices of 
the emergency, in violation of 49 CFR 192.615(a)(1).  This 
violation occurred on September 9, 2010. 

24. PG&E did not provide for the proper personnel, equipment, tools 
and materials at the scene of an emergency, in violation of 49 
CFR 192.615(a)(4).  This violation occurred on September 9, 2010. 

25. PG&E’s efforts to perform an emergency shutdown of its pipeline 
were inadequate to minimize hazards to life or property, in 
violation of 49 CFR 192.615(a)(6).  This violation occurred on 
September 9, 2010. 

26. Rather than make safe any actual or potential hazards to life or 
property, PG&E’s response made the hazards worse, in violation 
of 49 CFR 192.615(a)(7).  This violation occurred on September 9, 
2010. 

27. PG&E’s failure to notify the appropriate first responders of an 
emergency and coordinate with them violated 49 CFR 
192.615(a)(8).  It is clear that PG&E’s emergency plans were 
ineffective, and were not followed.  This violation occurred on 
September 9, 2010. 

28. PG&E violated 49 CFR 192.605(c)(1) and (3) by failing to have an 
emergency manual that properly directed its employees to 
respond to and correct the cause of Line 132’s decrease in 
pressure, and its malfunction which resulted in hazards to 
persons and property, and notify the responsible personnel when 
notice of an abnormal operation is received.  This violation 
occurred on September 9, 2010. 

29. PG&E failed to establish and maintain adequate means of 
communication with the appropriate fire, police and other public 
officials, in violation of 49 CFR 192.615(a)(2).  This violation 
occurred on September 9, 2010. 

30. PG&E violated 49 CFR 199.225(a), by failing to perform alcohol 
tests on the employees involved within 2 hours of the incident, 
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and failing to record the reasons for not administering the test in 
a timely fashion.  This violation occurred on September 9, 2010. 

31. PG&E’s failure to create and follow good emergency plans 
created an unreasonably unsafe system in violation of Pub. Util. 
Code § 451.  This violation occurred on September 9, 2010. 

32. PG&E created an unreasonably unsafe system in violation of Pub. 
Util. Code § 451, by continuously cutting its safety-related 
budgets for its Gas Transmission and Storage (GT&S).  This 
violation continued from January 1, 2008 to September 9, 2010.  

3.2. Recordkeeping Violations Decision (I.11-02-016) 

In the Recordkeeping Violations Decision, we found that PG&E committed  

33 violations, many of them continuing for years, for a total of 350,189 days in 

violation.  These violations are: 

1. PG&E’s lack of accurate and sufficient records to determine 
whether it had used salvaged pipe in Segment 180 impacted its 
ability to safely maintain and operate this segment in violation of 
Pub. Util. Code § 451.  (Felts Violation 1)  This violation ran from 
1956 to September 9, 2010. 

2. PG&E violated Pub. Util. Code § 451 for failing to retain the 
necessary design and construction records in Job File GM 136471 
for the construction of Segment 180.  (Felts Violation 2)  This 
violation ran from 1956 to September 9, 2010. 

3. PG&E violated ASME B.31.8 § 841 and Pub. Util. Code § 451 for 
failing to perform a post-installation pressure test on Segment 
180 and retaining the record of that test for the life of the facility.  
(Felts Violation 3)  This violation ran from 1956 to September 9, 
2010. 

4. PG&E violated Pub. Util. Code § 451 by increasing the MAOP of 
Line 132 from 390 psi to 400 psi without conducting a hydrostatic 
test.  (Felts Violation 4)  This violation ran from December 10, 
2003 to September 9, 2010. 

5. PG&E violated Pub. Util. Code § 451 by operating Line 132 above 
390 psi on December 11, 2003, December 9, 2008 and September 
9, 2010 without having records to substantiate the higher 
operating pressure.  (Felts Violation 11)  These constitute three 
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separate violations.  The first violation ran from December 11, 
2003 to September 9, 2010; the second violation ran from 
December 9, 2008 to September 9, 2010; and the final violation 
occurred on September 9, 2010. 

6. PG&E violated Pub. Util. Code § 451 by failing to provide the 
proper clearance procedures for work performed at the Milpitas 
Terminal on September 9, 2010.  (Felts Violation 5)  This violation 
ran from August 27, 2010 to September 9, 2010. 

7. PG&E violated Pub. Util. Code § 451 by failing to have accurate 
drawings and computer diagrams of the Milpitas Terminal.  
(Felts Violation 7)  This violation ran from December 2, 2009 to 
July 2011. 

8. PG&E violated Pub. Util. Code § 451 by failing to have accurate 
Supervisory Control and Data Acquisition System (SCADA) 
diagrams.  (Felts Violation 7 and 9)  This violation ran from 
December 2, 2009 to October 27, 2010. 

9. PG&E violated Pub. Util. Code § 451 by failing to have the 
necessary backup software readily available at the Milpitas 
Terminal on September 9, 2010.  (Felts Violation 8)  This violation 
occurred on September 9, 2010. 

10. PG&E’s October 10, 2011 data response about the video 
recording for Camera 6 misled Commission staff and impeded 
their investigation into the San Bruno explosion.  (Felts Violation 
13)  This is a violation of Rule 1.1 of the Commission’s Rules of 
Practice and Procedure.  

11. PG&E violated Rule 1.1 by misleading CPSD in two separate 
data responses regarding personnel present at the Milpitas 
Terminal who were working on the pressure problem on 
September 9, 2010.  (Felts Violation 14)  The first violation 
occurred on October 10, 2011, PG&E’s response to DR 30, Q 8.d; 
the second violation occurred on December 17, 2011, PG&E’s 
response to DR 30, Q 2.  Both violations ran until January 15, 
2012. 

12. PG&E’s recordkeeping practices with respect to Job Files 
adversely impacts its ability to operate its gas transmission 
pipeline system in a safe manner and violates Pub. Util. Code 
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§ 451.  (Felts Violation 16)  This violation ran from 1987 to 
December 12, 2012. 

13. PG&E has failed to retain pressure test records for all segments of 
its gas transmission pipeline system as required by Pub. Util. 
Code § 451, ASME B.31.8, GO 112 through 112-B and PG&E’s 
internal records retention policies.  (Felts Violation 18)  This 
violation ran from 1956 through December 20, 2012. 

14. PG&E violated ASME B.31.8 § 828.2, GO 112 through 112-B 
§ 206.1, 49 CFR 192.241 and 192.243 and PG&E’s Standard 
Practice 1605 by failing to retain weld inspection reports.  (Felts 
Violation 19)  This violation ran from 1955 through December 20, 
2012. 

15. PG&E violated Pub. Util. Code § 451 for failing to maintain 
records necessary to ensure the safe operations of its gas 
transmission pipeline system by failing to create and retain 
operating pressure records over the life of the pipe.  (Felts 
Violation 20)  This violation ran from 1955 to December 17, 2004. 

16. Starting in 1955, inaccurate and incomplete data in PG&E’s leak 
reports would prevent PG&E from operating its gas transmission 
pipeline system safely, as required by Pub. Util. Code § 451.  
(Felts Violations 21 and 22)  This violation ran from 1955 to 
December 20, 2012. 

17. PG&E violated Pub. Util. Code § 451 by failing to retain records 
of reconditioned and reused pipe in its transmission pipeline 
system.  (Felts Violation 23)  This violation ran from 1940 to 
December 20, 2012. 

18. PG&E violated Pub. Util. Code § 451 by failing to ensure the 
accuracy of data in its Geographic Information System (GIS) 
system and assuming values for missing data that were not 
conservative.  (Felts Violation 24)  This violation ran from 1995 to 
December 20, 2012. 

19. PG&E violated Pub. Util. Code § 451 because its ability to assess 
the integrity of its pipeline system and effectively manage risk is 
compromised by the availability and accuracy of its pipeline 
data.  (Felts Violation 25)  This Violation ran from December 17, 
2004 to December 20, 2012. 
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20. PG&E violated Pub. Util. Code § 451 for failing to retain a 
metallurgist report concerning a 1963 fire and explosion on Line 
109 caused by a failure in a circumferential weld.  (Felts 
Violation 27)  This violation ran from 1963 to December 20, 2012. 

21. The shortcomings in PG&E’s records management activities has 
resulted in PG&E’s inability to operate and maintain PG&E’s gas 
transmission line in a safe manner and violate Pub. Util. Code  
§ 451; GO 112 through 112-B, Section 107; ASME B.31.8.  
(Duller/North Violation A.1)  This violation ran from 1955 to 
December 20, 2012. 

22. PG&E violated ASME B.31.8 § 851.5 by failing to retain records of 
Leak Survey Maps for as long as the line remains in service.  
(Duller/North Violation B.1)  This violation ran from April 16, 
2010 to December 20, 2012. 

23. PG&E violated ASME B.31.8 § 851.5 by failing to retain records of 
Line Patrol Reports for as long as the line remains in service.  
(Duller/North Violation B.2)  This violation ran from  
September 1, 1964 to December 20, 2012. 

24. PG&E violated ASME B.31.8 § 851.5 by failing to retain records of 
Line Inspection Reports as long as the line remains in service.  
(Duller/North Violation B.3)  This violation ran from  
December 17, 1991 to December 20, 2012. 

25. PG&E violated ASME B.31.8 § 851.417 by failing to retain 
pressure test records for the useful life of the pipeline.  
(Duller/North Violation B.4)  This violation ran from  
September 1, 1964 to December 20, 2012. 

26. PG&E violated ASME B.31.8 § 851.5 by failing to retain records of 
transmission line inspections for as long as the line remains in 
service.  (Duller/North Violation B.5)  This violation ran from 
September 1, 1964 to December 20, 2012. 

27. PG&E violated 49 CFR 192.13(c) for failing to comply with its 
internal records retention policies.  (Duller/North Violation B.6)  
This violation ran from 1955 to December 20, 2012. 

28. PG&E violated Pub. Util. Code § 451 by failing to identify and 
include in the Gas Pipeline Replacement Plan (GPRP) all pipe 
segments with unusual longitudinal seams and joints.  
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(Duller/North Violation C.1)  This violation ran from June 1988 
to December 20, 2012. 

29. PG&E violated Pub. Util. Code § 451 because missing and 
inaccurate pipeline records prevented PG&E from properly 
identifying and replacing those pipelines that were prone to 
damage during severe earthquakes.  (Duller/North Violation 
C.2)  This violation ran from June 1992 to December 20, 2012. 

30. PG&E violated Pub. Util. Code § 451 for failing to maintain a 
definitive, complete and readily accessible database of all gas 
leaks for their pipeline system.  (Duller/North Violation C.3)  
This violation ran from 1957 to December 20, 2012. 

3.3. Class Location Violations Decision (I.11-11-009) 

In the Class Location Violations Decision, we found that PG&E committed 

2,360 violations that continued for years, for a total of 18,038,359 days in 

violation.  These violations are: 

1. PG&E failed to maintain or operate all segments of its 
transmission pipeline system at the proper class location.  Based 
on PG&E’s acknowledgement that it is responsible for 
maintaining complete, up-to-date class locations for its entire gas 
transmission system, and that that it has failed to do so, we find 
that PG&E has violated the following Federal Regulations: 

a. PG&E violated its own internal rules by failing to identify 
843 segments with increased population density.  This 
constitutes a violation of 49 CFR 192.13(c). 

b. PG&E failed to identify changes in population density and 
misclassified 224 pipeline segments.  As a result, PG&E 
failed to conduct a study to determine the actual class 
location of these pipeline segments in violation of 
49 CFR 192.609. 

c. Due to misclassification of 224 pipeline segments, PG&E 
did not confirm or revise the MAOP of segments with 
changed class designations within 24 months of the change 
in class location.  This failure is a violation of 
49 CFR 192.611. 
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d. PG&E violated 49 CFR 192.613 by not having a procedure 
for continuing surveillance of its facilities to determine and 
take appropriate action concerning, among other things, 
changes in class location, for 677 segments.  

e. PG&E violated 49 CFR 192.619 by operating 63 pipe 
segments at pressures greater than allowed for the current 
class location. 

2. PG&E violated 49 CFR 192.107 by using an assumed Specified 
Minimum Yield Strength (SMYS) value above 24,000 psi for 
133 segments of pipe that moved to a higher class designation 
when those segments did not have sufficient known pipe 
attributes to support an assumed value over  
24,000 psi.   

3. By operating 63 pipe segments at pressures greater than allowed 
for the current class designation and 133 segments with an 
assumed SMYS value above 24,000 psi, PG&E subjected pipelines 
to higher stresses and lower safety margins than allowed by 
federal and state safety regulations.  PG&E’s operation of these 
pipeline segments at excessive MAOPs constitute unsafe 
operations and is a violation of Pub. Util. Code § 451.   

3.4. Alleged Duplication of Violations 

In its briefs on violations in the San Bruno OII and the Recordkeeping OII, 

PG&E contends that there is substantial overlap of violations.21  PG&E raises this 

same argument again, contending that in the Pipeline OIIs, CPSD has alleged the 

same violation or violations arising out of the same conduct.22  Among other 

things, PG&E contends that CPSD alleged the same violation in both the  

San Bruno OII and the Recordkeeping OII concerning PG&E’s SCADA system, 

                                              
21  The Reply Brief of Pacific Gas and Electric Company, filed April 25, 2013 in I.12-01-007, discussed 
duplication and/or overlap of alleged violations at 2, 6, 83, 89, 90, 98, 159, and Appendixes D 
and E; Reply Brief of Pacific Gas and Electric Company, filed August 24, 2013 in  
I.11-02-016, at 29-30. 

22  Coordinated Remedies Brief of Pacific Gas and Electric Company (PG&E Remedies Brief), filed 
May 24, 2013 and amended June 5, 2013, at 39. 
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emergency response plans and GIS data, and that CPSD alleged in all three OIIs 

that PG&E had improperly used assumed SMYS values above 24,000 psi.  PG&E 

asserts that since these alleged violations concern the same conduct, they cannot 

be considered separate violations. 

We agree with PG&E that to the extent the three OIIs allege the same 

violations, these violations should not be counted multiple times.  However, the 

fact that PG&E’s actions resulted in violations of multiple regulations and 

statutes does not constitute duplicative or overlapping violations.  Failure to 

comply with each of these regulations would constitute a separate violation.  In 

the Pipeline OIIs, CPSD has explained the applicable statute that serves as the 

basis of each violation and the acts supporting the alleged violation.    

PG&E has alleged the following duplicative and overlapping alleged 

violations among the three OIIs:23 

1. Assumed SMYS values greater than 24,000 psi (alleged 
San Bruno violations 8 & 14, alleged Recordkeeping violation 
24 (Felts Violation 24) and alleged Class Location violation 1) – 
Alleged San Bruno violation 8 concerns the assumed SMYS value 
for Segment 180, while alleged Class Location violation 1 
concerns the assumed SMYS value for 133 pipeline segments of 
pipe that moved to a higher class designation when those 
segments did not have sufficient known pipe attributes.  Since 
the segments identified in the Class Location OII do not include 
Segment 180, there is no duplication or overlap.  Similarly, Felts 
Violation 24 concerns incorrect data in survey sheets and GIS, 
which is not a factor in alleged San Bruno violation 8 or Class 
Location violation 1.  Finally, alleged San Bruno violation 14 was 
not adopted.  For the reasons discussed here, there was no 
duplication in alleged violations regarding assumed SMYS 
values. 

                                              
23  PG&E Remedies Brief at 39. 
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2. Hydrostatic Testing on Segment 180 (alleged San Bruno 
violation 4 and Recordkeeping violation 3 (Felts Violation 3) – 
Alleged San Bruno violation 4 concerns a continuing violation of 
Pub. Util. Code § 451 from 1956 to 2010 for not conducting a 
hydrostatic test on Segment 180, while Felts Violation 3 concerns 
failure to retain records.  However, we believe there is substantial 
similarity between these two violations, with the major difference 
being that alleged San Bruno violation 4 does not address 
recordkeeping violations.  As Felts Violation 3 is more inclusive 
for the purpose of determining fines and remedies, we will 
exclude the number of violations contained in alleged San Bruno 
violation 4 (adopted as San Bruno violation 1) from the total 
number of violations. 

3. Accounting for Segment 180 Pups in establishing MAOP 
(alleged San Bruno violations 12 and 13 and alleged 
Recordkeeping violation 4 (Felts Violation 4)) – The San Bruno 
Violations Decision agrees that alleged San Bruno violations 12 
and 13 were duplicative, and adopted a single violation (adopted 
violation 7).  Adopted San Bruno violation 7 found that PG&E 
violated ASME B.31.8 § 845.22, and therefore Pub. Util. Code 
§ 451, by failing to account for the conditions, characteristics and 
specifications for the pups when it established an MAOP of 
400 psi.  This was a one-time violation in 1956.  In contrast, Felts 
Violation 4 concerns PG&E increasing the MAOP for Line 132 
from 390 psi to 400 psi in 2004 without first performing a 
hydrostatic test.  Felts Violation 4 was a continuing violation 
running from 2004 to 2010.  Given the different timeframes and 
focus of the two violations, there is no duplication.  

4. Clearance documentation (alleged San Bruno violations 29 and 
30 and alleged Recordkeeping violation 5 (Felts Violation 5)) – 
Alleged San Bruno violations 29 and 30 deal with PG&E’s 
clearance procedures for the Milpitas Terminal work.  The first is 
a violation of 49 C.F.R § 192.13(c), which PG&E does not contest.  
The second is the same facts, and resulted in a violation of  
Pub. Util. Code § 451.  Felts Violation 5 concerns PG&E’s failure 
to properly follow its clearance procedures, likewise resulting in 
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a violation of Pub. Util. Code § 451.24 Based on the facts 
presented, it appears that alleged San Bruno Violation 30 is 
included in Felts Violation 5, both of which are § 451 violations.  
Therefore, we will exclude the number of violations contained in 
alleged San Bruno violation 30 (adopted as San Bruno violation 
19) from the total number of violations. 

5. SCADA Inadequacy (alleged San Bruno violation 33 and 
alleged Recordkeeping violations 7 & 9 (Felts Violations 7 & 9)) 
– Alleged San Bruno violation 33 was not upheld in the San Bruno 
Violations Decision.  Further, while the Recordkeeping Violations 
Decision had upheld Felts Violation 7, it had determined that Felts 
Violation 9 was not a separate violation.  Accordingly, PG&E’s 
assertions of duplication among these violations are moot. 

6. Emergency Procedures (alleged San Bruno violations 33-51 and 
alleged Recordkeeping violation 10 (Felts Violation 10)) – 
PG&E has not specified which of the alleged San Bruno 
violations are duplicative, nor the manner in which there is 
duplication.  In any event, the San Bruno Violations Decision has 
rejected several of CPSD’s alleged emergency response 
violations.  Additionally, the Recordkeeping Violations Decision 
rejected Felts Violation 10.  Accordingly, PG&E’s assertions of 
duplication among these violations are moot. 

7. GIS Data (alleged San Bruno violations 15 & 16 and alleged 
Recordkeeping violations 24 & 25 (Felts Violations 24 & 25)) – 
Alleged San Bruno violation 15 concerns a violation of 49 CFR 
192.917(b), while Felts Violations 24 and 25 concern violations of 
Pub. Util. Code § 451. Additionally, the San Bruno Violations 
Decision rejected alleged violation 16.  As such, there is no 
duplication.   

8. Patrol Records (alleged Recordkeeping violation 30 
(Duller/North Violation B.2) and alleged Class Location 
violation 6) – Alleged Class Location violation 6 concern 
violations of 49 CFR 192.605 and 192.709(c) for failing to 
adequately maintain pipeline patrol records.  However, the Class 
Location Violations Decision specifically notes that the 

                                              
24  The same course of conduct may result in the violation of both federal regulations and § 451. 
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recordkeeping violations alleged in that proceeding were 
considered in the Recordkeeping OII.25  Accordingly, PG&E’s 
assertions of duplication among these violations are moot. 

4. Legal Framework for Fines and Remedies 

The Commission adopted General Order (GO) 112 pursuant to state law to 

establish certain state pipeline safety standards during the 1960’s.26  

Subsequently, the Commission has been certificated pursuant to 49 U.S.C. 

§ 60105 to enforce the Department of Transportation’s minimum federal safety 

standards for gas pipeline facilities.  In 1971, the Commission revised GO 112 to 

adopt the federal pipeline safety rules in 49 CFR 192.27  The current revision of 

this general order, GO 112-E, automatically incorporates all revisions to the 

Federal Pipeline Safety Regulations, 49 CFR 190, 191, 192, 193 and 199.28  

Consequently, the Commission may enforce violations of 49 CFR 192 pursuant to 

its constitutional and statutory authority.  

4.1. Commission Authority to Impose Fines 

The Commission has specific statutory authority to impose fines under 

Pub. Util. Code §§ 2107 and 2108.  The Commission’s authority to impose fines 

                                              
25  Class Location Violations Decision, Section 6. 

26  The jurisdictional basis pursuant to which the Commission adopted GO 112 is Pub. Util. 
Code § 768, which states in relevant part: “The commission may, after a hearing, require every 
public utility to construct, maintain, and operate its line, plant, system, equipment, apparatus, 
tracks, and premises in a manner so as to promote and safeguard the health and safety of its 
employees, passengers, customers, and the public.  The commission may prescribe, among 
other things, the installation, use, maintenance, and operation of appropriate safety or other 
devices or appliances, including interlocking and other protective devices at grade crossings or 
junctions and block or other systems of signaling.  The commission may establish uniform or 
other standards of construction and equipment, and require the performance of any other act 
which the health or safety of its employees, passengers, customers, or the public may demand.” 

27  See Recordkeeping Exh. PG&E-5 (D.78513, with GO 112-C attached). 

28  See Recordkeeping Exh. PG&E-7 (D.95-08-053, as modified by D.95-12-065, with GO 112-E 
attached). 
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pursuant to Pub. Util. Code § 2107 has also been affirmed by the California 

Courts.29 

Section 2107 states: 

Any public utility that violates or fails to comply with any 
provision of the Constitution of this state or of this part, or that 
fails or neglects to comply with any part or provision of any 
order, decision, decree, rule, direction, demand, or requirement 
of the commission, in a case in which a penalty has not otherwise 
been provided, is subject to a penalty of not less than five 
hundred dollars ($500), nor more than fifty thousand dollars 
($50,000) for each offense.30 

Section 2108 states: 

Every violation of the provisions of this part or of any part of any 
order, decision, decree, rule, direction, demand, or requirement 
of the commission, by any corporation or person is a separate 
and distinct offense, and in case of a continuing violation each 
day’s continuance thereof shall be a separate and distinct offense. 

There is some disagreement between CPSD/Intervenors and PG&E 

over the use of fines or penalties imposed pursuant to these Code sections.  

CPSD and Intervenors maintain that fines and penalties imposed under 

Pub. Util. Code §§ 2107 and 2108 must be paid to the General Fund.31  

PG&E, on the other hand, argues that “[t]here is no requirement that 

                                              
29  See, e.g., Pacific Bell Wireless, LLC v. Public Utilities Com. (Cingular) (2006) 140 Cal. App. 4th 
718. 

30  Between 1994 and 2012, the maximum fine was $20,000 per offense.  Prior to 1994, the 
maximum fine was $2,000 per offense. 

31  CPSD Amended Reply at 5; Opening Brief of the City of San Bruno concerning the Fines and 
Remedies to be Imposed on Pacific Gas and Electric Company (CSB Opening Brief), filed May 6, 2013, 
at 8-9; Opening Brief of the City and County of San Francisco on Penalties (CCSF Opening Brief), filed 
May 6, 2013, at 1; Opening Brief of The Utility Reform Network on Fines and Remedies (TURN 
Opening Brief), filed May 6, 2013 at 3; Opening Brief of the Division of Ratepayer Advocates Regarding 
Fines and Remedies (DRA Opening Brief), filed May 6, 2013, at 4. 
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[Public Utilities Code] Section 2107 penalties be paid to the General Fund 

and the Commission has authority under [Public Utilities Code] Section  

701 to order that they be invested in pipeline safety.”32 33 Later, CPSD 

explained how the Commission can both impose a fine under Section 2017 

and require an investment in pipeline safety under Section 701:  

“The Commission’s powers under § 2107 are not exclusive. Notably, 

PG&E does not contest the Commission’s “broad authority” under § 

701 to impose equitable remedies. (See, e.g., Assembly, supra, 12 Cal. 

4th, at 736).34 As recognized by the California Supreme Court,  

§ 701 is “supplemented by additional specific fine authority…” as 

set forth in § 2107. (Id. at 737). (CPSD Response to PG&E’s Appeal of 

the Penalties POD at 11.) 
 

We agree that the California Constitution, along with Pub. Util. Code  

§ 701, confer broad authority on the Commission to regulate public utilities, in 

particular the fashioning of remedies in addition to those specifically set forth in 

the Public Utilities Code. (See, Southern California Edison Co. v. Peevey, (2003) 31 

Cal. 4th 781, 792, citing Assembly v. Public Utilities Commission (1995) 12 Cal. 4th 

87, 103.)   

Unlike the POD, however, we conclude that we do not need to resolve 

here the issue of whether penalties under Section 2107 must be paid to the 

General Fund.  This decision imposes a penalty payable to the General Fund 

                                              
32  PG&E Remedies Brief at 19. 

33  Pub. Util. Code § 701 states: 

The commission may supervise and regulate every public utility in the State 
and may do all things, whether specifically designated in this part or in 
addition thereto, which are necessary and convenient in the exercise of such 
power and jurisdiction. 

34   The correct citation appears to be to Pacific Bell Wireless, LLC, v. Public Utilities Commission 
(Cingular) (2006) 140 Cal. App. 4th 718, 737.   
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pursuant to Pub. Util. Code § 2107.  In addition, we impose equitable remedies 

pursuant to our authority under the California Constitution and Pub. Util. Code 

§ 701.35  There is no conflict or inconsistency in our doing so. 

We note, however, that parties use the term “penalty” to refer to monies 

paid to the General Fund, as well as to refer to the combination of fines, 

disallowances and other remedies.  To avoid further confusion in this decision, 

we refer to monies imposed under Pub. Util. Code § 2107 and paid to the General 

Fund as “fines”, whereas the term “penalties” in this decision refers to the 

combination of fines, disallowances and remedies.   

4.2. Commission Authority to Impose Other Remedies 

In addition to specific authority to impose fines pursuant to Pub. Util. 

Code §§ 2107 and 2108, the Commission has authority to fashion other equitable 

remedies.  As applicable here, these remedies include exercising our ratemaking 

authority to disallow expenditures that are needed to redress violations found in 

these proceedings, i.e., PG&E’s failure to maintain its gas transmission pipeline 

system and records in accordance with applicable statutes, regulations and 

orders. 

As applicable here, Pub. Util. Code § 728 confers ratemaking authority36 

upon the Commission and states: 

Whenever the commission, after a hearing, finds that the rates or 
classifications, demanded, observed, charged, or collected by any 
public utility for or in connection with any service, product, or 
commodity, or the rules, practices, or contracts affecting such 

                                              
35  See also, Pub. Util. Code §§ 728 and 761. 

36  The Commission’s general ratemaking authority comes from Section XII, Article 6 of the 
California Constitution, which states:  “The commission may fix rates, establish rules, examine 
records, issue subpoenas, administer oaths, take testimony, punish for contempt, and prescribe 
a uniform system of accounts for all public utilities subject to its jurisdiction.” 
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rates or classifications are insufficient, unlawful, unjust, 
unreasonable, discriminatory, or preferential, the commission 
shall determine and fix, by order, the just, reasonable, or 
sufficient rates, classifications, rules, practices, or contracts to be 
thereafter observed and in force. 

Similarly, § 761 confers authority on the Commission to require a utility to 

maintain proper facilities.  It provides in pertinent part: 

Whenever the commission, after a hearing, finds that the rules, 
practices, equipment, appliances, facilities, or service of any 
public utility, or the methods of manufacture, distribution, 
transmission, storage, or supply employed by it, are unjust, 
unreasonable, unsafe, improper, inadequate, or insufficient, the 
commission shall determine and, by order or rule, fix the rules, 
practices, equipment, appliances, facilities, service, or methods to 
be observed, furnished, constructed, enforced, or employed.  

In Decision Mandating Pipeline Safety Implementation Plan, Disallowing Costs, 

Allocating Risk of Inefficient Construction Management to Shareholders, and Requiring 

Ongoing Improvement in Safety Engineering (PSEP Decision) [D.12-12-030], the 

Commission adopted a Pipeline Safety Enhancement Plan (PSEP) for PG&E and 

authorized PG&E to increase its revenue requirements in 2012, 2013 and 2014 for 

these projects.  However, the decision further noted:  

Our upcoming decisions in Investigation (I.) 11-02-016, 
I.11-11-009 and I.12-01-007 will address potential penalties for 
PG&E’s actions under investigation.  We do not foreclose the 
possibility that further ratemaking adjustments may be adopted 
in those investigations; thus all ratemaking recovery authorized 
in today’s decision is subject to refund.37 

                                              
37  PSEP Decision at 4 (slip op.). 
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This determination is reiterated in Ordering Paragraph 3 of the PSEP 

Decision.38  Thus, CPSD and Intervenors have urged that some or all of the PSEP 

costs authorized to be recovered from ratepayers be disallowed.39  DRA further 

argues that even without these provisions in the PSEP Decision “the Commission 

has equitable authority to exercise its ratemaking powers to disallow all further 

PSEP costs to the extent those costs fund activities that will redress the violations 

in these proceedings.”40 

Additionally, TURN argues that PG&E’s conduct should be considered 

imprudent because PG&E is “unable to foreclose the possibility that other 

dangerously defective segments are present in its system without testing or 

replacing all segments that lack a valid pressure test record.”41  It therefore 

contends that since the costs to test or replace pipeline is the result of this 

imprudence, those costs should be disallowed from recovery under Pub. Util. 

Code §§ 451 and 463.42  

Finally, the Commission has broad authority under Pub. Util. Code § 701 

to “do all things, whether specifically designated in this part or in addition 

thereto, which are necessary and convenient” in the supervision and regulation 

                                              
38  PSEP Decision at 126 (slip op.) (“All increases in revenue requirement authorized in Ordering 
Paragraph 2 are subject to refund pending further Commission decisions in Investigation 
(I.) 11-02-016, 1.11-11-009, and 1.12-01-007.”). 

39  CPSD Amended Reply at 4; DRA Opening Brief at 4; TURN Opening Brief at viii; CSB Opening 
Brief at 8; CCSF Opening Brief at 16-17. 

40  DRA Opening Brief at 16. 

41  TURN Opening Brief at 9. 

42  Pub. Util. Code § 463 requires the Commission to disallow direct and indirect expenses 
“reflecting the direct or indirect costs resulting from any unreasonable error or omission 
relating to the planning, construction, or operation of any portion of the corporation’s plant 
which cost, or is estimated to have cost, more than fifty million dollars ($50,000,000), including 
any expenses resulting from delays caused by any unreasonable error or omission.” 
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of public utilities.43  However, the Commission’s exercise of these additional 

powers and jurisdiction “must be cognate and germane to the regulation of 

public utilities. . .”44  In this instance, the remedies considered below are to 

ensure that PG&E’s gas transmission pipeline system will be maintained and 

operated safely.  Accordingly, they lie squarely within our jurisdiction.  For 

example, pursuant to the subject-to-refund language of the PSEP Decision and 

Pub Util. Code §§ 701 and 728, we have authority to require PG&E’s 

shareholders to absorb costs that the PSEP Decision initially allocated to 

ratepayers.  Since we may order such an equitable remedy, we do not need to 

reach the issue of disallowance due to imprudence under Pub. Util. Code § 463.  

4.3. The Excessive Fines Clause 

CPSD and Intervenors, with the exception of CARE, propose a 

combination of fines and disallowances and other remedies that would equal 

approximately $2.25 billion after tax.  Their proposals are summarized in Table 1 

above. 

CARE states that no portion of the penalty should be in the form of a fine.  

Rather, it believes that the entire $2.25 billion penalty should be directed to 

improve PG&E’s pipeline system.45  CARE further argues that “a penalty would 

not change PG&E’s operations without an incentive to reduce the penalty, 

because there is nothing that PG&E can do to reduce the likelihood of new 

pipeline leaks except by replacing the old natural gas pipelines now in service.”46 

                                              
43  See, e.g., Pacific Bell Wireless, LLC v. Public Utilities Com., 140 Cal. App. 4th at 736; Consumers 
Lobby Against Monopolies v. Public Utilities Com. (CLAM) (1979) 25 Cal. 3d 891, 905. 

44  CLAM 25 Cal. 3d at 905-906 (citations omitted). 

45  Californians for Renewable Energy Rebuttal to the Amended Reply Brief of the Consumer Protection 
and Safety Division, filed August 26, 2013, at 6. 

46  CARE Rebuttal to Amended Reply at 5. 
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We disagree with CARE’s proposal that no fine be imposed under Pub. 

Util. Code §§ 2107 and 2108.  The purpose of a fine goes beyond restitution, as it 

is to deter PG&E and others from future violations.  CARE’s proposal appears to 

reward PG&E if it now performs the needed safety improvements that had been 

deferred.  We do not see how such a penalty would serve to deter future 

violations.  

PG&E notes that, in determining the level of penalties to be assessed, the 

Commission’s ability to impose a fine is limited by the state and federal 

Excessive Fines Clauses.47  Consequently, according to PG&E, the Commission 

must consider the penalties assessed in other fatal pipeline accidents, not just 

penalties previously assessed by the Commission.48  PG&E identifies eight 

pipeline accidents resulting in fatalities between 1999 and 2011 and contends that 

the amount proposed by CPSD and Intervenors is disproportionate to the 

penalties assessed in these prior accidents.49  Moreover, PG&E states that CPSD’s 

proposal ignores the fact that other jurisdictions cap the level of penalties and 

argues that “other legislatures’ determinations should weigh heavily” in 

analyzing whether the proposed penalty amount violates the Excessive Fines 

Clauses.50 

The Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution states:  

“Excessive bail shall not be required, nor excessive fines imposed, nor cruel and 

unusual punishments inflicted.”  Similarly, Article 1, § 17 of the California 

                                              
47  PG&E Remedies Brief at 24; Pacific Gas and Electric Company’s Response to Consumer Protection 
and Safety Division’s Amended Reply Brief on Fines and Remedies (PG&E Response to Amended Reply), 
filed August 21, 2013, at 8. 

48  PG&E Remedies Brief at 24-25. 

49  PG&E Remedies Brief at 22 – 24. 

50  PG&E Response to Amended Reply at 9. 
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Constitution prohibits “cruel or unusual punishment” and “excessive fines.”  In 

People ex rel. Lockyer v. R.J Reynolds Tobacco Company (2005) 37 Cal. 4th 707, the 

California Supreme Court noted four factors that are relevant to determining 

whether a fine is grossly disproportional to the gravity of the offense.  More 

specifically, Lockyer cited the factors used by the U.S. Supreme Court in United 

States v. Bajakajian (1998) 524 U.S. 321, 334, where the U.S. Supreme Court 

determined that the forfeiture of more than $350,000 for failure to report taking 

more than $10,000 cash out of the country was an excessive fine.  As summarized 

by Lockyer, these factors are:  “(1) the defendant’s culpability; (2) the relationship 

between the harm and the penalty; (3) the penalties imposed in similar statutes; 

and (4) the defendant’s ability to pay.”51  These considerations are similar to 

those articulated in D.98-12-075, although there we said we would look at our 

own precedents, not other statutes.  PG&E argues that CPSD and Intervenors fail 

to consider comparable cases and statutes from other jurisdictions when setting 

the proposed penalty amount.52  “Given that CPSD and Intervenors assert there 

has been no prior Commission enforcement action of comparable magnitude to 

these three OII proceedings, it is particularly important for the Commission to 

consider penalties imposed by court and other enforcement agencies in 

connection with natural gas pipeline accidents in other jurisdictions.”53 

PG&E asserts that the two most comparable fatal natural gas pipeline 

accidents are the natural gas pipeline rupture near Carlsbad, New Mexico in 

August 2000 and the gas line rupture and explosion in Allentown, Pennsylvania 

in February 2011.  PG&E argues that the Carlsbad accident is comparable to 

                                              
51  People ex rel. Lockyer v. R.J Reynolds Tobacco Company, supra, 37 Cal. 4th at 728. 

52  PG&E Remedies Brief at 24. 

53  PG&E Remedies Brief at 26. 
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San Bruno in size, scope and severity in the following areas:  (1) twelve people 

died as a direct result of the rupture and resulting fire; (2) the National 

Transportation Safety Board (NTSB) had concluded that the failure was the result 

of the operator’s failure to prevent, detect, or control internal corrosion within 

the company’s pipeline; (3) the accident involved a large diameter transmission 

pipe installed in 1950, and there were concerns regarding the design and 

construction of the pipe; (4) as a result of the Carlsbad accident, there were 

changes to federal safety regulations that impacted the entire natural gas 

industry; and (5) the NTSB had determined that a contributing factor of the 

Carlsbad accident was the operator’s failure to monitor, investigate and mitigate 

internal corrosion in two of its pipelines transporting corrosive gas.54  PG&E 

notes that “a U.S. District Court entered a consent decree in which El Paso 

Natural Gas Company agreed to pay $101.5 million – consisting of a 

$15.5 million civil penalty and $86 million to implement program 

improvements.”55  PG&E states that despite the parallels between the Carlsbad 

accident and the San Bruno explosion, CPSD’s proposed penalty is 

“approximately 20 times the penalty and other relief imposed for the Carlsbad 

accident.”56  

PG&E further contends that the February 2011 natural gas explosion in 

Allentown, Pennsylvania is “[a]nother case of reasonable comparable ‘size, scope 

and severity’”57  There, PG&E states:  (1) there were five fatalities, three injuries 

and the destruction of eight homes; (2) the cast-iron natural gas main was 

                                              
54  PG&E Remedies Brief at 27-29.  

55  PG&E Remedies Brief at 29. 

56  PG&E Remedies Brief at 29.   

57  PG&E Remedies Brief at 30. 
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circumferentially fractured; (3) the utility had experienced numerous safety 

problems with its cast-iron gas mains in the past four years, yet had taken no 

remedial action; and (4) the Pennsylvania PUC enforcement staff had alleged 

numerous ongoing violations.58  The Pennsylvania PUC ultimately approved a 

settlement motion for a $500,000 civil penalty and the utility agreed to not seek 

rate recovery for remedial measures estimated to cost $24.75 million.59  PG&E 

states that CPSD’s proposed $2.25 billion penalty is about 90 times larger than 

what had been imposed on UGI Corporation.60  PG&E contends that in light of 

the similarities between the Carlsbad and Allentown accidents to San Bruno, the 

disproportionate penalty proposed by CPSD and Intervenors raises 

constitutional concerns.61 

Finally, PG&E notes that CPSD’s proposed recommendation not only 

exceeds the “largest penalty ever imposed”, but also exceeds the statutory cap on 

penalties fixed by 48 other states and the District of Columbia.62  As support, 

PG&E cites to BMW of N. Am., Inc. v. Gore (1996) 517 U.S. 559, 583-84 and Hale v. 

Morgan (1978) 22 Cal. 3d 388, 403 for its contention that the constitutionality of a 

penalty must be considered in light of sanctions authorized in other states.  It 

further notes that the proposed penalty “is almost five times the equity 

investment in PG&E’s GT&S business in 2010 and almost as much as the total 

GT&S revenues for the nine years prior to the San Bruno accident.”63 

                                              
58  PG&E Remedies Brief at 30. 

59  PG&E Remedies Brief at 30. 

60  PG&E Remedies Brief at 31.   

61  PG&E Remedies Brief at 32. 

62  PG&E Remedies Brief at 31; PG&E Response to Amended Reply at 9. 

63  PG&E Response to Amended Reply at 8-9. 
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We do not find PG&E’s arguments that the Carlsbad and Allentown 

accidents are comparable to San Bruno to be convincing.  Although we do not 

deny that there are some similarities between these two accidents and San Bruno, 

they fall well short of being comparable in size, scope and severity.  Unlike 

Carlsbad and Allentown, the ruptured transmission pipeline in San Bruno 

caused “an explosion and lengthy fire in a major metropolitan area” and resulted 

in significantly more physical harm (eight fatalities, injuries to 58 others, 

destruction of 38 homes and damage to 70 other homes).64  Additionally, the 

penalties imposed here are the result of three separate proceedings.  While the 

San Bruno OII pertained to violations associated with the explosion of a portion 

of a transmission pipeline in a single neighborhood, the Recordkeeping OII and 

Class Location OII pertained to violations that affected thousands of segments 

(and hundreds of miles) of PG&E’s gas transmission pipeline system.  As we 

have found in the Recordkeeping Violations Decision and the Class Location 

Violations Decision, PG&E committed “numerous violations of pipeline safety 

regulations … which were very lengthy in time and endangered many other high 

consequence areas in PG&E’s service territory.”65  Moreover, PG&E chooses to 

ignore the fact that the penalties imposed on El Paso Natural Gas Company for 

the Carlsbad accident were the result of a consent decree.  Similarly, UGI 

Corporation had settled the enforcement actions brought against it for the 

Allentown accident.66  In contrast, PG&E has not settled any of the violations 

brought against it in the Pipeline OIIs.  Considering these facts, there is nothing 

                                              
64  CPSD Amended Reply at 8. 

65  CPSD Amended Reply at 8. 

66  Moreover, as noted by PG&E and CPSD, at the time of the Allentown accident, Pennsylvania 
law capped the civil penalty for accidents at $500,000.  Thus, the civil penalty imposed on UGI 
Corporation was limited to a maximum of $500,000. 
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inappropriate or disproportionate about any penalties imposed on PG&E in 

connection with the violations arising from the Pipeline OIIs being significantly 

greater than those imposed on El Paso Natural Gas Company or UGI 

Corporation. 

PG&E’s argument that CPSD’s proposed penalty amount exceeds the 

statutory cap on fines in most other jurisdictions is similarly not persuasive.  We 

agree with CPSD that the fact that other states have capped the amounts allowed 

for violations “simply reflect other legislatures’ prerogatives.”67  Unlike other 

jurisdictions, the California legislature has given the Commission broad 

discretion to determine the appropriate level of fines, rather than establish the 

maximum amount of fines that may be imposed on a continuing violation or a 

related series of violations. 

In Gore, the U.S. Supreme Court in determining whether punitive damages 

were reasonable, compared statutory penalties for comparable misconduct, 

noting that a reviewing court should defer to “legislative judgments concerning 

appropriate sanctions for the conduct at issue.”68  As a result, the Supreme Court 

disallowed punitive damages imposed on BMW by an Alabama court that were 

substantially greater than the statutory fines available in Alabama and elsewhere 

for similar misconduct.69  In this case, Pub. Util. Code §§ 2107 and 2108 authorize 

the Commission to impose a fine of “not less than five hundred dollars ($500) nor 

                                              
67  CPSD Amended Reply at 9. 

68  Gore, 517 U.S. at 583. 

69  Gore, 517 U.S. at 584.  The defendant in Gore was a national distributor of autos, thus making 
the statutory penalties in other states relevant to the issue of whether it could have expected 
such a large penalty for what it had done.  (517 U.S. at 584.) Here, of course, PG&E is well aware 
of the potential penalties under California law.   
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more than fifty thousand dollars ($50,000) for each offense”70 and provides that 

for continuing violations, each day “shall be a separate and distinct offense.”  

Accordingly, as this case involves a statutory fine, and not punitive damages, it is 

not essential to consider the statutory penalties in other states.   

PG&E’s reliance on Hale is also unpersuasive.  In that case, the California 

Supreme Court found that a penalty, pursuant to Civ. Code § 789.3, imposed on 

the landlord of a small mobile home park for willfully depriving his tenant of 

utility services for the purpose of evicting the tenant was excessive under the 

circumstances.  Although the Court found it significant that no other jurisdiction 

appeared to have a mandatory daily penalty for a similar violation, it went on to 

state:  

[T]here are doubtless some situations in which very large 
punitive assessments are both proportioned to the landlord’s 
misconduct and necessary to achieve the penalty’s deterrent 
purposes.71 

The Court then concluded that where “a penal statute may be subject to both 

constitutional and unconstitutional applications, courts evaluate the propriety of 

the sanction on a case-by-case basis.”72  The thrust of Hale is that where a 

mechanical imposition of a penalty would result in an excessive penalty, the 

entity imposing the fine must reduce the fine to a reasonable level.  As further 

explained below, we have done so here.  Based on the violations presented in the 

Pipeline OIIs (e.g., the magnitude of the physical harm resulting from the 

                                              
70  The maximum penalty of $50,000 for each offense was effective January 1, 2012. Prior to 
January 1, 1994, the maximum penalty for each offense was $2,000.  Between January 1, 1994 
and December 31, 2011, the maximum penalty for each offense was $20,000. 

71  Hale, 22 Cal. 3d at 404.  In considering the constitutionality of the penalties imposed in Hale, 
the Court also considered the size of the business organization charged with the violation. 

72  Hale, 22 Cal. 3d at 404. 
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San Bruno explosion, the potential risk to millions of residents from operating 

gas transmission pipelines at non-commensurate SMYS in areas of high 

population density, and PG&E’s failure to have proper records to ensure safe 

operations of its natural gas transmission pipeline system), CPSD’s proposed 

amount would not be excessive and may be necessary to deter future violations.   

While we consider penalties imposed in other fatal pipeline accidents and 

the level of penalties set by other jurisdictions, this factor does not control our 

analysis under the federal and state Excessive Fines Clauses.  In People ex rel. State 

Air Res. Bd. v. Wilmshurst (1999) 68 Cal. App. 4th 1332, the State Attorney General 

had brought an action against defendants for violations of Cal. Health & Safety 

Code §§ 43150-43156, which resulted in a fine of $45,000 against each defendant.  

In rejecting the defendants’ arguments that the amount of the penalty imposed 

violated the Excessive Fines Clause, the California Court of Appeal, Third 

Appellate District, noted  

[a]lthough a number of forfeiture cases have articulated a 
multifactor analysis of proportionality to be followed by a trial 
court (e.g., United States v. Bajakajian (1998) 524 U.S. 321 …), the 
constitutionality of a fine is determined by a simpler test.  
“Proportionality is likely to be the most important issue in a 
forfeiture case, since the claimant-defendant is able to pay by 
forfeiting the disputed asset.  In imposing a fine, on the other 
hand, ability to pay becomes a critical factor.”73 

Consequently, the Wilmshurst Court concluded “The defendants' concern 

with the relationship between the amount of the fines and nature of their 

offenses or the amounts of fines imposed in other cases is consequently 

                                              
73  Wilmshurst, 68 Cal. App. 4th at 1350 (citing U.S. v. Hines (8th Cir. 1996) 88 F.3d 661, 664). 
(Emphasis in original.)  
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irrelevant; it is their ability to pay which is the constitutional lodestar.”74  As we 

discuss in Section 5.3 below, we find that PG&E is financially able to bear the 

$2.25 billion penalty proposed by CPSD. 

Moreover, as noted by CCSF, any proportionality assessment must 

consider “the extent to which a sanction is punitive in nature and ‘whether a 

penalty is grossly disproportional to the gravity of a defendant’s offense’...”75  In 

this instance, CPSD is proposing a $2.25 billion penalty for over 18.4 million days 

of violations.  If we were to impose a fine for each day of violation this would 

equate to approximately $122 per day of violation, well below the minimum fine 

specified in Pub. Util. Code § 2107.  Consequently, while we do not dispute that 

CPSD’s proposed $2.25 billion penalty is significant, we do not find that it 

violates the Excessive Fines Clause.   

5. Factors to Consider in Setting Penalty Amount 

In determining the penalty to be imposed for violations found in the San 

Bruno Violations Decision, the Recordkeeping Violations Decision and the Class 

Location Violations Decision, we are guided by D.98-12-075, which identified the 

following factors:76  

1. Severity of the offense;  

2. The conduct of the utility before, during, and after the 
offense;  

                                              
74  Wilmshurst, 68 Cal. App. 4th at 1350.  See also, City and County of San Francisco v. Sainez (2000)  
77 Cal. App. 4th 1302, 1321 (“Other authority has since held, and we agree, that ‘in the case of 
fines, as opposed to forfeitures,  the defendant's ability to pay is a factor under the Excessive 
Fines Clause.  [Citations.]’." 

75  Reply Brief of the City and County of San Francisco on Penalties (CCSF Reply), filed June 6, 2013, 
at 8. 

76  Standards of Conduct Governing Relationships Between Energy Utilities and Their Affiliates 
(D.98-12-075), 84 Cal.P.U.C.2d 155 186-190. 
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3. The financial resources of the utility;  

4. The totality of the circumstances in furtherance of the 
public interest; and 

5. The amount of the fine in relationship to prior Commission 
decisions. 

We have consistently applied the factors identified in D.98-12-075 to all 

enforcement proceedings, including, most recently, our investigation into the 

2008 gas distribution pipeline explosion at Rancho Cordova.77 

5.1. Severity of the Offense 

The severity of the offense includes consideration of economic harm, as 

well as physical harm to people or property.  Further, “disregarding a statutory 

or Commission directive, regardless of the effects on the public, will be accorded 

a high level of severity.”78 

5.1.1. CPSD and Intervenors’ Positions 

There is no dispute that the San Bruno explosion resulted in physical harm 

to persons and destruction or damage to property.  From that standpoint alone,   

the violations associated with the San Bruno explosion and Segment 180 would 

be considered severe.  Moreover, DRA contends the San Bruno explosion was the 

result of “multiple continuing violations by PG&E committed over many years . . . and 

that these violations compromised the integrity of PG&E’s entire gas pipeline 

system.”79 

                                              
77  See Presiding Officer’s Decision Regarding Joint Motion to Approve the Stipulation of Pacific Gas 
And Electric Company and the Consumer Protection and Safety Division Concerning Rancho Cordova 
and Related Stipulation (Rancho Cordova Decision) (D.11-11-001), issued November 3, 2011, at 35. 

78  Standards of Conduct Governing Relationships Between Energy Utilities and Their Affiliates, 84 Cal. 
P.U.C.2d at 188. 

79  DRA Opening Brief at 20 (emphasis in original). 
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In addition to this physical harm, CPSD and Intervenors argue that 

violations associated with PG&E’s operations and recordkeeping practices 

should also be considered severe, as they have resulted in economic harm to 

ratepayers. 

As an example, CPSD argues that PG&E’s failure to maintain complete 

and accurate records, as well as cutting back on other safety-related activities, 

resulted in the company’s GT&S revenues exceeding the amounts needed to earn 

its authorized returns for a number of years.80  Consequently, CPSD contends 

that many of the safety-related projects ordered in the PSEP Decision are to 

correct these deficiencies.81  Moreover, CPSD asserts these violations relate to the 

safety of PG&E’s entire system, not just Segment 180, and many of the violations 

began over 40 years ago.82   

TURN echoes many of CPSD’s comments and contends that, based on the 

evidence in these proceedings, “the testing and replacement that was approved 

in [the PSEP Decision] is made necessary by the fact that PG&E’s violations 

prevent any reasonable assurance of the integrity of PG&E’s underground 

pipelines.”83 

Finally, CPSD and Intervenors note that these cases do not involve single, 

isolated violations.  Rather these proceedings involve “a pervasive, systemic and 

long-standing failure on the part of PG&E to maintain its gas pipeline system 

safely.”84  As TURN points out, “the sheer number and scope of the ongoing 

                                              
80  CPSD Opening Brief at 42. 

81  CPSD Opening Brief at 43. 

82  CPSD Opening Brief at 44. 

83  TURN Opening Brief at 26. 

84  CCSF Opening Brief at 5. 
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violations is unprecedented.”85  Moreover, PG&E had more than adequate prior 

notice of recordkeeping problems, yet failed to take any actions.86  Consequently, 

“PG&E will be doing remedial work for decades, much of it at the expense of 

ratepayers.”87  By way of example, CPSD refers to PG&E’s response to a joint 

CPSD and TURN data request, which included a list of more than 23,700 pipe 

segments in the most heavily populated high consequence areas for which PG&E 

had not located a valid strength test record.88 

Based on these considerations, CPSD and Intervenors argue that the 

violations should be accorded a high level of severity, and the highest level of 

fines should be imposed.89 

5.1.2. PG&E’s Position 

PG&E does not dispute that the San Bruno explosion caused physical 

harm.  However, it asserts “the fact that physical harm occurs does not mean that 

the harm was caused by the alleged violation.”90  Further, PG&E notes that many 

of the violations alleged in the Class Location OII and the Recordkeeping OII are 

unrelated to the San Bruno explosion and did not cause any physical harm.91  

PG&E therefore contends “the conduct underlying alleged violations was not 

                                              
85  TURN Opening Brief at 25. 

86  TURN Opening Brief at 26; DRA Opening Brief at 20-21; CCSF Opening Brief at 5. 

87  CPSD Opening Brief at 44 (emphasis in original). 

88  CPSD Opening Brief at 45. 

89  CPSD Opening Brief at 42-44; TURN Opening Brief at 4; CCSF Opening Brief at 2; DRA Opening 
Brief at 18; CSB Reply Brief at 4. 

90  PG&E Remedies Brief at 36. 

91  PG&E Remedies Brief at 36. 
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intentional and is unrelated to the cause of the [Segment 180] rupture.”92  As 

such, PG&E argues that the violations do not merit a severe penalty.  

PG&E further argues that CPSD “improperly transformed single 

categories or courses of conduct into numerous individual alleged violations” 

and then exponentially increased the violations by counting each as a 

“continuing violation.”93  PG&E argues that this methodology not only results in 

a total potential penalty that is unrealistic, but also is contrary to Commission 

precedent. 

Finally, PG&E contends that the Commission should group violations “by 

category for the purpose of finding violations and calculating any penalties.”94  It 

notes that in Utility Consumers Action Network v. SBC Communications (AT&T) 

[D.08-08-017], the Commission had determined that although AT&T had 

“violated two subsections of [Pub. Util. Code] § 2883, the company had pursued 

essentially one course of conduct:  failure to comply with the warm line policies 

enacted by the legislature.95”  On that basis, PG&E argues that the millions of 

violations alleged by CPSD in the Class Location OII be condensed into a “single 

course of conduct, failure to properly implement patrol, class location and 

continuing surveillance procedures.”96 

5.1.3. Discussion 

We do not agree with PG&E’s arguments that violations that did not cause 

or result in physical harm should be considered less severe.  In D.98-12-075, we 

                                              
92  PG&E Remedies Brief at 38. 

93  PG&E Remedies Brief at 39 & 41. 

94  PG&E Remedies Brief at 41. 

95  PG&E Remedies Brief at 41 (citing D.08-08-017 at 37-38 (slip op.)). 

96  PG&E Remedies Brief at 40. 
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noted that both economic harm and failure to comply with statutes or 

Commission directives were also considered when determining the severity of a 

violation.  With respect to economic harm, we noted:  “The fact that the economic 

harm may be difficult to quantify does not diminish severity or the need for 

sanctions.”  We further noted: 

Many potential penalty cases before the Commission do not 
involve any harm to consumers but are instead violations of 
reporting or compliance requirements.  In these cases, the harm 
may not be to consumers but rather to the integrity of the 
regulatory process.  

… 

Such compliance is absolutely necessary to the proper 
functioning of the regulatory process.  For this reason, 
disregarding a statutory or Commission directive, regardless of 
the effects on the public, will be accorded a high level of 
severity.97 

Therefore, contrary to PG&E’s arguments, economic harm and failure to comply 

with statutes or Commission directives are considered severe violations.  

We find that PG&E’s violations have caused economic harm to ratepayers.  

As noted by TURN, the San Bruno explosion caused economic harm to the 

residents of San Bruno.98  Moreover, PG&E has failed to comply with statutes 

and Commission directives.  Many of the actions mandated in the PSEP Decision 

are due to PG&E’s failure to comply with statutes – e.g., to maintain complete 

and accurate records and to comply with the applicable statutes and regulations 

                                              
97  Standards of Conduct Governing Relationships Between Energy Utilities and Their Affiliates, 84 Cal. 
P.U.C.2d at 188. 

98  TURN Opening Brief at 26. 
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concerning the proper surveillance, operation and maintenance of its 

transmission pipeline system.99   

We further disagree with PG&E’s argument that those violations alleged in 

the Recordkeeping OII and the Class Location OII that do not directly relate to 

the San Bruno explosion should not be considered as severe.  All of the violations 

raised in the Pipeline OIIs concern failure to comply with federal or state laws or 

regulations.  Consistent with D.98-12-075, PG&E’s violations in those OIIs will be 

accorded a high level of severity.   

PG&E has acknowledged in the Class Location OII that it has not 

maintained nor operated all segments of its transmission pipeline system at the 

proper class location.100  Although PG&E has argued that the failure to maintain 

the proper class location did not necessarily present a serious risk to public 

safety, failure to maintain the proper MAOP in light of the population density 

where the pipeline was located increases the potential physical and economic 

harm to the public in the event of a pipeline failure.  Similarly, as we discussed in 

Resolution ALJ-277 Affirming Citation No. ALJ-274 2012-01-001 Issued to Pacific Gas 

and Electric Company for Violations of General Order 112-E (Resolution ALJ-277), 

issued on April 20, 2012, concerning PG&E’s violations of leak survey 

requirements:  

Leak surveys are the primary industry tool available to detect 
and correct gas leaks before they become serious.  Moreover, leak 
survey data provides critical information that operators must 
consider in determining the need and schedule for necessary 
maintenance or replacement. … The potential public harm from 

                                              
99  PSEP Decision at 87 (slip op.). 

100  See, e.g., Class Location Exh. PG&E-1 at 1-1 – 1-2 (PG&E/Yura); PG&E Remedies Brief at 1. 
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these violations was great.  The violations were significant, with 
the capacity for serious injury to persons and property.…101 

Additionally, we do not agree that CPSD has inappropriately inflated the 

number of violations to enhance their severity.  PG&E’s efforts to reduce the 

number of violations, and thus the severity of these violations, disregards the 

company’s responsibility to ensure the safe operations of its pipeline system.   

With respect to the Class Location OII, PG&E cannot credibly argue that 

maintaining the proper class location designation in response to changes in 

population density (49 CFR 192.609), confirming the maximum allowable 

operating pressure of pipelines in response to changes in class designation 

(49 CFR 192.611), or performing continuous surveillance over the maintenance 

and operations of its facilities (49 CFR 192.613) are not all, individually, 

important aspects of operating its pipeline system in a safe manner.  Similarly, 

PG&E cannot reasonably believe that failure to maintain the proper class 

designation for a segment of pipe in San Francisco is the same violation as failing 

to maintain the proper class designation for a segment of pipe in the Mojave 

Desert.  If these violations had occurred individually and/or on one or two 

segments of pipeline, they would have been charged separately.  The fact that the 

violations are pervasive throughout PG&E’s pipeline system and result in the 

violation of more than one regulation or law does not change the need to 

consider these as separate violations.   

With respect to the San Bruno OII, PG&E cites two examples where, it 

contends, CPSD improperly expanded the number of violations.102  First, PG&E 

contends that CPSD “doubled” a violation for Segment 180 girth welds by 

                                              
101  Resolution ALJ-277 at 6-7. 

102  PG&E Remedies Brief at 40. 
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alleging violations of both Section 811.27(E) of ASME B31.1.8 – 1955 and 

API 1104.103  However, CPSD had withdrawn the Section 811.27(E) violation and 

the San Bruno Violations Decision did not adopt it.104  Second, PG&E contends that 

CPSD improperly included specific violations within the scope of a “generic” 

violation.105  The generic alleged violation referenced by PG&E is that “By 

installing pipeline sections that were not suitable and safe for the conditions 

under which they were used, PG&E violated the safe industry practices 

described in Section 810.1 of ASME B31.1.8 – 1955, creating an unsafe system in 

violation of Pub. Util. Code § 451.”  The San Bruno Violations Decision concurred 

with PG&E’s contention that this violation significantly overlapped two other 

alleged violations and therefore combined them into a single adopted 

violation.106  Accordingly, we do not find that the examples cited by PG&E 

support its argument that there has been an improper expansion of the number 

of violations in the San Bruno OII. 

Finally, in addition to violations of federal and state statutes and 

regulations, we found that PG&E violated Rule 1.1 of the Commission’s Rules of 

Practice and Procedure in the Recordkeeping OII.107  Rule 1.1 states  

Any person who signs a pleading or brief, enters an appearance, 
offers testimony at a hearing, or transacts business with the 
Commission, by such act represents that he or she is authorized 
to do so and agrees to comply with the laws of this State; to 
maintain the respect due to the Commission, members of the 
Commission and its Administrative Law Judges; and never to 

                                              
103  PG&E Remedies Brief at 40. 

104  San Bruno Violations Decision, Section 5.1.8. 

105  PG&E Remedies Brief at 40. 

106  San Bruno Violations Decision, Section 5.1.10. 

107  Recordkeeping Violations Decision, Section 7.4. 
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mislead the Commission or its staff by an artifice or false 
statement of fact or law.108 

There is no dispute that misleading the Commission and impeding the 

staff’s investigation in the Recordkeeping OII are severe offenses. 

For the reasons discussed above, we find that the violations are severe.  

5.2. Conduct of the Utility Before, During and After the Offense 

This factor takes into consideration the utility’s efforts to prevent a 

violation by ensuring compliance with applicable laws, regulations, and 

Commission directives.  Additionally, the Commission will assess the utility’s 

monitoring of activities to ensure compliance.  Pursuant to Pub. Util. Code § 702, 

Every public utility shall obey and comply with every order, 
decision, direction, or rule made or prescribed by the commission 
in the matters specified in this part, or any other matter in any 
way relating to or affecting its business as a public utility, and 
shall do everything necessary or proper to secure compliance 
therewith by all of its officers, agents, and employees. 

Moreover, in considering utility culpability in violations, “the act, 

omission, or failure of any officer, agent, or employee of any public utility, acting 

within the scope of his official duties or employment, shall in every case be the 

act, omission, or failure of such public utility.”  Finally, the Commission will 

consider whether once the utility became aware of the violation, it promptly 

brought the violation to the attention of the Commission.109 

5.2.1. CPSD and Intervenors’ Positions 

CPSD argues that PG&E failed to take action to prevent the violations from 

occurring.  With respect to Segment 180, CPSD argues that PG&E failed to follow 

                                              
108  Rules of Practice and Procedure, Rule 1.1 (emphasis added). 

109  Standards of Conduct Governing Relationships Between Energy Utilities and Their Affiliates, 84 Cal. 
P.U.C.2d at 188-189. 
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industry standards related to construction and installation of pipe, including 

visual examination of the pipe and its welds, pressure testing and retention of 

necessary records.110  Additionally, CPSD notes that PG&E’s corporate culture 

placed profits over safety by making significant cuts in its safety-related 

personnel and tasks.111  In particular, CPSD states that PG&E had discontinued 

its GPRP for a risk management program, resulting in significantly reducing the 

number of miles of high consequence areas (HCA) transmission pipeline 

replaced.  However, as CPSD notes, “[r]egulations are not goals, they are 

absolute requirements.  Systems should be engineered so that those requirements 

are met.”112 

CPSD further maintains that although PG&E was required to actively 

monitor all activities concerning its transmission pipeline system, it did not take 

any actions to detect violations.113  As such, CPSD argues that PG&E’s claims that 

it was unaware of problems with its records for over 50 years are not credible.  

CPSD points to various occasions where it believes PG&E could have detected 

the flawed pup sections in Segment 180.  Further, it notes that PG&E had been 

informed of errors in its risk assessment program in 1984, but failed to take any 

action.  CPSD argues that if PG&E had done so, PG&E “could have avoided the 

San Bruno rupture and fire.”114 

Finally, CPSD states “the violations came to light subsequent to the 

explosion in San Bruno.  PG&E did nothing to disclose them to the Commission, 

                                              
110  CPSD Opening Brief at 45-46. 

111  CPSD Opening Brief at 46. 

112  CPSD Opening Brief at 46. 

113  CPSD Opening Brief at 47. 

114  CPSD Opening Brief at 48-49. 
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or rectify them in advance.”115  CPSD and TURN further note that all the actions 

PG&E has taken since the San Bruno explosion to rectify the disclosed violations 

were mandated by PHMSA or the Commission, not initiated by the company.116  

For example, CPSD notes that although PG&E knew its GIS system was missing 

data, it had taken no actions to “immediately correct and report” the 

violations.117 

Intervenors further argue that PG&E’s conduct throughout the course of 

these proceedings demonstrate that it was not acting in good faith.  Both CSB 

and CCSF point to PG&E’s aggressive litigation strategy and efforts to delay 

providing records necessary for a thorough investigation.118  CSB further states 

that while PG&E has admitted to two minor violations, it “cannot prove that [it] 

will fix the numerous and egregious deficiencies in its system.”119  Similarly, 

TURN notes that PG&E has only admitted to the most trivial violations and 

“made frivolous legal arguments, such as the argument that [Pub. Util. Code] 

§ 451 does not impose any safety requirements.”120 

5.2.2. PG&E’s Position 

PG&E contends that it has always acted in good faith.  It notes that CPSD 

had conducted multiple audits of PG&E’s gas transmission operations prior to 

the San Bruno explosion and its audit findings had approved PG&E’s general 

                                              
115  CPSD Opening Brief at 49. 

116  CPSD Opening Brief at 49; TURN Opening Brief at 27. 

117  CPSD Opening Brief at 50. 

118  CSB Opening Brief at 33; CCSF Opening Brief at 6. 

119  CSB Opening Brief at 36. 

120  TURN Opening Brief at 28. 
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practices.121 Thus, PG&E argues that even if CPSD’s audits were not thorough or 

comprehensive, “that is not a valid aggravating factor in penalizing PG&E.”122  

PG&E further states “while PG&E had room for improvement, its practices met 

regulatory requirements and were consistent with accepted industry 

practices.”123  In particular, PG&E notes that the shortfalls in its recordkeeping 

practices were not unique, and gaps in pipeline construction and maintenance 

records were common among natural gas pipeline operators.124 

PG&E adds that the Commission should take into account PG&E’s efforts 

to improve the safety of its gas transmission system immediately after the 

San Bruno explosion.  It also lists the numerous actions it took to assist the 

residents and CSB immediately after the explosion.125 

PG&E disputes CPSD’s and Intervenors’ assertions that it only took action 

after being ordered to do so by the Commission or PHMSA.  It states that it 

undertook to verify pipeline specifications before ordered to do so by the 

Commission.126  Further, PG&E argues that it has “acted in good faith on the 

Commission’s directives, and the recommendations issued by the CPSD and the 

NTSB.”127  It then discusses the various improvements it has undertaken since 

the San Bruno explosion, including corporate-level organization changes, 

creation of a new records management system and policy and improvements 

                                              
121  PG&E Remedies Brief at 43. 

122  PG&E Remedies Brief at 43. 

123  PG&E Remedies Brief at 47. 

124  PG&E Remedies Brief at 47-48. 

125  PG&E Remedies Brief at 49 – 51. 

126  PG&E Remedies Brief at 44. 

127  PG&E Remedies Brief at 51. 
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and initiatives undertaken in its gas organization.128  Moreover, PG&E contends 

that even if these improvements were mandated by the Commission,  

{Pub. Util. Code] § 2104.5 presupposes that the improvements 
were required to achieve compliance with Commission rules and 
orders.  The question is the good faith of the utility in attempting 
to achieve that compliance and whether the company embraced 
the spirit of change, rather than grudgingly accepting a 
mandate.129 

Thus, PG&E argues that it should be given credit for its good faith in 

implementing the changes mandated by the Commission in the PSEP Decision.130 

Finally, PG&E addresses CPSD’s allegations that PG&E demonstrated bad 

faith because it had withheld evidence of errors in GIS (the audit change log).  

PG&E first states that CPSD incorrectly concluded that all changes made to 

pipeline attribute fields in GIS were to correct errors, when many of the changes 

were, in fact, “due to new pipe installation, hydro testing, changes made to more 

precisely reflect the location of the pipeline, and changes to pipe attribute 

information (including corrections to pipe attributes identified through normal 

course of business and records research).”131  Further, PG&E asserts it had not 

withheld this information from CPSD, but rather had “provided a written 

description of the HCA audit change log and an excerpt of the log itself on 

September 29, 2011.”132  Finally, PG&E asserts that CPSD’s allegations were made 

based on hindsight.  “Prior to the [San Bruno explosion], there was no indication 

that Segment 180 was constructed from anything other than the properly 

                                              
128  PG&E Remedies Brief at 54 – 62. 

129  PG&E Remedies Brief at 63. 

130  PG&E Remedies Brief at 51-53 & 63. 

131  PG&E Remedies Brief at 45. 

132  PG&E Remedies Brief at 46. 
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manufactured DSAW transmission pipe requisitioned for the job, and the lack of 

pressure testing records, or even pressure testing, was permissible for Segment 

180 under the grandfather clause.”133 

For these reasons, PG&E argues that it had acted in good faith to discover, 

disclose and remedy violations. 

5.2.3. Discussion 

We find that PG&E did not take adequate steps to prevent the violations 

from occurring.  PG&E appears to rely on CPSD’s audits, which had approved 

PG&E’s general practices, to determine that it was in compliance with the 

regulations.134  However, as PG&E recognizes, CPSD’s audits are not 

comprehensive.  More importantly, as the pipeline operator, the onus to ensure 

that its gas transmission pipeline system is operated safely is on PG&E, not 

CPSD.  

PG&E also did not take adequate steps to ensure compliance with 

applicable laws and regulations.  Although PG&E recognizes its duty to maintain 

design, installation, testing, operating and maintenance records for all segments 

of its transmission pipeline system, it admits that it had lost or inadvertently 

destroyed records over the years.  Despite knowing that it was missing records 

and the associated data that it was required to maintain, PG&E took no action to 

correct these violations. 

As we discuss in the Recordkeeping Violations Decision, PG&E management 

had been notified at various times of the impact of not having the necessary 

records.  Some examples include: 

                                              
133  PG&E Remedies Brief at 47. 

134  PG&E Remedies Brief at 43. 
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 In 1981, the NTSB investigated a gas pipeline leak in 
San Francisco and determined that PG&E’s delay in stopping the 
flow of gas was because it could not locate one emergency valve 
due to inaccurate records.   

 In 1984, PG&E hired Bechtel Petroleum, Inc. (Bechtel) to conduct 
a risk analysis to develop a methodology and database to 
prioritize replacement of transmission line segments and 
distribution mains.   In its report to PG&E, Bechtel stated that due 
to the inaccuracy and lack of various data variables, the risk 
analysis was of limited use. 

 Bechtel advised PG&E in 1986 of the risk to its integrity 
management program caused by missing pipeline data, and the 
need for additional research to resolve these “uncertainties.”   

 In 1992, PG&E’s Records and Information Coordinator had 
written a memo concerning PG&E’s document recordkeeping 
practices and expressing concern over the utility’s inability to 
maintain essential pipeline data. 

Despite repeatedly being notified of these recordkeeping shortfalls, PG&E 

did not take any action to obtain the missing data.  Further, as we determined in 

the PSEP Decision, PG&E’s actions since the 1980’s has been a shift away from 

safety: 

The decision-making and priorities driving PG&E’s pipeline 
safety actions in 1985 and 1992 show a different PG&E than the 
PG&E of the early 2000’s. The 1985 plan showed PG&E thinking 
ahead, coordinating with local authorities planning similar 
trenching work, updating meters and associated system 
components as part of a comprehensively planned, orderly 
approach to making economically sound upgrades as part of an 
overall system improvement plan.  PG&E included “manpower 
and training” among its considerations, showing that it was 
planning to use its own employees and not outside consultants.  
In this way, PG&E staff would study its system and actually 
perform pipeline tests and replacements, thus retaining the 
knowledge within the organization for long-term operations and 
planning. 
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In contrast, as the Independent Review Panel pointed out, more 
recently PG&E’s field operations and integrity management 
efforts were not coordinated.135   

We also do not agree with PG&E’s arguments that it should be found to 

have acted in good faith because its practices were consistent with accepted 

industry practices.  As we have discussed in our decisions on violations, PG&E’s 

attempts to equate its conduct with that of other gas utilities is unpersuasive.136  

Those other utilities are not subject to our jurisdiction, GO 112 and its successors, 

or California law.  Moreover, the fact that other gas utilities may also be violating 

statutes and regulations is not an excuse for PG&E to not be in compliance.  

PG&E has not provided any authority that states that compliance with gas safety 

requirements is optional or can be waived. 

We further disagree that PG&E should be considered to have 

demonstrated good faith and given “credit” because it “embraced” the directives 

contained in the PSEP Decision and did not “grudgingly” accept them.  All 

utilities under the Commission’s jurisdiction are expected to comply with 

Commission directives and orders.  Failure to do so subjects the utility to 

sanctions under Pub. Util. Code § 2107.  The fact that PG&E has complied with 

the PSEP Decision without complaining does not demonstrate good faith.  

Moreover, the PSEP Decision directs PG&E to take corrective action for failing to 

have the records necessary to ensure safe operations of its transmission system.  

PG&E should not be considered to be acting in good faith simply because it is 

now maintaining and operating its gas transmission pipeline system in 

accordance with governing laws and regulations. PG&E was aware it was not in 

                                              
135  PSEP Decision at 47 (slip op.). 

136  See, e.g., Recordkeeping Violations Decision, Section 9.1. 
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compliance with various state and federal regulations regarding the maintenance 

of pipeline records, yet took no corrective action. 

Nonetheless, we acknowledge PG&E’s effort immediately after the 

San Bruno explosion when it provided assistance to the CSB and its residents 

affected by the explosion.  These actions, along with PG&E’s corporate-level 

reorganization to improve operations and implementation of new practices and 

activities in its gas transmission business reflect PG&E’s renewed commitments 

to ensuring the safe operation of its transmission system. 

Finally, while we do not agree with Intervenors that PG&E’s aggressive 

litigation strategy in these proceedings reflects bad faith, we do agree that some 

of the actions taken by PG&E’s counsel in the course of these proceedings reflect 

bad faith.  In the Recordkeeping Violations Decision, we found that PG&E violated 

Rule 1.1 on two occasions with respect to its responses to CPSD’s data requests137 

and that it potentially violated Rule 1.1 in another.138  Finally, we note that in all 

three OIIs, CPSD and Intervenors have alleged that PG&E has delayed and failed 

to completely respond to data requests.  PG&E’s delay and failure to provide 

complete responses impeded CPSD’s ability to conduct its investigation and 

prepare its reports in the OIIs.  

In light of the above, we do not find that PG&E has acted in good faith to 

discover, disclose and remedy the violations.  

                                              
137  Recordkeeping Violations Decision, Section 7.4. 

138  See Recordkeeping Violations Decision, Section 9.3. 
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5.3. Financial Resources of the Utility  

In setting the level of the fine, the Commission needs to balance “the need 

for deterrence with the constitutional limitations on excessive fines.”139  

Consequently, the Commission must “adjust fine levels to achieve the objective 

of deterrence, without becoming excessive, based on each utility's financial 

resources.”140  We have addressed the Excessive Fines Clause in Section 4.3 

above.  In this section, we address the extent to which PG&E’s financial resources 

would limit the amount of the penalty to be imposed. 

5.3.1. CPSD and Intervenors’ Positions 

CPSD asserts that in setting the penalty level, the Commission must take 

into account that PG&E is one of the largest utilities in the nation and that 

between 1999 and 2010 PG&E’s actual revenues from GT&S services exceeded 

revenue requirements by at least $435 million at a time when PG&E was 

underspending on safety141  Based on testimony from CPSD witnesses Lubow 

and Malko of Overland Consulting (Overland), CPSD contends that PG&E could 

sustain fines and remedies up to $2.25 billion.142  CPSD states that this 

                                              
139  Standards of Conduct Governing Relationships Between Energy Utilities and Their Affiliates, 84 Cal. 
P.U.C. 2d at 189. 

140  Standards of Conduct Governing Relationships Between Energy Utilities and Their Affiliates, 84 Cal. 
P.U.C. 2d at 189. 

141  CPSD Opening Brief at 51. 

142  CPSD Opening Brief at 51-53.  The Overland Report evaluates the financial strength of 
PG&E’s parent company, PG&E Corporation (PCG).  It explains “Although Pacific Gas & 
Electric is the utility subsidiary regulated by the CPUC, we mainly focused on the holding 
company, PCG, in our analysis because the financial strength of the holding company 
ultimately determines the amount of capital that can be raised.”  (Exh. Joint-52 at 1, fn. 3.)  In 
fact, Overland actually calculated that PG&E could sustain penalties up to $2.45 billion, 
including the  $2.25 billion “threshold amount” of “incremental equity” discussed in Overland’s 
testimony, plus the $200 million of non-revenue producing equity that PCG had included in its 
2012 forecasts.  (See Overland Rebuttal Testimony, Exh. JT 54, at page 7.) 
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recommended penalty amount “while harsh enough to have a deterrent effect, is 

not so harsh that PG&E’s credit worthiness would suffer to the point where 

ratepayers would be negatively impacted.”143 

Intervenors support the proposed level of fines and remedies proposed by 

CPSD.  CSB notes that PG&E reported operating revenues of $13.841 billion in 

2010, and PG&E Corporation’s net income after dividends on preferred stock for 

the first quarter of 2012 was $239 million.144   CSB cites to various PG&E reports 

and concludes that PG&E has conveyed increasing confidence in the company’s 

financial outlook to investors.145  CSB argues that PG&E’s own witness had 

conceded that while it would be a challenge to issue equity or raise capital 

sufficient to pay a $2 billion fine, PG&E had the capacity to do so.146  As such, 

CSB maintains a $1.25 billion fine (excluding other proposed remedies and 

disallowances) would be appropriate in light of PG&E’s size, 2010 operating 

revenues and 2013 profits.147 

CCSF echoes CSB’s arguments, noting that PG&E is the biggest public 

utility in California, with ample resources.  Additionally, CCSF argues that it is 

important for the Commission “to devise a penalty high enough to deter a large, 

well-resourced corporation like PG&E from undervaluing safety in the future” 

while still allowing PG&E to survive.148    

                                              
143  CPSD Opening Brief at 53. 

144  CSB Opening Brief at 29. 

145  CSB Opening Brief at 29. 

146  CSB Opening Brief at 29-31. 

147  CSB Opening Brief at 28.  CSB subsequently lowered its proposed fine amount to $900 million 
in its reply brief. 

148  CCSF Opening Brief at 7. 
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TURN further notes that given the extent of the harm resulting from the 

San Bruno explosion and the scope of the violations at issue in the Pipeline OIIs, 

fines imposed in other proceedings do not provide much guidance.149  It notes 

that the penalties imposed in six incidents identified by PG&E that involved 

natural gas pipeline explosions and fatalities in other jurisdictions are not 

comparable to the San Bruno explosions, as three of the incidents were caused by 

third-parties and one had a statutory cap on the penalty amount.150  In contrast, 

TURN argues that the scope and number of the violations and the extent of harm 

in the Pipeline OIIs means that the fines in these proceedings would likely 

exceed PG&E’s market value.  Therefore, TURN states “[t]he ability to pay 

should be limited not by total available assets, but by the amount the company 

can pay without impacting the utility’s ability to provide service (for example, by 

raising capital for investment) or increasing rates.”151  At the same time, TURN 

cautions that the penalty level should not be set based on analysts’ expectations, 

as that perspective “creates a Catch-22 that would circumvent the Commission’s 

statutory and legal responsibilities.”152  Finally, TURN notes that the $2.25 billion 

“threshold” level of penalties estimated by Overland included both fines and 

other potential disallowances.153  It asserts “[t]his number is absolutely within the 

range of forecasts by equity analysts of the total ‘fines and penalties.’”154 

                                              
149  TURN Opening Brief at 29. 

150  TURN Opening Brief at 30. 

151  TURN Opening Brief at 31. 

152  TURN Opening Brief at 38. 

153  TURN Opening Brief at 40 (referencing Exh. Joint-52 at 6). 

154  TURN Opening Brief at 40. 
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5.3.2. PG&E’s Position 

PG&E disputes Overland’s analysis, arguing that the $2.25 billion 

threshold is “essentially a made-up number based on two financial metrics that 

have nothing to do with market capacity for equity to be used to fund a 

penalty.”155  It states that a $2 billion penalty would be larger than any penalty 

ever imposed on a utility and “there is no evidence that a utility has ever issued 

stock for the specific purpose of paying any fine or penalty, much less one of that 

magnitude.”156 

PG&E argues that Overland’s analysis fails to take into account PG&E’s 

planned equity issuances to fund capital expenditures.157  PG&E states that the 

company has already projected significant capital expenditures through 2016 and 

that any equity issuances to fund a penalty would be incremental to planned 

equity issuances.  PG&E believes that such an equity issuance would be met with 

heightened investor scrutiny and may require PG&E to postpone some of its 

planned infrastructure improvements.158  Further, it argues that an equity 

offering to fund a penalty would likely be less well-received by investors.159   

Among other things, PG&E contends that an equity offering to pay a fine or 

penalty would not provide any of the benefits that investors view favorably, 

such as “reduce financial risk, increase future investment flexibility and reduce 

interest expense.”160  PG&E goes on to warn that if CPSD’s or Intervenors’ 

                                              
155  PG&E Remedies Brief at 64.  The two metrics used are the price to book and dividend payout 
ratios.   

156  PG&E Remedies Brief at 71 (emphasis in original). 

157  PG&E Remedies Brief at 65. 

158  PG&E Remedies Brief at 66 – 67. 

159  PG&E Remedies Brief at 69. 

160  PG&E Remedies Brief at 69. 
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proposed penalties are approved, it may result in “a less favorable perception of 

the regulatory climate in California.”161   

PG&E next criticizes Overland’s methodology to calculate the $2.25 billion 

threshold level.  It contends that neither of the metrics used by Overland to 

calculate this threshold amount – neither the price to book ratio nor the dividend 

payout ratio – is “typically used by investment banks to determine the market’s 

capacity for an equity offering.”162  PG&E discusses Overland’s methodology and 

concludes that “Overland’s conclusion that PG&E could absorb a penalty of  

$2.25 billion lacks any meaningful support in the record.”163 

Finally, PG&E maintains that CPSD and Intervenors have proposed 

remedies that “do not recognize the full extent of PG&E’s unrecovered and 

unrecoverable costs that should be counted against the [$2.25 billion] threshold 

level.”164  PG&E asserts that PG&E has already incurred and will incur 

unrecovered and unrecoverable costs as a result of disallowances in the PSEP 

Decision, spending above rate case amounts in gas transmission and other lines of 

business, right of way management costs and contributions to the City of San 

Bruno.165  Further, PG&E argues that investors do not distinguish between equity 

to fund an explicit disallowance or utility expenditures that exceeded the 

amounts adopted in its rate case.166  Therefore, PG&E argues that based on the 

amount of “unrecovered and unrecoverable operating costs since the San Bruno 

                                              
161  PG&E Remedies Brief at 68. 

162  PG&E Remedies Brief at 75. 

163  PG&E Remedies Brief at 75. 

164  PG&E Remedies Brief at 81. 

165  PG&E Remedies Brief at 82. 

166  PG&E Remedies Brief at 84. 
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accident – most of which went to the gas transmission system . . . PG&E should 

not be penalized beyond the costs that its shareholders are already bearing.”167 

5.3.3. Discussion 

There is no dispute that the Commission must consider PG&E’s financial 

resources in setting the penalty amount.  PG&E’s market value as of January 10, 

2012 was $16.439 billion, and an aggregate value of $29.117 billion.168  These 

values are significantly higher than the mean ($2.494 billion and $2.766 billion) 

and median ($2.215 billion and $3.060 billion) for comparable companies.169  

Additionally, even if one were to only consider PG&E’s gas transmission and 

distribution business on a standalone basis, it would have an aggregate value of 

approximately $6.4 billion, and an equity value of approximately $4.3 billion.170 

Despite PG&E’s disagreement with Overland’s methodology for arriving 

at the $2.25 billion “threshold level,” the record supports a conclusion that PG&E 

has the financial resources to support a penalty of up to $2.45 billion.   

 Overland’s witnesses testified that PG&E’s parent corporation, PG&E 

Corporation (PCG), should be able to issue approximately $2.45 billion in equity 

to fund fines or penalties associated with the outcome of proceedings arising 

from the San Bruno incident. PCG owns all of PG&E’s stock.  When PG&E needs 

additional investor equity, that equity is raised by issuing additional PCG 

stock.  (This figure consists of the $2.25 billion “threshold amount” of 

“incremental equity” discussed in Overland’s testimony, plus the $200 million of 

                                              
167  PG&E Remedies Brief at 84. 

168  Exh. Joint-70, PG&E Corporation Discussion Materials, dated January 24, 2012, at 13.  
“Aggregate Value” is defined as “Market Value + Long-term Debt + Short-term Debt + Leases + 
Preferred Stock + Minority Interest – Cash”. (Exh. Joint-70 at 13, fn 1.) 

169  Exh. Joint-70 at 13. 

170  Exh. Joint-70, PG&E Corporation Discussion Materials, dated January 24, 2012, at 2. 
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non-revenue producing equity171 that PCG had included in its 2012 forecasts. See 

Overland Rebuttal Testimony, Exh. JT 54, at page 7.  )  The thrust of Overland’s 

testimony was that PCG could issue $2.45 billion of non-revenue producing 

equity without unfavorably impacting ratepayers or PG&E’s ability to raise the 

revenue-producing capital it needs to invest in projects to provide safe and 

adequate service.  See, e.g., Overland Rebuttal Testimony, Exhibit Joint 54, at  

p. 17.   PG&E has attempted to discredit this testimony by arguing that the key 

factors that Overland relied on in making this calculation are not the factors that 

an investment banker would use in determining how much equity the stock 

market could absorb.  See, e.g., PG&E’s Coordinated Remedies Brief at pp. 64, 71, 

73.   An investment banker, however, does not typically look at the maximum 

level of non-revenue producing equity that a company could issue to cover the 

cost of penalties as this is a highly unusual situation.  Rather, an investment 

banker is typically looking at how much equity a company can issue for other 

purposes, and when it should be issued.  Thus, the mere fact that Overland relied 

on different factors does not detract from the credibility of Overland’s 

testimony.  PG&E has also pointed out that the price-to-book ratio figures 

included in Overland’s testimony are erroneous and do not support Overland’s 

conclusion. See PG&E’s Coordinated Remedies Brief at pp. 75-76.  

Nevertheless, we find Overland’s testimony concerning the amount of 

equity that PGC could issue to fund the penalties in these proceedings to be 

credible, for the following reasons:   Both Overland and PG&E’s opposing 

witness (from Wells Fargo) generally agreed that investors in utility stocks are 

looking for:  dividends that are relatively stable (i.e., with limited volatility); and 

                                              
171  By “non-revenue producing equity” we mean equity that will not be spent on revenue-
producing investments. 
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increased earnings over time.172  Therefore, Overland looked at how much  

non-revenue producing equity PGC could issue while maintaining its existing 

dividend per share.  Furthermore, in making its calculations, Overland kept the 

dividend payout ratio (i.e., the percentage of earnings paid out to shareholders in 

the form of dividends) within the range approved by PGC.173  In addition, in 

order to determine how many shares of stock PGC would have to sell to raise the 

needed amount of equity.  Overland used the conservative assumption of full 

dilution, i.e., that PGC’s total market capitalization would remain constant before 

                                              
172  See, e.g., Wells Fargo testimony, Exhibit Joint 67, at pp. 6-7.   

173  In its Coordinated Remedies Brief at pp. 76-77, PG&E argues that an equity issuance as large 
as Overland’s threshold figure would cause its dividend payout ratio to exceed PG&E’s internal 
guidelines in 2013, citing the earnings per share guidance in its Fourth Quarter Earnings Call 
Presentation, February 21, 2013.  However, as explained by Overland, PG&E’s projected 
earnings per share for 2013 were lower than those in 2012 and those projected for subsequent 
years because of PG&E’s plan to write off a lot of its costs in 2013.  (JT TR p. 1422 (March 4, 
2013).)  Presumably such a large write-off would include San Bruno related costs.  

(JT TR p. 1422 is in a portion of the transcript that has been under seal.  To make the basis for 
this and other portions of our Decision more transparent, we will unseal pages 1421-29 of the 
Joint Transcript, but not any of the confidential exhibits discussed in that portion of the 
transcript. ) 

Indeed, if PG&E were to write off San Bruno costs equal to the threshold amount in a single 
year, PCG would apparently show a loss for that one year.  See, JT Exh. 57 (Fourth Quarter 
Earnings Call Presentation, February 21, 2013) at p. 18, showing PCG’s total “Earnings from 
Operations” and “Earnings on a GAAP basis” for 2011 and for 2012 in amounts lower than 
Overland’s threshold amount.  In that case, there would be no earnings per share, and any 
distribution of earnings in the form of dividends would necessarily exceed PCG’s dividend 
payout ratio guideline.  However, we do not find this conclusion troubling or undermining of 
Overland’s calculation of the threshold level.  PG&E has stated that it expects PGC to issue 
equity to fund the full amount of the penalties imposed in these proceedings.  Thus, PG&E will 
not need any cash from its ongoing operations to fund the penalties, and its earnings from 
operations will therefore be available to fund dividends.  Even if the penalties are written-off 
over several years, as we expect will be the case under this decision, the issuance of off-setting 
equity will mean that PG&E will have cash from its ongoing operations to maintain (or even 
increase) its dividend.   
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and after the issuance of the incremental equity.174  Based on these inputs and 

requirements, as well as financial information it received from PG&E, Overland 

calculated that PGC could issue up to approximately $2.25 billion in incremental 

equity175 while still allowing PGC to maintain its per-share dividend.  PG&E 

projects a substantial increase in rate base going forward, 176 which would result 

in increased earnings over time.177  Furthermore, PG&E plans to fund the 

penalties in these proceedings by issuing additional PGC equity. Therefore, once 

that equity has been issued it would be expected that PG&E’s earnings per share 

will increase (albeit the amount of those earnings per share will be less than 

before the issuance of the non-revenue producing equity)178 and that PG&E will 

                                              
174  In other words, Overland assumed the PGC’s share price would fall upon issuance of the 
incremental equity such that the total value of all shares outstanding (the market capitalization) 
would be the same before and after the issuance.  (See Overland Opening Testimony, Exh. JT 52, 
at p. 11.)  This is a conservative assumption given the testimony that PGC’s market 
capitalization has already been discounted by 1.6 to 2 billion dollars by the expectation that 
PG&E will be subject to substantial penalties in these proceedings.  (See Overland Rebuttal 
Testimony, Exh. JT 54, at p. 26.)  To the extent that the market price of PGC’s shares has already 
been discounted to reflect expected penalties, the issuance of non-revenue producing stock 
would not cause any further fall in the market price.   

175  I.e., in addition to the $200 million that PCG had included in its 2012 forecasts. 

176  See, e.g., slides from PGC’s Fourth Quarter Earnings Call, February 21, 2013, Exh. Joint 57,  
p. 12.  See also JT TR, p. 1422 where the Overland witness states:  “And you can see that 2013 is 
certainly an anomaly in relation to 2012 and all other years being forecasted.  2014, ‘15’ and ’16, 
all indicate significant improvement over 2013 and are higher than . . . 2012 EPS.  It’s obvious 
the company intends to write off a lot of its costs for GAAP purposes in 2013, that’s going to be 
driving down their earnings.  The investment community is aware of the longer-term earnings 
potential of the company.”   

177  Rate base represents PG&E’s reasonable investment in revenue-earning plant, minus 
accrued depreciation.  PG&E earns a rate of return on its rate base.   

178  Because PG&E funds a portion of its capital investment with retained earnings, only a 
portion of the equity needed to fund its investment in additional rate-based plant has to be 
raised by issuing additional PGC stock.  Thus, as PG&E’s rate base increases, the earnings per 
share will also increase (all other things being equal), as a portion of the increased earnings are 
due to investment for which no additional shares of PGC stock had to be issued.  See also JT TR 

(Footnote continued on next page) 
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therefore be able to increase its dividend over time as well.  Thus, we conclude 

from the Overland testimony, that despite issuing a very substantial amount of 

non-revenue producing equity, PG&E will be able to maintain its per share 

dividend, and increase that dividend over time, thus meeting the expectations of 

those who invest in utility stocks.  From this, we further conclude that PGC 

should be able to continue to issue equity to fund needed revenue-producing 

investments, while also issuing equity to fund the non-revenue producing 

penalties imposed in this decision.    

A review of equity analyst reports introduced into the record similarly 

shows that PG&E should be to continue to raise equity even after funding the 

penalties imposed in this decision.  A review of projected penalties estimated by 

various equity analysts, listed in Table 2 below, finds that the total projected 

fines, disallowances and other remedies range from $500 million to $3.65 billion 

(pre-tax): 

 
/// 

/// 

/// 

  

                                                                                                                                                  
(Footnote continued from previous page) 

p. 1422 (March 4, 2013), where Overland describes PG&E’s projection that earnings per share in 
2014, 2015, and 2016 will exceed its earnings per share in 2012.   
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Table 2 
Estimated Level of Penalties179 

Equity Analyst Date of Report Projected Fine 
Other unrecoverable 
expenses 

Bank of America Merrill 
Lynch 

Oct. 31, 2012 $300 million $1.039 billion180 

Barclays Jan. 4, 2013 $500 million  

Bernstein Research Nov. 29, 2012 $400 million - $500 
million 

$3.1 billion181 

BGC Jan. 2, 2013 $600 million  

Citi Research Oct. 24, 2012 $400 million $625 million182 

Credit Suisse Feb. 17, 2012 $400 million $1.8 billion 

Deutsche Bank Oct. 31, 2012 $500 million Reduced projected 2013 
and 2014 earnings per 
share to reflect impact 
of PSEP Decision. 

Goldman Sachs Aug. 7, 2012 $500 million - $700 
million 

 

ISI Nov. 1, 2012 $750 million $2.9 billion 

J.P. Morgan Oct. 11, 2012 $100 million $535 million 

Macquarie (USA) Feb. 17, 2012 $300 million $1.5 billion 

Morgan Stanley Oct. 15, 2012 $500 million $1 billion183 

UBS Dec. 31, 2012 $500 million  

Wells Fargo Oct. 24, 2012 $750 million Costs from PSEP 
Decision 

                                              
179  Exh. Joint-79, PG&E Data Responses to OCHP_005-1013, Excerpts from Equity Analyst 
Reports re Level of Penalty. 

180  Exh. Joint-79 at 1 (estimated unrecoverable expenses of $514M in 21013, $435M in 2014 and 
$90M in 2015). 

181  Exh. Joint-79 at 3 ($1 billion unrecovered costs incurred under PSEP Decision and a further 
$2.1 billion in San Bruno-related costs, excluding fines). 

182  Exh. Joint-79 at 7 ($225 million in 2012, $250 million in 2013, $75 million in 2014 and 
$75 million in 2015). 

183  Exh. Joint-79 at 13 (“We believe a headline figure of ~$1.5 billion is likely, including a 
penalty of $500 million and little recovery of certain pipeline costs.”). 
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As TURN notes “The Commission should be cognizant of Wall Street 

expectations only to the extent they may affect the company’s financial health to 

such an extent that they affect utility ratepayers.”184  In this respect, Wall Street 

has signaled that CPSD’s proposed penalty amount may not have the adverse 

impact on PG&E’s financial health predicted by PG&E.  For example: 

1. BernsteinResearch concluded that even after incorporating its 
estimates of unrecoverable San Bruno-related costs into its 
revised earnings forecast for PG&E, its revised target price still 
implied an 11% upside (i.e., PG&E’s share price was expected to 
increase).185 

2. ISI stated that its “forecast now assumes that PCG shareholders 
incur total unrecoverable costs before fines and penalties totaling 
$2.9 billion dollars, and assumes additional fines and penalties of 
$750 million dollars.  Despite our frustration with the continue 
[sic] degradation of value at PGC, the stock still looks 
undervalued to this punitive outcome, and we retain our Buy 
rating.”186 

Thus even analysts who have estimated a range of unrecoverable San Bruno 

related costs and penalties far in excess of the Overland calculation, express 

confidence in PG&E’s stock performance once the uncertainty surrounding these 

proceedings is resolved.  Therefore, there appears to be confidence by the 

financial community that PG&E has the financial resources to pay the penalty 

proposed by CPSD and will still be able to raise capital for other needed 

investments.   

PG&E argues that while “it may be doable” to raise sufficient equity to pay 

a $2 billion fine, its witness Mr. Fornell testified it would place PG&E “in a world 

                                              
184  TURN Opening Brief at 39. 

185  Exh. Joint-79 at 3. 

186  Exh. Joint-79 at 10 (emphasis in original). 
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of hurt.”187  We remind PG&E that the purpose of a penalty is to deter future 

violations by the company and others.  In achieving this purpose, the 

Commission is not guided by whether the adopted penalty imposes a hardship 

upon the company and its shareholders, but rather, whether the adopted penalty 

has a deterrent effect without adversely impacting ratepayers. 

PG&E contends that a large penalty will increase its cost of equity (and 

possibility the cost of the debt) that it needs to raise for revenue-producing 

purposes, because such a penalty would cause investors to have a negative view 

of California’s regulatory environment, which could easily impact other utilities 

as well.188  We find this argument unconvincing.  We believe that investors will 

understand the difference between what we are doing here, imposing a 

substantial one-time penalty on PG&E for past bad behavior, and a regulatory 

environment that is unfavorable for investors because the regulatory system does 

not permit utilities to recover their costs on an ongoing basis.  In fact, the 

regulatory system we have in place for PG&E and the other large energy utilities 

has numerous mechanisms designed to ensure that these utilities are able to 

recover their reasonable costs on a going forward basis, despite large swings in 

variables such as energy costs and energy usage.  For example, on the electric 

side, PG&E has:  (i) a balancing account called the Energy Resource Recovery 

Account, that protects PG&E against fluctuations in purchased power and fuel 

costs, so long as they are incurred in compliance with the procurement rules;  

(ii) several accounts, such as the Distribution Revenue Adjustment Mechanism 

and the Utility Generation Balancing Account, which ensure recovery of PG&E’s 

approved GRC costs (for distribution and for the power plants it owns, 

                                              
187  PG&E Remedies Brief at 70 (citing 15 Joint RT at 1619:8 (PG&E/Fornell)). 

188 See, e.g., PG&E’s Coordinated Remedies Brief at 68. 
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respectively), regardless of fluctuations in the amount of electricity that PG&E 

sells; and (iii) pre-approval of the contract price included in purchased power 

contracts either (a) as authorized by its procurement plan (see Pub. Util. Code 

sec. 454.5(b)(7)), or by advance approval of other power purchase contracts.  On 

the gas side, PG&E has, for example:  (i) a balancing account called the 

Purchased Gas Account, which balances core gas procurement costs with 

procurement rate revenues and thus limits PG&E’s risk for not recovering the 

cost of gas it purchases for core customers; and (ii) several balancing accounts 

that limit PG&E’s risk of not recovering its approved GRC costs due to 

fluctuations in gas sales or amounts of gas transported, including the Core Fixed 

Cost Account and the Noncore Customer Class Charge Account.  

Investors should be able to distinguish between a penalty and 

unrecoverable ongoing operating costs.  The analyst reports included in the 

record demonstrate that there is an understanding that the fines and other 

remedies under contemplation are in response to these adjudicatory proceedings.  

In contrast, unrecoverable operating costs are associated with the ongoing 

general operations of the company, not expenditures for remediation of past 

wrongdoing.   

For all the foregoing reasons, we find that PG&E has the financial 

resources to pay the penalty proposed by CPSD.  Furthermore, PG&E should be 

able to pay a penalty of that magnitude without harming ratepayers or its ability 

raise the equity needed for revenue-producing investments required to provide 

adequate and safe service.   

Finally, PG&E’s arguments against a $2.25 billion penalty on the grounds 

that (a) it is the larger than any penalty ever imposed on a utility and (b) there is 

no evidence any utility has every issued stock for paying a penalty, are 

unpersuasive.  PG&E has provided no authority that a penalty imposed in these 
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proceedings cannot exceed penalties previously imposed on a utility.  As 

discussed in Sections 4.3 and 5.5 of this decision, we considered penalties 

imposed in other Commission enforcement proceedings and other pipeline 

accidents and determined that any penalty imposed in these Pipeline OIIs should 

be significantly greater.   

5.4. The Totality of the Circumstances in Furtherance of the Public 
Interest 

This factor takes into consideration facts that may mitigate or exacerbate 

the degree of wrongdoing.189  “In all cases, the harm will be evaluated from the 

perspective of the public interest.”190 

5.4.1. CPSD and Intervenors’ Positions 

CPSD argues that given the strong public interest, the Commission must 

set a penalty that is not simply “the cost of doing business.”191  Rather, the 

penalty must be “commensurate with the harm caused.”192  Similarly, CSB 

maintains that the Commission must evaluate facts that exacerbate the 

wrongdoing and evaluate harm “from the perspective of the public interest, not 

the utility, not utility shareholders, not investment banks, not underwriters, and 

not investment analysts that cover the utility industry beat.”193 

DRA and CCSF also contend that the totality of circumstances requires a 

severe penalty.194  Among other things, DRA argues that in addition to the 

                                              
189  Standards of Conduct Governing Relationships Between Energy Utilities and Their Affiliates, 84 Cal. 
P.U.C.2d at 189. 

190  Id. 

191  CPSD Opening Brief at 55. 

192  CPSD Opening Brief at 55. 

193  CSB Opening Brief at 37 (citations omitted). 

194  DRA Opening Brief at 34; CCSF Opening Brief at 7. 
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severity of the offense, PG&E’s conduct after the San Bruno explosion lacked any 

contrition, as evidenced by PG&E’s efforts to mislead the Commission.195  CCSF 

makes similar arguments and notes “An overriding exacerbating fact is the 

degree of physical harm involved in this case,  . . . the systematic nature of the 

violations, the corporate culture that deemphasized safety, and PG&E’s 

continued insistence that its substandard maintenance and shoddy record 

practices are not violations of the law.”196 

5.4.2. PG&E’s Position 

PG&E argues that an objective evaluation of the regulatory environment 

and PG&E’s practices over time would demonstrate “that PG&E’s prior 

shortcomings do not constitute violations that justify the extreme penalty 

proposed.”197  Among other things, PG&E contends that its gas transmission 

business has cooperated with CPSD in audits of PG&E’s operations, practices 

and procedures and that “there was no intentional misconduct or willful neglect 

on the part of PG&E that led to the rupture.”198 

PG&E further notes that “missing, inaccurate or incomplete records, 

especially regarding pressure testing of older pipelines, are a challenge faced by 

the entire natural gas industry.”199  Thus, PG&E’s recordkeeping shortfall is not 

unique.  Despite that fact, PG&E states that the Commission expects all gas 

operators to have maintained “traceable, verifiable, and complete” MAOP 

                                              
195  DRA Opening Brief at 34. 

196  CCSF Opening Brief at 7. 

197  PG&E Remedies Brief at 84. 

198  PG&E Remedies Brief at 84 – 85. 

199  PG&E Remedies Brief at 86. 
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records, even though “by the account of every industry participant this 

requirement is new to the industry and difficult to achieve.”200 

5.4.3. Discussion 

We agree with PG&E that it is not the only gas pipeline operator that has 

experienced pipeline failure or is faced with recordkeeping shortfalls.  We also 

agree that PG&E did not intentionally cause the San Bruno explosion.  However, 

neither of these arguments diminishes either the severity of the San Bruno 

explosion or the extent of the recordkeeping shortfalls presented by CPSD. 

In considering the appropriate penalty, we must consider the gravity and 

severity of the violations presented in the Pipeline OIIs, PG&E’s statutory 

obligation to provide safe and reliable gas service, the pervasive nature of 

PG&E’s recordkeeping shortfalls, the impact of the San Bruno explosion on its 

residents, and the Commission’s and the public interest in ensuring safe and 

reliable natural gas service.  Based on our discussion in connection with the other 

factors, we find that a severe penalty is warranted.  

5.5. The Role of Precedent 

This factor takes into consideration the proposed outcome with 

“previously issued decisions which involve the most reasonably comparable 

factual circumstances and explain any substantial differences in outcome.”201 

5.5.1. CPSD and Intervenors’ Positions 

CPSD and Intervenors maintain that the San Bruno explosion and fire 

cannot be compared to any previous incidents.  Both CPSD and CSB state that 

with the exception of the investigation into the explosion of a distribution 

                                              
200  PG&E Remedies Brief at 87. 

201  Standards of Conduct Governing Relationships Between Energy Utilities and Their Affiliates, 84 Cal. 
P.U.C. 2d at 190. 
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pipeline in Rancho Cordova, the Commission’s past enforcement cases that 

resulted in large fines did not involve deaths or severe property damage.202  

Additionally, CSB maintains that the $38 million fine assessed for the Rancho 

Cordova explosion was the result of a revised settlement, where the ALJ 

“estimated that PG&E faced up to $97 million in penalties for stipulated 

violations.”203 

CSB further argues that none of the “fatal gas pipeline accidents since 

1999” identified in the Wells Fargo Report could be considered precedential since 

they were the result of different circumstances.204  CSB notes that, unlike 

Line 132, the other pipeline explosions involved either pipelines that were 

significantly smaller in diameter or occurred in rural areas.205    

Moreover, CPSD argues that the magnitude of PG&E’s “failure to keep 

traceable, verifiable, complete and accurate gas transmission records” is 

unprecedented.206  Since there are no comparable cases, CPSD argues that 

comparison of other precedential cases to San Bruno should be made carefully 

because “the death and destruction are more severe than any previous public 

utility incident.”207  CCSF echoes this argument, stating “prior Commission 

                                              
202  CPSD Opening Brief at 57; CSB Opening Brief at 38.  

203  CSB Opening Brief at 38 (citing Presiding Officer's Decision Regarding Joint Motion to Approve the 
Stipulation of Pacific Gas and Electric Company and the Consumer Protection and Safety Division 
Concerning Rancho Cordova and Related Stipulation (Rancho Cordova) [D.11-11-001] at 41 (slip op.).) 

204  CSB Opening Brief at 39-40. 

205  CSB Opening Brief at 40. 

206  CPSD Opening Brief at 58. 

207  CPSD Opening Brief at 58. 
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decisions are simply inapplicable and the Commission must decide this case 

based on the particular facts before it.”208 

5.5.2. PG&E’s Position 

PG&E notes that a $2.25 billion penalty would exceed the total amount of 

fines and restitution ordered by the Commission between 1999 and February 21, 

2012 or any penalty imposed in any other jurisdiction.209  PG&E identifies 

two pipeline accidents, in Carlsbad, New Mexico and Allentown, Pennsylvania, 

that it believes are substantially similar to San Bruno and notes that penalties 

imposed in those accidents are significantly less than what is being considered 

here.  PG&E further notes that the Commission had determined in its decision on 

the Rancho Cordova accident:  “The potential penalty exposure of more than 

$97 million is moderate to large in comparison to the size of PG&E’s operation of 

its public utility business, and would serve as a significant deterrent to ensure 

that similar incidents do not occur in the future.”210 

5.5.3. Discussion 

CPSD and Intervenors are correct that none of the Commission’s prior 

enforcement proceedings are comparable with these proceedings.  Unlike the 

other proceedings, the penalties under consideration are for three separate OIIs, 

each covering separate and distinct violations.  The penalties to be imposed here 

would be for violations that directly resulted in 8 fatalities, numerous injuries, 

destruction or damage to over 100 homes as well as potential risk of harm to the 

public due to PG&E’s failure to have the necessary records to properly maintain 

and operate its gas transmission pipeline system and provide safe and reliable 

                                              
208  CCSF Opening Brief at 8. 

209  PG&E Remedies Brief at 89.   

210  PG&E Remedies Brief at 93 – 94 (citing D.11-11-001 at 41.) 
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gas service.  As CSB notes, PG&E “provides natural gas and electric service to 

approximately 15 million people throughout a 70,000 square mile service area in 

northern and central California.”211  None of the Commission’s prior enforcement 

cases or the other gas pipeline accidents identified in the Wells Fargo Report had 

an impact on such a large area or number of people. 

Nonetheless, the 2008 Rancho Cordova explosion and fire does provide 

some limited guidance.  The Rancho Cordova explosion and fire concerned the 

rupture of a natural gas distribution pipe, which resulted in one fatality, injuries 

to several others, destruction of one home and damages to adjoining homes.212  In 

considering whether to grant a joint motion between PG&E and CPSD to 

approve a stipulation between the parties, the ALJ had concluded: 

In this OII, CPSD alleges five different instances involving 
violations of Pub. Util. Code §451 and seven sections of 49 CFR 
that have been incorporated into GO 112-E.  If these allegations 
are fully litigated, and assuming each CPSD allegation is proven 
and a continuing penalty amount of $20,000 per day is imposed 
for each violation of Pub. Util. Code §451 and GO 112-E, PG&E 
potentially faces $97 million or more in penalties. 

The potential penalty exposure of more than $97 million is 
moderate to large in comparison to the size of PG&E’s operation 
of its public utility business, and would serve as a significant 
deterrent to ensure that similar incidents do not occur in the 
future.”213 

In contrast to Rancho Cordova, the San Bruno explosion and fire resulted in 

eight fatalities, 58 people injured (many with life-altering injuries), 38 homes 

destroyed and 70 homes damaged.  In addition, the scope of the three OIIs here 

                                              
211  CSB Opening Brief at 28. 

212  Rancho Cordova at 3 (slip op.). 

213  Rancho Cordova at 41-42 (slip op.) (citations omitted, emphasis added). 
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is significantly broader than the one OII for the Rancho Cordoba incident.  Here we 

are looking at broader, systemic safety failures on the part of PG&E, not just the 

accident itself.  Based on the determinations in Rancho Cordova, and in 

consideration of the significantly greater physical impact of the San Bruno 

explosion and fire, the broader scope of these proceedings and the increased risk 

to all residents in PG&E’s service territory, along with the duration of the 

violations,214 it is reasonable for the potential penalty exposure to PG&E for the 

violations found in these OII proceedings be significantly higher than the 

$97 million calculated by the ALJ in the Rancho Cordova proceeding.215 

Further, unlike prior enforcement proceedings, parties have proposed that 

the Commission adopt a wide-range of remedies in addition to any fines 

imposed under Pub. Util. Code §§ 2107 and 2108.  The remedies are not those 

traditionally utilized in enforcement proceedings), but rather to ensure that 

PG&E fulfills its obligations to operate its gas pipeline system in a safe manner.   

For these reasons, we find that the unique and extraordinary nature of 

these enforcement proceedings cannot be compared to any prior Commission 

decisions, or even other gas pipeline explosions. 

6. Penalty to Be Imposed 

Our decisions on violations in the Pipeline OIIs have found that PG&E 

committed 2,425 violations, many of them continuing for years, for a total of 

                                              
214  Most of the violations in the Pipeline OIIs were found to have continued for a period of over 
50 years.  In contrast, most of the violations alleged and stipulated to by PG&E in Rancho 
Cordova ran for slightly more than two years.  (See, Rancho Cordova Decision at 38-39 & 41, fn. 25 
(slip op.).) 

215  In terms of proportionality, CPSD has argued “since the San Bruno explosion and fire had 
eight times as many fatalities, more than 10 times as many injuries, and approximately 40 times 
the homes destroyed or damaged, this would support at least a $500 million fine in the San 
Bruno OII alone.”  (Response of the Consumer Protection and Safety Division to Request for Review of 
Commissioner Picker, filed October 27, 2014, at 3. 
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18,447,803 days in violation.  The Table of Violations for each proceeding is 

found in Appendix B through D of this decision.  Table 3 below summarizes the 

days in violations by proceeding: 

Table 3 
Number of Violations from Violations Decisions 

Proceeding 

Number of Days in 
Violation prior to 
1/1/1994 

Number of Days in 
Violation on or 
After 1/1/94 

Total Number of 
Days in Violation 

I.12-01-007 (San 
Bruno) 27,036 32,219 59,255 

I.11-02-016 
(Recordkeeping) 206,984 143,205 350,189 

I.11-11-009 (Class 
Location) 6,128,519 11,909,840 18,038,359 

TOTAL 6,362,539 12,085,264264 18,447,803803 

 

Based on our discussion in Section 3.4 above, we have found duplication in 

two areas.  Accordingly, we exclude adopted San Bruno violations 1 and 19, for a 

total reduction of 19,612 days in violation.  Table 4 below reflects the total 

number of days in violation considered for the purpose of determining the 

penalty to be imposed on PG&E: 

Table 4 
Revised Number of Violations 

Proceeding 

Number of Days in 
Violation prior to 

1/1/1994 

Number of Days in 
Violation on or 
After 1/1/94 

Total Number of 
Days in Violation 

I.12-01-007 (San 
Bruno) 13,521 26,122 39,643 

I.11-02-016 
(Recordkeeping) 206,984 143,205 350,189 

I.11-11-009 (Class 
Location) 6,128,519 11,909,840 18,038,359 

TOTAL 6,349,024 12,079,167167 18,428,191191 
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As noted in Section 4.1 above, the range of fines that may be imposed 

pursuant to Pub. Util. Code § 2107 ranged from $500 to $2,000 per offense prior 

to 1994; from $500 to $20,000 per offense between 1994 and 2011; and from $500 

to $50,000 per offense after 2011.  Even if we exclude the increased maximum fine 

amount in place after 2011, the range of potential fines that could be imposed 

based on the number of days in violation is from $9.2 billion to $254.3 billion.216  

Nonetheless, we realize that the amount of the penalty to be imposed must be 

significantly decreased from that potential level in consideration of PG&E’s 

financial resources.  

Similarly, we take into consideration CPSD and parties’ proposals that any 

penalty imposed should consist of a combination of a fine paid to the state’s 

General Fund, a disallowance of rate recovery of certain costs associated with 

improving PG&E’s gas transmission pipeline system and recordkeeping systems, 

shareholder-funded improvements to PG&E’s gas pipeline system, and other 

remedies.  As CSB argues, the Commission should ease the burden on ratepayers 

by requiring PG&E’s shareholders to bear responsibility for a greater portion of 

the costs adopted in the PSEP Decision to improve PG&E’s pipeline system.217  

Further, CCSF maintains “payment of a penalty that consists largely of remedial 

measures will happen over time and thus can be effectively managed with 

PG&E’s other financial needs.”218  Consequently, CPSD and Intervenors propose 

that the recommended $2.25 billion penalty consist of:  (1) fines ranging from 

                                              
216  This range is calculated as follows: 18,428,191 violations x $500 = $9,214,095,500, to (6,349,024 
violations x $2,000) + (12,079,167 violations x $20,000) = $254,281,388,000. 

217  CSB Opening Brief at 8; see also CCSF Opening Brief at 16 (“A large payment to the general 
fund sends a good signal to utilities but beyond that does not contribute to reasonable rates or 
ensure that needed safety improvements are made.”) 

218  CCSF Opening Brief at 16. 
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$300 million to $900 million, and (2) disallowances and other remedies for the 

remaining balance. 

Based on the arguments above, we agree that the penalty imposed should 

be a combination of fines, disallowances and remedies.  In setting the penalty 

amount, we also take into account the fact that PG&E has been ordered to make 

certain safety improvements and enhancements at shareholder expense.  Since 

any penalties imposed in this decision will be in addition to disallowances 

adopted in the PSEP (D.12-12-030), we must balance the need to set the proper 

penalty at the appropriate level to deter future violations with the need to ensure 

that any penalty imposed does not adversely impact PG&E’s ratepayers. 

In their arguments regarding the amount of disallowances, CSB, TURN 

and DRA all argue that there is a need to consider the tax benefits PG&E would 

receive from any disallowance.  TURN estimates that a $1.0 billion disallowance 

would result in an actual financial impact to PG&E of approximately 

$744 million.219  As such, TURN proposed a $670 million fine to be paid to the 

General Fund which would “more than cover the lost revenue to the state General 

Fund resulting from PG&E’s reduced tax liability for unrecovered costs.”220  

Similarly, CSB states that its proposed $900 million fine “approximates the value 

of the federal and state tax deductions available to PG&E for natural gas pipeline 

safety investments” assuming  $2.333 billion of investment and a 40% combined 

federal and state income tax rate.221  In light of the tax benefits received by PG&E 

                                              
219  TURN Opening Brief at 9. 

220  Reply Brief of The Utility Reform Network on Fines and Remedies (Public Version), filed  
June 7, 2013, at 8 (emphasis added). 

221  CSB Reply Brief at 7.  
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for unrecovered costs, CPSD and Intervenors have proposed that all costs 

incurred under the PSEP Decision be recovered from PG&E shareholders.222 

PG&E argues that all unrecovered gas pipeline safety costs should be 

applied to the penalty.  However, it argues that its shareholders have already 

paid, or will incur in the future, unrecovered costs totaling more than $2.25 

billion for gas transmission safety work since the San Bruno explosion and fire.223  

As such, PG&E argues that no further fine is warranted.  Moreover, PG&E 

asserts that there is no legal basis for further disallowances of PSEP costs.  PG&E 

states:  

The Commission unanimously ruled that PG&E’s PSEP is 
reasonable and authorized recovery of other PSEP Phase I costs 
because those costs did not result from unreasonable and 
imprudent conduct.  In so ruling, the Commission rejected claims 
by DRA and TURN that the Commission should disallow all 
PG&E’s PSEP Phase I costs as the product of past imprudent 
conduct. … [T]he Commission has already found the allowed 
PSEP costs were not the result of such past imprudence, but 
represent the reasonable cost of the safety enhancements 
mandated by the Commission in R.11-02-019.224 

The majority of the projects approved in the PSEP Decision were to correct 

recordkeeping shortfalls and implement safety improvements, including pipeline 

testing and replacement that had been neglected by PG&E management for 

decades.225  Thus, to the extent that these projects are to address violations found 

in these proceedings, we may order that their costs be the responsibility of PG&E 

                                              
222  CPSD Opening Brief at 6; CPSD Amended Reply at 3; CSB Reply Brief at 7; CCSF Opening Brief 
at 17; TURN Opening Brief at 8; DRA Opening Brief at 19. 

223  PG&E Remedies Brief at 12. 

224  PG&E Response to Amended Brief at 4. 

225  See, e.g., PSEP Decision at 55 & 99 (slip op.). 
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shareholders pursuant to Pub. Util. Code §§ 701 and 728.  The fact that these 

projects had been approved in a different decision does not change this 

conclusion.  Indeed, as we noted in Section 4.2 above, the PSEP Decision 

contemplated that further disallowances may be warranted based on findings in 

the Pipeline OIIs and thus made “all ratemaking recovery authorized in today’s 

decision is subject to refund.”226  There is no requirement that any further 

disallowances be based on a finding of imprudence.  Rather, we may adopt 

disallowances as an equitable remedy pursuant to our authority under Pub. Util. 

Code §§ 701 and 728. 

The PSEP Decision already disallows rate recovery of costs incurred prior 

to the date of that decision, for the Pipeline Records Integration Program, and for 

certain pressure-test and pipeline replacement expenditures.  These 

disallowances were approximately $635 million.227  We are unpersuaded by 

PG&E’s arguments that “other unrecoverable gas transmission costs in 2013 and 

beyond” should be counted in any penalties imposed here.228  Many of the 

unrecoverable costs identified by PG&E are both outside of the scope of this 

proceeding and speculative and should be given no weight.    

In PG&E’s Appeal of the Presiding Officer’s Decision on Fines and 

Remedies [Penalties POD Appeal] PG&E continues to argue that, in determining 

an appropriate penalty, the Commission should take into account allegedly 

                                              
226  PSEP Decision at 4 (slip op.) 

227  CPSD estimates that the disallowances adopted in Decision 12-12-030 in R.11-02-019 to be 
$635,000,000.  (CPSD Amended Reply Brief at 3-4.)  In addition to the disallowances, the 
Commission rejected PG&E’s request for a $380.5 million contingency in the event of cost 
overruns.  (PSEP Decision at 97-100 (slip op.).)  We do not consider this amount to be a 
disallowance, since “PG&E’s pressure testing cost forecasts are already biased to the high end of 
the expected cost range and thus include an implicit allowance for unexpected cost overruns.”  
(PSEP Decision at 98-99 (slip op.).) 

228  PG&E Remedies Brief at 12. 
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unrecoverable gas safety related costs.  (Appeal, pp. 4-8.)  It thus renews 

arguments earlier made in its Coordinated Remedies Brief.  The Penalties POD 

rejected PG&E’s argument that, in setting a penalty in this decision, we must 

consider amounts shareholders have spent and plan to spend on gas system 

safety, beyond the $635 million in disallowed PSEP expenditures recognized in 

the Penalties POD.  We continue to reject this argument, and believe it 

worthwhile to further explain why.  

First, as pointed out in the examination of Overland, PG&E has chosen to 

characterize as an unrecovered shareholder cost “any dollar that . . . wasn’t 

specifically approved by the Commission.”229  Thus, PG&E seeks to have us 

consider as part of its penalty not only those amounts that the Commission has 

expressly ordered shareholders to pay, but also:  (i) any costs for which it never 

sought recovery; (ii) categories of costs for which it spent more than the amount 

included in its revenue requirement; or (iii) any costs which the Commission did 

not include in PG&E’s revenue requirement because PG&E failed to carry its 

burden of proof.230  However, given that the utility has some discretion to shift 

spending from one area to another, as necessary, the mere fact that a given cost 

was not expressly recognized in calculating its revenue requirement does not 

mean that the utility did not recover those costs.  As explained by Overland, the 

real test is whether the utility earns approximately its authorized rate of 

return.231  If, during the period in question the utility earns nearly its authorized 

                                              
229  JT TR p. 1424 (March 4, 2013).  This portion of the transcript has been under seal.  To make 
the basis for this and other portions of our Decision more transparent, we are unsealing pages 
1421-29 of the Joint Transcript, but not any of the Confidential Exhibits discussed in that portion 
of the transcript.   

230  With regard to item (iii) see JT TR pp. 1424-25. 

231  JT TR pp. 1425-26; see also JT TR pp. 1369-70.   
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rate of return, despite spending money on costs not expressly included in its 

revenue requirement, the utility has in fact succeeded in recovering those costs, 

and there are not any unrecovered costs being paid by shareholders.  PG&E does 

not argue, nor cite to any evidence, that it has failed to earn nearly its authorized 

rate of return for any past period.    

With regard to future periods, of course there can be no evidence as to 

whether or not PG&E has earned approximately its authorized rate of return.  

That is why we find much of PG&E’s argument to be speculative.232  For future 

periods, PG&E’s argument necessarily relies on forecasts of the amounts that it 

will spend on various categories of costs and its ability to find revenues to fund 

those costs.  Furthermore, the costs beyond those disallowed in the PSEP 

Decision are neither costs that the Commission has required PG&E to incur nor 

that the Commission has found to be reasonable; 233 therefore there is no record 

as to whether PG&E ought to incur those costs, thus making PG&E’s argument 

that such future costs ought to be considered in setting the penalty here even 

more speculative.   

The majority of PG&E’s argument on this point relies on matters that are 

not in the record or for which an adequate foundation has not been established, 

as evidenced by the motions to strike portions of PG&E’s Coordinated Remedies 

Brief and Appeal that have been granted.234  Furthermore, to the extent PG&E’s 

Coordinated Remedies Brief cites to matters that are in the record, those sources 

are so lacking in detail about the basis of the cost and cost-forecast figures they 

                                              
232  See, e.g., Heading II.A. of PG&E’s Consolidated Brief on Penalties (p. 12) where it addresses 
amounts that shareholders allegedly “will pay” for Gas Transmission Safety-Related Work.   

233  Similarly, the Commission has also not found whether other allegedly unrecovered past costs 
were reasonably incurred. 

234  See Section 10 of this Decision granting CPSD’s Motion to Strike Portions of PG&E’s Appeal.   
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contain that we cannot consider those numbers to be reliable.  If we were to 

accept PG&E’s argument that in setting a penalty we must consider amounts 

shareholders have spent and plan to spend on gas system safety, beyond the 

$635 million in disallowed PSEP expenditures, then we would effectively be 

allowing PG&E to unilaterally determine what expenditures are reasonable and 

how the penalty should be structured.  We will not thus abdicate our 

responsibilities to determine the reasonableness of PG&E’s expenditures and 

what penalties should be imposed as a consequence of PG&E’s violations of 

safety requirements. 

We have considered CPSD and Intervenors’ arguments regarding further 

disallowances and find that an additional $400 million bill credit, as an equitable 

remedy associated with PG&E’s Pipeline Modernization Program, is both 

warranted and supported by the record. For example, DRA recommended that 

PG&E be disallowed rate recovery of all approved costs of Phase I of the PSEP, 

including the $1.169 billion approved in D.12-12-030 (DRA Opening Brief at 4-5), 

while CSB recommended that $2.333 billion in PSEP investments be made at 

shareholder expense (Rebuttal Brief of CSB at 7-8).  TURN and CCSF also argue 

for similarly large-scale disallowances.  (See Table 1, supra.) At the other end of 

the spectrum, PG&E (as described above) essentially argues that any such 

disallowance should be considered already paid, as PG&E would have us 

subtract other unrecoverable gas costs from any such disallowance we impose 

here.    

This presents us with support for possible disallowances ranging from 

zero to over $2 billion.  We have rejected PG&E’s argument for zero; a 

disallowance of over $2 billion would be excessive in light of the other remedies 

we are imposing; accordingly, the appropriate amount should fall well between 

those two extremes.  $400 million does so.   
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In addition, this amount approximates the amount of revenues earned by 

PG&E’s GT&S group in excess of revenue requirements between 1999 and 

2010.235  As CPSD argues, PG&E’s actual revenues for GT&S exceeded revenue 

requirements during that period “as a result of cutting back on safety-related 

expenses, deferring needed maintenance, reducing safety-related workers and 

choosing less effective pipeline inspection methods.”236  Our determination that a 

$400 million bill credit is warranted is based in part on the evidence that PG&E’s 

revenues exceeded the amount needed to earn its authorized return on equity by 

over $435 million from 1999 to 2010, during a time when PG&E was reducing its 

gas safety expenditures.  We note that this bill credit is adopted as an equitable 

remedy for PG&E’s violations of natural gas transmission safety laws and 

regulations, including PG&E’s record of safety-related budget cuts as discussed 

in Section 5.5.4 of the San Bruno Violations Decision.  In summary, it is a proper 

exercise of the Commission’s equitable powers to order  a bill credit of $400 

million to PG&E’s ratepayers.237 

An example of this shift may be seen in PG&E’s program to replace aging 

pipeline.  In 1985, PG&E implemented the Gas Pipeline Replacement Program 

(GPRP), which  

calls for the replacement of over 2,000 miles of steel transmission 
and distribution lines and over 800 miles of cast iron distribution 
main over a 20-year period.  According to PG&E, the replacement 
of these lines will enhance the safety and reliability of the gas 

                                              
235  CPSD Opening Brief at 42.  CPSD examined the GT&S revenues between 1999 and 2010 and 
found that revenues were at least $435 million higher than the amounts needed to ear PG&E’s 
authorized return.  (Id.) 

236  CPSD Opening Brief at 42. 

237  See, Wise v. Pacific Gas & Electric Co. (1999) 77 Cal. App.4th 287, 300. 
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piping system and reduce leak repair expenses as 
high-maintenance piping is eliminated.238 

 In 1986, and again in 1992,239 PG&E was authorized dollars related to the 

GPRP.  However, instead, beginning in the late 1990s, “PG&E has performed risk 

assessments on its gas transmission pipelines through a Risk Management 

Program.”240  Consequently, as noted by CPSD, “[i]nstead of replacing 165 miles 

of HCA transmission pipeline from 2000-2010, PG&E replaced only 25 miles.”241 

As noted by TURN, PG&E’s recordkeeping shortfalls, including missing 

and incorrect data in the GIS database, missing pressure test records and failure 

to track reused and salvaged pipe in its pipeline system, prevented PG&E from 

properly managing risk and identifying pipe in need of replacement.242  We 

believe that this additional disallowance is an equitable remedy for PG&E’s 

failure to replace pipeline as needed to ensure the safe operation of its gas 

transmission pipeline system.  Accordingly, PG&E must provide a bill credit of 

$400 million to ratepayers, and that amount must be absorbed by shareholders.  

We have determined that the most equitable and practical way for 

ratepayers to receive $400 million is to require a one-time bill credit to all 

customers.  PG&E shall calculate the bill credit according to the following 

guidance and direction.  First, the credit should be based on a cents per therm 

calculation based on the total actual billed gas throughput during the November 

and December 2015 billing cycles.  For example, if PG&E's actual customer 

                                              
238  Re Pacific Gas and Electric Company [D.86-12-095] (1986) 23 Cal.P.U.C. 2d 149, 198. 

239  Re Pacific Gas and Electric Company [D.92-12-057] (1992) 47 Cal.P.U.C. 2d 143. 

240  Recordkeeping PG&E’s June 20, 2011 Response at 6C-1. 

241  CPSD Opening Brief at 46 (citation omitted). 

242  TURN Opening Brief at 7-8. 
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billing for its November and December 2015 billing cycles gas volume is 

600,000,000 therms, the billing credit would be $0.666667/therm ($400 million 

therms divided by 600 therms equals $0.666667/therm).  November and 

December should be used as those are traditionally the months with the highest 

volumetric throughput.  PG&E shall apply this mechanism for all its natural gas  

customers.  Each customer shall receive a bill credit based on their billed usage 

during their November and December billing cycles on their February 2016 PG&E 

bill.  If PG&E finds that it is impossible to provide the bill credits on its February 

2016 bills, PG&E shall propose the earliest possible dates for providing the bill 

credits in the Advice Letter required by Ordering Paragraph 5.  We recognize this 

methodology may result in PG&E issuing bill credits that do not exactly equal 

the $400 million penalty.  If the total amount of bill credits distributed is more or 

less than $400 million PG&E shall, at the same time as it submits its report, 

submit a Tier 2 advice letter proposing a method of truing up the $400 million 

using existing balancing accounts.  PG&E shall file a Tier 2 Advice Letter within 

45 days after the effective date of this decision to implement the $400 million bill 

credit in accordance with this guidance and direction.  We are directing PG&E to 

provide this bill credit to all of its gas customers using the same methodology. 

We do so because we prefer a simple and clear methodology that can be 

implemented as soon as possible and without controversy. Accordingly, we are 

requiring the use of a Tier 2 Advice Letter process, as we envision that the 

implementation of the bill credit should be ministerial.  This Advice Letter shall 

provide a mechanism to inform master meter customers at mobile home parks 

and other residential complexes of their obligation to pass the bill credit on to 



I.12-01-007 et al.   L/MP6/mal 

 

- 89 - 

their submetered customers in the manner required by Public Utilities Code 

Section 739.5(b).243 

This decision differs from the Penalties POD, which would impose a  

$950 million fine on PG&E to be paid to the General Fund under PU Code section 

2107.  We prefer to allocate more resources to infrastructure improvements, and 

doing so is supported by the record in this proceeding.  CPSD, in its litigation 

position, argued that the amount paid to the General Fund should be at least 

$300 million, with up to $1.950 billion to be applied to PSEP safety-related costs 

and expenses (and other remedies) in order to “decrease the burden on 

ratepayers.” (CPSD Amended Reply Brief on Fines and Remedies at 1-3.)244   

The Joint Parties support a similar result, reducing the size of the fine 

PG&E would pay to the General Fund while increasing PG&E shareholder 

responsibility for the cost of pipeline safety improvements; the Joint Parties 

argue that doing so would “alleviate the burden on PG&E customers” who will 

be paying for improvements to the safety of PG&E’s gas system. (Joint Parties 

Appeal at 14.)  Even PG&E, in its Appeal of the Penalties POD, states: “However, 

PG&E strongly believes that the monetary penalty set forth in the Penalties POD 

                                              
243 Section 739.5(b) provides “Every master-meter customer of a gas or electrical corporation 
subject to subdivision (a) who, . . . receives any rebate from the corporation shall distribute to, 
or credit to the account of, each current user served by the master-meter customer that portion 
of the rebate which the amount of gas or electricity, or both, consumed by the user during the 
last billing period bears to the total amount furnished by the corporation to the master-meter 
customer during that period. 

244  CPSD chose not to appeal this part of the Penalties POD, but in its Response to the Request 
for Review of Commissioner Picker, it noted that the Commission could use its equitable 
powers to order PG&E to pay for a greater share of the expense for replacing or testing PG&E’s 
transmission system.  CPSD argued that if the Commission did this, it should also increase the 
amount of ratepayer relief from that provided in the Fines and Remedies POD. (CPSD Response 
to Request for Review of Commissioner Picker at 5.) 
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should be reduced and reoriented toward future pipeline safety enhancements to 

be made at shareholder cost.”  (PG&E Appeal at 3.)   

As a policy matter, we agree with CPSD, the Joint Parties and PG&E.  We 

want to do all we can to improve the safety of PG&E’s gas transmission system.  

Sending money to the General Fund (while it may have other salutary effects) 

does not further that goal, nor does it reduce the cost to ratepayers of the 

necessary improvements.  Accordingly, in comparison to the Penalties POD, we 

will reduce the fine that PG&E is to pay to the General Fund but require PG&E 

shareholders to provide future pipeline safety enhancements.   

This Commission has the legal authority to require PG&E shareholder 

funding of future pipeline safety enhancements.  The parties concur that the 

Commission has broad authority to craft equitable remedies (in addition to 

express statutory remedies such as the penalties set forth in section 2107).  For 

example, PG&E argues that the Commission, under section 701, can “direct 

PG&E to spend a certain amount on pipeline safety costs rather than paying 

those monies to the General Fund, which would do nothing to enhance gas 

pipeline safety.” (PG&E Appeal at 11.)  In response to the Appeal of the Joint 

Parties, PG&E reiterated:  “PG&E does not challenge the authority of the 

Commission to order a penalty in the form of a disallowance under Public 

Utilities Code § 701 and, in fact, encourages the Commission to order that any 

financial penalty be used to improve gas transmission safety rather than be paid 

to the General Fund.” (PG&E Response to Appeals at 3.) 

The Commission does in fact have broad authority under P.U. Code 

section 701, which states:  “The commission may supervise and regulate every 

public utility in the State and may do all things, whether specifically designated 

in this part or in addition thereto, which are necessary and convenient in the 

exercise of such power and jurisdiction.”  This allows the Commission to craft 
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equitable remedies, as long as those remedies are not barred by a specific 

statutory limit or restriction.  The California Supreme Court has stated:  “If PUC 

lacked substantive authority to propose and enter into the rate settlement 

agreement at issue here, it was not for lack of inherent authority, but because this 

rate agreement was barred by some specific statutory limit on PUC’s power to 

set rates.”  (Southern California Edison Co. v. Peevey, supra, 31 Cal. 4th at 792, citing 

Assembly v. Public Utilities Commission, supra, 12 Cal. 4th at 103.) 

PG&E describes the California case law as follows:  

In Assembly v. Public Utilities Commission, for example, the court 
explained that Public Utilities Code § 701 authorizes the 
Commission to shape appropriate remedies so long as the remedy 
does not contravene “express legislative directives and restrictions.” 
The Court reaffirmed this principle in Southern California Edison Co. 
v. Peevey, stating that, where the Commission has authority under  
§ 701, only “specific statutory limit[s] on [its] power” bar it from 
acting. (PG&E Appeal at 9.) 
  

The proposed remedy here – directing PG&E to make future pipeline 

safety enhancements at shareholder cost – is not barred by any such statutory 

limit or restriction.  

The concept that regulatory agencies have broad discretion, particularly in 

fashioning equitable remedies, is consistent with and supported by Federal law 

as well: 

Finally, we observe that the breadth of agency discretion is, if 
anything, at zenith when the action assailed relates primarily not to 
the issue of ascertaining whether conduct violates the statute, or 
regulations, but rather to the fashioning of policies, remedies and 
sanctions, including enforcement and voluntary compliance 
programs in order to arrive at maximum effectuation of 
Congressional objectives. [citation omitted] This source of discretion 
is available not only where an agency has the explicit power to 
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impose penalties…” (Niagara Mohawk Power Corp. v. Federal Power 
Commission, (DC Cir. 1967) 379 F.2d 153, 159.  
 

Accordingly, consistent with our authority to craft equitable remedies, and 

our policies of enhancing the safety of PG&E’s gas transmission system and 

minimizing costs to ratepayers, we will change the amount of the fine that PG&E 

is to pay to the General Fund to $300 million.  This change will allow for $650 

million to be redirected to improving the safety of PG&E’s gas transmission 

system.  

PG&E implies that a large penalty payment would have a negative effect 

upon safety, because a large fine “could force PG&E to postpone planned 

infrastructure improvements.”  (PG&E Brief at 67.)  PG&E’s argument is that 

they simply cannot pay for both a large fine and capital expenditures (such as 

significant gas transmission system upgrades), and would accordingly postpone 

“as much capex as possible going forward.”  (Id. at 70.)  We have already rejected 

this PG&E argument, for the reasons explained in Section 5.3.3, above. 

Nevertheless, we note that the $650 million that the POD would have had 

PG&E pay to the General Fund will instead be used for capital expenditures on 

its gas transmission system.  In other words, that $650 million would no longer 

be unavailable for use for capital expenditures, and in fact is earmarked for 

capital expenditures to improve pipeline safety.  

In any event, the record supports increasing further the amount of money 

that PG&E shareholders should pay for future pipeline safety enhancements.245 

Accordingly, we will require PG&E shareholders to pay $850 million towards 

                                              
245  For example, the Joint Parties argue that PG&E can and should pay $877 million towards 
pipeline safety enhancements (Appeal of Joint Parties at 13-15), and CPSD argued that PG&E 
should pay $1.515 billion (out of a total disallowance of $1.950 billion) to decrease the cost to 
ratepayers of pipeline safety enhancements. (Rebuttal Brief of CPSD at 1.) 
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future pipeline safety enhancements.  This increase of $200 million from the 

POD’s total penalties and remedies of $1.4 billion brings the total penalties and 

remedies here to $1.6 billion.  This amount is consistent with the record, and is 

within PG&E’s ability to raise equity capital, as discussed at Section 5.3.  

The $850 million should be applied to the cost of future pipeline safety 

improvements to be approved in the pending Gas Transmission and Storage 

(GT&S) proceeding (A.13-12-012) and any subsequent GT&S proceeding, if 

necessary.  Some pipeline safety improvements have already been made, 

pursuant to our previous PSEP decision (D.12-12-030).  The issue of how much 

PG&E’s shareholders have spent on pipeline safety improvements has been an 

extremely contentious one in this proceeding, and the record is neither clear nor 

complete.246  Rather than attempt to unravel the question of how much PG&E 

may have spent in the past, and whether or not that spending was related to 

improvement of pipeline safety, we will focus on what they spend in the future.  

In this way we can establish criteria to ensure that the moneys that are spent 

legitimately contribute to improved pipeline safety, making it clearer what 

should (or should not) count towards the $850 million.  

Accordingly, instead of looking back to our PSEP decision and PG&E’s 

past spending, this remedy will be based on the GT&S proceeding and PG&E’s 

future spending.  Only costs that PG&E would have been granted rate recovery 

for in the GT&S - but for this decision - will count towards the $850 million.  

Work that PG&E has chosen to do at shareholder expense (i.e. not approved in 

the GT&S proceeding or a similar subsequent proceeding)) will not count 

towards the $850 million total.  

                                              
246  See e.g. Section 10 below, discussing CPSD Motion to Strike.   
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Finally, we decline to make any adjustments to account for any tax benefits 

that PG&E may receive.  In response to Intervenors’ comments regarding tax 

impacts, we had requested further briefing on this issue.247  The comments 

highlight, however, that it would be difficult to project actual tax impacts and 

that a subsequent proceeding would be necessary to ensure that the actual after-

tax consequences were obtained.  Our desire is to provide finality of these 

proceedings with this decision and our companion decisions on violations.  

Adjusting for tax treatments could result in further litigation and uncertainty 

that would not achieve that objective.  

6.1. Allocation and Tracking of the $850 Million  

While the majority of these funds to be spent on improving pipeline safety 

will be capital expenditures, certain expensed items are likely to further pipeline 

safety as well.  Accordingly, we will allow PG&E to count some expenses 

towards the $850 million total. 

In the PSEP decision (D.12-12-030), we authorized total capital 

expenditures for 2013 and 2014 in the amount of $696.2 million (Table E-3), and 

for the same period we authorized expenses in the amount of $162.5 million 

(Table E-2), for a combined total of $858.7 million, so expenses were about 19% of 

the total.248  We will apply that same proportion here. Accordingly, of the $850 

million, up to 19% ($161.5 million) may be devoted to items that are expensed for 

projects, or programs authorized in its currently pending GT&S proceeding 

                                              
247  Administrative Law Judges’ Ruling Requesting Additional Comment, filed July 30, 2013, at 4-7. 

248  We use 2013 and 2014 figures because 2011 and 2012 expenses were largely paid by 
shareholders while capital expenditures were not, so using 2011 and 2012 figures would skew 
the relative levels of expenses and capital expenditures.    
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(A.13-12-012).  The remainder (at least 81%, or $688.5 million) shall be devoted to 

capital expenditures.   

The amounts to be expensed that will be funded by shareholders shall be 

excluded from the expenses used to calculate PG&E’s retail revenue 

requirements in A.13-12-012.  As a number of the parties have suggested, the 

amounts of capital expenditures to be funded by shareholders shall be excluded 

from PG&E’S rate base to be determined in A.13-12-012, and in all PG&E 

proceedings thereafter.  As noted by the Joint Parties in their Appeal, if PG&E 

were allowed to collect a rate of return on capital expenditures that its 

shareholders are required to fund as part of the penalties imposed in these 

proceedings, this would mute the financial impact of the disallowance over 

many decades. “The result would be to unnecessarily undermine the deterrence 

effect of the financial penalties and reduce the ratepayer value of the 

disallowance.”249  

In A.13-12-012, we will determine which expenses and capital 

expenditures authorized in that proceeding are for safety-related gas 

transmission projects or programs that should be funded by shareholders, 

subject to the expense and capital expenditure requirements noted above.  If the 

total amount to be funded by shareholders is not exhausted by designated safety-

related projects or programs authorized in the GT&S proceeding, we will make a 

determination of additional capital projects or programs to be funded by 

shareholders in  future proceedings, as necessary to ensure that PG&E ultimately 

spends the full $850 million designated for safety-related projects and programs.   

                                              
249  Joint Parties’ Appeal at 16.  When ratepayers pay for a rate of return (ROR) on 
undepreciated capital expenditures, they also pay a tax gross-up on the portion of the 
ROR that is a return on equity.  Id. At 16-17.     
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In order to avoid unproductive litigation in the GT&S proceeding, we will 

specify here which kinds of expenses and capital expenditures shall be 

considered “safety-related” for purposes of fulfilling the requirement that 

shareholders fund $850 million of such costs.  For purposes of the capital 

expenditures, “safety-related” will mean any capital expenditure to replace, 

repair, or upgrade transmission lines, unless the work is for the purpose of 

serving new load.  We adopt this definition because replacement of old pipelines 

and upgrading of existing pipelines should have a favorable impact on safety.  

Only expenditures authorized by the Commission in the GT&S (or other) 

proceeding will count towards the shareholder funding requirement.  For 

purposes of items that are properly expensed, rather than capitalized, “safety-

related” will mean:  (i) costs for safety inspections and testing of transmission 

pipeline; (ii) any costs for repairing or replacing transmission lines that are 

properly expensed, and (iii) projects or programs to improve transmission line 

record-keeping, including GIS equipment and systems, but excluding any items 

that shareholders were required to fund by the PSEP Decision (D. 12-12-030, in  

R.11-02-019).  

To track the recorded expenditures on designated safety-related projects or 

programs to be funded by shareholders, we will direct PG&E to establish a 

deferred liability account, to be called the Shareholder-Funded Gas Transmission 

Safety Account (Shareholder-Funded Account) with two sub-accounts.  Our 

intention is that PG&E’s books will show this account as a liability obligating 

PG&E to implement designated safety-related projects and programs to be 

funded by shareholders over time.  One sub-account, in a total amount not to 

exceed $161.5 million, will be for tracking the costs, of designated projects or 

programs authorized in the GT&S proceeding, that are to be expensed, to be 

called the Shareholder-Funded Gas Transmission Safety Expense Sub-Account.  
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The other sub-account, to be called the Shareholder-Funded Gas Transmission 

Safety Capital Sub-Account, in an amount of at least $688.5 million, will be for 

tracking capital expenditures as plant is placed into service.  The total of the two 

subaccounts shall equal $850 million.   

Once a decision has been issued in PG&E’s pending GT&S proceeding 

determining which expensed costs qualify as “safety-related,” and therefore 

could be recorded in the Shareholder Funded Account, PG&E shall cap the 

amount included in the Expense Sub-Account at the lesser of $161.5 million or 

the amount of such “safety-related” costs designated in that decision.  If that 

amount is less than $161.5 million, the amount to be included in the Capital  

Sub-Account shall be adjusted above $688.5 million, so that the two sub-accounts 

total $850 million.   

With regard to expensed costs for safety-related gas transmission projects 

or programs designated in the GT&S proceeding, PG&E shall record these 

expenses as a debit entry into the Expense Sub-Account when PG&E spends 

money for the authorized projects or programs.  In order to ensure that the 

Expense Sub-Account only includes amounts for these expensed costs that are 

prudently incurred, for each project or program PG&E shall record no more than 

the amount authorized for that project or program (including any contingency, if 

authorized).250  If PG&E is able to complete any particular project or program for 

less than the authorized amount, only the amount actually expended shall be 

recorded in the Expense Sub-Account.   

                                              
250  If the GT&S proceeding authorizes expenses on a program (rather than project) basis, the 
Commission may choose to state the amount authorized as so many dollars per unit of work 
accomplished, in order to help ensure that the expenses recorded in the Shareholder-Funded 
Account are prudently incurred.   
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With regard to capital expenditures for safety-related gas transmission 

projects or programs designated in the GT&S (or another) proceeding, PG&E 

shall record these capital expenditures as a debit entry into the Capital Sub-

Account when PG&E places the plant or facilities in service.  As with expensed 

amounts, PG&E shall record the lesser of the authorized expenditure (plus 

contingency, if any) or the actual expenditure as a debit entry to the Capital Sub-

Account.  PG&E shall not include amounts recorded in the Capital Sub-Account 

in its rate base, such that ratepayers will not ever be responsible for any 

depreciation, or rate of return on these capital amounts.251   

The $850 million may only be spent on projects or programs that are 

approved by this Commission in the GT&S, or other proceeding; and amounts 

that may be recorded in the Shareholder-Funded Account are limited to the 

lesser of (i) the amount authorized (including any contingency) or (ii) the amount 

actually expended.  Accordingly if this Commission disallows, or limits, any 

proposed safety-related expenditure by PG&E, in the current GT&S or 

subsequent proceeding, for any reason other than that the amount is to be paid 

out of the Shareholder-Funded Account, such disallowed amounts may not 

booked into the Shareholder-Funded Account, i.e., may be paid for out of the 

$850 million.    

The following steps should be taken to ensure that the amounts to be paid 

by shareholders via the Shareholder-Funded Account are not recovered from 

ratepayers.  For items to be included in the Expense Sub-Account, the GT&S 

proceeding will adopt a forecast of when those expenses will be incurred, and 

those expenses shall be excluded in calculating the ratepayer-funded revenue 

                                              
251  Ratepayers, will, however, be responsible for ongoing operation and maintenance of these 
facilities, unless those costs are otherwise required to be funded by shareholders, or disallowed. 
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requirement for the applicable year.  Similarly, the GT&S proceeding will 

exclude from its forecast of rate base those capital projects or programs to be 

funded by shareholders and tracked through the Capital Sub-Account, and 

therefore shall exclude from its rate-payer funded revenue requirement all 

related fixed capital charges for those projects or programs, such as depreciation 

and rate of return.  Because shareholders will ultimately be responsible for 

paying the full amounts included in the two sub-accounts, there should be no 

need to adjust customer rates to account for differences between forecast and 

actual expenses and dates of plant in service.  A key effect of excluding from rate 

base plant placed in service that is funded by shareholders via the Capital Sub-

Account will be that, throughout the expected useful life of that plant, ratepayers 

will never be charged for depreciation or a rate of return on the excluded plant in 

future general rate cases.   

To ensure that amounts debited to the Shareholder-Funded Account are 

properly recorded, after the end of each calendar year, and no later than May 1 of 

the following year, PG&E shall submit a detailed accounting to the Commission 

as an information-only filing, pursuant to Section 6 of General Order 96-B.  This 

information-only filing shall also be served on all parties to these proceedings, all 

parties to A.13-12-012, and any other persons as directed by the Commission’s 

Energy Division (collectively, the “Relevant Parties”).  For each project or 

program recorded in the Shareholder-Funded Account, PG&E shall include at 

least the following:  the precise location of the authorization to include the 

project or program in the Shareholder-Funded Account; the maximum amount it 

was authorized to include for that project or program; the actual cost of that 

project or program up to authorized spending limits (with reference to where 
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detailed supporting accounting can be found); the scope of work actually 

accomplished;252 and for capital projects or programs, the date the plant was 

placed into service.  In case of doubt, PG&E should provide more, rather than 

less, detail about how the monies were expended.  PG&E shall also include any 

additional information as directed by the Energy Division.   

Elsewhere in this Decision (Section 7.1.1 and Appendix E), we require 

PG&E’s shareholders to “reimburse CPSD for contracts retaining independent 

industry experts, chosen by CPSD, for the cost of verification audits and 

inspections to ensure compliance with the other remedies.”  PG&E’s accountings 

of its Shareholder-Funded Account should likewise be audited by an 

independent auditor.  Accordingly, we will similarly require PG&E’s 

shareholders to reimburse the Commission for the cost of an independent 

auditor, to be selected by Commission Staff, to conduct audits of the 

Shareholder-Funded Account.  The Commission-selected independent auditor 

shall review each of PG&E’s detailed annual accountings and prepare a report.  

The auditor’s report shall be served on all the Relevant Parties.   

In order to ensure that this shareholder-funding remedy is fully 

implemented, PG&E shall continue recording costs into each sub-account until 

the total amount designated for funding through each sub-account has been 

utilized.  If PG&E is unable to utilize the full amount designated for funding 

through the Expense Sub-Account, (because the lesser of its authorized or actual 

expenses for projects or programs designed in the GT&S proceeding for funding 

                                              
252  For example, if the GT&S proceeding authorizes replacement of certain pipeline segments to 
be funded via this mechanism, a listing of those pipeline segments actually replaced.  For 
another example, if the GT&S proceeding authorizes installing a certain number of automated 
valves to be funded via this mechanism, the number of valves actually installed.  Similarly, if 
the cost of certain pipeline inspections were authorized to be recovered via this mechanism, the 
length of pipeline inspected and by what method.   
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through this subaccount do not in total reach the amount originally recorded in 

the account) then the amount not utilized shall be transferred to the Capital Sub-

Account, to be spent on capital projects or programs.   

If the GT&S proceeding designates for funding via the Shareholder-

Funded Account projects or programs whose costs are projected to equal or 

exceed $850 million, but thereafter PG&E determines that the total of its actual 

costs for these projects and programs will not exhaust the $850 million, PG&E 

shall file an information-only filing, informing the Commission of that 

conclusion and showing the applicable amounts actually spent (or expected to be 

spent), and serve it on all Relevant Parties.    

When both sub-accounts have been fully utilized (i.e. PG&E’s spending 

obligations have been exhausted), PG&E shall submit a final accounting to the 

Commission, as an information-only filing, to be served on all Relevant Parties.  

This final accounting shall be filed within 180 days of the date when the 

Shareholder-Funded Account was exhausted.  This final accounting may be 

combined with PG&E’s annual information-only filing if this timing requirement 

can be met.  Thereafter, the independent auditor shall prepare a final audit and 

serve its audit report on all Relevant Parties.  Thereafter, PG&E shall file an 

advice letter to close out the Shareholder-Funded Account, with service on all 

Relevant Parties.   

Within 60 days of today's decision, PG&E shall submit an Advice Letter, 

with service on all Relevant Parties, setting up the Shareholder-Funded Account 

and its two sub-accounts, and in the Advice Letter PG&E shall specify any 

additional accounting measures that will be necessary to carry out the intent of 

this Decision with regard to the Shareholder-Funded Account. 
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6.2. Summary of Remedies 

Finally, we adopt additional, specific remedies, as discussed in Section 7 

below.  These remedies shall be at shareholder expense and are estimated to cost 

at least $50,000,000. 

Based on the considerations above, we impose a total penalty of 

approximately $1.6 billion, consisting of the following: 

 
Fines (Pub. Util. Code §§ 2107 & 2108)  $300 million 

Bill Credit (Pub. Util. Code §§ 701 and 728)  $400 million 

Shareholder funding of gas infrastructure  $850 million 

Other Remedies  $50 million 

These fines and disallowances are in addition to monies PG&E already has 

been ordered to spend on safety enhancements, as well as future safety 

investments.  That is to say, the penalties adopted in this decision shall not be 

considered “paid” through prior, current or future pipeline safety investments, 

except as specified in this decision. 

7. Other Remedies 

7.1. CPSD Proposed Remedies 

CPSD proposes 75 separate remedies in these proceedings:  2 applicable to 

all three proceedings,253 38 applicable to I.12-01-007, 22 applicable to I.11-02-016, 

and 13 applicable to I.11-11-009.254  PG&E agrees with many of CPSD’s 

recommended remedies and has “identified operational commitments to achieve 

                                              
253  CPSD included a third proposed remedy in connection with all three proceedings:  “PG&E 
should apply the remainder of the $2.25 billion penalty to the PSEP cost and expenses for 
Phases I and II until it reaches the maximum amount of the penalty.”  CPSD Amended Reply, 
Appendix A.  This proposed remedy is addressed in Section 6 of this decision. 

254  CPSD Opening Brief at 58-70.   
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them.”255  CPSD accepted certain of PG&E’s proposed modifications to the 

recommended remedies.256   

In general, subject to exceptions discussed below, the remedies proposed 

by CPSD appear to be well-calculated to address PG&E’s practices that led to the 

extensive and serious violations of safety laws that we have found in these 

proceedings.  In light of these violations, we fully concur with CPSD’s 

assessment that “[t]he extensive shortcomings in PG&E’s safety systems and 

compliance with the law call for extensive changes in their operations.”257  

Clearly, remedies such as those proposed by CPSD are both necessary and 

appropriate in addition to the fine we are imposing on PG&E.  The remedies 

adopted here are based on the record in these proceedings.  This decision does 

not limit the Commission’s ability to require additional changes to PG&E’s 

business practices or governance in any subsequent proceeding, as supported by 

the record in that proceeding. 

To the extent that CPSD’s proposed remedies are uncontested, we adopt 

them without further discussion.  In the following discussion we address the 

disputed recommended remedies as well as those for which clarification is 

needed.  A full statement of the adopted remedies is set forth in Appendix E to 

this decision.  For consistency and clarity, we use the same numbering of 

remedies used by CPSD and PG&E in their briefs. 

Finally, we reiterate that, since these remedies are to cure violations found 

in the San Bruno Violations Decision, Recordkeeping Violations Decision and Class 

                                              
255  PG&E Remedies Brief at 94. 

256  CPSD Amended Reply at 10, Appendixes A and B. 

257  CPSD Amended Reply at 10. 



I.12-01-007 et al.   L/MP6/mal 

 

- 104 - 

Location Violations Decision, all remedies are to be paid for by shareholders.  We 

estimate the cost to implement these remedies to be at least $50,000,000. 

7.1.1. CPSD Recommended Remedies in all three OIIs 

As noted above, CPSD proposes the following two remedies in connection 

with all three OIIs: 

4.A.1 PG&E should pay to reimburse CPSD for contracts 
retaining independent industry experts, chosen by CPSD, for the 
cost of verification audits and inspections to ensure compliance 
with the other remedies. PG&E should also pay to reimburse 
CPSD for contracts retaining independent industry experts, 
chosen by CPSD in the near term to provide needed technical 
expertise as PG&E proceeds with its hydrostatic testing program, 
in order to provide a high level of technical in order to provide a 
high level of technical oversight and to assure the opportunity for 
legacy piping characterization though sampling is not lost in the 
rush to execute the program. 

4.A.2 PG&E should reimburse CPUC/CPSD for the cost of 
conducting all three of the present investigations. 

PG&E agrees with both proposed remedies.  The only contested issue is 

whether PG&E’s proposal to require that CPSD auditors be governed by 

Government Auditing Standards. 

PG&E proposes to modify CPSD recommended Remedy 4.A.1 to provide 

that “[t]hese auditors should apply the Government Auditing Standards issued 

by the U.S. Government Accountability Office when conduction their audits.”258  

PG&E also proposes that the Government Auditing Standards be mandated in 

connection with CPSD recommended remedies 4.C.21 and 4.C.22, which pertain 

to CPSD audits of PG&E’s recordkeeping practices. 

                                              
258  PG&E Remedies Brief at 101-102, Appendix B. 
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PG&E asserts that the Government Auditing Standards issued by the U.S. 

Government Accountability Office contain appropriate protocols for conducting 

recordkeeping audits such as those contemplated by CPSD.259  PG&E notes in 

particular that the standards call for auditors to (1) identify criteria that are 

relevant to the audit, (2) obtain and report the views of responsible officials of the 

audited entity concerning the findings, conclusions and recommendations 

included in the audit report, and (3) provide a draft report for review and 

comment by responsible officials of the audited entity and others.260   

CPSD opposes this proposed requirement.261  CPSD notes that the 

Government Auditing Standards are designed to audit the government and that 

they do not contemplate recordkeeping audits.262  CPSD further notes that “it is 

within this Commission’s discretion to choose whatever audits it wishes to 

employ.”263 

PG&E has not shown that the Government Auditing Standards are 

necessary for CPSD recordkeeping audits; CPSD has shown that they were not 

designed for the purposes of the audits contemplated by CPSD.  Therefore, we 

will not require CPSD to follow those requirements. 

We find CPSD’s proposed remedies 4.A.1 and 4.A.2 reasonable.  However, 

we clarify these proposed remedies to make it clear that the reimbursement shall 

be paid for by PG&E’s shareholders.  

                                              
259  PG&E Remedies Brief at 101-102. 

260  PG&E Remedies Brief at 102. 

261  CPSD Amended Reply at 10-11, Appendix A. 

262  CPSD Amended Reply at 11. 

263  CPSD Amended Reply at 11. 
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7.1.2. CPSD Recommended Remedies in I.12-01-007 
(San Bruno OII) 

CPSD’s 38 recommended remedies in the San Bruno OII, the majority of 

which are uncontested, address PG&E’s pipeline construction standards, 

integrity management practices, SCADA system, work clearance procedures, 

emergency procedures, corporate governance (including employee incentives), 

and the NTSB’s recommendations.264  PG&E states it has implemented many of 

the proposals or is taking steps to do so.265  We therefore find it reasonable to 

adopt the following uncontested recommendations: 

4.B.3 PG&E should perform a complete company-wide record 
search to populate its GIS database with all identified gas 
transmission pipeline leak history, including closed leak, 
information not already transferred to the GIS. 

4.B.4 PG&E should revise its Integrity Management training to 
ensure that missing data is represented by conservative 
assumptions, and that those assumptions are supportable, per the 
requirements of ASME B31.8S.  As required by Ordering 
Paragraph 1 of D.11-06-017, PG&E should be required to fully 
document any engineering-based assumption it makes for data 
that is missing, incomplete or unreliable.  Such assumptions must 
be clearly identified and justified and, where ambiguities arise, 
the assumption allowing the greatest safety margin must be 
adopted. 

4.B.6 PG&E should revise its threat identification and 
assessment procedures and training, including its Baseline 
Assessment Plans, to fully incorporate all relevant data for both 
covered and non-covered segments, including but not limited to 
potential manufacturing and construction threats, and leak data. 

                                              
264  National Transportation Safety Board.  2011.  Pacific Gas and Electric Company Natural Gas 
Transmission Pipeline Rupture and Fire, San Bruno, California, September 9, 2010.  Pipeline Accident 
Report NTSB/PAR-11/01.  Washington, DC.  (NTSB Report).  The NTSB Report was received in 
evidence in the San Bruno OII as Exh. CPSD-9. 

265  PG&E Remedies Brief, Appendix B at B-1. 
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4.B.7 PG&E should re-label its system MAOP nomenclature in 
accordance with 49 CFR Part 192. 

4.B.10 PG&E should revise its threat identification and 
assessment procedures and training to ensure that cyclic fatigue 
and other loading conditions are incorporated into their segment 
specific threat assessments and risk ranking algorithm, and that 
threats that can be exacerbated by cyclic fatigue are assumed to 
exist per the requirements of 49 CFR Part 192.917(b). 

4.B.11 PG&E should revise its risk ranking algorithm to ensure 
that PG&E’s weighting factors in its risk ranking algorithm more 
accurately reflect PG&E’s actual operating experience along with 
generally reflected industry experience. 

4.B.12 PG&E should revise its threat identification and 
assessment procedures and training to ensure that PG&E’s 
weighing of factors in its risk ranking algorithm and the input of 
data into that algorithm corrects the various systemic issues 
identified in the NTSB report and the CPSD/PHMSA 2011 Risk 
Assessment Audit. 

4.B.13 PG&E should revise its threat identification and 
assessment procedures and training to ensure that the proper 
assessment method is being used to address a pipeline’s actual 
and potential threats. 

4.B.15 PG&E should revise its SCADA system to reduce the 
occurrence of “glitches” and anomalies in the control system that 
desensitizes operators to the presence of alarms and other 
inconsistent information. 

4.B.16 PG&E should reevaluate SCADA alarm criteria with the 
goal of reducing unnecessary alarm messages. 

4.B.24 Internal coordination – PG&E should revise its procedures 
to outline each individual Dispatch and Control Room 
employee’s roles, responsibility, and lines of communication 
required to be made in the event of an emergency either during 
or outside normal working hours.  This should include assigning 
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specific geographical monitoring responsibilities for Control 
Room employees. 

4.B.25 External coordination – CPSD agrees with NTSB 
recommendation P-11-2, which requests that PHMSA issue 
guidance to operators of natural gas transmission and 
distribution pipelines and hazardous liquid pipelines regarding 
the importance of control room operators immediately and 
directly notifying the 911 emergency call center(s) for the 
communities and jurisdiction in which those pipelines are located 
when a possible rupture of any pipeline is indicated.  CPSD 
further recommends that prior to such PHMSA guidance PG&E 
should revise their own procedures to allow for the immediate 
and direct notification of 911 emergency call centers when a 
possible pipeline rupture is indicated. 

4.B.26 Decision making authority – PG&E should revise its 
emergency procedures to clarify emergency response 
responsibilities, especially in regards to authorizing valve shut 
offs.  PG&E policies should not just delegate authority to act but 
also detail obligations to act. 

4.B.27 RCV/ASV – PG&E should perform a study to provide 
Gas Control with a means of determining and isolating the 
location of a rupture remotely by installing RCVs, ASVs, and 
appropriately spaced pressure and flow transmitters on critical 
transmission line infrastructure and implement the results. 

4.B.28 Response time – PG&E should review required response 
times in other utility service territories nationwide and devise 
appropriate response time requirements to ensure that its 
Emergency Plan results in a “prompt and effective” response to 
emergencies.  PG&E will provide its analysis and conclusions to 
CPSD. 

4.B.29 Emergency Plan Revision – Currently a maintenance 
supervisor annually reviews SCADA alarm responses and makes 
revisions as necessary.  This process needs to be formalized to 
ensure a robust feedback loop such that new information is fully 
analyzed and necessary changes to PG&E’s Emergency Plan 
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and/or other procedures are implemented with a subsequent 
review of made changes to ensure they are adequate. 

4.B.30 Public Awareness – CPSD agrees with NTSB 
recommendation P-11-1, which requests PHMSA issue guidance 
to operators of natural gas transmission and distribution 
pipelines and hazardous liquid pipelines regarding the 
importance of sharing system-specific information, including 
pipe diameter, operating pressure, product transported, and 
potential impact radius, about their pipeline systems with the 
emergency response agencies of the communities and jurisdiction 
in which those pipelines are located.  CPSD further recommends 
that prior to such PHMSA action PG&E undertake a review of its 
gas transmission public awareness and outreach programs to 
ensure that system-specific information is appropriately 
disseminated. 

4.B.37 PG&E shall examine internal communication processes to 
ensure that all employees understand their job responsibilities 
and priorities.  Goals of PG&E gas employees shall describe what 
is expected of them and their teams. 

7.1.2.1. Construction Standards 

CPSD and PG&E have largely agreed to recommended Remedy 4.B.1, 

which, with CPSD’s adoption of most of PG&E’s proposed edits, provides that 

“PG&E’s pipeline construction standards should meet or exceed all legal 

requirements and industry standards for identifying and correcting pipe 

deficiencies and strength testing.”266 

PG&E would qualify this remedy by adding “relevant” before “legal 

requirements and industry standards.”267  We concur with CPSD’s contention 

that the term “relevant” is subjective and unnecessary, and we therefore exclude 

the term. 

                                              
266  CPSD Amended Reply, Appendix A at B-4. 

267  PG&E Remedies Brief, Appendix B at B-2. 
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7.1.2.2. Data Gathering Requirements 

CPSD’s recommended Remedy 4.B.2 pertains to PG&E’s data gathering 

requirements:  “PG&E should revise its GTRIMPRMP to robustly meet the data 

gathering requirements of 49 CFR Part 192.917(b) and ASME-B31.8S, and to do so 

without limiting its data-gathering to only that data which is ‘readily available, 

verifiable, or easily obtained’ by PG&E.”268   

CPSD states that it accepts PG&E’s proposed edits that would change 

CPSD’s original wording from “PG&E should revise section 2 of RMP-06 …” to 

“PG&E should revise its integrity management procedures ….”269  However, 

CPSD also proposes without explanation another revision to the remedy so that 

it reads “PG&E should revise its GTIMRMP ….”270  We find that the phrase 

“integrity management procedures” conveys more information than either 

“GTIMRMP” or “GTRIMPRMP” and, therefore, do not accept this revision.  This 

determination also applies to Remedy 4.B.5. 

PG&E agrees that its data gathering practices should be reviewed to 

confirm that they meet or exceed regulatory and industry consensus guidance 

and revised if necessary.271  However, PG&E proposes to delete the wording 

“and to do so without limiting its data-gathering to only that data which is 

‘readily available, verifiable, or easily obtained’ by PG&E.”272   

The deficiencies in PG&E’s data gathering that were disclosed in these 

proceedings demonstrate the need for the wording proposed by CPSD.  As CPSD 

                                              
268  CPSD Amended Reply, Appendix B at 1. 

269  CPSD Amended Reply, Appendix A at B-5. 

270  CPSD Amended Reply, Appendix A at B-5. 

271  PG&E Remedies Brief, Appendix B at B-3. 

272  PG&E Remedies Brief, Appendix B at B-3. 
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notes, inclusion of the language puts PG&E on notice that it is expected to 

retrieve and organize all of its transmission pipeline records. 

7.1.2.3. Documentation of Assessments 

CPSD and PG&E agree with respect to recommended Remedy 4.B.8, which 

reads:  ”PG&E should permanently cease the self-suspended practice of regularly 

increasing pipeline pressure up to a ‘system MAOP’ to eliminate the need to 

consider manufacturing and construction threats.  In addition, PG&E should 

analyze all segments that were subjected to the planned pressure increases to 

determine the risk of failure from manufacturing threats under 49 CFR 

Part 192.917(e)(3), and perform further integrity assessments as warranted.”273   

CPSD proposes to add the following sentence to this remedy:  “Each 

assessment should be documented and retained for the life of the facility.”274  We 

concur with CPSD that such documentation is necessary.  This added 

requirement is reasonable and will therefore be adopted. 

7.1.2.4. Threat Identification and Assessment 
Procedures 

CPSD recommended Remedy 4.B.9 states that “PG&E should revise its 

threat identification and assessment procedures and training to ensure that HCA 

pipeline segments that have had their MAOP increased are prioritized for a 

suitable assessment method (e.g., hydro-testing), per the requirements of 49 CFR 

Part 192.917(e)(3)-(4).”275  PG&E agrees with implementing this recommendation 

                                              
273  CPSD Amended Reply, Appendix A at B-9. 

274  CPSD Amended Reply, Appendix A at B-9. 

275  CPSD Amended Reply, Appendix A at B-10. 
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but proposes to delete “that have had their MAOP increased” following “HCA 

pipeline segments.”276  

CPSD states that it accepts PG&E’s proposed edit. 277  However, CPSD’s 

final recommended remedies do not reflect this agreement. 278  Since CPSD 

accepts this edit, and it appears reasonable on its face, we will adopt it. 

7.1.2.5. Equipment Retention Policy 

CPSD recommended Remedy 4.B.14 originally stated that “PG&E should 

make revisions to its equipment retention policy to ensure that integrity of 

equipment, wiring and documentation and identification of electrical 

components does not deteriorate to unsafe conditions such as occurred at the 

Milpitas Terminal, described herein.  If PG&E does not have an applicable 

equipment retention policy then it should formulate one.”279   

PG&E states that it is implementing this recommendation and reviewing 

its inspection, testing, and maintenance procedure applicable to stations to 

ensure the integrity of electrical equipment, wiring, documentation, and 

identification of electrical components.280  PG&E proposes several edits to 

CPSD’s proposed language, including deletion of reference to the Milpitas 

Terminal and deletion of the last sentence.281 

                                              
276  PG&E Remedies Brief, Appendix B at B-7. 

277  CPSD Amended Reply, Appendix A at B-10. 

278  CPSD Amended Reply, Appendix B at 2. 

279  CPSD 0pening Brief at 60. 

280  PG&E Remedies Brief, Appendix B at B-9. 

281  PG&E Remedies Brief, Appendix B at B-9. 



I.12-01-007 et al.   L/MP6/mal 

 

- 113 - 

CPSD states that it accepts PG&E’s proposed edits.282  However, CPSD’s 

final recommended remedies do not reflect this agreement.283  Since CPSD 

accepts the edits, and they appear reasonable on their face, we will adopt them.   

CPSD also states that it has included language to ensure the procedure is 

implemented.284  We understand that CPSD is referring to the phrase “and 

implement” following “PG&E should review.”  We concur with CPSD that this 

provision should be included. 

7.1.2.6. Redundant Pressure Sensors 

CPSD recommended Remedy 4.B.17 states that “PG&E should revise its 

control systems, including SCADA, to ensure that all relevant information, 

including redundant pressure sensors, is considered.”285   

PG&E agrees that its SCADA system should make available all relevant 

information and states that it is implementing this recommendation through its 

Valve Automation Program.286  However, PG&E does not agree that all 

redundant information is necessarily relevant, and it proposes edits to delete 

“including redundant pressure sensors” and to add a sentence indicating this 

remedy is being implemented through its Valve Automation Program.287 

CPSD opposes PG&E’s proposed edits.288  CPSD asserts that even with the 

Valve Automation Program, redundant pressure sensor data will be available 

                                              
282  CPSD Amended Reply, Appendix A at B-12. 

283  CPSD Amended Reply, Appendix B at 3. 

284  CPSD Amended Reply, Appendix A at B-12. 

285  CPSD Amended Reply, Appendix A at B-13. 

286  PG&E Remedies Brief, Appendix B at B-10. 

287  PG&E Remedies Brief, Appendix B at B-10. 

288  CPSD Amended Reply, Appendix A at B-13. 
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and should be incorporated into systems including SCADA.289  CPSD asserts that 

redundant information from alternate sources is both important and relevant in 

emergency situations.290  

We note that PG&E does not make the positive assertion that redundant 

pressure sensor data is irrelevant, only that it is not necessarily relevant.  We are 

therefore persuaded to adopt CPSD recommended Remedy 4.B.17 without 

modification. 

7.1.2.7. Additional Pressure Sensors 

CPSD recommended Remedy 4.B.18 states that “PG&E should install more 

pressure sensors and have them closely spaced and use the additional 

information to incorporate leak or rupture recognition algorithms in its SCADA 

system.”291   

PG&E states that it agrees with this recommendation and is currently 

performing a pilot program to test the feasibility of performing real time leak and 

line break detection using SCADA information.292  PG&E states that it will 

review the results of the pilot program before proposing the installation of more 

pressure sensors system-wide.293  CPSD responds with the assertion that the 

remedy has merit because PG&E has already begun the pilot program.294   

                                              
289  CPSD Amended Reply, Appendix A at B-13. 

290  CPSD Amended Reply, Appendix A at B-13. 

291  CPSD Amended Reply, Appendix A at B-14. 

292  PG&E Remedies Brief, Appendix B at B-10. 

293  PG&E Remedies Brief, Appendix B at B-10. 

294  CPSD Amended Reply, Appendix A at B-14. 
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CPSD’s recommendation calls for more sensors and for closer spacing of 

them but does not include specific, quantifiable standards for doing so.295  This 

suggests that PG&E would have flexibility in its implementation.  We also note 

PG&E’s testimony in response to this recommended remedy stated that “[w]e 

have installed and continue to install additional SCADA monitoring and control 

devices and capability.”296  This testimony did not state that PG&E’s addition of 

monitoring and control devices and capability is limited to a pilot program.  

Since PG&E agrees with the recommendation, and we are not persuaded to limit 

it to a pilot program, we will adopt CPSD’s remedy without the wording 

changes proposed by PG&E. 

7.1.2.8. Negative Pressure Values 

CPSD recommended Remedy 4.B.19 states that “PG&E should program its 

[Power Line Communications] PLCs to recognize that negative pressure values 

are erroneous and require intervention to prevent valves from fully opening.”297   

PG&E opposes this remedy.298  PG&E believes that the redundant 

pneumatic pressure limiting system is the appropriate countermeasure where 

regulator valves open unintentionally.299  PG&E does not believe that 

programming PLCs to disregard pressure information is a prudent practice.300   

                                              
295  CPSD Amended Reply, Appendix A at B-14. 

296  San Bruno Exh. PG&E 1-A at 13A-5. 

297  CPSD Amended Reply, Appendix A at B-14. 

298  PG&E Remedies Brief, Appendix B at B-10. 

299  PG&E Remedies Brief, Appendix B at B-10. 

300  PG&E Remedies Brief, Appendix B at B-10. 
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In response, CPSD maintains the proposed remedy is appropriate and 

necessary in light of the problems encountered at the Milpitas Station.301  CPSD 

takes issue with PG&E’s characterization that the goal is to program PLCs to 

disregard pressure information.302  Instead, CPSD asserts, the remedy is to 

program the PLCs to see negative pressure as reason to signal a problem in the 

system and take the necessary steps to prevent the valves from fully opening.303 

As we noted in the San Bruno Violations Decision, redundant pneumatically 

operated monitor valves provide protection against catastrophic failure but are 

outside the pressure control system and do not fully provide adequate 

integrity.304  Thus, we do not share PG&E’s confidence that negative pressure 

values should be disregarded.  PG&E’s testimony in the San Bruno OII asserted 

that programming the PLC to disregard pressure information is not prudent.305  

However, we do not find that this assertion is adequately substantiated or that 

the prudency concern outweighs the safety concern that led CPSD to make this 

recommendation.  We therefore adopt the remedy as proposed by CPSD. 

7.1.2.9. Replacement of Pressure Controllers 

CPSD recommended Remedy 4.B.20 states that “PG&E should replace the 

three pressure controllers which malfunctioned on September 9, 2010.”306  PG&E 

responds that it is “implementing enhanced functionality to the PLCs at Milpitas 

Terminal, which will render the valve controllers unnecessary, at which point all 

                                              
301  CPSD Amended Reply, Appendix A at B-14. 

302  CPSD Amended Reply, Appendix A at B-14. 

303  CPSD Amended Reply, Appendix A at B-14. 

304  San Bruno Violations Decision, Section 5.3.2. 

305  San Bruno Exh. PG&E-1A at 13A-5 to 13A-6; San Bruno Exh. PG&E-1 at 8-7 to 8-8 and 8-14.  

306  CPSD Amended Reply, Appendix A at B-15. 
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valve controllers will be removed.”307  PG&E therefore proposes to revise the 

wording of the remedy to state “PG&E should remove the three pressure 

controllers…”308 

CPSD notes, however, that even though PG&E proposes changes to the 

Milpitas Terminal, the three controllers could potentially remain in service for 

years and thereby pose a risk to safety.309  CPSD therefore stands by its proposed 

remedy as stated “unless PG&E demonstrates that the controllers have already 

been removed from the system.”310 

We share CPSD’s concern that even though PG&E has plans to remove the 

controllers that malfunctioned, that might not occur for years.  We therefore 

decline to adopt PG&E’s proposed edit.  We will, however, add language to the 

remedy that incorporates CPSD’s conditional agreement to PG&E’s edits. 

7.1.2.10. Abnormal Operating Conditions 

CPSD recommended Remedy 4.B.21 states that “PG&E should review its 

work clearance process to ensure that abnormal operating conditions that may 

arise during the course of work are anticipated and responses to those conditions 

are detailed.  Additionally, PG&E should create a procedure covering the 

commission of electrical equipment from one Uninterruptable Power Supply to 

another.  Each project Clearance should include possible scenarios and 

contingency plans to mitigate any abnormal operating conditions that may 

                                              
307  San Bruno Exh. PG&E-1A at 13-A-6. 

308  PG&E Remedies Brief, Appendix B at B-11. 

309  CPSD Amended Reply, Appendix A at B-15. 

310  CPSD Amended Reply, Appendix A at B-15. 
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arise.”311  This recommended remedy enjoys PG&E’s agreement, and it reflects 

CPSD’s acceptance of edits proposed by PG&E.312 

The above-quoted language also incorporates two additional, minor 

clarifying edits to the last sentence that were proposed by CPSD.313  We concur 

with CPSD’s clarifying addition of “Clearance” since the work clearance process 

is the subject of this remedy.  We also concur with CPSD’s language providing 

that each clearance should “include” rather than “cover” or “require” possible 

scenarios and contingency plans.  We therefore adopt CPSD’s wording. 

7.1.2.11. Work Clearance Procedures 

CPSD recommended Remedy 4.B.22 states that “PG&E should revisit its 

Work Clearance procedures and training to ensure that future work will not be 

authorized unless:  all forms and fields therein are comprehensively and 

accurately populated, and reviewed by a designated clearance supervisor.  

Additionally, work should not commence until such time as the operator and 

technician have reviewed the work clearance and have confirmed that 

understand the actions to take in the event an abnormal condition is 

encountered.  Lastly, PG&E must ensure that proper records showing the specific 

steps taken, when taken, and by whom, are maintained pursuant to its Record 

Retention Schedule.”314 

PG&E states that it agrees with and is implementing this 

recommendation.315  Apart from typographical errors, the language quoted 

                                              
311  CPSD Amended Reply, Appendix A at B-15. 

312  CPSD Amended Reply, Appendix A at B-15. 

313  CPSD Amended Reply, Appendix A at B-15. 

314  CPSD Amended Reply, Appendix A at B-16. 

315  PG&E Remedies Brief, Appendix B at B-12. 
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above reflects PG&E’s edits to CPSD’s originally proposed remedy with one 

exception.316  CPSD otherwise accepts PG&E’s edits.317   

In the first sentence, PG&E had inserted “necessary” prior to “forms and 

fields therein.”318  We concur with CPSD that “necessary” leaves room for 

subjective determination of what is and is not to be filled out.  As CPSD notes, 

this could lead to incomplete forms, which was a problem that arose when the 

Milpitas work clearance form was filled out.  We also correct two typographical 

errors in CPSD’s restatement of the remedy by deleting a semicolon after 

“unless” and adding “both” after “confirmed that.” 

7.1.2.12. Gas Service Representative Training 

CPSD recommended Remedy 4.B.23 states:  “Training - PG&E should 

provide training to Gas Service Representatives to recognize the differences 

between fires of low-pressure natural gas, high-pressure natural gas, gasoline 

fuel, or jet fuel.”319   

PG&E agrees that Gas Service Representatives should be provided training 

to identify hazards associated with natural gas infrastructure, and to make the 

system safe for the public and other employees.320  PG&E proposes a restated 

remedy:  “Training - PG&E should provide training to Gas Service 

Representatives [GSR] to identify hazards associated with PG&E natural gas 

infrastructure and take action to make the condition safe for the public and 

                                              
316  CPSD Amended Reply, Appendix A at B-16. 

317  CPSD Amended Reply, Appendix A at B-16. 

318  PG&E Remedies Brief, Appendix B at B-12. 

319  CPSD Amended Reply, Appendix A at B-17. 

320  PG&E Remedies Brief, Appendix B at B-13. 
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employees.  If assistance is needed and the situation is an imminent hazard, the 

GSR will remain on site until appropriate resources take control.”321 

CPSD opposes PG&E’s edits to its remedy, claiming that they “completely 

alters the purpose of the proposed remedy.”322  CPSD notes that PG&E’s 

proposed language is already included in the company’s emergency response 

training and asserts that CPSD’s proposed training could easily be incorporated 

into PG&E’s current emergency response training program.323   

We note that PG&E does not oppose the training proposed by CPSD and 

that CPSD does not explicitly oppose the training proposed by PG&E.  We will 

therefore combine both statements into a single restated remedy. 

7.1.2.13. PG&E’s Business Strategies 

CPSD recommended Remedy 4.B.31 states that “PG&E’s business 

strategies and associated programs should expressly ensure that safety is a 

higher priority than shareholder returns and be designed to implement that 

priority, which may include reinvesting operational savings into infrastructure 

improvements.”324   

PG&E opposes this remedy, asserting that it has already committed 

substantial shareholder investments to gas transmission improvements.325  PG&E 

contends that there is no need to adopt an express requirement that any savings 

from operational efficiencies be reinvested in infrastructure improvements.326  In 

                                              
321  PG&E Remedies Brief, Appendix B at B-13. 

322  CPSD Amended Reply, Appendix A at B-17. 

323  CPSD Amended Reply, Appendix A at B-17. 

324  CPSD Amended Reply, Appendix A at B-23. 

325  PG&E Remedies Brief, Appendix B at B-16. 

326  San Bruno Exh. PG&E 1A at 13A-11. 
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response, CPSD continues to assert that PG&E should have a program to 

expressly ensure that safety is a higher priority than shareholder returns.327  

We fully concur with the proposition that a public utility should make 

safety the highest priority, even at the expense of shareholder returns.  This 

reflects our view that the requirement of Pub. Util. Code § 451 to “furnish and 

maintain such adequate, efficient, just, and reasonable service, instrumentalities, 

equipment, and facilities … as are necessary to promote the safety … of its 

patrons, employees, and the public” is absolute and cannot be compromised by 

shareholder return considerations.  We do not concur with CPSD that the 

utility’s safety obligation can or should be met by linking necessary safety 

expenditures and investments to operational efficiencies.  PG&E must spend 

whatever is necessary to meet its safety obligation whether or not operational 

efficiencies have been achieved.  We therefore adopt this remedy without 

reference to operational savings. 

7.1.2.14. Retained Earnings 

CPSD recommended Remedy 4.B.32 states that “PG&E should target 

retained earnings towards safety improvements before providing dividends, 

especially if the ROE exceeds the level set in a GRC decision.”328  PG&E opposes 

this remedy, asserting that shareholders have spent and will spend significant 

funds to improve gas transmission safety without rate recovery.329  PG&E also 

contends that CPSD’s proposed remedy is “vaguely worded” and “would likely 

have an adverse effect on PG&E’s ability to access debt and equity markets on as 

                                              
327  CPSD Amended Reply, Appendix A at B-23. 

328  CPSD Amended Reply, Appendix A at B-24. 

329  PG&E Remedies Brief, Appendix B at B-17. 
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favorable terms as other California utilities, potentially increasing its cost of 

capital.”330 

We make no findings here regarding the amounts PG&E shareholders 

have spent or will spend on gas transmission work without rate recovery. 331   

The Commission did not authorize a memorandum account to track 

expenditures that PG&E asserts to be safety-related expenditures after San 

Bruno.  Indeed, the Commission expressly rejected PG&E’s request for a 

memorandum account.332 Furthermore, there is no evidence timely or properly 

submitted in the record of this proceeding to establish what those expenditure 

might be.   Nevertheless, we are not persuaded that imposing restrictions on 

dividends is either necessary to achieve safety or an effective means of doing so.  

As we noted in Section 7.1.2.13 above, the absolute safety obligation created by 

Pub. Util. Code § 451 means that PG&E must spend whatever is necessary for 

safe operations and practices without regard to whether operational savings 

have been achieved.  Similarly, PG&E must ensure safe operations and practices 

without regard to its dividends policy.  Accordingly, we will not adopt proposed 

Recommendation 4.B.32. 

7.1.2.15. Incentive Plan 

CPSD recommended Remedy 4.B.33 originally provided that “PG&E’s 

incentive plan, and other employee awards programs, should include selection 

criteria for improved safety performance and training and/or experience in the 

                                              
330  PG&E Remedies Brief, Appendix B at B-17. 

331  See also Section 6, above, discussing PG&E’s overly broad contentions about what costs it 
has allegedly not recovered. 

332 See D.12-12-030, at. pp. 70-73.  
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reliability and safety aspects of gas transmission and distribution.  PG&E should 

ensure that upper management attends gas safety training.”333   

PG&E responded that it agrees with this recommendation.334  PG&E noted 

that:  (1) it has revised its short-term incentive plan (STIP) program to make 

safety performance 40% of the score used to determine the total award, (2) it 

endorses the recommendation that upper management participate in activities 

that enhance and expand their safety knowledge, (3) it continues to enhance its 

gas emergency response training, and (4) all officers have an opportunity to 

participate in an annual drill, but it is expanding the number and types of 

exercises conducted throughout the year.335  PG&E proposed edits to the remedy 

so that it would read “ A component of PG&E’s gas employee incentive plan 

should include safety.  PG&E’s annual training plan should require that all gas 

leaders attend gas safety training.”336 

CPSD recommends incorporating PG&E’s implementation plan into the 

remedy and proposes further language revisions to accomplish that.337  We 

concur with CPSD that it is appropriate to codify PG&E’s implementation plan 

by incorporating it into the remedy. We therefore adopt CPSD’s proposed 

modifications to the language of the remedy along with clarifying wording 

indicated by PG&E. 

                                              
333  CPSD Opening Brief at 62. 

334  PG&E Remedies Brief, Appendix B at B-18. 

335  San Bruno Exh. PG&E 1A at 13-13 to 13-14, Appendix A at 13A-12. 

336  PG&E Remedies Brief, Appendix B at B-18. 

337  CPSD Amended Reply, Appendix A at B-25. 
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7.1.2.16. Joint Board Meetings 

CPSD recommended Remedy 4.B.34 states that “PG&E should not hold 

joint Company and Corporation Board of Director meetings as the two entities 

should have different priorities.”338  PG&E opposes this remedy, asserting that 

“the interests of the Company and the Utility are aligned.”339   

CPSD’s witness asserted that “[t]he same corporate culture seems to run 

through PG&E Corporation and PG&E Company, as evidenced in part by the 

fact that the Corporation and the Company hold joint board meetings.”340  He 

also provided evidence that “[i]t is understandable that PG&E Corporation has a 

goal in growing its financial performance.  It is also understandable that PG&E 

Company focuses on being financially healthy; however, its primary and 

overarching focus should be on the safe and reliable operation of the electric and 

natural gas pipeline facilities.”341  CPSD’s rebuttal testimony went on to assert 

that “PG&E’s history demonstrates that PG&E Corporation cannot appropriately 

balance the responsibility for both pipeline safety and maximizing profits.  The 

San Bruno explosion exposed this inherent conflict.  Decisions on safety and 

budgeting were distorted with tragic results.”342  The rebuttal testimony went on 

to assert that “[t]he Company and the Corporation each serve a conflicting 

purpose.”343 

                                              
338  CPSD Amended Reply, Appendix A at B-26.  CPSD is clearly referring to PG&E Corporation 
and its subsidiary, Pacific Gas and Electric Company. 

339  PG&E Remedies Brief, Appendix B at B-19. 

340  San Bruno Exh. CPSD-1 at 127. 

341  San Bruno Exh. CPSD-1 at 130. 

342  San Bruno Exh. CPSD-5 at 56. 

343  San Bruno Exh. CPSD-5 at 57. 
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We do not find that the evidence offered by CPSD demonstrates that there 

is a conflict of interest between PG&E Corporation and PG&E that impacts safety 

in a way that would be resolved by precluding joint board meetings.  

Accordingly, we do not adopt this recommended remedy. 

7.1.2.17. Safety as Core Mission 

CPSD recommended Remedy 4.B.35 initially provided that “PG&E should 

examine whether the time and money it spends on public relations and political 

campaigns distracts it from its core mission of providing safe and reliable gas 

service.”344  PG&E’s testimony stated that “[w]hile we do not agree with the 

premise of this recommendation, … we are focusing on enhancing public safety 

and operational excellence.”345  PG&E thus opposes this remedy as 

unnecessary.346 

In response, CPSD modified the wording of its recommended remedy to 

incorporate PG&E’s statement so that it reads:  “PG&E should focus on 

enhancing public safety and operational excellence as a core mission, and should 

examine whether the time and money it spends on public relations and political 

campaigns distracts it from this core mission.”347 

PG&E’s opposition to this remedy is based on its objection to the 

underlying premise and its position that it is unnecessary.  PG&E does not 

indicate opposition to a self-examination of whether expending resources on 

public relations and political campaigns is distracting.  We are pleased that 

PG&E is focusing on enhancing both public safety and operational excellence, 

                                              
344  CPSD Opening Brief at 62.   

345  San Bruno Exh. PG&E 1A, Appendix A at 13A-13. 

346  PG&E Remedies Brief, Appendix B at B-19. 

347  CPSD Amended Reply, Appendix A at B-26.   
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and are at a loss to understand why it would object to a remedy requiring such 

focus.  We adopt the remedy with the wording changes proposed by CPSD. 

7.1.2.18. Pipeline 2020 Program 

CPSD recommended Remedy 4.B.36 states that “PG&E should revisit its 

Pipeline 2020 program, and subsequent variations thereof, to ensure that its 

implementation is fully flushed out with specific goals, performance criteria, and 

identified funding sources.”348  PG&E opposes this remedy and asserts it is 

unnecessary.349  The Pipeline 2020 program is no longer active and has been 

superseded by the PSEP.   CPSD has agreed with deleting this remedy,350 and we 

therefore do so. 

7.1.2.19. NTSB Recommendations 

CPSD recommended Remedy 4.B.38 begins with the statement that “CPSD 

agrees with the following NTSB recommendations to PG&E.”351  CPSD then lists 

several recommendations that the NTSB made to PG&E.352 

PG&E agrees with and is implementing this recommendation to follow the 

NTSB recommendations.353  We wish to make clear that this remedy does not 

merely note CPSD’s agreement with the NTSB’s recommendations.  This remedy 

directs PG&E to follow and implement them.  

                                              
348  CPSD Amended Reply, Appendix A at B-26.   

349  PG&E Remedies Brief, Appendix B at B-19. 
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7.1.3. Recommended Remedies in I.11-02-016  
(Recordkeeping OII) 

CPSD proposed 22 recommended remedies in the Recordkeeping OII to 

ensure “compliance with all applicable rules, regulations and laws related to 

recordkeeping.”354  CPSD, however, warns that while these recommendations are 

based on evidence in the record, they “are not intended to state all regulatory 

and engineering requirements for PG&E’s recordkeeping systems.”355   

PG&E proposed revisions to a number of CPSD’s recommendations, which 

CPSD accepted with no additional changes.  Since these recommendations and 

edits were not opposed, we find it reasonable to adopt the following 

recommendations: 

4.C.1 PG&E’s gas transmission organization should be 
required to achieve at least a Level 3 information maturity score 
under the Generally Accepted Records Keeping Principles within 
3 years. (CPSD Exhibit 6, Appendix 4.) 

4.C.7 PG&E should identify and document the employees 
responsible for implementing the Records and Information 
Management program for gas transmission.  

4.C.8 PG&E should develop consistent standard practices that 
include gas transmission records management linked to 
corporate polices on information governance.  

4.C.10 PG&E should ensure that each gas transmission standard 
conforms with Records and Information Management (RIM) 
policies for gas transmission.  

4.C.11 PG&E should include the treatment of active and inactive 
records in its Records and Information Management (RIM) Policy 
for gas transmission.  

                                              
354  CPSD Opening Brief at 64. 
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7.1.3.1. ISO Certification  

CPSD’s recommended Remedy 4.C.2 would require PG&E to “achieve 

International Organization Standard (ISO) certification against ISO 30300 for its 

Management System for Records (MSR) within five years of the ISO 30300 audit 

standard being finalized and published.”356  PG&E opposes this 

recommendation, stating “ISO 30300, which will be a newly revised update to 

ISO 15489, is primarily used for organizations that have international demands 

on information governance, including EU directives and other cross-country 

requirements.”357 

CPSD argues that the ISO 30300 series is applicable to all organizations, 

regardless of size or location, and “is especially useful in demonstrating 

compliance with the documentation and records requirements of other 

Management System Standards.”358  Additionally, since the standard has not yet 

been finalized and published, CPSD suggests “PG&E could begin working 

toward the ISO 15489 standard currently in place.”359   

Although the Duller/North Report refers to the ISO 30300 series in its 

discussion of records management responsibilities, CPSD has not provided 

sufficient justification why it is necessary for PG&E to achieve ISO certification 

against ISO 30300.  Accordingly, Recommendation 4.C.2 is rejected.  While we 

reject CPSD’s recommendation at this time, we do not foreclose the possibility 

that achieving this certification may be appropriate in the future.  

                                              
356  CPSD Opening Brief at 65. 

357  CPSD Amended Reply, Appendix A at B-33. 

358  CPSD Amended Reply, Appendix A at B-33. 
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7.1.3.2. Corporate Record and Information  
Management Policy 

CPSD recommended Remedy 4.C.3 states 

3 PG&E should develop a program to draft, review, approve and 
issue corporate policies and policy guidance that will: 

a. establish guidance for all departments and divisions to assist 
them with drafting standard practices to implement the 
corporate policies, 

b. will incorporate an internal audit function to review standard 
practices for compliance, consistency and accuracy, and 

c. will incorporate a retention policy with a schedule that 
identifies all records within the business for which there is a 
retention period mandated by federal/state laws; general 
orders and regulations including CPUC section 451 and its 
successors.360 

PG&E generally agrees with this proposed remedy and notes that its 

Information Management (IM) and Compliance Department has begun to 

implement this recommendation.  However, PG&E proposes several edits, as “It 

is impractical to draft standard practices that would fit business processes as 

diverse as Gas Operations, Human Resources and Regulatory Affairs, for 

example.”361 

CPSD accepts PG&E’s proposed revisions with one edit.  It proposes to 

add the phrase “that underlie its post-2010 Corporate Records and Information 

Management Policy and Standard” to subpart (a) so that it will read:  

Communicate recordkeeping expectations that underlie its 
post-2010 Corporate Records and Information Management 

                                              
360  CPSD Opening Brief at 65. 

361  CPSD Amended Reply, Appendix A at B-34 – B-35. 
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Policy and Standard for all departments and divisions across 
PG&E.362   

CPSD’s edit provides the context for PG&E’s recordkeeping expectations.  

We concur with this edit and adopt recommended Remedy 4.C.3 as follows: 

3 PG&E shall issue a corporate policy and standard that will: 

3.a Communicate recordkeeping expectations that underlie 
its post-2010 Corporate Records and Information Management 
Policy and Standard for all departments and divisions across 
PG&E. These expectations should be incorporated into 
procedures specific to meet the needs of every Line of 
Business. 

3.b The Information Management and Compliance 
Department should design a governance controls catalog for 
recordkeeping practices to assess compliance with the 
corporate policy and standard, consistency of behavior with 
official records being stored in approved systems of record, 
and timeliness of addressing records during their lifecycle. 

3.c The retention schedule will support the policy by 
providing retention length for all identified official records to 
meet legal and regulatory mandates. 

7.1.3.3. Records Management Education and Training 

PG&E agrees with CPSD recommended Remedy 4.C.4 that it should 

develop and implement Records and Information Management (RIM) training.  

It proposes several edits and also clarifies that the training is “for the gas 

transmission organization.”363 

CPSD accepts PG&E’s edits, but adds back the phrase “within an 

information governance framework” that PG&E had proposed be deleted.  CPSD 
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363  CPSD Amended Reply, Appendix A at B-36. 



I.12-01-007 et al.   L/MP6/mal 

 

- 131 - 

explains that this is the basis of Generally Accepted Record-keeping Principles 

(GARP).364  Since PG&E agrees to CPSD recommended Remedy 4.C.1, which 

recommend PG&E achieve a Level 3 information maturity under GARP within 

three years, we find that retention of the phrase “within an information 

governance framework” in recommended Remedy 4.C.4 to be reasonable.   

CSB also proposes three remedies – V.D.2.c, V.D.2.d and V.D.2.e – related 

to records management training.365  PG&E opposes these recommendations on 

the grounds that they are duplicative of CPSD’s recommended Remedy 4.C.4.366  

We do not agree.  CPSD recommended Remedy 4.C.4 is a general 

recommendation for training, while CSB’s proposed remedies outline the 

expectations of the training and education programs.  We find it is reasonable to 

incorporate CSB’s recommendations into CPSD recommended Remedy 4.C.4, as 

this will provide more specificity regarding the requirements that should be 

included.  Finally, we modify CSB proposed remedies V.D.2.d and V.D.2.e to add 

a requirement that these training programs be offered at least annually.  We 

believe that requiring this training be offered at regular intervals will ensure that 

PG&E’s recordkeeping practices are communicated to employees in a consistent 

and ongoing manner.   

We therefore adopt recommended Remedy 4.C.4 as follows: 

4  PG&E shall develop and implement an education and training 
program for the gas transmission organization in Records and 
Information Management principles and practices within an 
information governance framework.  The education and 
training program shall include the following: 
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a. All staff shall receive training to understand the 
responsibilities and tasks that relate to managing records.  
These education and training programs shall be updated 
and offered at regular intervals, at least twice annually, to 
include amendments to the records management program 
and for the benefit of new staff. 

b. There shall be specific and additional training for those 
staff involved directly in the management of retention and 
disposal of records.  These education and training 
programs shall be offered at least annually. 

c. There shall be specific and additional training focusing on 
all of the recordkeeping systems used within the Gas 
Operations Organization.  Employees and PG&E 
contractors who have duties using these programs shall be 
required to attend these training sessions.  These education 
and training programs shall be offered at least annually. 

7.1.3.4. Records  

CPSD recommended Remedy 4.C.5 states 

PG&E should develop and deploy the systems necessary to manage, 
maintain, access and preserve both records and documents (physical 
and electronic, in all formats and media types); their related data, 
metadata, and geographic location and geospatial content in 
accordance with legal and business mandated rules, utilizing 
technology that includes appropriate aids to help improve data and 
metadata quality, including but not limited to validation, 
verification and referential integrity.367 

PG&E agrees to this recommended, but proposes several edits.  CPSD 

opposes PG&E’s proposal to have the recommendation apply to “gas 

transmission” systems.  It argues that “systems” is not limited to gas 

transmission, as it could also refer to “records/document/content/management 
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systems; Quality management systems at any level in the Corporation.”368  CPSD 

further opposes PG&E’s addition to have this recommendation apply in 

accordance with “PG&E’s records retention schedule.”369  CPSD believes this 

phrase is unnecessarily vague and is not convinced the record retention schedule 

would incorporate the requirements specified in the CPSD remedy. 

We agree with CPSD that the phrase “gas transmission” may be limiting 

and therefore exclude the phrase.  We also agree that the phrase “records 

retention schedule” is vague, especially since there is no assurance that these 

retention schedules incorporate all the requirements contained in the CPSD 

recommendation.  This phrase is also excluded.  Although CPSD did not oppose 

other edits proposed by PG&E, it did not include them in its final revised 

proposal.  We find PG&E’s other proposed changes reasonable and adopt them.  

7.1.3.5. Responsibility for Information Governance 
Strategies 

PG&E agrees with CPSD recommended Remedy 4.C.6 and states that it is 

already implementing this recommendation in its gas transmission business.  

However, PG&E proposes edits to clarify the proposed operational commitment 

for purposes of implementation.370  CPSD agrees that the remedy should be 

clarified, and proposes further edits that incorporates PG&E’s proposed 

language.  CPSD’s additional edits would identify PG&E senior management as 

responsible for implementation of PG&E’s governance strategy.371   
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While we believe that it should be understood that PG&E senior 

management would be responsible for ensuring PG&E’s governance strategy is 

implemented, there is no harm in making that specific statement.  We therefore, 

adopt recommended Remedy 4.C.6 as follows: 

PG&E shall establish accountability for development and 
implementation of a PG&E governance strategy across gas 
transmission that shall rest with PG&E Senior Management and a 
method of accountability shall be developed and implemented.  

7.1.3.6. Mandated Retention Period 

CPSD recommended Remedy 4.C.9 states “PG&E should implement 

mandated retention periods for all relevant records.”372  PG&E agrees with this 

recommendation and proposes to add the phrase “in gas transmission” at the 

end of the sentence.373 

CPSD accepts PG&E’s edit and makes a further edit to insert the word 

“relevant” to gas transmission.  We agree that this further edit is reasonable and 

adopt the proposed changes.   

7.1.3.7. Records Management Processes 

CPSD recommended Remedy 4.C.12 requires PG&E’s records 

management processes be managed and maintained in accordance with the 

traceable, verifiable and complete standard.374  PG&E agrees with this 

recommendation, which it is already implementing in its gas transmission 

business.  PG&E proposes edits to clarify the proposed operational commitment 

for purposes of implementation.375 
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CPSD agrees with some of PG&E’s edits.  However, it does not agree that 

the phrase “for the life of the asset” should be replaced with “aligned with 

PG&E’s record retention schedule.”  It notes that the primary concern of this 

remedy relates to the physical assets.  CPSD also does not agree to limit the 

records to just “as built” records because, as “it has been difficult to discern 

exactly what records PG&E includes in that classification.”376 

We concur with CPSD that the phrase “for the life of the asset” should be 

retained in the remedy.  As we found in the Recordkeeping Violations Decision, 

PG&E’s retention schedules were both inconsistent and did not comply with 

federal requirements to retain certain records for the life of the asset.377  We 

further agree with CPSD that the term “as-built” should be excluded because it is 

unclear what PG&E considers an “as-built” record. 

We therefore adopt recommended Remedy 4.C.12 as follows: 

PG&E’s records management processes shall be managed and 
maintained in accordance with the traceable, verifiable and 
complete standard, including retention of physical and digital 
pipeline records for the ‘life of the asset.’  

7.1.3.8. Data Discrepancies 

CPSD recommended Remedy 4.C.13 states: 

The accuracy and completeness of data within gas transmission 
records should be traceable, verifiable and complete and when 
errors are discovered, the record should be corrected as soon as 
correct information is available and the reason(s) for each change 
should be documented and kept with the record.378  
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PG&E agrees with this recommendation states that it is implementing this 

recommendation in its gas transmission business.  PG&E proposes edits to the 

recommendation to discrepancies in GIS 3.0.379 

CPSD opposes this edit, as it believes this would limit PG&E to addressing 

discrepancies in only GIS 3.0, not any other PG&E records.  However, it proposes 

to add a sentence to this recommendation to refer to requirements for 

discrepancies discovered in GIS 3.0. 

We agree with CPSD that this limiting language should be deleted.  PG&E 

has had more than one database system tracking gas transmission records, and 

will likely have more in the future.  It is important that records in all of these 

systems are accurate and complete, not only the records in GIS 3.0.  We do not 

believe, however, that CPSD’s proposed sentence “For example, when 

discrepancies are discovered in GIS 3.0, GIS 3.0 should be updated as soon as the 

new information is available and reflected in the audit change log” is necessary 

and therefore exclude it. 

7.1.3.9. Job Files 

CPSD proposed remedies 4.C.14 and 4.C.15 address problems associated 

with Job Files.  These recommendations state: 

14 PG&E should create a standard format for the organization 
of a job file so that PG&E personnel will know exactly where 
to look in a file folder, or set of file folders, to find each type 
of document associated with a job file. At a minimum, a job 
file will contain traceable, verifiable and complete records to 
support the MAOP of the pipeline segment installed; design 
documentation; purchase documentation showing the 
sources and specifications of equipment purchased; permits; 
environmental documents; field notes; design, construction 
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and as-built drawings; x-ray reports and weld maps; 
pressure test records; correspondence with the CPUC; and 
inspection reports and correspondence.  

15 Job file data, including drawings, for all parts of the active 
PG&E gas transmission system should be immediately 
accessible from multiple locations. The development of a 
complete and accurate catalog of “job files that can be 
searched immediately should be included within this 
objective.”380  

PG&E agrees with both recommendations.  PG&E states that it is 

implementing recommendation 4.C.14 by creating an electronic format for job 

file organization and recommendation 4.C.15 through Project Mariner.381  It 

proposes edits to clarify the proposed operational commitment for purposes of 

implementation.   

For recommendation 4.C.14, PG&E proposes that the job files be in a 

standard “electronic” format and would limit the records to the “features that 

were reviewed as part of the MAOP Validation project.”  Further, it proposes to 

delete the following types of records listed by CPSD:  segment installed, permits, 

environmental documents, field notes, x-ray reports and weld maps, 

correspondence with the CPUC and inspection reports and correspondence.382 

CPSD opposes PG&E’s proposed edits.  It argues that Job Files should 

“include all of the records listed that document the history of the pipeline, 

including any past, present or future records that support the MAOP of the 

                                              
380  CPSD Opening Brief at 66. 

381  Project Mariner is PG&E’s Gas Transmission Asset Management Project which was 
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pipeline or pipeline segment installed.”383  Further, CPSD notes that the list of 

document types included in recommendation 4.C.14 “was developed from lists 

of job file contents provided by PG&E.”384 

We concur with CPSD that Job Files should include all records 

documenting the history of the pipeline.  PG&E has represented in the 

Recordkeeping OII that a Job File that contains original documents is the “master 

job file” or file of record.385  These original documents include permits, 

environmental documents, x-ray reports and weld maps and inspection 

reports.386  PG&E witness Keas has testified that Job Files are a source of 

information for PG&E’s integrity management program and used as a means to 

confirm information in GIS.387  However, PG&E now proposes that a Job File 

only contain information obtained as part of the MAOP Validation Project 

conducted between 2011 and 2013, not historical information.  Further, PG&E 

proposes to eliminate documents that are relevant to the design and construction 

of transmission pipelines.  

As we found in the Recordkeeping Violations Decision, PG&E’s 

recordkeeping practices with respect to Job Files, along with errors in its GIS 

system, adversely impacted PG&E’s ability to operate its gas transmission 

pipeline system in a safe manner.388  CPSD’s recommended Remedy 4.C.14 

                                              
383  CPSD Amended Reply, Appendix A at B-42. 

384  CPSD Amended Reply, Appendix A at B-42. 

385  Recordkeeping, Exh. CPSD-18, 
GasTransmissionSystemRecordsOII_DR_CPUC_017-Q05Supp.pdf. 

386  Recordkeeping, PG&E’s June 20, 2011 Response at 2A-19 – 2A-20 (Table 2A-3) & 7-3. 

387  Recordkeeping, 11 Joint RT at 1153:7 – 1154:26 (PG&E/Keas).   

388  Recordkeeping Violations Decision, Section 8.1 and 8.7. 
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addresses these deficiencies.  Therefore, we agree with CPSD that PG&E’s 

proposed edits should be excluded. 

For recommendation 4.C.15, PG&E proposes that the word “immediately” 

be deleted and to limit the scope of Job Files to “records” of gas transmission 

“pipelines.”  PG&E further proposes to delete the requirement to have a 

complete and accurate catalog of Job Files.389   

CPSD opposes these edits.  It states that the recommendation should apply 

to PG&E’s entire gas transmission system, including terminals, etc., and not just 

“pipelines.”  CPSD further notes that it had included a requirement for a catalog 

of Job Files so the PG&E’s staff would “have immediate access to relevant 

information and not have to wait days or months for the information to be 

located.”390 

As we found in the Recordkeeping Violations Decision, PG&E does not have a 

central repository or a system-wide index for Job Files.391  As a result, it took a 

total of 250,000 man days of work to gather, review, catalogue and index, copy 

and analyze PG&E’s Job Files for all phases of its MAOP validation project.392  

Given the inherent dangers associated with operating a high pressure natural gas 

transmission pipeline system, we concur with CPSD that it is imperative that 

PG&E employees have immediate access to relevant information.  It is simply 

unacceptable to have employees search for information and hope to find it at 

some point.  As such, we concur with CPSD that PG&E’s edits should be 

excluded. 

                                              
389  CPSD Amended Reply, Appendix A at B-43. 

390  CPSD Amended Reply, Appendix A at B-43. 

391  Recordkeeping Violations Decision, Section 8.1. 

392  Recordkeeping Violations Decision, Section 8.1. 
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For the reasons stated above, we adopt CPSD’s proposed remedies 4.C.14 

and 4.C.15 with no changes. 

7.1.3.10. Missing or Destroyed Information 

CPSD’s recommended Remedy 4.C.16 addresses the methodology to 

recover information contained in PG&E’s historic records and documents that 

has been identified as “missing” or “disposed of.”393  PG&E states that it is 

implementing this recommendation through its MAOP validation effort.  It 

therefore proposes that this recommendation read: 

In the course of the MAOP Validation Project, when PG&E 
cannot locate records, PG&E should apply conservative 
assumptions in its development of its Pipeline Features Lists for 
gas transmission pipelines.394 

CPSD opposes PG&E’s proposed edits.  CPSD states that these edits 

“completely ignore the inferred ‘duty of care’ element to recover such 

information via a range of options, rather than simply insert a conservative 

value.”395  We agree with CPSD that PG&E cannot simply “apply conservative 

assumptions” whenever there is missing information in its historical records and 

documents.  However, we note that the CFR allows the use of conservative 

assumptions.  We therefore, reject PG&E’s modifications, but modify this 

recommendation to reflect TURN’s recommended Remedy 2A concerning the 

use of assumed values.396  Accordingly, CPSD recommended Remedy 4.C.16 is 

revised to read: 

                                              
393  CPSD Opening Brief at 66-67. 

394  CPSD Amended Reply, Appendix A at B-44. 

395  CPSD Amended Reply, Appendix A at B-44. 

396  CPSD Amended Reply, Appendix A at B-59. 
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16. The information that was contained in PG&E’s historic 
records and documents, and that has been identified as 
‘missing or disposed of,’ and is necessary to be retained for 
the safe operation of the pipelines, pursuant to laws, 
regulations and standards and the PG&E retention schedule, 
shall be recovered. This recovery shall include but not be 
limited to: 

a. updating and verification of data in engineering 
databases, such as the leak database, GIS and the 
integrity management model, 

b. updating plat sheets and other engineering drawings, 
and  

c.  updating and organizing job files.  

When PG&E cannot locate records, it may apply conservative 
assumptions consistent with the requirements of Ordering 
Paragraph 1 of D.11-06-017.  PG&E shall be required to fully 
document any engineering-based assumptions it makes for data 
that has been identified as “missing or disposed of.”  Such 
assumptions must be clearly identified and justified and, where 
ambiguities arise, the assumption allowing the greatest safety 
margin must be adopted.397 

7.1.3.11. Changes in Gas Transmission Policies  
and Standard Practices 

CPSD’s recommended Remedy 4.C.17 addresses the documentation and 

preservation of changes to PG&E’s policies and standards.398  Although PG&E 

agrees with this recommendation, it would limit the requirement to “gas 

transmission standards and procedures” and eliminate the requirement for 

                                              
397 This does not override prior Commission Orders regarding hydro testing and replacement of 
pipeline.  Nor does it relieve PG&E of its on-going responsibility and duty going forward to 
keep accurate records.   

398  CPSD Opening Brief at 67. 
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permanent retention.  It argues “Permanent retention of all documents is not 

practicable.”399 

We concur with PG&E that this requirement should not apply to all 

documents.  However, we do not agree that a limitation to “gas transmission 

standards and procedures” is appropriate, as it is unclear what documents 

would be included.  As demonstrated by language in this proposed remedy, 

CPSD and PG&E have used the terms “standards and procedures,” “policies and 

standard practices” and “policies, standards and procedures.”  It is unknown 

whether these terms are all the same, or would encompass different types of 

documents.  For purposes of ensuring all documents are included, we revise the 

recommendation to use the term “policies, standards and procedures.”  We 

further revise the recommendation to apply to all documentation within the Gas 

Operations Organization. 

We further reject PG&E’s proposal to retain only documentation of 

changes “according to PG&E’s Records and Information Management (RIM) 

policies, standards and procedures.”400  As highlighted in the Recordkeeping OII, 

there is a need to retain policies, standards and procedures even after they are 

discontinued.  For example, PG&E’s standards and procedures for the 

reconditioning of A O Smith pipe in the late 1950’s and early 1960’s was not 

retained.  Consequently, when the Office of Pipeline Safety issued a safety alert 

about this type of pipe in 1988, PG&E had to determine what had been done 

“based on discussion with people who were involved with the Decoto Pipe Yard 

reconditioning program” during that time.401  Consequently, adopting PG&E’s 

                                              
399  CPSD Amended Reply, Appendix A at B-45. 

400  CPSD Amended Reply, Appendix A at B-45. 

401  Recordkeeping Exh. PG&E-48 at 2; see also, 4 RT at 498:18 – 499:9. 
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proposed retention requirement would not provide the audit trail proposed by 

CPSD, especially since PG&E believes that an explanation of changes “should be 

maintained so long as the standard practice is in effect, or for a reasonable, 

defined period of time.”  As such, while it is not necessary to retain a permanent 

record of all documents, we find CPSD’s proposal to require permanent retention 

of an audit trail of changes, including cancellation, to be reasonable. 

For the reasons discussed above, we adopt recommended Remedy 4.C.17 

as follows: 

PG&E shall document adoption of, and changes and 
amendments to policies, standards and procedures within the 
Gas Operations Organization (or its successor division(s) with 
responsibility for design, construction, operations, maintenance, 
testing, safety and integrity management of PG&E’s natural gas 
pipeline system).  The documentation shall include the reasons 
for adoption, amendment or cancellation of the policies, 
standards and procedures. An audit trail of changes shall be 
maintained, retained for as long as the standard is in effect.  If a 
policy, standard or procedure is cancelled, a copy of the policy, 
standard or procedure in effect at the time of cancellation, as well 
as the reason for its cancellation, shall be preserved permanently, 
taking heed of potential changes in technology that may render 
documents unreadable in the future. 

7.1.3.12. Salvaged and Reused Pipe 

CPSD proposed remedies 4.C.18 and 4.C.19 address the need to identify 

and track salvaged and reused pipe in PG&E’s gas transmission pipeline 

system.402  PG&E agrees with recommendation 4.C.18 and states that it will 

identify salvaged and reused pipes through its MAOP Validation Effort.  PG&E 

opposes recommendation 4.C.19 on the grounds that it is duplicative of 

                                              
402  CPSD Opening Brief at 67. 
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recommendation 4.C.18.403  Similarly, PG&E states that TURN recommended 

Remedy 1 is duplicative of CPSD proposed remedies 4.C.18 and 4.C.19.404 

CPSD opposes PG&E’s proposal to limit the methodology for identifying 

salvaged and reused pipe to PG&E’s MAOP validation effort.  It further argues 

that recommendation 4.C.19 is not duplicative of recommendation 4.C.18.  CPSD 

states that proposed recommendation 4.C.18 concerns identification of salvaged 

and reused pipe in its system and corrections to GIS.405  In contrast, 

recommendation 4.C.19 would require PG&E to create and maintain a separate 

system to track salvaged and reused pipe in its gas transmission system.406 

We agree with CPSD that proposed remedies 4.C.18 and 4.C.19 impose 

different requirements on PG&E.  Recommendation 4.C.18 addresses the fact that 

PG&E considers the date of pipe installation as the date of manufacture in the 

GIS system.  As such, GIS cannot be used to identify salvaged or reused pipe.  

Since GIS is a source of data for PG&E’s integrity management program, this 

would mean that PG&E’s ability to assess the integrity of its pipeline system and 

effectively manage risk is compromised, resulting in safety risks to the public. 

In contrast, recommended Remedy 4.C.19 addresses the fact that PG&E 

does not have a means to track where salvaged and reused pipe has been 

reinstalled in its pipeline system.  This system would provide different 

information than what is currently contained in GIS.  We agree with PG&E that 

TURN recommended Remedy 1 duplicates CPSD recommended Remedy 4.C.19.  

However, we find TURN’s recommendation better addresses the violations 

                                              
403  CPSD Amended Reply, Appendix A at B-47. 

404  CPSD Amended Reply, Appendix A at B-58. 

405  CPSD Amended Reply, Appendix A at B-47. 

406  CPSD Amended Reply, Appendix A at B-47. 
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found.  We therefore reject CPSD recommended Remedy 4.C.19 and adopt 

TURN recommended Remedy 1 instead.  We modify the first sentence of TURN 

recommended Remedy 1 to read “PG&E shall create a centralized database to 

track where…”  We further modify TURN recommended Remedy 1 to add the 

following sentence at the end:  “PG&E will maintain this database so long as 

there are sections of reused pipe in the PG&E operating gas transmission 

pipeline system.” 

Based on the above, we adopt CPSD recommended Remedy 4.C.18 as 

follows: 

PG&E will identify each section of pipe that has been salvaged 
and reused within the PG&E gas transmission system. For each 
section of pipe identified, PG&E will change the installed date in 
its GIS and its IM model to the date the pipe was originally 
installed in the PG&E pipeline system. 

We adopt TURN recommended Remedy 1, as modified: 

PG&E shall create a centralized database to track where it has 
placed re- used or otherwise reconditioned pipe in its system.  
For each such segment, the database should show the date of 
manufacture of the segment, if known.  If this date is unknown, 
the database should so indicate, to ensure that the segment is 
given appropriate attention in integrity management.  The 
database shall include a link to reliable and readily accessible 
documentation showing, for each re-used or otherwise 
reconditioned pipe segment, that all steps necessary to prepare 
the segment for installation were performed and inspected.  If 
such documentation is unavailable, the centralized 
documentation shall so indicate so that the segment will be given 
appropriate attention in integrity management.  PG&E will 
maintain this database so long as there are sections of reused 
pipe in the PG&E operating gas transmission pipeline system. 
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7.1.3.13. Pricewaterhouse Coopers Audit  
Report Recommendations 

CPSD recommended Remedy 4.C.20 requires PG&E to “implement the 

recommendations included in the final Pricewaterhouse Coopers (PwC) audit 

report. (TURN Exhibit 16, Appendix B).”407  PG&E opposes this recommendation 

and states that it has already addressed the PwC recommendations in Exh. 

PG&E-61 of the Recordkeeping OII.408 

CPSD asserts that its proposed remedy should stand because PG&E does 

not commit that it will implement all of the PwC recommendations, but “merely 

states that many PwC recommendations are under review or under 

consideration.”409  We agree with CPSD that PG&E’s statement does not 

constitute a commitment to implement all of the PwC recommendations, as it 

gives PG&E discretion over which recommendations should be implemented.   

The PwC recommendations are complementary or supplement the 

remedies proposed by CPSD.  We therefore find that these recommendations 

should be implemented and adopt recommended Remedy 4.C.20.    

7.1.3.14. Audits 

CPSD proposed remedies 4.C.21 and 4.C.22 address CPSD’s audit of 

PG&E’s recordkeeping practices and PG&E’s correction of any deficiencies 

found.410  PG&E proposes that these audits be performed in accordance with the 

Government Auditing Standards.  It further opposes CPSD’s proposal that audits 

                                              
407  CPSD Opening Brief at 67. 

408  CPSD Amended Reply, Appendix A at B-47. 

409  CPSD Amended Reply, Appendix A at B-47. 

410  CPSD Opening Brief at 67. 
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be performed annually for a minimum of ten years after the final decision is 

issued in the Recordkeeping OII.411 

CPSD opposes both of PG&E’s proposals.  We have already considered 

and rejected PG&E’s proposal to use Government Auditing Standards issued by 

the U.S. Government Accountability Office in Section 7.1.1.   

We further reject PG&E’s proposal that these audits not be performed 

annually.  PG&E argues that an annual audit would not be “practical or useful” 

because “[t]he steps necessary for audits to be successful (define audit criteria, 

conduct and audit, discuss findings with PG&E, issue report, PG&E to 

implement corrective actions in response to findings, allow time for 

implementation) will take longer than a year.”412  However, many of the actions 

listed are the same as those performed in annual financial audits.  Furthermore, 

as provided in recommended Remedy 4.C.22, CPSD does not anticipate that all 

deficiencies will be corrected and implemented within a year.  Finally, it is up to 

CPSD to determine whether annual audits are useful, not PG&E.  

We therefore adopt proposed remedies 4.C.21 and 4.C.22 as follows: 

21.  Using independent auditors, CPSD will undertake audits of 
PG&E’s recordkeeping practices within the Gas Transmission 
Division on an annual basis for a minimum of ten years after the 
final decision is issued in I.11-02-016.  

22.  PG&E will correct deficiencies in recordkeeping discovered 
as a result of each CPSD audit and will report to CPSD when 
such deficiencies have been corrected.  

                                              
411  CPSD Amended Reply, Appendix A at B-48 – B-49. 

412  CPSD Amended Reply, Appendix A at B-48. 
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7.1.4. Recommended Remedies in I.11-11-009  
(Class Location OII) 

CPSD proposed 13 recommended remedies in the Class Location OII, all of 

which were contained in CPSD’s Investigative Report.413  PG&E did not 

oppose 7 of these proposed remedies.  Additionally, PG&E proposed revisions to 

3 of CPSD’s recommendations, which CPSD accepted.  We therefore adopt the 

following remedies: 

4.D.1  Systems:  Utilize industry-standard software for electronic 
storage of class location information. Devise a process to capture 
new PG&E service hook-ups especially in proximity to 
transmission lines and incorporate into the class location 
analysis.  

4.D.3  Procedure 6.3 (3) should be rewritten as: “List all new 
observations regardless if it is believed that the ground crew has 
already investigated the observation.”  

4.D.4  TD-4412-07 section 6.1 (2) should include specific language 
for the pilot to recommended increased patrolling to the Aerial 
Patrol Program Manager.  

4.D.5  Ensure that the Report of New Construction forms are 
completed.  

4.D.6  Increase the duties of the Aerial Patrol Program Manager 
(APPM) to include oversight and review of the quality and 
accuracy of patrol reports.  

4.D.7  Create a detailed procedures manual containing the 
APPM’s duties to ensure quality control of aerial patrol 
responsibilities.  

4.D.8  Training:  Utilize varied training exams for patrolling.  

                                              
413  Class Location OII, Exh. CPSD-1, Attachment 17. 
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4.D.11  Audits the patrolling process should include a 
comparison of new construction observations with new 
gas/electrical hook ups near the line to ensure that new 
construction has not been missed.  

4.D.12  A new item “All Sections of Document Completed” 
should be added to the audit checklist when reviewing Reports 
of New Construction.  

4.D.13  Audits should make sure that copies of completed 
Reports of New Construction are being provided to local 
supervisors as required by standard procedure TD-4127P-01 
section 3.8 (5).  

7.1.4.1. Patrol Standards 

CPSD recommended Remedy 4.D.2 states: 

Procedures:  Update procedure TD 4412-07 6.2 (4) to require 
written confirmation to patrollers that follow up has been 
performed on all new construction that the patroller has 
previously observed and documented.  The same change should 
be made to Attachment 7 Item 5 of TD 4412-07, Aerial Patrolling 
Process Instructions.414 

PG&E states that it agrees with the essence of CPSD’s recommendation 

and is in the process of revising its patrol standard to ensure that all patrol 

observations are properly addressed.  Additionally, PG&E states it will use its 

SAP software to schedule all pipeline patrols and necessary corrective actions.415  

PG&E proposes various changes to this recommendation to clarify the proposed 

operational commitment for purposes of implementation.  Among other things, 

PG&E proposes deletion of reference to TD 4412-07 and requiring confirmation 

to Patrol Supervisors, and allowing confirmation to be verbal or written.416 

                                              
414  CPSD Opening Brief at 68. 

415  CPSD Amended Reply, Appendix A at B-51. 

416  CPSD Amended Reply, Appendix A at B-51. 
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CPSD agrees with some of PG&E’s edits, but opposes other.  It proposes 

further edits to the proposed remedy so that it would state: 

Procedures:  Update procedures, patrolling process instructions, 
and related OQ training to require written confirmation to Patrol 
Supervisors that follow up has been performed on all new 
construction that the patroller has previously observed and 
documented.417 

We find CPSD’s revised recommended Remedy 4.D.2 reasonable and 

accept it.  We believe written confirmation will provide assurance that new 

construction has been considered when evaluating whether to revise class 

designations.  However, we replace the acronym “OQ” to “Operator 

Qualification” for further clarity. 

7.1.4.2. Patrolling Exams 

CPSD recommended Remedy 4.D.9 would require training exams for 

patrolling to “include questions with greater detail and complexity than the 

current exam.”418  PG&E states that it is evaluating a specialized training 

program and testing regiment utilizing enhanced training exams for patrolling 

personnel.  It proposes that this recommendation be revised to read:  “Training 

materials and associated tests will be reviewed and updated to enhance 

employee competency, use aerial photos as exam exhibits where pilots indicate 

which structures are approximately 660 feet from the right of way and would 

require reporting. Training materials and associated tests should be reviewed 

and updated to enhance employee competency, utilize aerial photos and other 

                                              
417  CPSD Amended Reply, Appendix A at B-51. 

418  CPSD Opening Brief at 69. 



I.12-01-007 et al.   L/MP6/mal 

 

- 151 - 

aids, and reflect field conditions to approximate buildings’ key distances from 

lines.”419 

CPSD opposes PG&E’s proposed deletion.  It states that patrolling exams 

currently contain “fairly simple questions which require only a rudimentary 

understanding of class locations.”420  Therefore it believes the exams should 

contain greater detail and complexity.  CPSD therefore proposes to retain the 

language in its originally-proposed remedy, but include PG&E’s additional 

language.  Further, in response to PG&E’s assertion that CSB recommended 

Remedy V.D.2.g is duplicative, CPSD proposes to add the following language 

from VD.2.g to the proposed remedy:  “and shall use aerial photos as exam 

exhibits where pilots indicate which structures are approximately 600 feet from 

the right of way and would require exploring.”421 

We concur with CPSD that PG&E’s training exams for patrolling should 

contain greater detail and complexity to ensure that there is more than a 

rudimentary understanding of class location.  We therefore adopt CPSD’s 

proposed revised remedy. 

7.1.4.3. Aerial Patrol Pilot Training 

CPSD recommended Remedy 4.D.10 states: 

PG&E should consider pilot training using aerial photographs 
taken at an altitude of 750 feet, which replicates what the pilots 
see on patrol, and include a number of structures both within and 
outside of the 660 foot standard.  Use the photos as exam exhibits 
where the pilots indicate which structures are approximately 

                                              
419  CPSD Amended Reply, Appendix A at B-55. 

420  CPSD Amended Reply, Appendix A at B-55. 

421  CPSD Amended Reply, Appendix A at B-55. 
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660 feet from the right of way and would require reporting.  
Training should also include a WDA in the exhibit as well.422 

PG&E agrees with CPSD’s proposed remedy.  However, it proposes to 

delete the use of aerial photographs taken at an altitude of 750 feet and replace it 

with “photographs, video or other aids to reflect expected views to be seen from 

typical patrol altitudes.”423 

CPSD does not oppose the language proposed by PG&E.  However, it 

opposes proposed deletion of aerial photographs taken at an altitude of 750 feet.  

It believes that “PG&E employees may gain a better understanding of the 

structures and PG&E’s system by using this additional source of information.”424 

We concur with CPSD that the Aerial Pilot Training Program should 

include photographs that replicate what pilots would see on patrol.  

Accordingly, we adopt CPSD’s revised proposed remedy which states: 

Improve Aerial Patrol Pilot training. PG&E shall consider pilot 
training using aerial photographs taken at an altitude of 750 feet, 
which replicates what the pilots see on patrol, and include a 
number of structures both within and outside of the 660 foot 
standard. Use the photos as exam exhibits where the pilots 
indicate which structures are approximately 660 feet from the 
right of way and would require reporting. Training shall also 
include a Well-Defined Area (WDA) in the exhibit as well. PG&E 
shall also consider using in its training photographs, video or 
other aids to reflect expected views to be seen from typical patrol 
altitudes.  

                                              
422  CPSD Opening Brief at 69. 

423  CPSD Amended Reply, Appendix A at B-56. 

424  CPSD Amended Reply, Appendix A at B-56. 
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7.2. Intervenors’ Proposed Remedies 

In addition to the remedies proposed by CPSD, CSB has proposed 

6 additional remedies (some with multiple sub-parts), TURN has proposed 

4 additional remedies and DRA has proposed 2 additional remedies.  We have 

addressed the following proposed remedies in our discussion of CPSD’s 

proposed remedies: 

1. CSB recommended Remedy V.D.2.a – Incorporated into CPSD 
adopted Remedy 23 for I.12-01-007. 

2. CSB recommended Remedy V.D.2.c – Incorporated into CPSD 
adopted remedy 4 for I.11-02-016. 

3. CSB recommended Remedy V.D.2.d – Incorporated into CPSD 
adopted remedy 4 for I.11-02-016. 

4. CSB recommended Remedy V.D.2.e – Incorporated into CPSD 
adopted remedy 4 for I.11-02-016. 

5. CSB recommended Remedy V.D.2.f – Incorporated into CPSD 
adopted remedy 10 for I.11-11-009. 

6. TURN recommended Remedy 1 – Adopted in lieu of CPSD 
proposed remedy 19 in I.11-02-016. 

7. TURN recommended Remedy 2A – Incorporated into CPSD 
adopted remedy 4 for I.12-01-007. 

The remainder of this section addresses all remaining proposed remedies. 

7.2.1. California Pipeline Safety Trust 

CSB recommended Remedy V.B requests that the Commission direct 

PG&E to provide an endowment of $5 million per year over a minimum of 

20 years to fund a “California Pipeline Safety Trust” (Pipeline Trust).425  CSB 

states that the purpose of the Pipeline Trust would be to serve as an 

independent, pipeline safety organization that would provide “proper oversight 

                                              
425  CSB Opening Brief at 41 – 42. 
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over the implementation, not only of PG&E’s PSEP, but the other equitable 

remedies the Commission imposes in connection with the Line 132 Investigatory 

Proceedings.”426  Additionally, the Pipeline Trust would: 

 Ensure that California citizens and emergency responders 
are represented in policymaking, ratemaking and 
investigatory proceedings that bear on natural gas safety 
matters before the Commission; 

 Promote a regional pipeline system in which technology, 
policy, and practice together provide the safest possible 
means of transporting gas across California; and 

 Promote independent scrutiny of natural gas pipeline 
investment, maintenance and operations.427 

CSB argues that the Pipeline Trust is necessary to establish a long-term 

partnership between local communicates, government and industry to improve 

pipeline safety; increase accountability for intrastate pipeline safety, and; 

increase awareness of pipeline safety.428  It further proposes that PG&E be 

allowed to seek contribution from other regulated pipeline operators to fund the 

Pipeline Trust.  Additionally, CSB contends that the Pipeline Trust “will serve a 

role not currently filled by Intervenors that regularly appear before the 

Commission” and “there is not one Intervenor in these historic and 

unprecedented proceedings that advocates solely for public safety.”429 

PG&E opposes this recommendation.  It contends that “any penalty should 

be directed toward improving pipeline safety” and dedicating any portion of a 

                                              
426  CSB Opening Brief at 42 – 43. 

427  CSB Opening Brief at 43. 

428  CSB Opening Brief at 43. 

429  City of San Bruno’s Rebuttal Brief in Response to the Amended Reply Brief of the Consumer 
Protection and Safety Division on Fines and Remedies and Pacific Gas and Electric’s Response to 
CPSD’s Amended Reply Brief on Fines and Remedies, filed August 28, 2013, at 10. 
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penalty “to fund an advocacy organization will not address the more immediate 

infrastructure concerns at the center of these proceedings.”430  PG&E therefore 

believes that in light of the cost of already-identified pipeline safety projects, it 

would be an inappropriate use of funds. 

CSB correctly points out that there is no safety/advocacy counterpart to 

CPSD.431  However, while CSB advocates for the Pipeline Trust, it has provided 

no specifics on how the Pipeline Trust would be organized or why it needs to be 

funded by PG&E over 20 years.  We note that CSB envisions the Pipeline Trust 

intervening in Commission proceedings.  Under those circumstances, the 

Pipeline Trust could be subject to the requirements for an intervenor pursuant to 

Pub. Util. Code § 1801 et seq.   

While we do not dispute that such an organization could provide a unique 

voice and perspective in Commission proceedings, we do not find it appropriate 

to require PG&E shareholders to fund this work.  Therefore, CSB’s proposed 

remedy is rejected. 

7.2.2. Independent Monitor 

CSB recommended Remedy V.C requests that the Commission direct 

PG&E shareholders to pay for an Independent Monitor and necessary 

consultants to evaluate and review PG&E’s compliance with the PSEP Decision, 

and any fines and remedies ordered in this decision.432  DRA makes a similar 

proposal.433  Both TURN and CCSF support the proposal for an independent 

                                              
430  PG&E Remedies Brief at 97. 

431  Rebuttal Brief of the City of San Bruno Concerning the Fines and Remedies to be Imposed on Pacific 
Gas and Electric Company, filed June 7, 2013, at 24. 

432  CSB Opening Brief at 43. 

433  DRA Opening Brief at 38 – 39. 
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third-party monitor.434  Additionally, TURN proposes the following specific 

remedies regarding audits to be performed: 

2B. With respect to the MAOP Validation Project, PG&E should 
pay for the costs of a qualified independent auditor, retained 
by the Commission, to: (a) audit PG&E’s MAOP Validation 
results for accuracy, reliability, and compliance with the 
requirements of D.11-06-017, and (b) to prepare a full report 
to the Commission and available to interested parties of its 
conclusions and recommendations for remediation of any 
observed deficiencies.  

3.  With respect to Project Mariner, PG&E should pay for the 
costs of a qualified independent auditor, retained by the 
Commission, to (a) examine the new systems developed in 
Project Mariner, including observations of the systems in 
operation, to ensure that they result in accurate, reliable, and 
accessible pipeline data that meets all safety operational 
needs, and (b) to prepare a report to the Commission and 
available to interested parties of its conclusions and 
recommendations for remediation of any observed 
deficiencies.435 

Noting that “CPSD is the Commission’s staff responsible for safety 

enforcement,” PG&E opposes this proposed remedy.436  PG&E states that it 

“recognizes that CPSD’s resources are limited and that adding substantial 

management and oversight obligations to its existing duties could outstrip 

available resources.”437  PG&E proposes that instead of creating an independent 

monitor, the Commission should provide CPSD with additional resources by 

ordering that a portion of the penalty in this proceeding be used to fund 

                                              
434  TURN Opening Brief at 49; CCSF Opening Brief at 17. 

435  TURN Opening Brief at 49. 

436  PG&E Remedies Brief at 95-96, Appendix B at B-41. 

437  PG&E Remedies Brief at 96. 
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consultants retained to assist CPSD in managing and overseeing PSEP 

activities.438  This would continue a practice that has been followed for two years 

whereby such consultants would be identified, hired, and directed by CPSD but 

funded by PG&E.439 

CSB and DRA discuss their proposals for an independent monitor and the 

rationales therefore at length in their briefs.440  However, the essence of their 

argument is that an independent monitor is required because CPSD is not 

positioned to adequately fulfill its regulatory role in overseeing the safety of 

PG&E’s natural gas safety practices and operations, including in particular the 

company’s implementation of PSEP and its compliance with the remedies 

ordered in these investigation proceedings.  For evidence of this proposition, 

DRA points to the findings of the Independent Review Panel (IRP) regarding the 

cultures of the Commission as well as PG&E.441  DRA also points to the NTSB 

Report’s finding that the Commission’s “failure to detect the inadequacies of 

PG&E’s pipeline integrity management program” contributed to the San Bruno 

explosion.442  DRA goes on to note the NTSB’s finding that the Commission is 

unable to effectively evaluate and assess the integrity of PG&E’s pipeline system 

because neither PG&E nor the Commission has incorporated the use of effective 

and meaningful metric as part of their performance-based pipeline safety 

                                              
438  PG&E Remedies Brief at 96. 

439  PG&E Remedies Brief at 96. 

440  CSB Opening Brief at 43-49; DRA Opening Brief at 36-40; CSB Rebuttal Brief, filed June 7, 2013, 
at 21-24; DRA Rebuttal Brief, filed June 7, 2013, at 19; CSB Rebuttal Brief in Response to Amended 
Reply Brief of CPSD, filed August 28, 2013, at 7-9. 

441  DRA Opening Brief at 37-38, citing the IRP Report at 8 and 18-22.  The IRP Report is San 
Bruno Exh. CPSD-10.  

442  DRA Opening Brief at 38, citing the NTSB Report at xii.  The NTSB Report is San Bruno Exh. 
CPSD-9. 
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management programs.443  CSB similarly notes the IRP finding that CPSD lacks 

adequate resources444 and the NTSB finding that an ineffective enforcement 

posture on the part of CPSD allowed PG&E’s organizational failures to continue 

for decades.445 

The evidence from the IRP and NTSB reports shows that in the years 

leading to the San Bruno disaster, the Commission, including CPSD, did not 

meet all reasonable expectations for its oversight of PG&E’s gas transmission 

safety.  However, it does not follow from evidence of past shortcomings that 

CPSD cannot or will not fulfill its mission if provided with adequate resources.  

In particular, there is no record evidence that CPSD is stuck in the culture of the 

past.  Moreover, the Commission and CPSD are designated by law as the 

exclusive California regulator of the safety of PG&E’s natural gas transmission 

system facilities, operations and practices.  The Commission’s safety jurisdiction 

cannot be delegated, and an independent monitor established to augment 

CPSD’s role is no substitute for, and does not obviate the need for, a properly 

resourced, trained, and tasked CPSD.   

We also find shortcomings in the current proposals for an independent 

monitor:  Parties have pointed to the use of independent monitors elsewhere as 

examples that might be followed here, such as the independent monitors 

established in settlements of the BP oil spill in Alaska in 2006, the 1999 rupture of 

a Shell and Olympic Oil pipeline, and the 2000 Carlsbad accident.  However, 

those were settled matters where the party to be monitored consented to be 

monitored.  Moreover, parties have not pointed to evidence of the effectiveness, 

                                              
443  DRA Opening Brief at 38, citing the NTSB Report at 126, Finding 25. 

444  CSB Opening Brief at 44-45, citing the IRP Report at 5. 

445  CSB Opening Brief at 45, citing the NTSB Report at 122. 
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or lack thereof, of such independent monitor programs or what the costs were or 

would be for an independent monitor here.  Further, no party has provided 

adequate information that would allow us to adopt an independent monitor 

program without further consideration.  DRA acknowledges this by proposing 

further proceedings in the form of a comment process to implement its 

proposal.446   

Rather than establish an independent monitor program to address the 

resource constraints and organizational issues identified by the IRP and the 

NTSB, the more appropriate course is to ensure that CPSD has adequate 

resources to oversee compliance with the adopted remedies and to oversee PSEP 

implementation.  Adopted Remedy 1 for all three OIIs directs PG&E to 

reimburse CPSD for the costs of contracts to retain independent experts chosen 

by CPSD for verification audits and inspections to ensure compliance with other 

remedies.  We clarify here that this includes ensuring compliance with the PSEP 

Decision and all remedies ordered in this decision, including CPSD’s costs for 

hiring qualified independent auditors to audit and issue reports for both PG&E’s 

MAOP Validation results and Project Mariner systems as proposed by TURN.  If 

CPSD determines that it needs the services of outside consultants to develop 

additional capabilities to evaluate and assess the integrity of PG&E’s pipeline 

system through the use of meaningful metrics, then the costs of such consultants 

would fall within the scope of this remedy. 

We note that while the PSEP Decision provided a funding mechanism for 

carrying out the directives in that decision subject to balancing account treatment 

for recovery from ratepayers,447 the directives in this decision are remedies in 

                                              
446  DRA Opening Brief at 39. 

447  PSEP Decision, Ordering Paragraph 9 at 128. 
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consideration of violations of gas safety laws by PG&E.  Accordingly, the 

reimbursement costs that PG&E incurs pursuant to this order are not eligible for 

recovery from ratepayers.  The PSEP Decision capped the reimbursement 

obligation in that decision at $15,000,000.448  At this time we will cap the 

reimbursement penalty ordered by this remedy at $30,000,000.  If CPSD 

determines that additional funding is required to carry out this remedy, it may 

file a petition for modification of this decision seeking additional reimbursement 

obligation on the part of PG&E. 

Finally, we direct CPSD to present a proposal to the Commissioners within 

60 days of the effective date of this decision to perform the MAOP Validation 

and Project Mariner audits, and the timing for such audits to occur. 

7.2.3. Peninsula Emergency Response Fund 

CSB recommended Remedy V.D.1 requests that the Commission direct 

PG&E shareholders to pay $150 million over three fiscal years in equal 

installments that would be placed in a trust for a newly established Peninsula 

Emergency Response Fund (Response Fund).449  CSB states that the Response 

Fund would assist cities on the Peninsula in San Mateo County and focus on 

enhancing the Peninsula’s emergency preparedness and response.  CSB further 

proposes that the Response Fund provide funding for certain fire, emergency 

response, police or sheriff buildings, facilities, and/or equipment. 

Similar to its arguments opposing the Pipeline Trust, PG&E does not 

believe it is appropriate to designate a portion of penalty funds for the Response 

Fund, since the proposed use of these amounts “will neither increase pipeline 

                                              
448  PSEP Decision, Ordering Paragraph 9 at 128. 

449  CSB Opening Brief at 50. 
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safety nor have an impact outside a limited area.”450  Additionally, PG&E notes 

that it has already paid $70 million to establish a non-profit entity directed by the 

City of San Bruno, and an additional $50 million to a trust for the benefit of the 

City. 

While the CSB was directly impacted by the September 9, 2010 explosion 

and fire, most of the violations found in these proceedings affect ratepayers and 

residents throughout PG&E’s service territory.  San Bruno has not provided 

sufficient justification why a fund should be established solely to assist cities on 

the Peninsula in San Mateo County.  In light of the impact of this remedy on a 

limited area, we reject CSB’s proposed remedy. 

7.2.4. Training for Emergencies 

CSB recommended Remedy V.D.2.b states that PG&E should  

Provide training to its Gas Service Representatives and Gas 
Control Operators to ensure that they coordinate effectively with 
emergency responders, follow PG&E’s own internal procedures 
when responding to emergencies, and each GSR Gas Control 
Operators shall be trained and able to manually shut off valves.  
PG&E shall also audit its GSRs and Gas Control Operators 
annually to ensure that they are properly trained.451 

PG&E agrees with this proposed remedy except that it contends that 

annual auditing to ensure proper training is impractical and unnecessary.452  

PG&E also proposes clarifying wording changes so that the remedy reads as 

follows: 

PG&E shall provide training to its Gas Service Representatives 
and Gas Control Operators to ensure that they coordinate 

                                              
450  PG&E Remedies Brief at 97. 

451  CSB Opening Brief at 51. 

452  PG&E Remedies Brief, Appendix B at B-42. 
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effectively with emergency responders, follow PG&E’s own 
internal procedures when responding to emergencies, and each 
GSR under Gas Control Operators’ direction should be trained 
and able to manually shut off emergency shutdown zone valves.  
PG&E should also audit its GSRs and Gas Control Operators to 
ensure they are properly trained.453 

We are not persuaded that annual auditing is necessary to ensure that 

GSRs and Gas Control Operators are properly trained.  Accordingly, we adopt 

this remedy with the revisions proposed by PG&E.  

7.2.5. Formal Agreement with Agencies in  
PG&E’s Territory 

CSB recommended Remedy V.D.3 requests the Commission  

require PG&E to formalize its emergency response role and 
disclosure obligation with each city, county and fire district in its 
service territory either through a memorandum of understanding 
(MOU) or by reforming PG&E’s franchise agreements to make 
them conform to the public interest in protecting property used 
by the franchisee and responding to threats or catastrophes 
quickly and efficiently.454 

CSB maintains that this remedy is necessary because “[l]ocal governments 

cannot trust PG&E to do what’s necessary to protect its customers.”455  It 

proposes that this formal agreement “would allow local communities to require 

PG&E to provide them with the information and support they need to protect the 

public welfare and effectively respond in an emergency.”456  This agreement 

would also give local communities the option to specify PG&E’s emergency 

response role and obligations, so that failure to meet these obligations would be 

                                              
453  PG&E Remedies Brief, Appendix B at B-42. 

454  CSB Opening Brief at 52. 

455  CSB Opening Brief at 52. 

456  CSB Opening Brief at 53. 
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considered a breach of contract, and hold PG&E strictly liable for any pipe or 

facility failure regardless of cause.457 

PG&E opposes this recommendation.  It argues that CSB’s proposal “could 

impose through contract broad, additional quasi-regulatory mandates and 

potentially unlimited cost exposures that would fundamentally change the 

utility-ratepayer relationship, to the detriment of both.”458  “Shifting the 

regulatory balance to place additional, poorly-defined liabilities onto a utility, as 

San Bruno’s proposal would do, is contrary to the public interest and would 

inevitably result in adverse consequences to both the utility and all its 

ratepayers.”459  Finally, PG&E maintains that any effort by the Commission to 

modify PG&E’s contractual franchise agreements with local governments would 

be in violation of the Contract Cause.460 

We agree with CSB that PG&E must formalize its emergency response and 

disclosure obligations with each and every city, county and fire district in its 

service territory.  In San Bruno Violations Decision, we found that PG&E had 

violated 49 CFR 192.615(a)(8) for failing to notify the appropriate first responders 

of an emergency and coordinate with them.461  Further, we had found a violation 

of 49 CFR 192.615(a)(2) for failing to establish and maintain adequate means of 

communication with the appropriate fire, police and other public officials during 

the San Bruno explosion and fire.462 

                                              
457  CSB Opening Brief at 53-54. 

458  PG&E Remedies Brief at 98. 

459  PG&E Remedies Brief at 98. 

460  PG&E Remedies Brief at 98-99. 

461  San Bruno Violations Decision, COL 44 (Violation 27). 

462  San Bruno Violations Decision, COL 44 (Violation 29). 
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Many of the reasons identified by CSB for adopting this recommendation 

have already been addressed in remedies proposed by CPSD.463  However, these 

remedies do not require PG&E to formalize its emergency response and 

disclosure obligations to cities, counties and fire districts.  We agree with CSB 

that these obligations should be provided to cities, counties and fire districts in 

writing.  However, we do not agree that this should be achieved through a 

memorandum of understanding or by modifying existing franchise agreements.  

As CSB notes, PG&E’s Emergency Plan already contains a section for “external 

mutual assistance agreements.”464  Enforcement of these mutual assistance 

agreements lies with the Commission, not the individual cities, counties or fire 

districts.  We therefore direct PG&E to enter into such agreements with the 

individual cities, counties or fire districts by no later than December 2015.  These 

mutual assistance agreements shall be maintained in the appropriate Division 

Emergency Plan. 

7.2.6. Automatic Shutoff Valve Pilot Program 

CSB proposed remedy V.E requests the Commission direct PG&E to install 

automated valves with automatic capabilities (ASVs)465 in all HCAs and 

undertake an ASV pilot program within six months of the issuance of this 

decision.466  CSB proposes that the pilot program should be specifically 

calculated to fully resolve any remaining policy and technological issues 

associated with deployment of ASV devices and pave the way for ASVs or their 

                                              
463  See CPSD adopted Remedies 4.B.25, 4.B.26 and 4.B.30. 

464  CSB Reply Brief at 29. 

465  Parties have also used the term “automated safety valve” and “automatic shutoff valve” 
when referring to ASVs. 

466  CSB Opening Brief at 54. 
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true equivalent (i.e., not remote control valves) in terms of response time 

capability to be deployed by PG&E and operational in all HCAs in the utility’s 

service territory on an expedited basis.467   

PG&E supports automated valves in its gas transmission system and notes 

that its PSEP includes the installation of 300 automated valves, but it opposes 

this recommendation, noting that automated safety valve implementation is 

addressed in the PSEP in R.11-02-019.468 

A remote control valve (RCV) can be operated remotely from a control 

room distant from the actual valve, whereas an ASV is designed to stop the flow 

of gas, without human intervention, when established criteria are met.469  The 

main benefit of an ASV or RCV over a manually operated valve is that a rupture 

may be isolated sooner, limiting the amount of natural gas release after a rupture 

has occurred.470  Major concerns regarding ASVs are that they may trigger and 

close when closure criteria are met but no emergency condition exists, although 

newer ASVs have the ability to send an alarm before tripping and closing, giving 

the operator an option to review operating data before deciding whether to allow 

or cancel imminent valve closure.471  The vast majority of injuries, fatalities, and 

property damage associated with a catastrophic pipeline incident occur within 

the first few minutes of the event, well before activation of ASVs or RCVs is 

possible.472 

                                              
467  CSB Opening Brief at 54-55. 

468  PG&E Remedies Brief at 99, Appendix B at B-44. 

469  San Bruno Exh. CPSD-1 at 104. 

470  San Bruno Exh. CPSD-1 at 104. 

471  San Bruno Exh. CPSD-1 at 104. 

472  San Bruno Exh. CPSD-1 at 105. 
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In approving PG&E’s PSEP, including the company’s plan to replace, 

automate, and upgrade 228 valves in Phase 1 of the Implementation Plan, the 

Commission stated that:  

We share the parties’ objective of reliable and automatic shut-off 
valves.  We direct PG&E to continue its review of new designs 
and operational options to allow for expanded use of automated 
valves.  In its next rate case, PG&E must submit an updated 
showing of then-current best practices within the natural gas 
pipeline industry for automated shut-off valves.  PG&E must also 
continue to improve its gas system control room operation due to 
the critical role it plays in addressing a rupture or functioning as 
the manual override on automatic valves.  PG&E must avoid 
unnecessarily complicating natural gas system operations with 
unpredictable technology, and at the same time develop 
knowledgeable and fast-acting human control to enhance system 
safety.  The Independent Panel recognized that remote controlled 
and/or automated shut-off valves are a major issue for the 
pipeline industry, with the safety and reliability trade-offs 
discussed at length in Appendix L to their report.  [Footnote 
Omitted.]  PG&E should monitor the development of this issue in 
the pipeline industry.473  

CSB points to evidence that RCVs would not have been as effective as 

ASVs on September 9, 2010 in San Bruno.474  Still, the record evidence in this 

proceeding shows that there are remaining concerns with ASVs that must be 

addressed, and it does not provide a basis for us to depart from the plan for 

PG&E’s system going forward that the Commission adopted in D.12-12-030.  

Accordingly, we do not adopt CSB’s proposed remedy for ASVs. 

                                              
473  PSEP Decision at 76-77 (slip op.). 

474  CSB Rebuttal Brief at 26-27, citing October 2, 2012 Jt. Hearing Tr. At 200-201. 
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7.2.7. Incentive Program Modifications 

Concerned that PG&E’s employee incentive program links employee 

financial reward to shareholder return, CSB requests the Commission direct 

PG&E to revise its Long-Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) and its Short-Term Incentive 

Plan (STIP) such that safety is the single largest factor that determines employee 

financial rewards (proposed remedy V.F.).475   

PG&E opposes this remedy as duplicative of CPSD recommended Remedy 

4.B.33, which we have adopted as discussed in Section 7.2.1.15 above.476  PG&E 

also argues, however, that it is not appropriate to modify the LTIP.477   

Since CPSD remedy 4.B.33 incorporates PG&E’s revised STIP, for which 

safety performance now accounts for 40% of the score used to determine the total 

award, this proposed remedy is duplicative with respect to the STIP.  However, 

CSB’s recommendation for the LTIP is not duplicative.  Nevertheless, we do not 

find that CSB has produced or referred us to record evidence that would enable 

us to make findings in support of modifying PG&E’s LTIP.  Accordingly, we do 

not adopt this proposed remedy. 

7.2.8. Implementation of NTSB Recommendations 

DRA proposes that the Commission “conduct a comprehensive audit of all 

aspects of PG&E’s operations, including control room operations, emergency 

planning, record-keeping, performance-based risk and integrity management 

                                              
475  CSB Opening Brief at 55. 

476  PG&E Remedies Brief, Appendix B at B-44. 

477  PG&E Remedies Brief, Appendix B at B-44. 
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programs and public awareness programs” as recommended by the NTSB in its 

report on the San Bruno explosion.478 

DRA’s recommendation is directed at the Commission, not PG&E.  We 

agree with the NTSB’s recommendation that a comprehensive audit of all aspects 

of PG&E’s operations should be performed.  Therefore, we direct CPSD to 

present a proposal to the Commissioners within 60 days of the effective date of 

this decision to perform such an audit, and the timing for such audit to occur. 

7.2.9. Reimbursement of Litigation Expenses 

DRA proposes that the Commission require PG&E shareholders to 

compensate TURN, CSB, CCSF, and DRA for their litigation costs, including 

expert witness fees.479  PG&E did not initially respond to this recommendation. 

CSB subsequently expressed support for DRA’s proposal, arguing that the 

Commission has the legal authority to award compensation to CSB and other 

intervenors, and that the Commission should exercise that authority.  [Response 

of the City of San Bruno to Request for Review of Commissioner Picker.]  PG&E 

subsequently opposed DRA’s proposal, arguing that compensation should be 

(and legally must be) limited to the statutory intervenor compensation program.  

[PG&E’s Response to Appeals and Requests for Review of the Presiding Officers’ 

Decision on Fines and Remedies at 10-12.] 

In adopted CPSD Remedy A.2, PG&E agreed that its shareholders would 

pay the Commission’s and CPSD’s costs of conducting the Pipeline OIIs.  DRA’s 

proposed remedy seeks to expand this to include all intervenors. 

                                              
478  DRA Opening Brief at 5, citing National Transportation Safety Board Pipeline Accident Report of 
Pacific Gas and Electric Company Natural Gas Transmission Pipeline Rupture and Fire, San Bruno, 
California, September 9, 2010 (NTSB/PAR-11/01), adopted August 30, 2011, at 130. 

479 DRA Opening Brief at 5. 



I.12-01-007 et al.   L/MP6/mal 

 

- 169 - 

Generally, compensation for participation in Commission proceedings is 

governed under the Commission’s Intervenor Compensation Program.480  

However, intervenors who are eligible to receive compensation under the 

program must be a “customer”481 and the compensation award would be funded 

by utility ratepayers.482  Accordingly, under the Intervenor Compensation 

Program, only organizations such as TURN would be eligible to seek intervenor 

compensation for their participation in these proceedings. 

The POD however, departed from this standard, and found that PG&E 

shareholders should compensate TURN, CSB, CCSF, and DRA for their litigation 

expenses, including expert witness fees, for these three proceedings.  (POD at 

153-154.)  The POD would make this award under Pub. Util. Code § 701, rather 

than the Intervenor Compensation Program, on the grounds that “TURN, CSB, 

CCSF, and DRA have all actively participated in these proceedings and have 

contributed substantially to our decisions on violations, as well as this decision.  

Given the nature of these proceedings, we do not believe it would be equitable 

for utility ratepayers to pay for intervenor’s litigation costs, nor to limit 

compensation to a single intervenor.” (Id. at 154.) 

As a policy matter, we will not make an exception here to our standard 

practice of awarding intervenor compensation under our Intervenor 

Compensation Program.  Accordingly, TURN may seek intervenor compensation 

pursuant to our standard processes.   CSB, CCSF and DRA are not eligible for 

compensation for these proceedings.  We acknowledge that TURN, CSB, CCSF 

and DRA did all actively participate in these proceeding, and did substantially 

                                              
480 See, Pub. Util. Code § 1801 et seq. 

481 See, Pub. Util. Code § 1802(b) (defining “customer”). 

482 Pub. Util. Code § 1807.   
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contribute to our decisions; we do not differ from the POD on this matter, but 

only on the policy question of whether their participation should be 

compensated via our equitable authority under Pub. Util. Code § 701.  

CSB, CCSF, and DRA are all governmental entities, all of whom chose to 

participate in these proceedings.  At the time they chose to participate in these 

proceedings, they did not have any reasonable expectation of compensation for 

their expenses.  Under Pub. Util. Code § 1802(b)(2), state, federal and local 

governmental agencies are not eligible for intervenor compensation, and recent 

legislative attempts to expand intervenor compensation to government entities 

were unsuccessful.  (See, Senate Bill 1364 (Huff, 2012) and Senate Bill 1165 

(Wright, 2012).)   

Cities, counties and other governmental agencies regularly participate in 

Commission proceedings with no expectation of compensation for their litigation 

expenses.  In many cases they have made very significant contributions to 

important Commission decisions, and have received no compensation.  (See, e.g., 

D. 91-05-028, denying the proposed merger of Southern California Edison and 

San Diego Gas & Electric; D.04-05-019, denying PG&E’s proposed sale of its Kern 

Facility power plant; and D.13-07-018, undergrounding Southern California 

Edison’s Tehachapi Renewable Transmission Project in the City of Chino Hills.)  

They participate in Commission proceedings either because they have a duty to 

do so (as in the case of DRA), or because they determine that it is in their or their 

constituents’ interests that they do so, not because they need or expect 

compensation for doing so.  In the case of DRA, we note that DRA has a statutory 

obligation to participate in Commission proceedings and receives state funding 

to do so.  (Pub. Util. Code § 309.5.)  TURN, on the other hand, does have a 

reasonable expectation of compensation for its litigation expenses in these 

proceedings, and the Commission has previously found that it would be a 
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hardship for TURN to participate in Commission proceedings absent intervenor 

compensation.  

We agree with the POD that we have the legal authority under Pub. Util. 

Code § 701 to craft equitable remedies, including the equitable power to award 

attorneys’ fees in quasi-judicial proceedings.  (See, Consumers Lobby Against 

Monopolies v. Public Utilities Commission (1979) 25 Cal. 3d 891, 908 (CLAM).)  

But the fact that this Commission has the legal authority to craft such a remedy 

does not mean that the Commission should necessarily choose to do so.  

DRA participated in these proceedings because doing so was consistent 

with its statutory responsibilities, and as an experienced participant in 

Commission proceedings, it presumably chose its level (and cost) of 

participation, with no reasonable expectation of financial compensation.  

Similarly, CSB and CCSF chose to actively participate in these proceedings in 

order to protect their interests or the interests of their constituents, again with no 

reasonable expectation of financial compensation.  We appreciate their 

participation, but unlike the POD, we find that their participation does not 

provide an adequate basis for deviating from our standard and statutorily-

authorized practices regarding intervenor compensation.  Accordingly, while 

TURN may seek intervenor compensation for its participation in these 

proceedings, CSB, CCSF and DRA may not. 

8. Compliance Filing 

It is likely that some of the remedies adopted here have already been 

implemented in response to mandates by the National Transportation Safety 

Board, the Pipeline and Hazardous Materials Safety Administration, the Blue 

Ribbon Panel or decisions issued in Rulemaking 11-02-019.  It is not our intent to 
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duplicate remedies.  Therefore, PG&E shall file a Compliance Filing in these 

dockets, which: 

1. Identifies the remedies ordered in this decision that have already 
been ordered elsewhere, where that remedy (decision, report, 
etc.) was ordered, and PG&E’s progress to date in complying 
with that remedy.   

2. Identifies any remedy ordered in this decision that modifies or 
eliminates any remedies ordered elsewhere. 

Further, PG&E shall include a timeframe for completion of each of the 

remedies adopted in Appendix E of this decision.  This Compliance Filing shall 

be filed within 60 days of the date this decision is issued. 

9. Transcript Corrections 

PG&E proposes various corrections to the March 4 & 5, 2013 Transcripts.483  

No parties have opposed PG&E’s corrections and they are hereby accepted. 

10. Rulings on Motions 

As expected from proceedings of this complexity and high level of 

contention, parties have made numerous requests and filed a large number of 

motions.  Motions have been filed in each individual proceeding, as well as 

coordinated motions applicable to all three proceedings.  The assigned ALJs have 

issued filed, electronic and oral rulings in response to these motions.  This 

decision confirms all rulings issued in response to the coordinated motions.   

On July 28, 2014, CSB filed Motion of the City of San Bruno For An Order To 

Show Cause Why Pacific Gas And Electric Company Should Not Be Held In Violation of 

Commission Rule of Practice And Procedure 8.3(b) (Rule Against Ex Parte 

Communications) and for Sanctions and Fees.  In its motion, CSB alleges 41 separate 

instances where PG&E communicated with Commissioner Peevey concerning 

                                              
483  PG&E Remedies Brief, Appendix D. 
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the level of the penalty to be imposed in the Pipeline OIIs.  On November 10, 

2014, CSB filed Motion for Evidentiary Hearing on City of San Bruno’s Motion for an 

Order to Show Cause as to Why Pacific Gas and Electric Company Should Not Be Held 

in Violation of Commission Rule of Practice And Procedure 8.3(b) and for Sanctions and 

Fees.  All the motions were opposed by PG&E.  Due to seriousness of the 

allegations raised by CSB we believe they should be further investigated.  

However, we do not want to prolong these proceedings further to deal with 

these motions that are no longer relevant to the substance of this Decision.  

Accordingly, within 60 days of the date of this decision we will issue a new OII 

to look into the specific allegations raised by these two motions, and at that time, 

remove them from further consideration in these proceedings.   

On October 15, 2014, CPSD filed Motion of the Consumer Protection and 

Safety Division To Strike Extra-Record Material from Pacific Gas and Electric Company 

Appeals of Presiding Officers' Decisions (CPSD Motion to Strike).  This motion was 

opposed by PG&E and supported by CSB.  CPSD’s motion concerns statements 

made in PG&E’s appeals of this POD, the San Bruno POD and the 

Recordkeeping POD.  CPSD contends that in all three of these appeals, PG&E 

includes references to alleged PG&E shareholder funding to argue that a lower 

penalty should be imposed.484  CPSD argues that this is in direct violation of our 

June 3, 2013 Ruling.  Therefore, CPSD requests that these references be struck 

from the appeals.  We have reviewed the references identified by CPSD in 

Exhibit F of the Declaration of Harvey Y. Morris in Support of Motion to Strike that 

was attached to the CPSD Motion to Strike and agree that PG&E has referred to 

extra-record evidence in its appeals.  Moreover, our June 3, 2013 Ruling had 

ordered PG&E to remove extra-record evidence from its coordinated brief on 

                                              
484 CPSD Motion to Strike at 4. 
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fines and remedies.  PG&E’s inclusion of the very same extra-record evidence in 

its appeals can only be construed as a direct violation of our June 3, 2013 Ruling.  

Accordingly, we grant the CPSD Motion to Strike and strike from PG&E’s appeals 

of this POD, the San Bruno POD and the Recordkeeping POD the references to 

extra-record evidence identified by CPSD in Exhibit F of the Declaration of Harvey 

Y. Morris in Support of Motion to Strike.  Further, we give no weight to any 

references to shareholder funding of safety improvements to PG&E’s gas 

transmission pipeline system unless those references are supported by record 

evidence that has been tested and subject to cross-examination.  

CPSD also filed on October 15, 2014 Motion of the Consumer Protection and 

Safety Division for an Order to Show Cause as to Why Pacific Gas and Electric 

Company Should not be Held in Contempt, or Fines Imposed (CPSD OSC Motion).  

This motion was opposed by PG&E and supported by San Bruno.  CPSD alleges 

PG&E’s inclusion of extra-record evidence regarding alleged PG&E shareholder 

funding violates a June 3, 2013 Ruling.  As discussed above, we agree that 

PG&E’s inclusion of this extra-record evidence in its appeals rises to the level of a 

violation of our June 3, 2013 Ruling and sanctions should be imposed.  

Nonetheless, we decline to grant the CPSD OSC Motion in this instance.   

Our decision to not grant the CPSD OSC Motion does not diminish the 

seriousness of this violation.  PG&E’s apparent failure to comply with our June 3, 

2014 Ruling is a serious violation.  However, the Commission has already 

initiated other enforcement proceedings against PG&E for violations associated 

with its natural gas pipeline system,485 and we will also be considering in this 

                                              
485  See, e.g., Order Instituting Investigation and Order to Show Cause on the Commission’s Own 
Motion into the Operations and Practices of Pacific Gas and Electric Company with respect to 
Facilities Records for its Natural Gas Distribution System Pipelines (I.14-11-008). 
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proceeding whether further action should be taken concerning the alleged ex 

parte communications violations.  If further action is taken against PG&E for 

violations of the Commission’s ex parte rules, it could require significant 

Commission resources and result in further sanctions imposed on PG&E.  In 

light of those considerations, we do not believe that it is necessary in this 

instance to pursue sanctions for this violation, especially since we have ordered 

the extra-record evidence to be struck from PG&E’s appeals.  

On November 14, 2014, CSB filed Motion to Strike Extra-Record Material from 

Pacific Gas and Electric Company's Response to Appeals and Requests for Review of the 

Presiding Offices' Decision on Fine and Remedies.  The motion concerns a footnote 

regarding payments from PG&E to CSB.  We agree with CSB that this footnote 

refers to extra-record evidence and therefore grant the motion and strike 

Footnote 42 on page 11 of Pacific Gas and Electric Company’s Response to Appeals 

and Requests for Review of the Presiding Officers’ Decision on Fines and Remedies. 

On December 15, 2014, San Bruno filed City of San Bruno's Motion to Compel 

Pacific Gas and Electric Company to Respond to Data Request Seeking Production of 

Documents and to Appoint a Special Discovery Master, or in the Alternative, to Set 

Aside Submission and Reopen the Record; Declaration of Britt K. Strottman in Support 

of City of San Bruno's Motion to Compel Pacific Gas and Electric Company to Respond 

to Data Request Seeking Production of Documents and to Appoint a Special Discovery 

Master, or in the Alternative, to Set Aside Submission and Reopen the Record; Proposed 

Ruling Granting Motion of the City of San Bruno to Compel Discovery and Appointing 

a Special Discovery Master.  This motion, concerning 65,000 email communications 

between PG&E and the Commission, is essentially the same as a motion filed in 

Application (A.) 13-12-012.  In a January 13, 2015 ALJ Ruling issued in 

A.13-12-012, CSB’s motion to compel was granted in part and denied in part.  As 

such, San Bruno’s motion in this proceeding is rendered moot. 
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Unless specifically discussed in this section, all outstanding motions filed 

in all three proceedings that have not yet been ruled on are hereby denied.  

11. Appeals and Requests for Review of Presiding Officers’  Decision 

CARE filed its appeal of the Presiding Officers’ Decision (POD) on 

September 17, 2014.486  PG&E, CPSD, CSB and Joint Appellants (TURN, DRA and 

CCSF) filed appeals on October 2, 2014.  Commissioners Florio, Sandoval and 

Picker each filed a Request for Review on October 2, 2014.487  CPSD filed its 

response to CARE’s appeal on October 2, 2014.  PG&E, CPSD, CSB and Joint 

Parties filed responses on October 27, 2014.   

The grounds of the appeals and requests for review are discussed below.  

Where noted, this decision has been revised in response to the appeals or 

requests for review.  In all other respects, the appeals and requests for review are 

denied. 

11.1. Number of Violations 

11.1.1. Duplicative and Overlapping Violations 

11.1.1.1. Alleged Duplication Among Proceedings 

PG&E argues that “egregious examples of duplicative violations occur 

across the different PODS.”488  PG&E claims that such duplication is in 

                                              
486  CARE’s appeal, filed in all three Pipeline OIIs, fails to state specific grounds as to why the 
POD is unlawful.  Further, CARE relies on evidence that is not in the record of any of the OIIs.  
As such, the arguments raised in CARE’s appeal have been accorded little weight.  (See, 
Commission’s Rules of Practice and Procedures, Rule 14.4(c).) 

487 On October 15, 2014, Commissioner Florio recused himself from further participation in the 
Pipeline OIIs.  This decision therefore does not address the issues raised in his request for 
review. 

488 PG&E Appeal at 27.  PG&E’s reference to “the different PODs” means the Presiding Officers’ 
Decision on Fines and Remedies to Be Imposed on Pacific Gas and Electric Company for Specific 
Violations in Connection with the Operation and Practices of its Natural Gas Transmission System 
Pipelines (POD) as well as the PODs in I.12-01-007, I.11-02-016, and I.11-11-009 (San Bruno POD, 

(Footnote continued on next page) 
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contravention of “[a] fundamental principle of statutory construction, with roots 

in due process principles, … that a statute cannot be interpreted to allow the 

imposition of ‘double penalties for the same conduct.’”489  PG&E goes on to 

assert that this ”fundamental principle” is contravened by the POD’s finding of 

“multiple and overlapping violations of the same statutory and regulatory 

provisions based on the same conduct and course of conduct.”490   

However, the POD has not found multiple violations of the same law for 

the same conduct.  On the contrary, it has considered PG&E’s allegations of 

duplication and overlap of violations, found that certain instances of such 

duplication or overlap occurred, and removed those violations for purposes of 

assessing penalties.491   

In one example of alleged duplication, PG&E claims that the POD relies on 

findings of deficiencies in its GIS data from both the San Bruno and 

Recordkeeping OIIs.492  PG&E claims this is improper and disagrees with the 

POD’s justification of separate treatment because “the San Bruno violation is 

found under 49 C.F.R §192.917(b) while the Records violations are based on 

§451.”493  This example does not uphold PG&E’s duplication argument.  Even if 

the same conduct or course of conduct were at issue, we do not accept PG&E’s 

contention that a single course or instance of conduct can only lead to a single 

                                                                                                                                                  
(Footnote continued from previous page) 

Recordkeeping POD, and Class Location POD, respectively; also referred to collectively as the 
Violations PODs) (See PG&E Appeal at 1, fn 2.) 

489  PG&E Appeal at 27, citing De Anza Santa Cruz Mobile Estates Homeowners Ass’n v. De Anza 
Cruz Mobile Estates, 94 Cal. App 4th 890, 912 (2001). 

490  PG&E Appeal at 27. 

491  POD at 21-24. 

492  PG&E Appeal at 28. 

493  PG&E Appeal at 28, referring to the POD at 23. 
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violation.  Violation of each regulation or statute is a separate and distinct 

offense.  Applying PG&E’s argument would lead to absurd results as discussed 

in the three Decisions on violations.494  By considering PG&E’s conduct a single 

course of conduct, we would be ignoring the decades of inattention and failure to 

comply with both state and federal regulations with regards to PG&E’s duty to 

have accurate recordkeeping, accurate pipeline classifications and the public’s 

expectation that PG&E is running its entire system at the minimum in 

accordance with all required safety practices.  Indeed, this Commission expects 

more out of our utilities.   We expect our utilities to be leaders in developing best 

practices in pipeline safety.  Accordingly, PG&E can and should be held 

responsible for its multiple violations of different laws. 

PG&E contends that another example of the POD’s improper use of 

allegedly duplicative violations is its reliance on the Violations PODs’ findings of 

violations related to SMYS values greater than 24,000 psi.495  Here, PG&E is 

referring to San Bruno OII Violation 4, Recordkeeping Violation 21, and Class 

                                              
494 Those Decisions illustrated the problem with PG&E’s argument by use of the following 
hypothetical:  Albert is in a club and takes a speedball (heroin and cocaine).  He decides to 
leave, but he doesn't have a car, because his license has been suspended for a prior drug DUI 
that he is still on probation for.   He steals the car keys of one of his companions and takes their 
car.   As he drives off, Albert hits another car but keeps going until he crashes into a light pole.  
The police come and arrest him.  Albert is charged with: 1) driving with a suspended license 
(Vehicle Code § 14601); 2) driving under the influence of drugs (Vehicle Code § 23152(e)); 3) 
being under the influence of a controlled substance (Health and Safety Code § 11550(a)); 4) 
driving or taking a vehicle that is not his own (Vehicle Code § 10851); 5) hit-and-run (Vehicle 
Code § 20002); and 6) a probation revocation (and resulting penalties) on his prior drug DUI.  
Under PG&E's "fundamental principle" theory, Albert could only be charged with one count of 
a drug DUI, as he really only did one thing wrong (driving while under the influence of drugs).   
Or, to take PG&E’s argument to its logical extreme, the only thing Albert really did wrong was 
taking the drugs (the rest flowing from that one course of conduct), so he could only be charged 
with one count of being under the influence of a controlled substance. 

495 PG&E Appeal at 27. 
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Location Violation 1.496  PG&E argues that “the fact that an assumed value – once 

assumed, and even if it should not have been – is utilized in various aspects of 

PG&E’s pipeline operations does not form a proper basis for multiple violations 

premised on the same initial act.”497  PG&E appears to be arguing that if it is 

found to have incorrectly assigned a yield strength above 24,000 psi on Segment 

180 in 1956, it can never again be held responsible for a violation for any action 

involving SMYS values above 24,000 anywhere on its pipeline system.  Such an 

argument is absurd on its face and must be rejected.  As the POD explains, the 

San Bruno violation pertains to Segment 180, while the Class Location violation 

pertains to 133 pipeline segments that do not include Segment 180.498  Similarly, 

the Recordkeeping violation concerns incorrect data in survey sheets, which was 

not a factor in the San Bruno or Class Location violations.499  Even if all three 

violations involve SMYS values greater than 24,000 psi, that does not mean they 

are the same or overlap. 

PG&E next claims that San Bruno Violation 7 and Recordkeeping Violation 

4 are the same because both are “based on the absence of the same records 

relating to Line 132.”500  PG&E purports to acknowledge that the POD addressed 

this issue by noting that the San Bruno POD addressed records issues in the 

1950s whereas the Recordkeeping POD addressed the absence of records of 

                                              
496 PG&E Appeal at 27.  As CPSD notes (CPSD Response at 28, fn 20), PG&E’s Appeal switches 
between adopted and alleged violation numbers.  However, Appendix B of the Recordkeeping 
POD and Appendix B of the San Bruno POD delineate between alleged and adopted violation 
numbers.  Unless otherwise indicated, violation numbers refer to the adopted violations as set 
forth in those appendixes. 

497 PG&E Appeal at 27. 

498  POD at 21-22. 

499  POD at 22. 

500  PG&E Appeal at 28. 
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pressure testing decades later.501  Nevertheless, PG&E fails to explain why a one-

time violation found to have occurred in 1956 duplicates another violation found 

to have continued from 2004 to 2010.  Moreover, even if the same absence of 

records underlies both violations, PG&E fails to address the POD’s explanation 

that the violations have a different focus -- the San Bruno violation concerns 

PG&E’s failure to account for the conditions, characteristics, and specifications 

for the pups whereas the Recordkeeping violation concerns PG&E’s failure to 

first conduct a hydrostatic test.502  There is no duplication or overlap of these 

two violations. 

Finally, PG&E argues that San Bruno Violation 18 and Recordkeeping 

Violation 5 are duplicative because both pertain to PG&E’s clearance 

documentation.503  However, the former is a violation of 49 CFR 192.13(c) while 

the latter is a violation of Section 451.  As noted above, a single course of conduct 

can result in the violation of more than one law.  Therefore, these violations are 

not duplicative.  

11.1.1.2. Alleged Duplication Within Proceedings 

PG&E contends that San Bruno Violations 1 through 7 are encompassed 

within San Bruno Violation 8 and that San Bruno Violations 18 and 19 (Violations 

of 49 CFR 192.913(c) and Section 451, respectively) are duplicative because they 

are for the same conduct.504  The latter contention is without merit because, as 

noted above, a single course of conduct can result in two or more separate 

violations of law.  Also, PG&E fails to recognize the San Bruno POD’s holding 

                                              
501  PG&E Appeal at 28. 

502  POD at 22. 

503  PG&E Appeal at 28. 

504  PG&E Appeal at 28-29. 
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that that failure to follow a work procedure in violation of 49 CFR 192.913(c) 

“was not just a technical violation of federal regulations; it was [also] unsafe” in 

violation of Section 451.505   

With respect to San Bruno Violations 1–7 allegedly being encompassed 

within Violation 8, we first note that the POD determined that San Bruno 

Violation 1 was similar to the more inclusive Recordkeeping Violation 3 and 

therefore excluded it from the total number of violations considered for fines and 

remedies.506  Accordingly, PG&E’s contention is moot as to San Bruno 

Violation 1.  Also, each of San Bruno Violations 2-7 is a one-time violation that 

was found to have occurred in 1956 in connection with the installation of 

Segment 180, whereas San Bruno Violation 8 is a continuing violation calculated 

from December 31, 1956 to September 9, 2010.  From a timing aspect alone it is 

not reasonable to characterize San Bruno Violations 2-7 as being “encompassed” 

within San Bruno Violation 8.  Moreover, the subject matter of San Bruno 

Violation 8 pertains to PG&E’s failure to install suitable and safe pipe on 

Segment 180 as necessary to promote the safety of the line as well as its failure to 

remediate the unsafe condition for decades,507 whereas San Bruno Violations 2-7 

arise from a series of discrete safety-related failures that occurred in 1956.508  

PG&E’s noncompliance with Section 810.1 of ASME B31.1.8-1955 (requiring 

suitable and safe materials and equipment) is separate and distinct from its 

noncompliance with the requirement to visually inspect the pups and other such 

requirements where it failed to comply.  We therefore find that PG&E’s 

                                              
505   San Bruno POD at 156. 

506  POD at 22. 

507   San Bruno POD at 93. 

508   San Bruno POD at 79-91. 
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contention that San Bruno Violation 8 encompasses San Bruno Violations 1 

through 7 lacks merit.  

PG&E next contends that Recordkeeping Violation 19 duplicates 

Recordkeeping Violation 33.509  We disagree.  Although both violations relate to 

leak records, they are two distinct violations.  Recordkeeping Violation 19 

concerns leak records with inaccurate and/or missing data, while Recordkeeping 

Violation 33 concerns PG&E’s failure to maintain a “definitive, complete and 

readily accessible database of all leaks for their pipeline system.”510  PG&E’s 

bases its arguments that these two violations are duplicative on the grounds that 

the violations “are premised on the same course of conduct, namely PG&E’s 

historic practices for maintaining leak records.”511  However, as we have 

discussed elsewhere in this POD, PG&E’s “same course of conduct” consisted of 

multiple discrete courses of action, each of which would be considered a 

violation.  In this instance, PG&E’s “historic practices” resulted in both failing to 

maintain complete and accurate leak records and failing to maintain a database 

to access leak information.  Accordingly, we find PG&E’s arguments to be 

without merit.512 

PG&E also contends that Recordkeeping Violation 1 should be subsumed 

within Recordkeeping Violation 2 because the pipeline specifications for 

Segment 180 are a subset of the records the Recordkeeping POD finds should be 

                                              
509  PG&E Appeal at 29. 

510  Recordkeeping POD at 245-246. 

511  PG&E Appeal at 29. 

512  PG&E further appears to suggest that the Recordkeeping POD found these violations 
because of the “decentralized nature of [PG&E’s leak] records.”  (PG&E Appeal at 29.]  PG&E is 
incorrect.  The Recordkeeping POD clearly notes that regardless of PG&E’s approach to 
recordkeeping (centralized vs. decentralized), “it is still required to retain records to ensure the 
safe operation of its gas transmission pipeline system.”  (Recordkeeping POD at 204.) 
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included in the job files.513  However, Recordkeeping Violation 1 relates to the 

lack of pipe inventory records, while Recordkeeping Violation 2 concerns the 

lack of design or construction records for the construction for the installation of 

Segment 180.  These are distinct violations and PG&E is incorrect that 

Recordkeeping Violation 1 should not be counted as an independent violation. 

PG&E claims that the Class Location POD improperly counts violations of 

various standards and rules on a per-segment basis.514  However as we have 

discussed in the Class Location POD, the Federal Regulations refer specifically to 

“segments” of pipeline and each segment of pipeline must comply with multiple 

federal regulations.515  Violation of each regulation is a separate and distinct 

offense.  As we have discussed above, to conclude otherwise would lead to an 

absurd result. 

Finally, PG&E claims the Class Location POD improperly finds “cascading 

violations” when it finds at various points that PG&E’s failure to correctly 

designate the classification of a segment constituted a violation of applicable 

standards, then finds that the consequences of those violation themselves 

constituted separate violations.516  PG&E’s assertions, however, fails to 

acknowledge that classification of a segment and applying the correct MAOP to a 

pipeline segment are two separate and distinct activities, governed by different 

regulations under the CFR.517  As we have discussed in this POD, as well as in 

                                              
513  PG&E Appeal at 29. 

514  PG&E Appeal at 29. 

515  Class Location POD, Sections 7.2 and 12.1. 

516  PG&E Appeal at 30. 

517  See, 49 CFR § 192.13(c) & 49 CFR § 192.611. 
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the Violations PODs, violation of each regulation or statute is a separate and 

distinct offense.  Accordingly, we find PG&E’s claims to be without merit. 

11.1.1.3. “Other” Alleged Duplication 

PG&E claims that “other duplicative findings across and within the PODs 

account for thousands of the adjudicated findings.”518  Apart from including a 

footnote that lists certain violations adopted in the three Violations PODs, 

however, PG&E offers no explanation of why such violations are duplicative.519  

We therefore give this claim no weight.  

11.1.2. Hindsight 

PG&E claims that the PODs improperly find violations based on hindsight, 

i.e., where the “circumstances surrounding the violation [were not] known or at 

least knowable to the party at the time of the event.”520  Citing Lambert v. 

California, PG&E argues that even for strict liability offenses, “while the party 

need not intend for the violation to occur, the facts that render the conduct 

unlawful must at least be discernible to the party at the time.”521  However, 

Lambert is inapposite because there, the appellant had “no actual knowledge of 

the requirement that she register” pursuant to a city ordinance that required 

felons to register within five days.  In other words, the appellant knew that she 

was a felon.  What she did not know is that the law required felons to register 

with the city.   

                                              
518  PG&E Appeal at 30. 

519  PG&E Appeal at 30, fn 105. 

520  PG&E Appeal at 36.  Although PG&E refers to “the PODs,” the discussion of hindsight at 
pages 36-37 of the PG&E Appeal is limited to the San Bruno POD.  

521  PG&E Appeal at 36, citing Lambert v. California (Lambert) 355 U.S. 225, 228 (1957). 
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Here, in contrast, PG&E was aware of the law but alleges ignorance of the 

facts underlying the violation.  Also unlike here, Lambert did not involve a strict 

liability health and safety offense.  As the San Bruno POD noted, public welfare 

offenses are strict liability offenses.522  A strict liability offense is an unlawful act 

which does not require proof of mental state.523  Thus, the PODs do not need to 

establish PG&E’s mental state with regard to the alleged violations.  PG&E 

violated the law when it placed the flawed pups into service, and much like a 

driver who speeds, the reasons why are irrelevant.  PG&E’s ignorance of the 

pups and their condition is not a defense.   

Moreover, as the San Bruno POD discusses, PG&E’s actual ignorance of 

the flawed pups is questionable as there were numerous instances where PG&E 

could have and should have discovered the flaws in the pups but failed to do 

so.524  Finally, as the San Bruno POD also noted, the law requires that PG&E 

know what it has in its system, as “[f]urnishing and maintaining safe natural gas 

transmission equipment and facilities requires that a natural gas transmission 

system operator know the location and essential features of all such installed 

equipment and facilities.”525  It is not acceptable that a public utility like PG&E 

did not know the nature of the pipes it puts in the ground.  PG&E is responsible 

because, as a public utility operating dangerous natural gas pipelines, it has a 

duty to know the condition of those pipelines.  

                                              
522  San Bruno POD at 45. 

523  Black’s Law Dictionary, 6th Ed.   

524  San Bruno POD at 46-48.    

525  San Bruno POD at 45, citing D.12-12-030 at 91-92.   



I.12-01-007 et al.   L/MP6/mal 

 

- 186 - 

11.1.3. Alleged New Charges 

PG&E argues that “new charges [were] introduced after the accused [had] 

already made its defense.”526  However, as explained in the San Bruno POD527 

and below, no new charges were made against PG&E after the close of the 

hearings.  All of CPSD’s allegations were contained in the San Bruno OII, the 

CPSD Report528 and supporting testimony, and the Scoping Memo, all of which 

were provided to PG&E months before the hearings.  

PG&E has alleged that the CPSD Report is the “charging document” in this 

investigation.529  However, the San Bruno POD explains that the OII itself is a 

source of notice of the violations.530  Just as the indictment, not the police report, 

is the charging document in a criminal case, the OII, not the CPSD Report, is the 

charging document here. 

PG&E asserts that it cannot be required to “decipher and distill” from the 

CPSD Report the “legal basis” for CPSD’s alleged violations.531  However, PG&E 

has not cited any authority for the proposition that CPSD must present all of its 

legal arguments in advance of its opening briefs.  As the San Bruno POD 

correctly noted, “if a statement of alleged facts constituting a violation is set forth 

in the OII or in its referenced documents [i.e., the NTSB, IRP, and CPSD reports], 

                                              
526  PG&E Appeal at 42.  Although PG&E refers to “the PODs” in the heading for this discussion, 
the discussion of belatedly-asserted allegations at pages 42-44 of the PG&E Appeal is limited to 
the San Bruno POD. 

527  San Bruno POD, Section 4.5. 

528  Consumer Protection and Safety Division Incident Investigation Report, September 9, 2010 PG&E 
Pipeline Rupture in San Bruno, California, received in evidence in I.12-01-007 as San Bruno Exhibit 
CPSD-1. 

529  PG&E Appeal at 42-43.   

530  San Bruno POD at 52-53. 

531  PG&E Appeal at 44. 
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then PG&E had adequate notice prior to evidentiary hearings of the factual 

allegations that it needed to defend against.”532   

PG&E claims that it must be provided with “clear and effective notice.”533  

However, it is well-established that due process requires “adequate notice” and 

an opportunity to be heard.  PG&E ignores the controlling California Supreme 

Court case in this area, People v. Western Airlines, which states: “Due process as to 

the commission’s initial action is provided by the requirement of adequate notice 

to a party affected and an opportunity to be heard before a valid order can be 

made.”534  In a recent decision, the Commission described the due process notice 

requirements as follows:  

Constitutional due process protections require this Commission, 
in broad terms, to give parties adequate notice and an 
opportunity to be heard.  (People v. Western Airlines, Inc. (1954) 42 
Cal.2d 621, 632.)  Parties are normally entitled to know the 
subject matter of a proceeding, to know what information this 
Commission will consider when it addresses those subjects, and 
to have an opportunity to present their views to us.535 

PG&E complains that “[t]he San Bruno POD notes that the original charges 

consistently alleged that ’49 CFR Parts 192 and 199 and Section 451 are 

applicable,’ but 49 C.F.R Part 192 contains the entire set of federal regulations 

addressing gas pipeline construction, operation, maintenance, integrity 

management, written policies and procedures and emergency response, 

                                              
532  San Bruno POD at 50. 

533  PG&E Appeal at 44.   

534  People v. Western Airlines, Inc. (1954) 42 Cal. 2d 621, 632; 1954 Cal. LEXIS 193.   

535  Order Modifying Decision 11-12-053 and Denying Rehearing of the Decision as Modified 
[D.12-08-046.] at 28 (slip op.). 
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including hundreds, if not thousands, of regulatory provisions.536  PG&E goes on 

to argue that “[a]lleging that an operator violated 49 C.F.R Part 192 (or 49 CFR 

Part 199, or § 451) is only slightly more meaningful than alleging that the 

operator ‘violated federal law.’”537  This distorts what was actually stated in the 

San Bruno POD.  A fair reading of the San Bruno POD demonstrates that it was 

not content to allow CPSD to merely allege that PG&E had violated unspecified 

provisions of Parts 192 and 199 of Title 49.538   

The fact is that the San Bruno OII provided PG&E notice of the violations 

and an opportunity to respond, as the following example demonstrates.  PG&E 

has claimed that it was not adequately placed on notice of violations of 49 CFR  

§ 192.615, which applies to emergency plans and procedures.539  49 CFR  

§ 192.615, which was referenced in Section X of the CPSD Report, contains more 

than one requirement.  In its Opening Brief in the San Bruno OII, CPSD referred 

to the different provisions of 49 CFR § 192.615 that mandate that operators’ 

emergency plans provide for “receiving, identifying, and classifying notices of 

events” as well as “emergency shutdown and pressure reduction” in an 

emergency situation.  Thus, PG&E was adequately on notice, especially in light 

of the fact that the factual allegations underpinning the violations were fully 

described in the CPSD Report.   

Moreover, PG&E’s claim that it was unaware of the emergency plans and 

procedures violation allegations is undermined by the fact that its prepared 

testimony in the San Bruno OII presented PG&E’s defenses to the specific 

                                              
536  PG&E Appeal at 43. 

537  PG&E Appeal at 43-44. 

538  San Bruno POD at 49-60.   

539  PG&E Appeal of San Bruno POD at 25.   
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subsections that it now claims it was unaware of.  That testimony contains 

factual arguments as to why PG&E’s emergency plans were legally sufficient.540  

On page 5 of Chapter 11, PG&E states that “PG&E had a written, comprehensive 

plan in effect that met the requirements of § 192.615.”  PG&E then goes on to 

describe how its plans assertedly met all of the subsections of 49 CFR § 192.615.  

For example, 49 CFR § 192.615(a)(1) (“receiving, identifying, and classifying 

notices of events”) is addressed on pages 14 and 15 of Chapter 11.  Part 

192.615(a)(8) (“notifying appropriate fire, police, and other public officials”) is 

addressed on pages 15 and 16.  49 CFR § 192.615(b)(2) (“failure to properly train 

personnel”) is addressed on pages 14, 15, 17, and 20.  PG&E specifically reprinted 

49 CFR § 192.615(a)(1) through (a)(8) in its testimony.  At pages 3–5 of Chapter 

11, PG&E reprinted the entirety of 49 CFR § 192.615, including every subsection 

of (a)(1) through (a)(8), (b)(1) to (b)(4), and (c)(1) to (c)(4).  49 CFR § 192.615(a)(3) 

relates to “prompt and effective” responses to emergencies.  The text of (a)(3) is 

reprinted on page 3 of Chapter 11.  On page 12 of Chapter 11, PG&E explains 

that its emergency plans call for its personnel to “gather critical information to 

promptly initiate the operator’s response efforts”, and cites to 49 CFR 

§ 192.615(a).  In Attachment C to Chapter 11, PG&E includes copies of its 

emergency plans, which contain the following:  

Section 192.615(a)(3)(i) allows operators latitude in responding to 
notices of gas odor inside buildings. As long as an operator’s 
response is “prompt” and is “effective” in minimizing the 
hazard, there would be little reason, if any, to challenge the 
appropriateness of the operator’s procedures.541   

                                              
540 San Bruno Exhibit PG&E-1, Chapter 11.   

541  Page 71 of PG&E’s Emergency Plans, San Bruno PG&E-1, Chapter 11. 
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PG&E would not have presented a defense to allegations of violations of 

49 CFR § 192.615 and its subsections if it were truly unaware of them being at 

issue.  PG&E had an opportunity to respond to the charges against it and did so. 

11.2. Penalties Imposed 

11.2.1. Violations under Pub. Util. Code § 451  

As with its appeals of the Violations PODs, PG&E contends that Pub. Util. 

Code § 451 is a ratemaking statute and may not serve as a basis for finding 

violations.542  Among other things, PG&E notes that § 451 is placed within the 

“Rates” article of the Public Utilities Code and argues that the language of the 

statute “requires a balancing of rates against the proper level of service.”543  

Further, PG&E argues that Pub. Util. Code § 451 cannot be read as imposing a 

stand-alone safety obligation, as that would “render superfluous entire 

provisions of the Public Utilities Code and every Commission regulation that 

requires any safety measure of any kind.”544  Finally, PG&E asserts that Pub. Util. 

Code § 451 cannot be interpreted “to incorporate extrinsic safety standards,” 

particularly ASME B.31.8.545 

Many of PG&E’s arguments have already been considered and rejected in 

Sections 4.2, 9.1 and 9.6 of the San Bruno Violations Decision, Sections 5.3 and 14.1  

of the Recordkeeping Violations Decision, and Sections 9 and 12.6 of the Class 

Location Violations Decision.  We find no reason for repeating our discussion in 

those decisions verbatim here, but rather summarize our discussions in the 

violations decisions here and incorporate their full discussion by reference. 

                                              
542  PG&E Appeal at 18. 

543  PG&E Appeal at 19. 

544  PG&E Appeal at 20. 

545  PG&E Appeal at 24. 
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PG&E’s statutory construction argument is contradicted by Gay Law 

Students Ass’n v. Pac. Tel & Tel. Co. (Gay Law Students Ass’n) (1979) 24 Cal.3d 458.  

In Gay Law Students Ass’n, the California Supreme Court addressed a complaint 

alleging in part that PT&T illegally practiced discrimination against homosexuals 

in the hiring, firing and promotion of employees.  The complainant sought 

declaratory and injunctive relief to prevent PT&T from continuing such practices.  

The Court rejected PT&T’s argument that Pub. Util. Code § 453(a) was “limited 

only to a prohibition of rate or service-oriented discrimination.”546  Rather, the 

Court found that Pub. Util. Code § 453(a) “prohibits a public utility from 

engaging in arbitrary employment discrimination.”547  As relevant here, Pub. 

Util. Code § 453 is also within the same “Rates” article of the Public Utilities 

Code as section 451.  Thus, just as the California Supreme Court held that Pub. 

Util. Code § 453 is not merely a ratemaking provision, Pub. Util. Code § 451 

cannot be limited to ratemaking either.  Furthermore, PG&E fails to recognize 

Pub. Util. Code § 6 which states:  “Division, part, chapter, article, and section 

headings do not in any manner affect the scope, meaning, or intent of the 

provisions of this code.”  PG&E’s reliance on the heading of an article in its 

attempt to undermine Pub. Util. Code § 451’s safety obligation is contrary to § 6 

and we therefore reject it.  Finally, we note that the language of § 451 does not 

expressly grant any authority to the Commission.  Rather, the express language 

of § 451 only imposes various requirements on the utility, e.g., that its rates be 

reasonable and that its facilities be safe.  This fact undermines PG&E’s argument 

that § 451 is directed at “the factors the Commission must balance when 

                                              
546  Gay Law Students Ass’n v. Pac. Tel & Tel. Co., 24 Cal.3d at p. 478. 

547  Gay Law Students Ass’n v. Pac. Tel & Tel. Co., 24 Cal.3d at p. 475. 
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determining the level of service to require in exchange for reasonable rates . . . 

”548 

Other considerations further undermine PG&E’s attempt to frame Pub. 

Util. Code § 451 as a balancing of rates and service.  In Cingular, the California 

Court of Appeal upheld the Commission’s imposition of a fine on a wireless 

carrier under Pub. Util. Code § 451 even though the court found that the 

Commission was preempted by federal law from regulating rates of wireless 

carriers.  In other words, the court held that the Commission may find violations 

under the second paragraph of Pub. Util. Code § 451, even where the first 

paragraph is inapplicable because no rate issue is directly presented.549  

Moreover, even under the construct described by PG&E, i.e., that Pub. Util. Code 

§ 451 provides for a balancing of rates and other considerations that include 

safety, there is nothing to suggest that safety is not an absolute duty under Pub. 

Util. Code § 451.  The fact that the safety obligation appears in an article entitled 

“Rates” does not diminish the significance of that obligation.   

PG&E challenges the Commission’s reliance on Cingular on the grounds 

that “Cingular had nothing to do with safety.”550  However, we did not rely on 

Cingular for the proposition that Pub. Util. Code § 451 serves as a basis for safety 

requirements.551  Rather, Cingular affirms our conclusion that the second 

paragraph of Pub. Util. Code § 451 is a stand-alone provision, independent of 

                                              
548 PG&E Appeal at 20 (emphasis added). 

549  Pacific Bell Wireless (Cingular) v. PUC, supra, 140 Cal.App. 4th at p. 723.   

550  PG&E Appeal at 22. 

551  This second paragraph states, in relevant part: “Every public utility shall furnish and 
maintain such adequate, efficient, just, and reasonable service, instrumentalities, equipment, 
and facilities … as are necessary to promote the safety, health, comfort, and convenience of its 
patrons, employees and the public.”   
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ratemaking.  Indeed, the Cingular Court stated: “Even in the absence of a specific 

statute, rule or order barring the imposition of an EFT without a grace period, or 

barring the specific nondisclosures identified by the Commission in this case, 

Cingular can be charged with knowing its actions violated section 451’s 

requirement that is provide ‘adequate, efficient, just and reasonable service’ to its 

customers.”552  Similarly in this instance, PG&E can be charged with violating 

Pub Util. Code § 451 for not providing “instrumentalities, equipment, and 

facilities” necessary to promote the safety of its customers.  Cingular clearly 

supports this conclusion.   

PG&E’s argument that Pub. Util. Code § 451 cannot be read as imposing a 

stand-alone safety obligation has been rejected by the California Courts.  The 

California Court of Appeal has cited numerous instances where Pub. Util. Code 

§ 451’s mandate for public utilities to operate safely has been invoked on a 

stand-alone basis.553  In Cingular the California Court of Appeals specifically 

addressed the argument that  Section 451 is void for vagueness and rejected it.554  

The Court examined Cingular’s alleged conduct and rhetorically asked:  “how 

could [Cingular] have notice that this conduct would violate section 451?”555  The 

Court found that Cingular could reasonably discern from the Commission’s 

interpretations of Pub. Util. Code § 451 that its conduct in that case would violate 

                                              
552  Cingular, supra, 140 Cal.App. 4th at p. 740. 

553  See, e.g., Cingular, supra, 140 Cal.App. 4th at p. 751.   

554 “We agree that section 451 is not void for vagueness on its face. (Carey v. Pacific Gas and 
Electric Company (1999) 85 Cal.P.U.C.2d 682, 689 ["it would be virtually impossible to draft 
Section 451 to specifically set forth every conceivable service, instrumentality and facility which 
might be defined as 'reasonable' and necessary to promote the public safety. That the terms are 

incapable of precise definition given the variety of circumstances likewise does not make 
Section 451 void for vagueness, either on its face or in application to the instant case.”  (140 
Cal.App. 4th at p.741, n. 10.) 

555  Id.   
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the statute.  Similarly here, the Violations PODs do not impose “arbitrary or 

capricious” interpretations on Pub. Util. Code § 451, but in fact grounds the 

violations in well-known industry standards and guidelines in effect in the 1950s.  

PG&E was more than adequately on notice that standards such as ASME B.31.8 

created guidelines for good safety practices.  In addition, in Carey v. Pacific Gas & 

Electric Company [D.99-04-029] (1999) 85 Cal. P.U.C. 2d 682, the Commission 

specifically invoked Pub. Util. Code § 451 for a stand-alone safety violation.   

We further disagree with PG&E’s argument that interpreting Pub. Util. 

Code § 451 as imposing a stand-alone safety obligation would render 

superfluous entire provisions of the Public Utilities Code and Commission 

regulations that require any safety measure.  Section 5.3.2 of the Recordkeeping 

POD specifically addresses this allegation and discusses the complementary 

relationship between the general, overarching safety obligation established by 

Pub. Util. Code § 451 and other, specific gas pipeline safety requirements. 

Finally, PG&E states: “Although [Pub. Util. Code] § 451 did not and does 

not grant authority for the Commission to impose sanctions for particular 

violations of ‘safety’ standards, it clearly allows the Commission to consider a 

utility’s record on ‘safety’ issues in setting rates…”556  PG&E does not cite to any 

authority to support this assertion.  Moreover, as noted by CPSD, PG&E’s 

argument is contradicted by the testimony of its own expert witness in the San 

Bruno OII.557  In the San Bruno OII, PG&E witness O’Laughlin stated that the 

authorized revenue requirement and the amount PG&E should spend on reliable 

                                              
556  PG&E Appeal at 23. 

557  CPSD Response at 21. 
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and safe service “are two independent questions or two independent items.”558  

Accordingly, we find this assertion to be without merit. 

11.2.2. Level of Penalties 

The level of penalties imposed is the subject of both appeals and requests 

for review.  PG&E asserts that a $1.4 billion penalty is too high, and raises 

various arguments why the amount should be lower in its appeal.  Joint Parties, 

on the other hand, argue that in light of the number of violations found in the 

three decisions on violations, as well as the potential maximum and minimum 

fines authorized under Pub. Util. Code §§ 2107 and 2108, “penalties of over 

$2 billion are not just warranted, but necessary to ensure that PG&E fully 

comprehends the reprehensible nature of the way it has conducted its business 

for the past 60 years and to deter any utility from allowing the type of 

carelessness and mismanagement that led to the San Bruno explosion.”559  

Finally, both Commissioners Picker and Sandoval seek review to determine 

whether the level of fines and refunds ordered in the POD is adequate.560  We 

have considered the arguments presented in the appeals and the requests for 

review of Commissioners Picker and Sandoval and conclude that there should be 

a noticeable increase in the level of penalties, while maintaining that level well 

within PG&E’s ability to pay.   

As discussed in Section 5 above, our determination of the penalty to be 

imposed took into consideration the factors identified in D.98-12-075.  In 

particular, we considered PG&E’s financial resources.  Under Pub. Util. Code  

                                              
558  8 RT (San Bruno OII) at 616; see also San Bruno POD at 200.  

559  Joint Parties’ Appeal of the Presiding Officers’ Decision on Fines and Remedies in the Pipeline 
Investigations filed October 2, 2015, at 12. 

560  Request for Review [of Commissioner Picker], filed October 2, 2014, at 2; Request for Review [of 
Commissioner Sandoval], filed October 2, 2014, at 2.  
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§§ 2107 and 2108, if every day of violation were charged as a separate violation, 

the potential fine to be imposed would have been  $9.2 billion, or nearly a third 

of PG&E’s market capitalization.  However, a fine of that magnitude would have 

significantly affected PG&E’s ability to provide safe and reliable gas and electric 

service to its customers.  The Overland Report has provided guidance on the 

maximum level of penalties PG&E could sustain without negatively impacting 

its ability to raise equity for revenue-producing investments.  The penalty we 

adopt in this decision, which is comprised of a fine paid to the General Fund, a 

one-time bill credit to ratepayers, shareholder funding of gas infrastructure 

improvement and other remedies, will allow PG&E to provide safe and reliable 

gas and electric service, while still providing notice to all gas pipeline operators 

of the need to maintain and operate their pipeline systems in compliance with all 

federal and state safety requirements.    

PG&E’s argument that the Decision must take into consideration “other 

unrecoverable gas safety-related PSEP and Gas Accord V costs that PG&E’s 

shareholders have incurred or will incur”561 has been addressed in Section 6, 

above.  Here, we merely add that, as noted by CPSD, PG&E’s efforts to include 

all expenses it allegedly had already incurred or may incur in the future would 

essentially allow PG&E to decide what it should pay for its violations.   

11.2.3. Allocation of Penalties 

Some of the appeals seek to change how the penalties are allocated.  The 

Joint Parties, for example, do not propose to change the overall level of penalties, 

but request that the allocation be changed to reduce the fine imposed under Pub. 

Util. Code  §§ 2107 and 2108 and to increase the disallowance to include all PSEP 

                                              
561   PG&E Appeal at 4. 
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costs, which they estimate to be $877 million, with the remainder of $473 million 

still going to the General Fund.  (Joint Parties Appeal at 1-2.)  Joint Parties make 

several arguments, including one that disallowing all PSEP costs would: “…(3) 

better alleviate the burden on PG&E customers who will still be called upon to 

pay several billion dollars to improve the safety of PG&E’s gas system.”  (Id.) 

PG&E also urges that a portion of the penalties that the POD would direct 

to the General Fund should be redirected toward future pipeline safety 

enhancements.562  PG&E presents various arguments why penalties should be 

directed towards pipeline safety, and summarizes them as follows: 

The ultimate purpose of monetary penalties and other remedies in 
these proceedings, as the Commission explained in its Order 
Instituting Investigation in the San Bruno docket, is “to ensure that a 
catastrophe of this type does not occur again.” [citing San Bruno OII 
at 2-3.]  The San Bruno accident has shed light on the need for not 
only PG&E but also other utilities across the state and country to 
make improvements to their gas pipeline infrastructure to reduce 
and minimize the risk of similar tragedies in the future.  The best 
way to ensure that the remedies imposed in these proceedings 
achieve the Commission’s goal is to direct that the penalties be used 
to improve pipeline safety.  The unprecedented size of the penalty, 
the overriding public importance of pipeline safety, and the fact that 
PG&E has finite resources to spend on pipeline improvement 
projects without rate recovery all weigh in favor of directing that 
any penalty be invested in the gas pipeline system.  Requiring PG&E 
to spend its own money on pipeline safety without rate recovery 
would act as a forceful deterrent to PG&E and other California 
utilities and would send a strong message about the importance of 
gas pipeline safety.”  (PG&E Appeal at 8-9.) 
 

                                              
562  Pacific Gas and Electric Company’s Appeal of the Presiding Officer’s [sic] Decision on Fines and 
Remedies (PG&E Appeal), filed October 2, 2014, at 8; see also, Request for Review [of Commissioner 
Picker] at 2; Request for Review [of Commissioner Sandoval] at 2.  
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We generally agree with these policy arguments, and there are no legal 

constraints on implementing them.  We accordingly grant in part the appeals of 

the Joint Parties and PG&E, and reallocate some of the moneys that the Fines and 

Remedies POD would have sent to the General Fund to instead be spent on 

improving the safety of PG&E’s gas pipeline system.  This is a change from the 

Fines and Remedies POD, and we will implement it via the current GT&S 

proceeding, rather than the prior PSEP proceeding (which was the assumption of 

PG&E and the Joint Parties).  More details on this issue, and how our approach 

differs from the Fines and Remedies POD, are set forth in [Section 6] above. 

PG&E further argues that the Fines and Remedies POD improperly 

justifies the $400 million disallowance based on revenues earned by PG&E’s 

GT&S group in excess of revenue requirement between 1999 and 2010.  PG&E 

argues that these earnings in excess of revenue requirements “were due to its ‘at 

risk’ market storage business, not any ‘underspending’ on gas transmission 

safety-related work.”563  PG&E misinterprets our discussion regarding the basis 

for this disallowance, which could more properly be called a bill credit.  The $400 

million bill credit is an equitable remedy for PG&E’s failure to comply with 

Commission orders and state and federal regulations and statutes regarding 

pipeline safety; it is not based on asserted cost savings on gas transmission 

safety-related work.  As discussed in great detail in the San Bruno POD, the 

record demonstrates that PG&E had intentionally cut back on transmission 

safety expenditures between 1999 and 2010 in a manner inconsistent with 

Commission orders and state and federal regulations and statutes regarding 

                                              
563  PG&E Appeal at 11-12. 
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pipeline safety.564  To eliminate further confusion, we revise Section 6 of the POD 

to clarify this point. 

PG&E also requests that Ordering Paragraph 4 be revised to permit the 

option of a rate reduction and/or a one –time bill credit.565  CPSD does not 

oppose this request.566  We do not agree that PG&E should be given the option to 

choose the method of payment of the $400 million.  A one-time bill credit would, 

however, address the concerns raised by Joint Parties regarding the mechanics 

associated with a revenue requirement reduction.  Accordingly, we revise 

Section 6 of the POD and Ordering Paragraph 4 to implement a one-time $400 

million bill credit.. 

11.2.4. Proportionality and Constitutionality of Penalties 

PG&E’s appeal maintains that the penalty imposed is disproportionate and 

in violation of the Excessive Fines Clause.  We have considered PG&E’s 

arguments regarding the proportionality and constitutionality of the penalties 

imposed in Sections 4.3 and 5.5.3 of this Decision.   While we do not repeat our 

discussion here, we address the two main arguments raised by PG&E on appeal. 

First, PG&E asserts that violations did not result from intentional 

misconduct and “most of the violations had no practical impact on system 

operations.”567  PG&E contends that it “acted at all times in good faith and with 

the goal of complying with all applicable regulations, rules and standards.”568 

                                              
564  San Bruno POD at 201-205; see also San Bruno Exh. CPSD-168 (Harpster). 

565  PG&E Appeal at 15. 

566  CPSD Response at 13. 

567  PG&E Appeal at 45. 

568  PG&E Appeal at 45. 
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PG&E’s argument, however, is unsupported by the record in the Pipeline 

OIIs.  As part of our analysis in setting the penalty amount, we considered 

PG&E’s conduct before, during and after the San Bruno explosion and fire and 

concluded that PG&E had demonstrated bad faith.  As discussed in Section 5.2.3 

of this Decision, PG&E recognized its duty pursuant to Commission orders and 

federal regulations to maintain specific documents for all segments of its gas 

transmission pipeline system, yet did not take adequate steps to ensure 

compliance prior to the San Bruno explosion and fire.  The Violations Decisions 

discuss in detail, even when PG&E was made aware that it was in violation of 

applicable laws and regulations, it took no action to correct these violations.  

PG&E’s actions immediately after the San Bruno explosion and fire do not 

minimize the fact that it had neglected to take necessary actions to correct or 

address violations for decades prior to that incident. 

Further, PG&E mistakenly believes that a lower penalty should be 

imposed because the violations were “unintentional” or may not have “actually 

caused or contributed to” the San Bruno explosion and fire.569  Regardless of 

whether the violations were due to intentional conduct, or were due to mistake, 

irresponsibility or incompetence, the fact remains that PG&E took no corrective 

action even after it was made aware of the violations.  Further, PG&E is incorrect 

that the violation must be directly related to the San Bruno explosion and fire 

before a penalty can be imposed.  PG&E is essentially arguing that there must be 

actual physical harm before a penalty can be imposed.  This is comparable to 

arguing that a driver may not be cited for exceeding the speed limit because he 

did not hit another vehicle.  However, as discussed in D.98-12-075, “disregarding 

a statutory or Commission directive, regardless of the effects on the public,” will 

                                              
569  PG&E Appeal at 45 & 46. 
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be accorded a high level of severity” due to its harm to the integrity of the 

regulatory process.”570  Moreover, PG&E’s arguments that the penalty is 

excessive because the violations were “unintentional” or caused no actual harm 

ring hollow because the amount proposed is significantly less than the minimum 

potential penalty of $500 per day in violation, or $9.2 billion. 

PG&E’s second argument is that that the POD fails to consider the fines 

and penalties imposed in comparable circumstances, in particular the penalties 

associated with the natural gas accidents in Carlsbad, New Mexico and 

Allentown, Pennsylvania.571  It contends the Excessive Fines Clause “requires 

consideration of sanctions imposed in analogous cases.”572   

PG&E’s argument that Carlsbad and Allentown accidents are similar to the 

Pipeline OIIs is flawed.  As we note in Section 4.3 above, the Carlsbad and 

Allentown investigations focused on the accident, while the Pipeline OIIs 

encompass not only an investigation into the San Bruno explosion and fire, but 

also examination of PG&E’s classification of pipeline segments in areas of higher 

population density and a comprehensive review of PG&E’s recordkeeping 

practices.  Further, any potential penalties imposed as a result of the Carlsbad 

and Allentown accidents were limited by statute.  In the Carlsbad example, 

El Paso Natural Gas was governed by a federal statute, which provides for civil 

penalties of $200,000 per violation with the maximum civil penalty “for a related 

series of violations” capped at $2 million.573  At the time of the Allentown 

                                              
570  Standards of Conduct Governing Relationships Between Energy Utilities and Their Affiliates, 84 Cal. 
P.U.C.2d at 188. 

571  PG&E Appeal at 46. 

572  PG&E Appeal at 46 (citing Hale v. Morgan (1978) 22 Cal. 3d 388, 403 and BMW of N. Am., Inc. 
v. Gore (1996) 517 U.S. 559, 584).  

573  See 49 U.S.C. § 60122. 



I.12-01-007 et al.   L/MP6/mal 

 

- 202 - 

accident, Pennsylvania law capped the civil penalty for accidents at $500,000.  In 

contrast, Pub. Util. Code §§ 2107 and 2108 do not establish the maximum amount 

of fines that may be imposed for a continuing violation or related series of 

violations.  Thus, although we do not deny that there are some similarities 

between these two accidents and the San Bruno explosion and fire, there is 

nothing inappropriate or disproportionate about the penalties imposed on PG&E 

in light of the facts presented in the Pipeline OIIs.      

PG&E’s reliance on Hale and Gore are equally unpersuasive.    In Hale, the 

California Supreme Court found that a penalty, pursuant to Civ. Code § 789.3, 

imposed on the landlord of a small mobile home park for willfully depriving his 

tenant of utility services for the purpose of evicting the tenant was excessive 

under the circumstances.  Those circumstances included the fact that the tenant 

had moved his mobile home onto the park premises without permission and that 

the total amount of fines was so large that they might result in the tenant 

becoming the owner of the mobile home park.574 Furthermore, the Court was 

concerned that under the Civil Code section the trial court was required to impose 

an additional fine of $100 for each day of violation.575  Here in contrast, we are 

imposing penalties that would be less than the statutory minimum if we were 

imposing the minimum fine amount for each day in violation.     

In Gore, the U.S. Supreme Court, in determining whether punitive damages 

were reasonable, compared statutory penalties for comparable misconduct, 

noting that a reviewing court should defer to “legislative judgments concerning 

appropriate sanctions for the conduct at issue.”576  As a result, the Supreme Court 

                                              
574 22 Cal. 3d at 393, 405.   

575 22 Cal. 2d at 399.   

576  Gore, supra, 517 U.S. at 583. 
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disallowed punitive damages imposed on BMW by an Alabama court that were 

substantially greater than the statutory fines available in Alabama and elsewhere 

for similar misconduct.   In this instance, there is no need to refer to other statutes, 

as Pub. Util. Code §§ 2107 and 2108 authorize the level of fines that the 

Commission may impose.  Further the defendant in Gore was a national 

distributor of autos, thus making the statutory penalties in other states relevant 

to the issue of whether it could have expected such a large penalty for what it 

had done.577  In contrast, PG&E is aware of the potential penalties available 

under California law.  Moreover, consistent with Hale, this Decision has 

considered evidence concerning PG&E’s financial resources and has adopted a 

penalty that should have a deterrent effect without impacting PG&E’s ability to 

raise the money it needs for further investment.  Accordingly, the penalty 

adopted does not violate the Excessive Fines Clause.  

11.2.5. Extension of Time to Pay Penalties 

PG&E requests that the time to pay the fine be extended.578  It presents 

various reasons why 40 days is not enough time to raise the required funds.  

PG&E first states that depending on the timing of the final decision, it may not be 

able to issue public securities to pay the fine during the 40-day time period due 

to restrictions under federal and state securities laws.579  Further, PG&E explains 

that it needs “some flexibility in timing to ensure that the capital raising 

transaction is successful, and 40 days is not sufficient.”580  For these reasons, 

PG&E requests that the time to pay any fine be extended to 180 days. 

                                              
577  Gore, supra, 517 U.S. at 584. 

578  PG&E Appeal at 14. 

579  PG&E Appeal at 14. 

580  PG&E Appeal at 15. 
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CPSD does not oppose PG&E’s request to extend the time for it to make its 

payment, “so long as interest accrues from the date of the Commission’s 

Decision.”581 

We modify the time to pay the fine as requested by PG&E.  PG&E 

explained that it is seeking an extension of time to allow it to comply with federal 

and state securities laws and to provide flexibility for a successful issuance of 

public securities.  Given the size of the fine adopted in this decision, we agree 

that an extension of time is warranted.  However, we decline to accrue interest 

on this amount from the date of this decision, provided the fine is paid in full 

within 180 days of this decision.  If not, payment of any outstanding amount 

shall include interest at the rate earned on prime, three-month, non-financial 

commercial paper as reported in Federal Reserve Statistical Release H.15, 

beginning the 181st day after the effective date of this decision. 

11.3. Rule 1.1 of the Commission’s Rules of Practice and Procedure 

PG&E next challenges penalties imposed as a result of violations of Rule 

1.1 of the Commission’s Rules of Practice and Procedure (Rule 1.1).582 

Specifically, PG&E asserts that the Recordkeeping POD errs in holding that a 

violation of Rule 1.1 does not require an intention to mislead the Commission.583  

PG&E relies on the language of Rule 1.1 and a line of Commission decisions and 

court orders to support its arguments.  

PG&E’s arguments are without merit.  As relevant to PG&E’s arguments, 

Rule 1.1 states that a party shall “never … mislead the Commission or its staff by 

                                              
581  CPSD Response at 13. 

582  See, Pacific Gas and Electric Company’s Appeal of the Presiding Officer’s Decision, filed in 
I.11-02-016 on October 2, 2014, at 18. 

583  PG&E Appeal at 26. 
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an artifice or false statement of fact or law.”  From PG&E’s perspective, the word 

“‘mislead’ …necessarily implies a purposeful action.”584  Further, it asserts that 

the terms “artifice” and “false statement” also incorporate an element of 

intentional deception.  While PG&E is correct that “artifice” requires intention, a 

“false statement” does not.  A statement does not have to be intentionally false in 

order to be false.  Rather, it may be false due to carelessness, ignorance or 

mistake.  The Commission is equally misled regardless of whether the statement 

was intended to be false or not.  Thus, if the sentence had ended with the term 

“artifice,” PG&E would be correct that there must be an intention to mislead.  

However, the inclusion of “or false statement” shows that intent is not required.   

Moreover, PG&E’s interpretation is not supported by the plain language of 

Rule 1.1.  Nowhere does the plain language of Rule 1.1 refer to mens rea, state of 

mind, or purposeful intent.  To interpret Rule 1.1 as proposed by PG&E would 

effectively rewrite the Rule to include the word “knowingly,” “purposely” or 

“intentionally” before the term “mislead.”   

Prior Commission decisions have held that a violation of Rule 1.1 can 

result from a reckless or grossly negligent act.  As we previously held:  “The 

misleading or misrepresentation that occurs as a result of the reckless or grossly 

negligent act can cause the Commission to expend additional staff resources in 

trying to resolve the misleading statement.”585 

                                              
584  PG&E Appeal at 26. 

585  Re Facilities-based Cellular Carriers and Their Practices, Operations and Conduct in Connection 
with their Siting of Towers (D.94-11-018) (1994) 57 Cal. PUC 2d 176, 204; see also, Order Instituting 
Investigation Into Southern California Edison Company's Electric Line Construction, Operation, and 
Maintenance Practices Southern California Edison Company (D.04-04-065) 2004 Cal. PUC LEXIS 
207 at *53. 
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PG&E’s reliance on penal or criminal cases is also unavailing.  The Pipeline 

OIIs are not criminal cases, so the requirements for proving a criminal offense do 

not apply.  As we have discussed elsewhere in this decision, the relationship 

between the Commission and the utilities it regulates is very different than that 

between the court and a litigant.  As a regulator, the Commission needs accurate 

information from the utility in order to, among other things, ensure that it is 

providing just, reasonable and safe service.  Further, the utility is under an 

obligation to provide information to the Commission under state law,586 and 

presumably that information needs to be accurate.  Thus, regardless of whether 

the Commission received wrong information because PG&E intended to deceive 

the Commission, or because PG&E was negligent, the end result is the same – the 

Commission was misled. 

As discussed in Section 7.4 of the Recordkeeping POD, PG&E “had failed 

to verify that its security system had been configured to operate as specified, 

failed to take steps to preserve any recordings from the security cameras at the 

Brentwood Facility, and failed to inquire with Corporate Affairs whether the 

security tapes were subject to the preservation order.”  PG&E’s gross negligence 

resulted in misleading information being provided to CPSD, which caused CPSD 

staff to expend additional time and resources.  Similarly, PG&E’s failure to 

identify all the people in Milpitas Terminal handling the pressure problem on 

September 9, 2010 or who were present at the Milpitas Terminal after 5:00 p.m. 

on that date prejudiced CPSD’s investigation.   

Based on these considerations, the Recordkeeping POD properly found 

violations of Rule 1.1, and this decision properly imposes penalties associated 

with these violations. 

                                              
586  See, e.g., Pub. Util. Code §§ 313, 314, 581, 582, 584 and 702. 
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11.4. Continuing Violations 

PG&E asserts that the Fines and Remedies POD, as well as the PODs on 

violations, incorrectly concludes that many of the violations are continuing in 

nature.  According to PG&E, the language in Pub. Util. Code § 2108 “applies only 

to violations that continue over time, not to the subsequent consequences of 

finite events that themselves constitute a violation.”587  Based on its 

interpretation, PG&E maintains that a violation may only be considered 

continuing “when the misconduct at issue was actually ongoing.”588  As support, 

PG&E cites to People ex rel. Younger v. Superior Court (1976) 16 Cal. 3d 30, which 

construed Water Code Section 13350(a)(3) by holding that a penalty for an 

unlawful oil deposit should be based on each day the process of deposit lasted, 

and not each day the oil remained on the water.589  Thus, in its appeal, PG&E 

argues that the continued absence of a record is not  a continuing violation until 

the record appears.590 

The statute construed in Younger provided:   

Any person who  . . . (3) causes or permits any oil or any 
residuary product of petroleum to be deposited in or on 
any of the waters of the state, except in accordance with 
waste discharge requirements or other provisions of this 
division, may be liable civilly in a sum of not to exceed six 
thousand dollars ($ 6,000) for each day in which such 
violation or deposit occurs.   

 

The Younger Court examined the meaning of the word “deposit” and on 

that basis determined that the statutory clause under examination might refer to each 

                                              
587  PG&E Appeal at 31 (emphasis in original). 

588  PG&E Appeal at 32. 

589  PG&E does not assert that Pub. Util. Code § 2108 is ambiguous. 

590  PG&E Appeal at 32. 
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day in which:  (1) the act of depositing takes place or (2) the matter placed down [i.e. the 

oil] is found.  The Court concluded that the statute imposed liability for each day 

that a person deposits oil in the waters of the state and not for each day during 

which the oil remains there.  The Court reasoned that this construction of the 

statute was not only consistent with the ordinary meaning of the words used but 

also was in harmony with the overall statutory scheme, and that it additionally 

effectuated the legislative purpose of penalizing continuous acts of depositing 

oil.  PG&E’s Appeal does not explain how any word in Section 2108591 is like the 

word “deposit” that the Younger Court was construing.   Nor does the Appeal 

explain how PG&E’s construction of 2108 is consistent with the ordinary 

meaning of the words used, or in harmony with the overall statutory scheme or 

legislative purpose.  Finally, PG&E’s Appeal is simply incorrect when it argues 

that the Younger Court construed the statute the way it did in order to avoid an 

“unduly punitive”592 result.  The Younger Court did not rely on any such 

reasoning.   

PG&E raises the same arguments in its briefs and appeals of the Violations 

PODs.  We have considered these arguments and found them to be without 

merit.  The Violations PODs consider each violation and determine whether it 

should be considered continuing in nature.  We find no reason for repeating our 

discussion in those decisions verbatim here, but incorporate their full discussion 

by reference.  

                                              
591  Section 2108 provides:  “Every violation of the provisions of this part or of any part of any 
order, decision, decree, rule, direction, demand, or requirement of the commission, by any 
corporation or person is a separate and distinct offense, and in case of a continuing violation 
each day’s continuance thereof shall be a separate and distinct offense.” 

592  PG&E Appeal at 32. 
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As each of the Violations PODs discusses, the violations that were 

determined to be continuing in nature were not one-time occurrences, but on-

going obligations.593  Thus, each day that PG&E failed to fulfill this obligation 

constituted a separate offense.  Such a conclusion is entirely consistent with 

Younger, which states: 

It appears that the Legislature by enacting section 13340, 
subdivision (a) (3) [of the Water Code], was concerned with 
persons who caused oil spills day after day – in other words, 
with persons who intentionally or negligently caused oil to be 
deposited regularly or over a period of time.  By imposing an 
additional penalty for each day that the person continues to 
deposit the oil in the waters, the Legislature provides an effective 
deterrent to continuous or chronic violations.594 

Finally, as noted by Joint Parties:  “Operating a gas pipeline system 

without legally required information is a continuing violation.”595  For these 

reasons, the POD and the Violations PODs correctly concluded that many of the 

violations were continuing in nature. 

11.5. Spoliation 

PG&E argues that the PODs misapply the spoliation doctrine.596  It 

contends “[s]poliation is ‘the destruction or significant alteration of evidence, or 

the failure to preserve property for another's use as evidence in pending or 

                                              
593  For example, the Class Locations POD found that continuing obligations include patrolling 
pipeline system on a regular basis, performing continuing surveillance and monitoring changes 
in population density; the San Bruno POD found that continuing obligations include correcting 
unsafe condition and conducting required pressure tests; the Recordkeeping POD found that 
continuing obligations include keeping records of its gas transmission pipeline system. 

594  Younger, supra, 16 Cal. 3d at p. 44. 

595  Joint Parties Response at 20. 

596  PG&E Appeal at 33. 
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reasonably foreseeable litigation.’”597  According to PG&E, the Recordkeeping 

POD illogically concludes that PG&E should have been on notice that as far back 

as 80 years ago there would have been future litigation that would have required 

PG&E to preserve its documents.598  PG&E contends litigation is “reasonable 

foreseeable” if there is an identifiable specific claim, not the “mere existence of a 

potential claim or the distant possibility of litigation.”599 

PG&E raised these same arguments in its appeal of the Recordkeeping 

POD.600  However, as stated in Reeves v. MV Transportation (2010) 186 Cal. App. 

4th 666, 681:  “In order for an adverse inference to arise from the destruction of 

evidence, the party having control over the evidence must have had an 

obligation to preserve it at the time it was destroyed.”601  Thus, the real question 

is whether PG&E had a duty or obligation to preserve the documents in 

question, not whether PG&E reasonably foresaw or anticipated litigation.  

PG&E’s argument, however, narrows the spoliation doctrine by arguing that the 

duty to preserve documents only arises if there is “pending or reasonably 

foreseeable litigation.”  In essence, PG&E argues that it had no duty to create or 

maintain records of its transmission pipeline system unless it had advance notice 

of the initiation of the Pipeline OIIs or civil litigation.  

For a typical company, which may or may not face litigation at any given 

time, the focus on whether litigation is reasonably foreseeable is generally an 

appropriate standard.  The relationship of a regulated utility to its regulator, 

                                              
597  PG&E Appeal at 33. 

598  PG&E Appeal at 33-34. 

599  PG&E Appeal at 8. 

600  See Pacific Gas and Electric Company’s Appeal of the Presiding Officer’s Decision, filed  
October 2, 2014 in I.11-02-016, at 14-17. 

601  Reeves, supra, 186 Cal.App.4th at p.681 (citing Kronish v. U.S. (2d Cir., 1998) 150 F.3d 112, 126).   
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however, is different than the relationship of a company to the courts.  A 

company may become subject to the authority of the courts in the context of 

litigation, or it may not.  A regulated utility is always under the authority of its 

regulatory agency.  Thus, it is entirely foreseeable that the records of the 

installation, testing and maintenance of PG&E’s gas transmission pipeline system 

would be the routine subject of administrative proceedings and necessary to 

ensure the safe operation of its system and the safety of the public.  Courts have 

held that destruction of evidence in violation of a regulation that requires its 

retention can give rise to an inference of spoliation.602 

As relevant here, utilities such as PG&E have a statutory duty to maintain 

records under Pub. Util. Code §§ 313 and 314.  These provisions would be 

rendered meaningless if PG&E could destroy or discard any records at its 

discretion.  In addition, 49 CFR § 192 requires PG&E to maintain and retain 

records concerning the design, installation, maintenance and operation of its gas 

transmission pipeline system.603  In other words, PG&E is always under a duty to 

maintain records relevant to the safe and reliable operation of its natural gas 

transmission pipeline system. 

PG&E further argues that the Violations PODs could not rely on an 

adverse inference to decide issues against PG&E because “the record did not 

contain any evidence that PG&E actually failed to create or maintain records, or 

that the lack of a particular record impacted PG&E’s operations.”604  PG&E 

                                              
602  See, e.g. Byrnie v. Town of Cromwell, 243 F.3d 95, 108-109 (2nd Cir. 2001); Hicks v. Gates Rubber 
Co., 833 F.2d 1406, 1409 (10th Cir. 1987). 

603  See, e.g., 49 CFR § 192.709, which specifies the record to be maintained for transmission lines 
and the retention period. 

604  PG&E Appeal at 35-36. 
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argues that even if an adverse inference were permissible, CPSD still bore the 

burden of “introducing evidence tending affirmatively to prove [its] case.”605 

PG&E is essentially arguing that CPSD must present some evidence that 

the non-existence of relevant documents was because PG&E intentionally or 

inadvertently destroyed or discarded records, or failed to create the records at 

issue.  Regardless of the reason, the result is the same:  relevant evidence is 

missing.  It would not be fair for PG&E to benefit in this litigation as a result of 

the absence of records that PG&E was under a duty to maintain, whether that 

absence is the result of intentional destruction, inadvertent loss, or failure to 

create those records.   

The effect of the missing evidence on this proceeding is fundamentally 

identical to the effect of spoliation on a court proceeding.  There are a number of 

potential remedies that are available under such circumstances.606  Thus, we 

properly exercised our discretion in determining that the application of the 

traditional remedy for spoliation would be appropriate here, and applied an 

adverse inference to the lack of evidence that PG&E was under a duty to 

maintain. 

11.6. California Pipeline Safety Trust 

CSB’s appeal argues that the POD’s denial of its proposed Pipeline Safety 

Trust is in error because (1) the denial is based on the POD’s holding CSB to a 

higher standard of proof than CPSD, (2) the fact that the Trust could intervene 

before the Commission in future proceedings is not grounds for rejecting the 

creation of a trust, and (3) the POD’s reliance on a lack of evidence of community 

                                              
605  PG&E Appeal  at 36 (citation omitted). 

606  See, Cedars-Sinai Medical Center v. Superior Court (1998) 18 Cal.4th 1, 11-13 (listing remedies for 
spoliation of evidence). 
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support is factually and legally erroneous.607  Joint Parties state that as an 

alternative to an independent monitor, “a California Pipeline Safety Trust would 

provide many of the same benefits as an Independent Monitor:  a safety advocate 

with guaranteed independence that could complement the efforts of CPSD by 

acting as a watchdog for utility compliance with safety regulations and 

decisions.”608   

CSB argues that the POD placed a higher burden of proof on CSB 

regarding its Trust proposal than it placed on CPSD regarding its proposal for 

increased duties of the Aerial Patrol Program Manager.609  CSB notes that in 

making its proposal, CPSD had not discussed how the Aerial Patrol Program 

Manager’s role would be organized.610  We do not find that this example upholds 

CSB’s argument that it was held to a higher burden of proof than CPSD.  As the 

POD stated, all of CPSD’s proposed remedies in the Class Location OII were 

contained in CPSD’s Investigative Report for that proceeding.611  Thus, unlike 

CSB’s contested Trust proposal, CPSD’s proposal was vetted through the 

evidentiary hearing process. 

CSB objects to the POD’s reference to the fact that the Trust could 

intervene before the Commission in future proceedings and could be subject to 

intervenor compensation requirements.612  We clarify here that this reference was 

                                              
607  CSB Appeal at 17-21.  

608  Joint Parties’ Response at 16. 

609  CSB Appeal at 18.  While CSB does not explicitly identify the proposed CPSD remedy, it is 
clear that it is referring to Proposed Remedy 4.D.6 (POD at 132).  

610  CSB Appeal at 18, referring to the CPSD Opening Brief at 68. 

611  POD at 131. 

612  CSB Appeal at 19-20. 
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intended to illuminate the discussion of the lack of specifics in CSB’s proposal 

and was not intended as sufficient grounds for denial of CSB’s Trust proposal. 

Finally, CSB argues that the POD’s reference to a lack of evidence of 

community support is factually and legally erroneous.613  We find that the 

reference to community support is not needed and therefore delete it. 

As noted in the POD, we do not disagree that an organization such as the 

proposed Trust could provide a unique voice and perspective promoting safety 

in Commission proceedings.  We are open to the institution of independent 

advocacy for safety before this Commission, whether that advocacy resides 

within the Commission, outside the Commission, or both.  Still, at this time we 

are not persuaded that CSB’s Trust proposal represents the best way to meet the 

goals of such advocacy.   

Nor are we persuaded that payment by PG&E shareholders is the most 

equitable means of funding such advocacy, which we regard as a statewide 

function not restricted to PG&E or its service territory.  CSB has proposed that 

PG&E shareholders pay at least $100 million for the Trust.  While it is 

appropriate to impose significant penalties on PG&E, as this decision does, we 

are not persuaded that it is appropriate to require PG&E’s shareholders to 

provide $100 million for advocacy and oversight that benefits all California 

citizens.   

Finally, we note that Pub. Util. Code § 854.5(b) discourages the 

Commission from establishing “nonstate entities” such as the Trust.  Creating 

such entities with shareholder money is permitted, but is subject to a 30-day 

review by the Joint Legislative Budget Committee prior to creation. 

                                              
613  CSB Appeal at 20-21. 
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11.7. Independent Monitor  

CSB has appealed the POD’s denial of its proposal for establishment of a 

PG&E shareholder-funded independent monitor that would evaluate and review 

PG&E’s compliance with the PSEP Decision and any fines and remedies ordered 

in the POD.614  Joint Parties support CSB on this issue.615  Most of the grounds 

relied upon by CSB in its appeal represent policy disagreements that do not 

require further discussion here.616   

CSB argues that the POD placed a higher burden of proof on CSB 

regarding the effectiveness of an independent monitor than it placed on CPSD 

regarding the effectiveness of its request that PG&E reimburse CPSD for 

contracts for independent industry experts for verification audits and inspections 

to ensure compliance with other remedies and inspectors as well as experts to 

provide expertise with PG&E’s hydrostatic testing program.617 

The evidentiary basis for the POD’s denial of an independent monitor can 

be distilled to the following points: 

 Prior to the 2010 San Bruno disaster, CPSD was at times 
ineffective in its safety oversight of PG&E’s natural gas 
transmission system; however, there is no evidence that, going 
forward, CPSD will be ineffective.618 

 Independent monitors have been used elsewhere, but their 
effectiveness is not in evidence.619 

                                              
614  CSB Appeal at 1-16.  

615  Joint Parties’ Response at 13-16. 

616  For example, we find that CSB’s call for more transparency than CPSD can offer in its 
oversight process (CSB Appeal at 14-15) to be a policy rather than a legal question. 

617  CSB Appeal at 7-8, referring to the request of CPSD in its Fines and Remedies Opening Brief 
at 58 and its Fines and Remedies Reply Brief at 4, 7-8, Appendix B at 1, 4.A.1. 

618  POD at 142. 

619  POD at 142-43.  
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We do not find that the POD’s reliance on this evidence is based on 

holding CSB to a higher standard of proof than CPSD.  Rather, the decision not to 

establish an independent monitor is based on the POD’s weighing of the 

evidence. 

CSB argues that the POD “unlawfully concludes it can disregard other 

jurisdictions’ fines and penalties in response to energy industry disasters because 

any party subject to an Independent Monitor ‘was not subject to comprehensive 

regulatory oversight such as this Commission exercises.’”620  While we do not 

fully accept CSB’s argument, we find that the language in question does not add 

to the discussion.  We therefore modify the POD to delete it. 

CSB argues that the POD ignored its request to establish an independent 

financial monitor that would oversee PG&E’s expenditures and follow each 

dollar the Commission directs PG&E shareholders to spend.621  Compliance with 

this decision means that PG&E, at shareholder expense, will have paid a fine of 

$300 million to the State of California General Fund, issued a $400 million bill 

credit to ratepayers, , established a deferred liability account (the Shareholder-

Funded Gas Transmission Safety Account), track expenditures on designated 

safety-related projects or programs to be funded by shareholders, and fully and 

faithfully implement approximately 75 other remedies described in Section 7 and 

Appendix E of this decision.   

Since compliance with the first three of those penalty elements is 

straightforward and readily verifiable, the remaining concern is with full 

implementation of the other remedies: the proper tracking of future expenditures 

on safety-related projects or programs, and the remedies listed in Appendix E.  

                                              
620  CPSD Appeal at 7, quoting the POD at 143. 

621  CSB Appeal at 15. 
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The tracking of future expenditures is already subject to independent audits, and 

the first adopted “other remedy” in Appendix E provides for verification audits 

and inspections by CPSD-selected independent experts to ensure compliance 

with the other remedies.622  We expect that when CPSD retains independent 

experts pursuant to the first remedy, it will do so to ensure compliance with both 

the financial and non-financial aspects of the adopted remedies. Given the 

reporting and independent auditing requirements already in place for the 

tracking of future safety-related expenditures, CSB’s proposal for an 

independent financial monitor is duplicative.  CSB has not persuaded us that 

establishment of an independent financial monitor is necessary and appropriate 

to ensure compliance with the PSEP decision.  This is reinforced by Pub. Util. 

Code § 854.5(b) which, as discussed above, discourages the Commission from 

establishing nonstate entities.  Accordingly, establishment of an independent 

financial monitor is not required. 

11.8. Reimbursement of Litigation Expenses 

11.8.1. Legal Authority to Order Shareholders  
to Reimburse Intervenors’  
Litigation Expenses  

PG&E, CPSD, CSB and Joint Parties responded to Commissioner Picker’s 

request for review of the POD’s proposal that would ”… order a public utility’s 

shareholders to compensate parties in a Commission proceeding outside of the 

Intervenor Compensation framework…”623  PG&E opposed the POD’s proposal 

                                              
622  POD, Appendix E, page 1. 

623  Request for Review [of Commissioner Picker] at 3. 
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to broadly reimburse the intervenors’ litigation expenses, and argued that: ”The 

order is expressly prohibited by Pub. Util. Code § 1802(b).”624   

CPSD, Joint Parties and CSB, on the other hand, maintain that the 

Commission has authority to order shareholders to pay for intervenor 

compensation instead of ratepayers, and that ordering PG&E’s shareholders to 

do so is warranted in this instance.625  CPSD notes:  “the Commission has broad 

equitable powers under the California Constitution, Art. XII, and under § 701 of 

the Cal. Pub. Util. Code to supervise utilities particularly when the utility has 

violated Commission regulations, statutory provisions or orders.”626   

We have considered the legal arguments presented by parties and have 

concluded that the Commission does have the authority to order utility 

shareholders to reimburse intervenors for certain litigation expenses as an 

equitable remedy under Pub. Util. Code § 701.   Just because we can do 

something, however, does not mean that we should do something.  

As discussed in Section 7.2.9, the Commission has determined that policy 

and equity considerations do not support a departure from our standard 

approach to intervenor compensation.  Accordingly, this decision differs from 

the POD and does not make a broad award of compensation to all intervenors 

under Pub. Util. Code § 701, but rather only provides for intervenor 

                                              
624  Pacific Gas and Electric Company’s Response to Appeals and Requests for Review of the Presiding 
Officers’ Decision on Fines and Remedies, filed October 27, 2015, at 10, fn. 17.  All of PG&E’s 
arguments are contained in this single footnote. 

625  Response of the Consumer Protections and Safety Division to Request for Review of Commissioner 
Picker (CPSD Response to Request for Review), filed October 27, 2014, at 9-11; Joint Parties’ Response 
to Appeals and Requests for Review of the Presiding Officers’ Decisions in the Pipeline Investigations, 
filed October 27, 2014, at 7-9; Response of the City of San Bruno to Request for Review of 
Commissioner Picker (CSB Response to Request for Review), filed October 27, 2014. 

626 CPSD Response to Request for Review at 10. 
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compensation via the intervenor compensation program, pursuant to Pub. Util. 

Code §§ 1801 et seq. 

11.8.2. Reimbursement of PG&E’s Litigation Expenses 

Joint Parties contend that in addition to the Pipeline OIIs, the San Bruno 

explosion and fire have resulted in “a myriad of legal challenges,” and the cost to 

defend these challenges has been enormous.627  Joint Parties argue that the legal 

fees and expenses associated with these gas pipeline safety cases should not be 

paid by ratepayers and request that a new Ordering Paragraph 11 be added to 

the POD:628 

PG&E shareholders shall pay all of PG&E’s legal expenses 
incurred on or after September 9, 2010 for the purpose of 
defending these proceedings, and any other proceedings that can 
reasonably be construed to be related to the San Bruno explosion 
or the Pipeline Investigations, including, without limitation the 

National  Transportation Safety Board Investigation, shareholder 
derivative lawsuits, lawsuits brought by the City of San Bruno or 
any of the explosion victims and/or their survivors, and the 
defense of any criminal proceedings. Legal expenses shall 
include, without limitation, expert witness fees, and the costs 
associated with PG&E employee time devoted to those 
proceedings.  

We do not find that the issue of PG&E’s employee and legal fees should be 

considered in these proceedings.  Rather, these costs are more appropriately 

considered as part of PG&E’s General Rate Case (GRC) proceedings.  Indeed, 

PG&E notes, San Bruno-related costs incurred in 2014, including employee costs, 

                                              
627  Joint Parties’ Appeal at 23-24. 

628  Joint Parties’ Appeal at 25-26. 



I.12-01-007 et al.   L/MP6/mal 

 

- 220 - 

were considered and addressed in its most recent GRC.629  Accordingly, we 

decline to adopt Joint Parties’ proposed Ordering Paragraph. 

11.9. Revisions to Remedies 

PG&E requests revisions to two remedies.630  First, it requests that adopted 

remedy 33 in the San Bruno OII be revised to delete the sentence:  “PG&E shall 

revise its STIP program to make safety performance 40% of the score used to 

determine the total award.”631  PG&E explains that setting the specific 

requirement that the safety component of the STIP (Short Term Incentive 

Program) is not necessary because PG&E is already meeting this requirement.  

Although CPSD had originally recommended the STIP program element that 

makes safety 40% of the score used to determine the award be included in this 

remedy, it does not oppose PG&E’s proposed modification.632  Accordingly, 

adopted remedy 33 in I.12-01-007 is revised to read as follows: 

PG&E’s incentive plan shall include safety.  PG&E shall require 
upper management to participate in annual training activities 
that enhance and expand their knowledge of safety, including 
exercises in which gas officers will have an opportunity to 
enhance their knowledge of incident command and will 
participate in an annual safety leadership workshop. 

PG&E also requests that adopted remedy 14 in the Recordkeeping OII be 

amended so that its MAOP validation effort and records management 

improvement efforts be utilized instead of the minimum records to be included  

                                              
629  PG&E Response at 11-12. 

630  PG&E Appeal at 16. 

631  PG&E Appeal at 16. 

632  CPSD Response at 13. 
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in a job file currently listed.633  CPSD opposes this proposed revision.634  As CPSD 

notes, we have already considered and rejected the proposed changes to adopted 

remedy 14.635  We agree with CPSD that PG&E’s proposed revision to adopted 

remedy 14 should be rejected.   

11.10.Other Revisions 

CPSD identifies several technical or legal errors in the POD.  First, it notes 

that the POD incorrectly identifies the legal authority under which GO 112 was 

originally adopted.636  CPSD states that GO 112 was adopted pursuant to Pub. 

Util. Code § 768, not 49 U.S.C. § 60105.  We agree with CPSD that the 

jurisdictional basis pursuant to which the Commission adopted GO 112 was 

misidentified.  The POD is revised to correct the jurisdictional basis. 

CPSD further notes that there is a mathematical error in the total number 

of segments (violations) identified in the Class Location POD.  CPSD states the 

total number of segments (violations) should be 2,360, not 3,643.637  In the 

modified Class Location POD, we corrected the total number of segments 

(violations) to 2,360.  We make the corresponding changes in the POD. 

Finally, we make non-substantive edits to correct typographical errors or 

to clarify our discussion. 

12. Comments on the Proposed Decision Different  

On March 13, 2015, a proposed Decision Different of President Picker was 

sent to the parties to these proceedings, who were given an opportunity to file 

                                              
633  PG&E Appeal at 16. 

634  CPSD Response at 15. 

635  See, Section 7.1.3.9. 

636  Consumer Protection and Safety Division’s Appeal of Presiding Officers’ Decision (CPSD Appeal), 
filed October 2, 2014, at 2.  

637  CPSD Appeal at 3. 
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comments, although no comment period was legally required.   Comments were 

due on April 1, 2015, and were limited to differences between the Penalties POD 

and the proposed Decision Different.  Parties were informed that to the extent 

any comments exceeded that scope, they would not be considered.  Timely 

comments were filed by CSB, CARE,  CPSD, DRA, TURN, and PG&E.  Changes 

were made to the decision as appropriate.  

In its comments, PG&E requested several changes to the Decision 

Different.  PG&E commented on the $850 million disallowance (the Shareholder-

Funded Account).   

Two of these changes would have the effect of shifting more of the 

disallowance away from capital investments on which the utility will never 

receive a rate of return or depreciation.  For the reasons explained above, we 

believe it appropriate to devote most of the Shareholder-Funded Account to 

capital expenditures and to ensure that PG&E does not earn a rate of return or 

depreciation on those investments.  Accordingly, we will not adopt either  

(i) PG&E’s request to base the split of the $850 million between expenses and 

capital expenditures on the ratio of those two items to be adopted in the GT&S 

proceeding (which covers items that are not especially safety-related); and (ii) 

PG&E’s request to simply offset the $850 million disallowance against its 

authorized GT&S revenues.    

PG&E requests that the reasonableness of its expenditures out of the 

Shareholder-Funded Account be evaluated through audits, rather than cost caps.  

We reject this suggestion.  Audits will be time-consuming and costly and could 

easily lead to further litigation at the Commission.  We prefer a simpler approach 

that can be handled through the advice letter process, rather than a formal 

proceeding.   
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PG&E also requests that it be allowed to track expenditures out of the 

Shareholder-Funded Account on a program-by-program, rather than project-by-

project, basis.  It may well be more appropriate that some (or all) of the safety-

related expenses and capital expenditures designated in the GT&S (or 

subsequent) proceeding will be better tracked on a program, rather than project, 

basis.  Accordingly, we have revised the text above to allow the GT&S (or other) 

proceeding to determine how each category of expenditures should be tracked.   

That is appropriate because the details of the specific programs or projects to be 

funded out of the Shareholder Account are on the record in those proceedings, 

not these proceedings.     

In its comments, TURN requests that PG&E’s shareholders bear the cost of 

property taxes on the capital investments paid for out of the $850 million 

Shareholder-Funded Account.  That was not our intention, and we decline to 

make that change.  Shareholders earn no profit on property taxes, the cost of 

which is simply passed through to ratepayers.  As property taxes are an ongoing 

cost of operating plant that is in service, the property taxes on this shareholder-

funded plant should be paid by ratepayers, unless otherwise disallowed.  For 

purposes of this part of this decision property taxes are like the ongoing 

operation and maintenance costs for which ratepayers will also be responsible.   

DRA, TURN and PG&E all filed comments suggesting technical changes to 

the Decision’s implementation of the $400 million bill credit.   DRA proposes that 

the bill credit be based on the throughput forecast that will be adopted in the 

2015 Gas Transmission and Storage (GT&S) Application (A.13-12-012), and that 

the credit be applied to the January 2016 bill (and succeeding months) to reduce 

costs for core customers during the typically higher cost winter heating month(s).  

DRA also suggests that a different methodology may be appropriate for Non-

Core customers.  
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TURN proposes that the bill credit be based on two months’ actual 

consumption (November and December) to generate an equitable and adequate 

refund, and that any over- or under-collection of the bill credit be apportioned 

using the same two months of actual consumption.  Additionally, TURN 

suggests that the Commission add language directing master-metered customers 

to pass the bill credit through to their submetered tenants, as required by Section 

739.5(b) of the Public Utilities Code.  

PG&E proposes that the bill credit be based on the most recent recorded 

usage data, and has particular suggestions for the proper accounting of any 

shortfall or excess refunds.  PG&E also suggests that it submit a plan that takes 

into consideration the differences in customer usage and rates in its Advice 

Letter filing.   

The Commission agrees that some technical changes and clarifications to 

the implementation of the $400 million bill credit should be made, so that the 

Commission’s intention as to this equitable remedy is made clear.  First, we agree 

with both TURN and PG&E that the bill credit should be based on the most 

recent actual consumption.  Therefore, we clarify that the bill credit will be based 

on a cents-per-therm methodology, based on the total actual billed gas 

throughput during the November and December 2015 billing cycles.  Each 

customer shall receive a bill credit based on their billed amounts during their 

November and December 2015 billing cycles on their February 2016 bill.638  We 

are directing PG&E to provide this bill credit to all of its gas customers using the 

same methodology. We do so because we prefer a simple and clear methodology 

                                              
638  If PG&E finds that it is impossible to provide the bill credits on its February 2016 
bills, we direct PG&E to propose the earliest possible dates for providing the bill credits 
in the Advice Letter required by Ordering Paragraph 5. 
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that can be implemented as soon as possible. Accordingly, we are requiring the 

use of a Tier 2 Advice Letter process, as we envision that the implementation of 

the bill credit should be ministerial.  Finally, we will adopt TURN’s suggestion in 

part, and will direct residential master-metered customers to pass the bill credit 

through to their submetered tenants.  

CSB devotes most of its comments on the Decision Different to arguments 

that the Decision Different should award CSB and other intervenors their 

litigation expenses, including attorney’s fees, expert witness fees and costs.639  On 

this issue, TURN’s comments support CSB, while the comments of ORA, CPSD 

and PG&E are silent. 

CSB characterizes the Penalties POD’s fee award as being based on 

evidence, arguing that there is “undisputed evidence in support of an award,”640 

and that this is a “factually sensitive issue.”641 CSB argues that, by comparison, 

there is “no evidence” to support the Decision Different on this issue.642  In fact, 

the Penalties POD’s resolution of this issue is not based on specific evidence; just 

like the Decision Different, the Penalties POD made its determination based on 

policy and equity concerns, not on specific factual evidence.643 The level of 

evidentiary support on this issue is no different in the Decision Different than in 

the Penalties POD. 

                                              
639  City of San Bruno’s Comments on Decision Different of President Picker on Fines and Remedies to be 
Imposed on Pacific Gas and Electric Company for Specific Violations in Connection With the Operation 
and Practices of its Natural Gas Transmission System Pipelines (CSB Comments) at 2.  The rest of 
CSB’s comments address issues on which there is no substantive difference between the 
Penalties POD and the Decision Different. 

640  Id. at 4. 

641  Id. at 9. 

642  Id. at 4 and 6. 

643  Penalties POD at 153-154. 
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CSB argues that the Decision Different, by awarding compensation under 

the intervenor compensation statutes, is acting unfairly because PG&E 

ratepayers, rather than PG&E shareholders, would be bearing the burden of 

paying TURN’s fees.644 We note that our approach here is consistent with the 

provisions of California’s intervenor compensation statute,645 which generally 

governs intervenor compensation in Commission proceedings, and which the 

Commission believes can be fairly applied in this proceeding.   

CSB argues that it was “forced” to participate in these proceedings, that its 

participation was “non-negotiable” and that it was “required” to expend 

significant resources and time in these proceedings.646 TURN makes a similar 

argument in support of CSB on this issue.647 CSB was not a respondent or a 

defendant in these proceedings; only CPSD and PG&E were required to 

participate.  CSB chose to participate because they determined that doing so was 

important for the City and its residents. In any event, it is unclear why the 

unusual importance of this proceeding to CSB supports a deviation from the 

intervenor compensation method spelled out in California law.  

CSB claims that the Commission committed legal error in citing to three 

previous Commission decisions.648 According to CSB, the Commission relied 

upon those three decisions for its determination that CSB should not be 

compensated here.649 CSB mischaracterizes the Decision Different’s use of those 

                                              
644  CSB Comments at 4 and 5. 

645  Pub. Util. Code § 1801 et seq. 

646  CSB Comments at 5-6. 

647  TURN Comments at 10-11. 

648  CSB Comments at 7. 

649  Id. 
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cases.  The Decision Different does not rely upon those cases as precedent or 

legal authority, but only provides them as illustrative examples, showing that 

cities and counties regularly appear before the Commission (and make 

substantial contributions to Commission decisions) with no expectation of 

compensation.  Providing examples to illustrate a point is not legal error. 

No changes are made on the issue litigation compensation in response to 

comments.  Other minor changes have been made in response to comments on 

other issues.  

13. Assignment of Proceeding 

Michael Picker is the assigned Commissioner.650  Mark S. Wetzell is the 

assigned Administrative Law Judge in I.12-01-007 and Amy C. Yip-Kikugawa is 

the assigned Administrative Law Judge in I.11-02-016 and I.11-11-009.  The 

Presiding Officers in these proceedings are Administrative Law Judges Wetzell 

and Yip-Kikugawa. 

Findings of Fact 

1. In response to the September 9, 2010 explosion and fire in San Bruno, 

the Commission opened three separate investigations.  Investigation  

(I.) 11-02-016 (Recordkeeping), I.11-11-009 (Class Location) and I.12-01-007  

(San Bruno). 

2. Decisions on violations were issued in each of the investigations. 

3. The decisions on violations serve as the basis for determining penalties 

to be imposed. 

                                              
650  Michael R. Peevey was the assigned Commissioner in I.12-01-007 until the proceeding was 
reassigned to Commissioner Picker on September 23, 2014.  Michel Peter Florio was the 
assigned Commissioner in I.11-02-016 and I.11-11-009 until the proceeding was reassigned to 
Commissioner Picker on October 16, 2014. 
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4. The San Bruno Violations Decision found PG&E had committed 

32 violations, many of them continuing for years, and a total of 59,255 separate 

offenses. 

5. The Recordkeeping Violations Decision found PG&E had committed 

33 violations, many of them continuing for years, and a total of 350,189 separate 

offenses. 

6. The Class Location Violations Decision found PG&E had committed 

2,360 violations, many of them continuing for years, and a total of 18,038,359 

separate offenses. 

7. There is no duplication of alleged violations regarding assumed SMYS 

values. 

8. Adopted San Bruno violation 1 regarding hydrostatic testing is 

substantially similar to Felts Violation 3.  Felts Violation 3 is more inclusive, as it 

addresses recordkeeping violations. 

9. There is no duplication of alleged violations regarding establishing 

MAOP for Segment 180. 

10. Adopted San Bruno violation 19, regarding clearance documentation, 

appears to be included in Felts Violation 5 and, therefore should be excluded 

from the total number of violations. 

11. There is no duplication of alleged violations regarding the adequacy of 

SCADA. 

12. There is no duplication of alleged violations regarding PG&E’s 

emergency procedures. 

13. There is no duplication of alleged violations regarding PG&E’s GIS 

data. 

14. There is no duplication of alleged violations regarding patrol records. 
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15. The Commission has been certificated pursuant to 49 U.S.C. § 60105 to 

enforce the Department of Transportation’s minimum federal safety standards 

for gas pipeline facilities. 

16. GO 112-E automatically incorporates all revisions to the Federal 

Pipeline Safety Regulations, 49 CFR Parts 190, 191, 192, 193 and 199. 

17. Ordering Paragraph 3 of the PSEP Decision provides that all increases 

in revenue requirement ordered in that decision are subject to refund pending 

decisions in these Pipeline OIIs. 

18. CPSD, TURN, DRA, CSB and CCSF propose penalties that consist of 

fines, disallowances and other remedies that would equal approximately  

$2.25 billion after tax. 

19. The penalties imposed on El Paso Natural Gas Company for the 

Carlsbad explosion were the result of a consent decree. 

20. UGI Corporation settled the enforcement actions brought upon it for 

the Allentown explosion. 

21. Decision 98-12-075 identified five factors to be considered in 

determining the level of penalties to be imposed. 

22. The San Bruno explosion and fire resulted in physical harm. 

23. A violation of Rule 1.1 of the Commission’s Rules of Practice and 

Procedure is a severe offense. 

24. PG&E management had been notified at various times that its pipeline 

records were not complete and of the impact of not having those records.  

25. The Recordkeeping Violations Decision found that PG&E violated Rule 

1.1 on two occasions with respect to its responses to CPSD’s data requests, and 

potentially violated Rule 1.1 with respect to another data request. 

26. PG&E’s market value as of January 10, 2012 was $16.439 billion, and 

an aggregate value of $29.117 billion. 



I.12-01-007 et al.   L/MP6/mal 

 

- 230 - 

27. If one were to consider PG&E’s gas transmission and distribution 

business on a standalone basis, it would have an aggregate value of 

approximately $6.4 billion, and an equity value of approximately $4.3 billion. 

28. Between February 2012 and February 2013, various equity analysts 

projected fines, disallowances and other remedies ranging from $500 million to 

$3.65 billion (pre-tax). 

29. PG&E has the ability to raise equity to cover penalties and remedies in 

the amount of $2.45 billion, without harming ratepayers or its ability to raise the 

equity needed for revenue-producing investments required to provide adequate 

and safe service. 

30. Investors should be able to distinguish between a penalty and 

unrecoverable ongoing operating costs. 

31. The California regulatory system in place for PG&E and other large 

energy utilities has numerous mechanisms designed to ensure that these utilities 

are able to recover their reasonable costs on a going forward basis, despite large 

swings in variables such as energy costs and energy usage.   

32. With the exception of the investigation into the explosion of a 

distribution pipeline in Rancho Cordova, the Commission’s past enforcement 

cases that resulted in large fines did not involve deaths or severe property 

damage. 

33. The penalties under consideration are for violations found in three 

separate proceedings. 

34. None of the Commission’s prior enforcement cases or the other gas 

pipeline accidents identified in the Wells Fargo Report had an actual or potential 

impact on such a large area or number of people. 

35. The $38,000,000 penalty adopted in the Rancho Cordova Decision was 

the result of a modified settlement agreement. 
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36. The decision on violations in the Pipeline OIIs found that PG&E 

committed 2,425 violations, many of them continuing for years, for a total of 

18,447,803 days in violation. 

37. If a fine were to be imposed based on every day in violation,  the range 

of fines that could be imposed pursuant to Pub. Util. Code § 2107 would be from 

$9.2 billion to $254.3 billion. 

38. PG&E does not cite to any evidence that it has failed to earn nearly its 

authorized rate of return for any past period. 

39. There is no credible record evidence whether or not PG&E will earn 

approximately its authorized rate of return in the future.   

40. The allegedly unrecoverable gas transmission costs identified by 

PG&E are largely outside the record of this proceeding, speculative,  or lacking 

in foundation,  and PG&E’s argument that the Commission should take those 

costs into consideration is not credible.   

41. Although PG&E had been authorized to collect in rates costs to replace 

pipeline segments as part of its Gas Pipeline and Replacement Program in 1986 

and 1992, PG&E moved to performing risk assessments in the late 1990’s and 

only replaced 25 miles of pipe between 2000 and 2010. 

42. The majority of the projects approved in the PSEP Decision were to 

correct recordkeeping shortfalls and implement safety improvements, including 

pipeline testing and replacement that had been neglected by PG&E. 

43. The PSEP Decision (D.12-12-030) disallowed rate recovery of 

approximately $635,000,000. 

44. In the PSEP Decision (D.12-12-030), the Commission authorized total 

capital expenditures for 2013 and 2014 in the amount of $696.2 million (Table  

E-3), and for the same period authorized expenses in the amount of  
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$162.5 million (Table E-2), for a combined total of $858.7 million.  Expenses were 

about 19% of the total.   

45. Additional PG&E gas infrastructure improvements will need to be 

made in the future, which will require additional capital expenditures and 

expenses.   

46. CSB, CCSF and DRA are governmental entities that are not eligible for 

statutory intervenor compensation under Pub. Util. Code § 1801 et. seq. for their 

participation in Commission proceedings.. 

47. CSB, CCSF and DRA chose to actively participate in these proceedings. 

48. CSB, CCSF and DRA have not shown that they had a reasonable 

expectation of compensation for their participation in these proceedings. 

Conclusions of Law 

1. Each violation of a regulation or statute is considered a separate offense, 

even if it is the result of the same underlying actions. 

2. It is reasonable to eliminate duplicative and overlapping violations 

from the total number of days in violation used to calculate the penalties. 

3. The Commission may enforce violations of 49 CFR 192 pursuant to its 

constitutional and statutory authority. 

4. Pub. Util. Code § 451 imposes various requirements on the utility, e.g., 

that its rates be reasonable and that its facilities be safe, but does not expressly 

grant any authority to the Commission.   

5. The Commission may impose fines for violation of laws and regulations 

pursuant to Pub. Util. Code §§ 2107 and 2108. 

6. The California Constitution, along with Pub. Util. Code § 701, confers 

broad authority on the Commission to regulate public utilities. 
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7. Fines imposed pursuant to Pub. Util. Code § 2107 are paid to the State’s 

General Fund. 

8. The purpose of fines is to deter further violations by the perpetrator and 

others. 

9. The Commission has the authority to fashion equitable remedies 

pursuant to the California Constitution and Pub. Util. Code §§ 701, 728 and 761. 

10. The Commission may order refunds or bill credits as an equitable 

remedy pursuant to the California Constitution and Pub. Util. Code §§ 701 and 

728. 

11. Any penalties imposed on PG&E in connection with the violations 

arising from the Pipeline OIIs should be significantly greater than those imposed 

on El Paso Natural Gas Company or UGI Corporation. 

12. The California legislature has given the Commission broad discretion 

to determine the appropriate level of fines for violations, rather than establish a 

maximum fine for a continuing violation or a related series of violations. 

13. Based on the violations presented in the Pipeline OIIs, the penalties 

imposed by this decision are not excessive and are necessary to deter future 

violations. 

14. Violations that result in physical or economic harm and the failure to 

comply with statutes or Commission directions are considered severe violations. 

15. The fact that PG&E’s violations are pervasive throughout its pipeline 

system and result in violations of more than one regulation or law does not 

change the need to consider them as separate violations. 

16. Misleading the Commission and impeding the staff’s investigation in 

the Recordkeeping OII are severe offenses. 

17. PG&E’s offenses should be considered severe. 
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18. PG&E has the responsibility to ensure that its gas transmission 

pipeline systems are operated safely, not CPSD. 

19. The fact that other gas utilities may also be violating statutes and 

regulations is not an excuse for PG&E to not be in compliance. 

20. All utilities under the Commission’s jurisdiction are expected to 

comply with Commission directives and orders. 

21. PG&E has not acted in good faith to discover, disclose and remedy the 

violations. 

22. The purpose of a penalty is to deter future violations by the company 

and others. 

23. Based on the gravity and severity of the violations, PG&E’s statutory 

obligation to provide safe and reliable gas service, the pervasive nature of 

PG&E’s recordkeeping shortfalls, the impact of the San Bruno explosion on its 

residents, and the commission’s and the public interest in ensuring safe and 

reliable natural gas service, a severe penalty is warranted. 

24. Based on the significantly greater physical impact of the San Bruno 

explosion and fire, the increased risk to all residents in PG&E’s service territory 

and the duration of the violations, the potential penalty exposure to PG&E 

should be significantly higher than the $97,000,000 calculated in Rancho Cordova. 

25. PG&E’s argument that, in determining an appropriate penalty, the 

Commission should take into account allegedly unrecoverable gas safety related 

costs is not credible, and should be given no weight.   

26. PG&E should be ordered to pay a fine of $300 million pursuant to Pub. 

Util. Code §§ 2107 and 2108. 

27. PG&E should be ordered to issue one-time bill credits totaling  

$400 million to its natural gas transmission customers. 
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28. The additional $400 million bill credit is an equitable remedy for 

PG&E’s failure to replace pipeline as needed to ensure the safe operation of its 

gas transmission pipeline system. 

29. PG&E should file a Tier 2 Advice Letter within 45 days after the 

effective date of this decision to implement the bill credit mechanism adopted in 

this decision. This Advice Letter should also provide proposed bill language that 

will be used to explain the bill credit to customers. 

30. This Advice Letter should provide a mechanism to inform master 

meter customers at mobile home parks and other residential complexes of their 

obligation to pass the bill credit on to their submetered customers in the manner 

required by Public Utilities Code Section 739.5(b). 

31. Ratepayer costs of PG&E’s future gas infrastructure improvements 

should be minimized. 

32. As an equitable remedy, PG&E shareholders should pay for  

$850 million of the costs of PG&E’s future gas transmission pipeline 

improvements, with expenditures to be considered and approved through the 

GT&S proceeding (A.13-12-012), or subsequent proceeding, and tracked through 

the accounts described herein.  

33. PG&E should be ordered to set up a deferred liability account, to be 

called the Shareholder-Funded Gas Transmission Safety Account (Shareholder-

Funded Account) with two sub-accounts.  

34. PG&E’s books should show this account as a liability obligating PG&E 

to implement designated safety-related projects or programs to be funded by 

shareholders over time.  

35. PG&E should apply that same proportion of expenses to capital 

expenditures that were authorized by the Commission in the PSEP decision 

(D.12-12-030) for 2013 and 2014.  Accordingly, of the $850 million, up to 19% 
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($161.5 million) may be devoted to items that are expensed for projects or 

programs authorized in its currently pending GT&S proceeding (A.13-12-012).  

The remainder (at least 81%, or $688.5 million) should be devoted to capital 

expenditures. 

36. One sub-account, to be called the Shareholder-Funded Gas 

Transmission Safety Expense Sub-Account in a total amount not to exceed  

$161.5 million, should be for tracking the costs of designated projects or 

programs authorized in the GT&S proceeding that are to be expensed. 

37. The other sub-account, to be called the Shareholder-Funded Gas 

Transmission Safety Capital Sub-Account, in an amount of at least $688.5 million, 

should be for tracking capital expenditures authorized in the GT&S (or 

subsequent proceeding) as plant is placed into service.  The total of the two 

subaccounts should equal $850 million.   

38. Once a decision has been issued in PG&E’s pending GT&S proceeding 

determining which expensed costs qualify as “safety-related” (as defined in this 

Decision), and therefore could be recorded in the Shareholder Funded Account, 

PG&E should cap the amount included in the Expense Sub-Account at the lesser 

of $161.5 million or the amount of such “safety-related” costs designated in that 

decision.  If that amount is less than $161.5 million, the amount to be included in 

the Capital Sub-Account should be adjusted above $688.5 million, so that the two 

sub-accounts total $850 million.  Similarly, if PG&E does not spend the full 

amount originally authorized to be recorded in the Expense Sub-Account, then 

the amount not utilized should be transferred to the Capital Sub-Account, so that 

the total of the two sub-accounts remains $850 million.   

39. In the Expense Sub-Account, PG&E should record no more than the 

amount authorized for any project or program (including any contingency, if 

authorized).  If PG&E is able to complete any particular project or program for 
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less than the authorized amount, only the amount actually expended should be 

recorded in the Expense Sub-Account. 

40. In the Capital Sub-Account, PG&E should record only those capital 

expenditures that the GT&S (or subsequent) proceeding determines to be 

“safety-related” (as defined in this Decision).  PG&E should record these capital 

expenditures as a debit entry into the Capital Sub-Account when PG&E places 

the plant or facilities in service.  As with expensed amounts, PG&E should record 

the lesser of the authorized expenditure (plus contingency, if any) or the actual 

expenditure as a debit entry to the Capital Sub-Account.  PG&E should not 

include amounts recorded in the Capital Sub-Account in its rate base, such that 

ratepayers will not be responsible for any depreciation, or rate of return on these 

capital amounts.  

41. Ratepayers should be responsible for the ongoing operation and 

maintenance costs of the facilities funded from the Capital Sub-Account, as well 

as property taxes on these capital facilities, unless those costs are otherwise 

required to be funded by shareholders, or disallowed. 

42. If this Commission disallows, or limits, any proposed safety-related 

expenditure by PG&E, in the current GT&S or subsequent proceeding, for any 

reason other than that the amount is to be paid out of the Shareholder-Funded 

Account, such disallowed amounts should not be booked into the Shareholder-

Funded Account, and should not be paid for out of the $850 million.    

43. If the GT&S proceeding designates for funding via the Shareholder-

Funded Account projects or programs whose total costs are projected to equal or 

exceed $850 million, but thereafter PG&E determines that the total of its actual 

costs for these projects and programs will not exhaust the $850 million, PG&E 

should file an information-only filing, informing the Commission of that 
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conclusion and showing the applicable amounts actually spent (or expected to be 

spent).    

44. If the current GT&S proceeding does not designate enough capital 

projects or programs to exhaust the Shareholder-Funded Account of $850 

million, additional capital projects or programs should be authorized in a 

subsequent proceeding(s) such that the capital investments and expenses total 

$850 million before the Shareholder-Funded Account is closed. 

45. PG&E should submit an annual accounting of the Shareholder-Funded 

account, as an information-only filing, no later than May 1 of the following year. 

46. PG&E’s shareholders should pay the costs of a Commission-selected 

independent auditor to audit PG&E’s accounting of the Shareholder-Funded 

Account.  The independent auditor will prepare a report on each of PG&E’s 

annual accountings.   

47. When both sub-accounts have been fully utilized, PG&E should 

submit a final accounting to the Commission, as an information-only filing.  This 

final accounting should be filed within 180 days of the date when the 

Shareholder-Funded Account was exhausted.     

48. The independent auditor should prepare a final audit report.  

Thereafter, PG&E should file an advice letter to close out the Shareholder-

Funded Account.. 

49. There should be no adjustment to the bill credit or other remedies 

adopted in this decision to account for any tax benefits PG&E should receive. 

50. The remedies contained in Appendix E of this decision should be 

adopted. 

51. The remedies adopted in this decision should not limit the 

Commission’s ability to require additional changes to PG&E’s business practices 

or governance in a future proceeding. 
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52. CSB’s proposal that PG&E be directed to provide a $100,000,000 

endowment to fund a “California Pipeline Safety Trust” should be rejected. 

53. CSB’s and DRA’s proposal that PG&E shareholders pay for an 

independent monitor to evaluate and review PG&E’s compliance with the PSEP 

Decision and any fines or remedies ordered in this decision should be rejected. 

54. The Commission’s safety jurisdictions cannot be delegated, and an 

independent monitor established to augment CPSD’s role is no substitute for, 

and does not obviate the need for, a properly resourced, trained, and tasked 

CPSD. 

55. PG&E shareholders should reimburse CPSD up to $30,000,000 for the 

costs to ensure compliance with the PSEP Decision and all remedies ordered in 

this decision, including CPSD’s costs for hiring qualified independent auditors to 

audit and issue reports for both PG&E’s MAOP Validation results and Project 

Mariner systems. 

56. CPSD should present a proposal to the Commissioners within 60 days 

of the effective date of this decision to perform the MAOP Validation and Project 

Mariner audits, and the timing for such audits to occur. 

57. CSB’s proposal that PG&E pay $150,000,000 to be placed in trust for a 

newly established Peninsula Emergency Response Fund should be rejected. 

58. CSB’s proposal V.D.2.b, regarding training of Gas Service 

Representatives and Gas Control Operators for responding to emergencies, as 

modified by PG&E, should be adopted. 

59. PG&E should formalize its emergency response and disclosure 

obligations to cities, counties and fire districts. 

60. PG&E should enter into mutual assistance agreements with the 

individual cities, counties or fire districts by no later than December 2015.  These 
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mutual assistance agreements shall be maintained in the appropriate Division 

Emergency Plan. 

61. Responsibility for enforcing the mutual assistance agreements lies with 

the Commission, not the individual cities, counties or fire districts. 

62. CSB’s proposed remedy for automated shutoff valves with automatic 

capability should be rejected. 

63. CSB’s proposal that PG&E revise its Long-Term Incentive Plan and its 

Short-Term Incentive Plan should be rejected. 

64. CPSD should present a proposal to the Commission within 60 days of 

the effective date of this decision for a comprehensive audit of all aspects of 

PG&E’s operations, including control room operations, emergency planning, 

record-keeping, performance-based risk and integrity management programs 

and public awareness programs, as recommended by the NTSB. 

65. The Commission has the authority under Pub. Util. Code § 701 to craft 

equitable remedies, including the awarding of attorneys’ fees in quasi-judicial 

proceedings, but the Commission is not required to do so. 

66. The Commission should not deviate from the statutory intervenor 

compensation program in these proceedings. 

67. CSB, CCSF and DRA should not be awarded compensation for their 

litigation costs in these proceedings. 

68. TURN may seek intervenor compensation for its litigation costs in 

these proceedings. 

69. To make the basis for portions of our Decision more transparent, pages 

1421-1429 of the Joint Transcript should be unsealed, pursuant to PU Code 

Section 583; but the confidential Exhibits discussed in that portion of the 

transcript shall remain under seal. 
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O R D E R  
 

IT IS ORDERED that: 

1. Pacific Gas and Electric Company (PG&E) must pay a fine of $300 million 

by check or money order payable to the California Public Utilities Commission 

and mailed or delivered to the Commission's Fiscal Office at 505 Van Ness 

Avenue, Room 3000, San Francisco, CA  94102, within 180 days of the effective 

date of this order.  PG&E shall write on the face of the check or money order "For 

deposit to the General Fund per Decision 15-04-024." 

2. All money received by the Commission’s Fiscal Office pursuant to the 

preceding Ordering Paragraph shall be deposited or transferred to the State of 

California General Fund as soon as practical. 

3. If Pacific Gas and Electric Company does not pay in full the $300 million 

fine ordered in Ordering Paragraph 1, the outstanding amount shall include 

interest at the rate earned on prime, three-month, non-financial commercial 

paper as reported in Federal Reserve Statistical Release H.15, beginning the 181st 

day after the effective date of this decision. 

4. Pacific Gas and Electric Company (PG&E) shall issue one-time bill credits 

totaling $400 million to its natural gas customers in accordance with the 

following: 

a.  PG&E shall calculate the gas customer bill credit using a cents 
per therm methodology based on the total  actual billed gas 
throughput during the November and December 2015 billing 
cycles.  

b. Each customer shall receive a bill credit based on their billed 
amounts during their November and December billing cycles on 
their February 2016 PG&E bill.  If PG&E finds that it is impossible 
to provide the bill credits on its February 2016 bills, PG&E shall 
propose the earliest possible dates for providing the bill credits in 
the Advice Letter required by Ordering Paragraph 5.  
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c. PG&E shall submit a report to the Commission 45 days after the 
$400 million bill credit has been distributed describing its 
calculation of the bill credit on a customer class basis, the number 
of customers it was distributed to on a customer class basis, and 
the total amount of bill credits distributed. 

d. If the total amount of bill credits distributed is more or less than 
$400 million PG&E shall, at the same time as it submits its report, 
submit a Tier 2 advice letter proposing a method of truing up the 
$400 million using existing balancing accounts.   

5. Pacific Gas and Electric Company shall submit a Tier 2 Advice Letter to 

implement the bill credit mechanism adopted in Ordering Paragraph 4, 

including proposed customer bill language, within 45 days of the effective date 

of this decision. This Advice Letter shall also provide a mechanism to inform 

master meter customers at mobile home parks and other residential complexes of 

their obligation to pass the bill credit on to their submetered customers in the 

manner required by Public Utilities Code Section 739.5(b). 

6. Within 60 days of today's decision, PG&E shall submit a Tier 3 Advice 

Letter establishing the Shareholder-Funded Gas Transmission Safety Account 

and its two sub-accounts, consistent with the requirements detailed in Section 6.1 

above, with service on all parties to these proceedings, all parties to A.13-12-012, 

and any other persons as directed by Energy Division.  In addition to complying 

with all of the requirements of Section 6.1, the Advice Letter shall specify any 

additional accounting measures that will be necessary to carry out the intent of 

that section. 

7. In A.13-12-012, the Commission will determine which expenses and capital 

expenditures authorized in that proceeding are for “safety-related” gas 

transmission projects or programs (as that term is defined in Section 6.1 above) 

that should be funded via the Shareholder-Funded Gas Transmission Safety 

Account, subject to the expense and capital expenditure requirements contained 
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in Section 6.1 above. 

8. If the amounts of safety-related gas transmission projects or programs 

identified in A.13-12-012 do not exceed $850 million, additional capital 

expenditures and expenses will be identified in a subsequent GT&S proceeding 

to bring the total expenditures from the Shareholder-Funded Gas Transmission 

Safety Account to $850 million. 

9. If the GT&S proceeding designates for funding via the Shareholder-

Funded Account projects or programs whose total costs are projected to equal or 

exceed $850 million, but thereafter PG&E determines that the total of its actual 

costs for these projects and programs will not exhaust the $850 million, PG&E 

shall file an information-only filing, informing the Commission of that 

conclusion and showing the applicable amounts actually spent (or expected to be 

spent), and serve it on all parties to these proceedings, all parties to A.13-12-012, 

and any other persons as directed by Energy Division. 

10. After the end of each calendar year, and no later than May 1 of the 

following year, PG&E shall submit a detailed accounting to the Commission of 

all entries to the Shareholder-Funded Gas Transmission Safety Account, as an 

information-only filing, pursuant to Section 6 of General Order 96-B.  This 

information-only filing shall also be served on all parties to these proceedings, all 

parties to A.13-12-012, and any other persons as directed by the Commission’s 

Energy Division, and shall contain the details specified in Section 6.1 above. 

11. PG&E shall reimburse the Commission for the cost of an independent 

auditor, to be selected by Commission Staff, to conduct audits of the 

Shareholder-Funded Gas Transmission Safety Account.  This reimbursement 

shall be funded by shareholders, not ratepayers.   
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12. The independent auditor referred to in the preceding Ordering Paragraph 

shall review each of PG&E’s detailed annual accountings and prepare a report.  

Each auditor’s report shall be served on all parties who PG&E served with its 

annual accounting.    

13. When both sub-accounts in the Shareholder-Funded Gas Transmission 

Safety Account have been fully utilized (i.e. PG&E’s spending obligations have 

been exhausted), PG&E shall submit a final accounting to the Commission, as an 

information-only filing, to be served on all parties to these proceedings, all 

parties to A.13-12-012, and any other persons as directed by the Commission’s 

Energy Division.  This final accounting shall be filed within 180 days of the date 

when the Shareholder-Funded Account was exhausted.  This final accounting 

may be combined with PG&E’s annual information-only filing if this timing 

requirement can be met.   

14. The independent auditor shall prepare an audit of PG&E’s final 

accounting and serve its final audit report on all parties PG&E served with its 

final accounting.  Thereafter, PG&E shall file an advice letter to close out the 

Shareholder-Funded Account, with service on all parties served with its final 

accounting.    

15. Pacific Gas and Electric Company shall implement the remedies adopted 

in Appendix E of this decision. 
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16. Within 60 days of the effective date of this decision, Pacific Gas and 

Electric Company shall file a Compliance Filing in these dockets, which: 

a. Identifies the remedies ordered in this decision that have already 
been ordered elsewhere, where that remedy (decision, report, 
etc.) was ordered, and PG&E’s progress to date in complying 
with that remedy.   

b. Identifies any remedy ordered in this decision that modifies or 
eliminates any remedies ordered elsewhere. 

17. The Compliance Filing ordered in Ordering Paragraph 16 shall also 

include a timeframe for completion of each of the remedies adopted in Appendix 

E of this decision. 

18. Within 60 days of the effective date of this decision, CPSD shall present a 

proposal to the Commissioners for the MAOP Validation and Project Mariner 

audits, and the timing for such audits to occur. 

19. Within 60 days of the effective date of this decision, CPSD shall present a 

proposal to the Commissioners to perform the comprehensive audit 

recommended by the National Transportation and Safety Board, and the timing 

for such audit to occur.  This audit will include all aspects of PG&E’s operations, 

including control room operations, emergency planning, record-keeping, 

performance-based risk and integrity management programs and public 

awareness programs. 

20. Investigation (I.) 12-01-007, I.11-02-016 and I.11-11-009 remain open.  
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21. Pages 1421-1429 of the Joint Transcript shall be unsealed, but the 

Confidential Exhibits discussed in that portion of the transcript shall remain 

under seal.   

This order is effective today. 

Dated April 9, 2015, at San Francisco, California.  

 

MICHAEL PICKER 
                       President 
CATHERINE J.K. SANDOVAL 
CARLA J. PETERMAN 
LIANE RANDOLPH 
                       Commissioners 

 
I voluntarily recused myself and 
did not participate in the deliberation  
of this item. 
 
/s/ MICHEL PETER FLORIO 
     Commissioner 
 
 
I will file a written concurrence. 

/s/ CATHERINE J.K. SANDOVAL 
     Commissioner 
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Table of Violations and Offenses 
San Bruno Investigation OII 12-01-007 

 
Adopted 

No. 
Alleged 

No. 
Violation (abbreviated description; see 

applicable conclusion of law for full 
statement of violation) 

Date      
(one-time 
violations) 

Date Range Offenses (Pub. Util Code 
§ 2108) (Continuing 

Violations) 

Pre-1994 1994 & 
forward 

Pre-1994 1994 & 
forward 

Total 

1 4 Section 451 – Violation of ASME B31.1.8-
1955 (§811.412(c)) by not conducting a 
hydrostatic test  

- 12/31/56
-

12/31/93 

1/1/94-
9/9/10 

13,515 6,096 19,61
1 

2 5 Section 451 – Violation of ASME B31.1.8-
1955 (§811.27(A) by failing to visually 
inspect segments  

1956 - - 1 0 1 

3 6 Section 451 – Violation of API 5LX (§VI) by 
installing pups less than five feet  

1956 - - 1 0 1 

4 8 Section 451 – Violation of ASME B31.1.8-
1955 (§811.27(G)) by assigning a yield 
strength above 24,000 psi 

1956 - - 1 0 1 

5 11 Section 451 – Violation of ASME B31.1.8-
1955 (§811.27(C)) by using incomplete 
welds and failing to measure wall 
thickness 

1956 - - 1 0 1 

6 10 Section 451 – Violation of Section 1.7 of 
API Standard 1104 (4th Ed 1956) by using 
defective welds  

1956 - - 1 0 1 

7 12, 13 Section 451 – Violation of ASME B31.1.8-
1955 (§845.22) by failing to meet MAOP 
requirements 

1956 - - 1 0 1 

8 1, 2, 3 Section 451 – Violation of industry 
standards and specifications, including 
ASME B31.1.8-1955 (§810.1) by installing 
pipe unsafe for operational conditions  

- 12/31/56
-

12/31/93 

1/1/94-
9/9/10 

13,515 6,096 19,61
1 

9 27 49 CFR 192.917(b) - Failure to use 
conservative assumptions 

- - 12/17/04
-9/9/10 

0 2,093 2,093 

10 15 49 CFR 192.917(b) - Failure to gather and 
integrate GIS data 

- - 12/17/04
-9/9/10 

0 2,093 2,093 

11 17 49 CFR 192.917(a) - Failure to analyze 
weld defects 

- - 12/17/04
-9/9/10 

0 2,093 2,093 

12 21 49 CFR 192.917(e)(2) - Failure to consider 
cyclic fatigue 

- - 12/17/04
-9/9/10 

0 2,093 2,093 

13 18 49 CFR 192.917(e)(3) - Failure to 
determine risk of DSAW threat  

- 
- 12/17/04

-9/9/10 
0 2,093 2,093 

14 19, 20 49 CFR 192.917(e)(3) - Failure to identify 
threats as unstable after pressure increase 

- - 
12/17/04
-9/9/10 

0 2,093 2,093 

15 22 49 CFR 192.921(a) - Failure to use an 
appropriate assessment method 

- - 
12/17/04
-9/9/10 

0 2,093 2,093 
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16 26 49 CFR 192.917(c) - Use of improper risk 
ranking algorithm 

- - 
12/17/04
-9/9/10 

0 2,093 2,093 

17 28 Section 451 - Creation of unsafe condition 
by avoiding hydrostatic testing or ILI 

- - 
12/17/04
-9/9/10 

0 2,093 2,093 

18 29 49 CFR 192.13(c) - Failure to follow 
internal work procedures  

9/9/2010 - - 
0 1 1 

19 30 Section 451 - Failure to follow internal 
work procedures  

9/9/2010 - 
- 0 1 1 

20 31 49 CFR 192.605(c) - Failing to have 
adequate written procedures  

9/9/2010 - 
- 0 1 1 

21 32 Section 451 - Unsafe conditions at 
Milpitas Terminal 

- - 
2/28/10-
9/9/10 

0 194 194 

22 38 49 CFR 192.615(a)(3) - Failure to respond 
promptly and effectively 

9/9/2010 - - 
0 1 1 

23 39 49 CFR 192.615(a)(1) - Failure to receive, 
identify, and classify notices 

9/9/2010 - - 
0 1 1 

24 40 49 CFR 192.615(a)(4) - Failure to provide 
resources at scene 

9/9/2010 - - 
0 1 1 

25 41 49 CFR 192.615(a)(6) - Failure to 
adequately perform emergency shutdown 

9/9/2010 - - 
0 1 1 

26 42 49 CFR 192.615(a)(7) - Failure to make 
hazards safe 

9/9/2010 - - 
0 1 1 

27 43 49 CFR 192.615(a)(8) - Failure to notify 
first responders 

9/9/2010 - - 
0 1 1 

28 44 49 CFR 192.605(c)(1) and (3) - Failure to 
have adequate emergency manual 

9/9/2010 - - 
0 1 1 

29 45 49 CFR 192.615(a)(2) - Failure to follow 
adequate procedures for communication 
with first responders 

9/9/2010 - - 

0 1 1 

30 53 49 CFR199.225(a) - Failure to perform 
alcohol tests 

9/9/2010 - - 
0 1 1 

31 34 Section 451 - Unsafe condition caused by 
emergency response deficiencies 

9/9/2010 - - 
0 1 1 

32 55 Section 451 - Unsafe condition due to 
budget cutting 

- - 
1/1/08-
9/9/10 

0 983 983 

 

  

   

   

 

 

  
Total Offenses 27,036 32,219 59,255 

(End of Appendix B) 
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Table of Violations for I .11-02-016 (Recordkeeping OII) 
 

C-1 
 

  
Violation (abbreviated 

description; see applicable 

conclusion of law for full 

statement of violation) 

 
Duration 

 
Pre-1/01/1994 

Days in 

Violation 

 

Post-1/01/1994 

Days in 

Violation 

 
Total Days in 

Violation 

1 No records for salvaged pipe installed 

into Segment 180 - Violation of Public 

Utilities Code Section 451  (Felts 

Violation 1) 

1956- September 9, 

2010 

13,698 6,095 19,793 

2 Failure to create/retain construction 

records for 1956 project GM 136471 -

Violation of Public Utilities Code 

Section 451  (Felts Violation 2) 

1956- September 9, 

2010 

13,698 6,095 19,793 

3 Failure to create/retain post- installation 

pressure test records for Segment 180 - 

Violation of Public Utilities Code 

Section 451 and ASME B.31.8 Section 

841 (Felts Violation 3) 

1956- September 9, 
2010 

13,698 6,095 19,793 

4 Increase MAOP of Line 132 without 

conducting hydrostatic test  - Violation 

of Public Utilities Code Section 451  

(Felts Violation 4) 

December 1 0 , 

2003 - September 

9, 2010 

 2,465 2,465 

5 Failure to Follow Procedures to Create 

Clearance Record - Violation of Public 

Utilities Code Section 451 (Felts 

Violation 5) 

August 27,2010- 

September 9, 2010 
 13 13 

6 Out of date drawings and computer 

diagrams of Milpitas Terminal- 

Violation of Public Utilities Code 

Section 451 (Felts Violation 7) 

December 2, 2009 

- July 2011 
 590 590 

7 Failure to have accurate SCADA 

diagrams- Violation of Public 

Utilities Code Section 451 (Felts 

Violations 7 and 9) 

December 2, 2009 

- October 27, 

2010 

 329 329 

8 No Back-up Software at the Milpitas 

Terminal  -Violation of Public Utilities 

Code Section 451  (Felts Violations 8) 

September 9, 2010  1 1 
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Table of Violations for I .11-02-016 (Recordkeeping OII) 
 

C-2 
 

9 Operated  Line 132 in excess of 390 

MAOP  - Violation of Public Utilities 

Code Section 451  (Felts Violation 1 1) 

December 11, 2003- 

September 9, 2010 
 2,464 2,464 

10 Operated Line 132 in excess of 390 

MAOP  - Violation of Public Utilities 

Code Section 451  (Felts Violation 11) 

December 9, 

2008- September 

9, 2010 

 639 639 

11 Operated Line 132 in excess of 390 

MAOP  - Violation of Public Utilities 

Code Section 451  (Felts Violation 11) 

September 9, 20 I 0  1 I 

12 PG&E's Contradictory Data 

Responses Regarding Recorded 

Brentwood Camera 6 Video - 

Violation of Commission Rules of 

Practice and Procedure Rule 1.1 

(Felts Violation 13) 

October 10,2011 

- March 9, 2012 
 151 151 

13 PG&E's Data Response 30, Q 8.d Did 
Not Identify All of the People in 
Milpitas Handling the Pressure Problem 
on September 9, 2010- Violation of 
Commission Rules of Practice and 
Procedure Rule 1.1 (Felts Violation 14) 

December 
17,2011- January 
15, 2012 

 29 29 

14 PG&E's Data Response 30, Q 2 Did 

Not Identify All of the People in 

Milpitas Handling the Pressure 

Problem on September 9, 2010- 

Violation of Commission Rules of 

Practice and Procedure Rule 1.1 (Felts 

Violation 14) 

December 17, 2011 

- January 15, 201 2 
 29 29 

15 PG&E's recordkeeping practices for Job 
Files adversely impacts ability to 
operate transmission pipeline system 
safely - Violation of Public Utilities 
Code Section 451. (Felts Violation 16) 

!987 - December 
12, 2012 

2,376 6,928 9,304 
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Table of Violations for I .11-02-016 (Recordkeeping OII) 
 

C-3 
 

16 PG&E failed to retain pressure test 

records for all segments of its gas 

transmission pipeline system - 

Violation of Public Utilities Code 

Section 451, ASME B.31.8, GO 112 

through 112-B and PG&E's internal 

records retention policies (Felts 

Violation 18) 

1956 - December 

20, 2012 

13,698 6,928 20,626 

17 Weld Inspection Records Missing or 

Incomplete  -Violation of Public 

Utilities Code Section 451, 49 CFR 

192.241 and 192.243, ASME B.31.8, 

General Orders 1 12, 112-A, 112-B, 

section 107. (Felts Violation 19) 

1955- December 

20, 2012 

14,064 6,928 20,992 

18 Operating Pressure Records Missing, 

Incomplete or Inaccessible - Violation 

of Public Utilities Code Section 451 

(Felts Violation  20) 

1955- December 

17, 2004 

14,064 4,003 18,067 

19 Inaccurate and incomplete data in leak 

reports; missing leak records - Violation  

of Public  Utilities Code Section 451 

(Felts Violations 21 and 22) 

1955 - December 

20, 

2012 

14,064 6,928 20,992 

20 Failure to retain records of 

reconditioned and reused pipe in 

transmission pipeline system - Violation  

of Public Utilities Code Section 451 

(Felts  Violation 23) 

1940 - December 

20, 2012 

19,542 6,928 26,470 

21 Failure to ensure the accuracy of 

data in GIS and to adopt 

conservative assumed  values for 

missing data in GIS - Violation of 

Public Utilities Code Section 451 

(Felts Violation 24) 

1995 - December  

20, 2012 
 6,382 6,382 

22 PG&E unable to assess the integrity of 
its pipeline system and effectively 
manage risk - Violation of Public 
Utilities Code Section 451 (Felts 
Violation 25) 

December 17, 2004 

- December 20, 

2012 

 2,925 2,925 
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Table of Violations for I .11-02-016 (Recordkeeping OII) 
 

C-4 
 

23 Failure to retain metallurgist report 
concerning a 1963 fire and explosion on 
Line I 09 - Violation of Public  Utilities 
Code Section 451 (Felts Violation 27) 

1963 - December 

20, 2012 

l 1 ,1 42 6,928 18,070 

24 Inability to operate and maintain 
PG&E's gas transmission pipeline 
system i n a safe manner due to poor 
records management activities - 
Violation of Public Utilities Code 
Section 451, GO 112 through 112-B, Section 
107, ASME B.31.8.  (Duller/North Violation 
A.1) 

1955 - December 

20, 2012 

14,064 6,928 20,992 

25 Failure to retain records of Leak  Survey 

Maps - Violation of ASME B.31.8 Section 

851.5.  (Duller/North Violation B.1) 

April 16 2010- 

December 20, 

2012 

 979 979 

26 Failure to retain records of Line Patrol 

Reports - Violation of ASME B.3l.8 

Section 85L5.  (Duller/North Violation 

B.2) 

September 1, 1964 - 

December 20, 2012 

10,714 6,928 17,642 

27 Failure to retain records of Line 

Inspection Reports - Violation of 

ASME B.31.8 Section 851.5. 

(Du11er/North Violation B.3) 

December 17,1991- 

December20, 2012 

746 6,928 7,674 

28 Failure to retain pressure test records -

Violation of ASME B.31.8 Section 

851.417.  (Duller/North Violation B.4) 

September 1 ,1964 

- December 20, 

2012 

10,714 6,928 17,642 

29 Failure to retain records of transmission 

line inspections - Violation of ASME 
B.31.8 Section 851.5.  (Duller/North 

Violation B.5) 

September 

1 ,1964- December 

20, 2012 

10,714 6,928 17,642 

30 Failure to comply with internal records 

retention policies - Violation of 49 CFR 

192.13(c). (Duller/North Violation B.6) 

1955- December 20, 

2012 

14,064 6,928 20,992 

31 Failure to identify and include in all pipe 

segments with unusual longitude seams 

and joints for replacement- Violation of 

Public Utilities Code Section 451. 

(Duller/North Violation C.l) 

June 1988- 

December 20, 2012 

2,026 6,928 8,954 
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Table of Violations for I .11-02-016 (Recordkeeping OII) 
 

C-5 
 

32 Failure to properly identify and replacing 

those pipelines that were prone to damage 

during severe earthquake- Violation of 

Public Utilities Code Section 451. 

(Duller/North Violation C.2) 

June 1992- 

December 20,2012 

565 6,928 7,493 

33 Failure to maintain comprehensive 

database for all gas leaks in transmission 

pipeline system - Violation of Public 

Utilities Code Section 451. 

(Duller/North Violation C.3) 

1957 - December 20, 

2012 

13,333 6,928 20,261 

 Total Days in Violation  206,984 143,205 350,189 

(End of Appendix C) 
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Table of Violations for I .11-11-009  

(Class Location O I I ) 
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Appendix D 

Table of Violations for I.11-11-009 (Class Location O I I ) 
 

Violation (abbreviated 

description; see applicable 

conclusion of law for full 

statement of violation) 

 
Number of 

Segments 

(Violations) 

 
Pre-1/01/1994 

Days in Violation 

 
Post-1/01/1994 

Days in 

Violation* 

 
Total Days in 

Violation 

49 CFR § 192.107 (b) 

(Assumed SMYS Values) 

 
133 

 
451,890 

 
766,482 

 
1,218,372 

P.U. Code § 451 (Assumed 

SMYS Values Resulting in 

Excessive MAOPs) 

 
133 

 
451,890 

 
766,482 

 
1,218,372 

49 CFR § 192.13(c) 

(Not Following Procedures) 

 
843 

 
2,107,255 

 
4,162,027 

 
6,269,282 

49 CFR § 192.609 

(Required Study) 

 
224 

 
542,030 

 

1,095,373 
 

1,637,403 

49 CFR§ 192.611 (MAOP 

Confirmation/Revision) 

 
224 

 
542,030 

 
1,095,373 

 
1,637,403 

49 CFR § 192.613 

(Continuing Surveillance) 

 
677 

 
1,723,956 

 
3,346,447 

 
5,070,403 

49 CFR § 192.619 

(Non-Commensurate 

SMYS) 

 
63 

 
154,734 

 
338,828 

 
493,562 

P.U. Code § 451 

(Non-Commensurate 

SMYS) 

 
63 

 
154,734 

 
338,828 

 
493,562 

TOTAL 2,360 6,128,519 11,909,840 18,038,359 

 

*End Date January 17, 2012 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

(END OF APPENDIX D) 
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APPENDIX E 
 

ADOPTED REMEDIES 
 

Adopted Remedies Proposed by CPSD in All Three OIIs 

1. PG&E shareholders shall pay to reimburse CPSD for contracts 
retaining independent industry experts, chosen by CPSD, for the cost of 
verification audits and inspections to ensure compliance with the other remedies. 
PG&E shall also pay to reimburse CPSD for contracts retaining independent 
industry experts, chosen by CPSD in the near term to provide needed technical 
expertise as PG&E proceeds with its hydrostatic testing program, in order to 
provide a high level of technical oversight and to assure the opportunity for 
legacy piping characterization through sampling is not lost in the rush to execute 
the program. 

2. PG&E shareholders shall pay to reimburse CPUC/CPSD for the cost 
of conducting all three of the present investigations. 

Adopted Remedies Proposed by CPSD in I.12-01-007 (San Bruno OII) 

1. PG&E’s pipeline construction standards shall meet or exceed all 
legal requirements and industry standards for identifying and correcting pipe 
deficiencies and strength testing. 

2. PG&E shall revise its integrity management procedures to robustly 
meet the data gathering requirements of 49 CFR Part 192.917(b) and ASME-
B31.8S, and to do so without limiting its data-gathering to only that data which is 
“readily available, verifiable, or easily obtained” by PG&E. 

3. PG&E shall perform a complete company-wide record search to 
populate its GIS database with all identified gas transmission pipeline leak 
history, including closed leak, information not already transferred to the GIS. 

4. PG&E shall revise its Integrity Management training to ensure that 
missing data is represented by conservative assumptions, and that those 
assumptions are supportable, per the requirements of ASME B31.8S.  As required 
by Ordering Paragraph 1 of D.11-06-017, PG&E shall fully document any 
engineering-based assumption it makes for data that is missing, incomplete or 
unreliable.  Such assumptions must be clearly identified and justified and, where 
ambiguities arise, the assumption allowing the greatest safety margin must be 
adopted. 
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5. PG&E shall revise its integrity management procedures and related 
training, to ensure robust data verification processes are enacted and 
implemented. 

6. PG&E shall revise its threat identification and assessment 
procedures and training, including its Baseline Assessment Plans, to fully 
incorporate all relevant data for both covered and non-covered segments, 
including but not limited to potential manufacturing and construction threats, 
and leak data. 

7. PG&E shall re-label its system MAOP nomenclature in accordance 
with 49 CFR Part 192. 

8. PG&E shall permanently cease the self-suspended practice of 
regularly increasing pipeline pressure up to a “system MAOP” to eliminate the 
need to consider manufacturing and construction threats.  In addition, PG&E 
shall analyze all segments that were subjected to the planned pressure increases 
to determine the risk of failure from manufacturing threats under 49 CFR Part 
192.917(e)(3), and perform further integrity assessments as warranted.  Each 
assessment shall be documented and retained for the life of the facility. 

9. PG&E shall revise its threat identification and assessment 
procedures and training to ensure that HCA pipeline segments are prioritized for 
a suitable assessment method (e.g., hydro-testing), per the requirements of 49 
CFR Part 192.917(e)(3)-(4). 

10. PG&E shall revise its threat identification and assessment 
procedures and training to ensure that cyclic fatigue and other loading 
conditions are incorporated into their segment specific threat assessments and 
risk ranking algorithm, and that threats that can be exacerbated by cyclic fatigue 
are assumed to exist per the requirements of 49 CFR Part 192.917(b). 

11. PG&E shall revise its risk ranking algorithm to ensure that PG&E’s 
weighting factors in its risk ranking algorithm more accurately reflect PG&E’s 
actual operating experience along with generally reflected industry experience. 

12. PG&E shall revise its threat identification and assessment 
procedures and training to ensure that PG&E’s weighing of factors in its risk 
ranking algorithm and the input of data into that algorithm corrects the various 
systemic issues identified in the NTSB report and the CPSD/PHMSA 2011 Risk 
Assessment Audit. 

13. PG&E shall revise its threat identification and assessment 
procedures and training to ensure that the proper assessment method is being 
used to address a pipeline’s actual and potential threats. 
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14. PG&E shall review and implement its Inspection, Testing, and 
Maintenance procedure applicable to stations to ensure that integrity of electrical 
equipment, wiring and documentation and identification of electrical 
components does not deteriorate to unsafe conditions. 

15. PG&E shall revise its SCADA system to reduce the occurrence of 
“glitches” and anomalies in the control system that desensitizes operators to the 
presence of alarms and other inconsistent information. 

16. PG&E shall reevaluate SCADA alarm criteria with the goal of 
reducing unnecessary alarm messages. 

17. PG&E shall revise its control systems, including SCADA, to ensure 
that all relevant information, including redundant pressure sensors, is 
considered. 

18. PG&E shall install more pressure sensors and have them closely 
spaced and use the additional information to incorporate leak or rupture 
recognition algorithms in its SCADA system. 

19. PG&E shall program its PLCs to recognize that negative pressure 
values are erroneous and require intervention to prevent valves from fully 
opening. 

20. PG&E shall replace the three pressure controllers which 
malfunctioned on September 9, 2010 unless PG&E demonstrates to CPSD’s 
satisfaction that the controllers have been removed from the system. 

21. PG&E shall review its work clearance process to ensure that 
abnormal operating conditions that may arise during the course of work are 
anticipated and responses to those conditions are detailed. Additionally, PG&E 
shall create a procedure covering the commission of electrical equipment from 
one Uninterruptable Power Supply to another.  Each project Clearance shall 
include possible scenarios and contingency plans to mitigate any abnormal 
operating conditions that may arise. 

22. PG&E shall revisit its Work Clearance procedures and training to 
ensure that future work will not be authorized unless all forms and fields therein 
are comprehensively and accurately populated, and reviewed by a designated 
clearance supervisor.  Additionally, work shall not commence until such time as 
the operator and technician have reviewed the work clearance and have 
confirmed that both understand the actions to take in the event an abnormal 
condition is encountered.  Lastly, PG&E must ensure that proper records 
showing the specific steps taken, when taken, and by whom, are maintained 
pursuant to its Record Retention Schedule. 
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23. PG&E shall provide training to Gas Service Representatives (GSRs) 
to identify hazards associated with PG&E natural gas infrastructure and take 
action to make the condition safe for the public and employees.  If assistance is 
needed and the situation is an imminent hazard, the GSR will remain on site 
until appropriate resources take control.  The training provided GSRs should 
enable them to recognize the differences between fires of low-pressure natural 
gas, high-pressure natural gas, gasoline fuel, or jet fuel. 

24. Internal coordination – PG&E shall revise its procedures to outline 
each individual Dispatch and Control Room employee’s roles, responsibility, and 
lines of communication required to be made in the event of an emergency either 
during or outside normal working hours.  This shall include assigning specific 
geographical monitoring responsibilities for Control Room employees. 

25. External coordination – Until PHMSA issues guidance to operators 
of natural gas transmission and distribution pipelines and hazardous liquid 
pipelines regarding the importance of control room operators immediately and 
directly notifying the 911 emergency call center(s) for the communities and 
jurisdiction in which those pipelines are located when a possible rupture of any 
pipeline is indicated, PG&E shall revise its own procedures to allow for the 
immediate and direct notification of 911 emergency call centers when a possible 
pipeline rupture is indicated. 

26. Decision making authority – PG&E shall revise its emergency 
procedures to clarify emergency response responsibilities, especially in regards 
to authorizing valve shut offs.  PG&E policies shall not just delegate authority to 
act but also detail obligations to act. 

27. RCV/ASV – PG&E shall perform a study to provide Gas Control 
with a means of determining and isolating the location of a rupture remotely by 
installing RCVs, ASVs, and appropriately spaced pressure and flow transmitters 
on critical transmission line infrastructure and implement the results. 

28. Response time – PG&E shall review required response times in other 
utility service territories nationwide and devise appropriate response time 
requirements to ensure that its Emergency Plan results in a “prompt and 
effective” response to emergencies.  PG&E will provide its analysis and 
conclusions to CPSD. 

29. Emergency Plan Revision – Currently a maintenance supervisor 
annually reviews SCADA alarm responses and makes revisions as necessary.  
This process shall be formalized to ensure a robust feedback loop such that new 
information is fully analyzed and necessary changes to PG&E’s Emergency Plan 
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and/or other procedures are implemented with a subsequent review of made 
changes to ensure they are adequate. 

30. Public Awareness – Until PHMSA issues guidance to operators of 
natural gas transmission and distribution pipelines and hazardous liquid 
pipelines regarding the importance of sharing system-specific information, 
including pipe diameter, operating pressure, product transported, and potential 
impact radius, about their pipeline systems with the emergency response 
agencies of the communities and jurisdiction in which those pipelines are 
located, PG&E shall undertake a review of its gas transmission public awareness 
and outreach programs to ensure that system-specific information is 
appropriately disseminated. 

31. PG&E’s business strategies and associated programs shall expressly 
ensure that safety is a higher priority than shareholder returns and be designed 
to implement that priority. 

32. Deleted. 

33. PG&E’s gas employee incentive plan shall include safety.  PG&E 
shall revise its STIP program to make safety performance 40% of the score used 
to determine the total award.  PG&E shall require all gas leaders including 
officers to participate in annual training activities that enhance and expand their 
knowledge of safety, including exercises in which gas leaders including officers 
will have an opportunity to enhance their knowledge of incident command and 
will participate in an annual safety leadership workshop. 

34. Deleted. 

35. PG&E shall focus on enhancing public safety and operational 
excellence as a core mission, and shall examine whether the time and money it 
spends on public relations and political campaigns distracts it from this core 
mission. 

36. Deleted. 

37. PG&E shall examine internal communication processes to ensure 
that all employees understand their job responsibilities and priorities.  Goals of 
PG&E gas employees shall describe what is expected of them and their teams. 

38. PG&E shall follow and implement the following NTSB 
recommendations:    

38.a Revise work clearance procedures to include requirements 
for identifying the likelihood and consequence of failure 
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associated with the planned work and for developing 
contingency plans. (P-11-24) 

38.b.1 Establish a comprehensive emergency response procedure 
for responding to large- scale emergencies on transmission 
lines; the procedure shall (1) identify a single person to 
assume command and designate specific duties for 
supervisory NTSB Pipeline Accident Report 131 control 
and data acquisition staff and all other potentially 
involved company employees. 

38.b.2 Establish a comprehensive emergency response procedure 
for responding to large- scale emergencies on transmission 
lines; the procedure shall include the development and use 
of trouble-shooting protocols and checklists. 

38.b.3 Establish a comprehensive emergency response procedure 
for responding to large- scale emergencies on transmission 
lines; the procedure shall include a requirement for periodic 
tests and/or drills to demonstrate the procedure can be 
effectively implemented. (P-11-25). 

38.c Equip supervisory control and data acquisition system 
with tools to assist in recognizing and pinpointing the 
location of leaks, including line breaks; such tools could 
include a real-time leak detection system and 
appropriately spaced flow and pressure transmitters along 
covered transmission lines. (P-11-26). 

38.d Expedite the installation of automatic shutoff valves and 
remote control valves on transmission lines in high 
consequence areas and in class 3 and 4 locations, and space 
them at intervals that consider the factors listed in Title 49 
Code of Federal Regulations Part 192.935(c). (P-11-27). 

38.e Revise post-accident toxicological testing program to 
ensure that testing is timely and complete. (P-11-28). 

38.f Assess every aspect of the integrity management program, 
paying particular attention to the areas identified in this 
investigation, and implement a revised program that includes, 
at a minimum, (1) a revised risk model to reflect PG&E 
Company’s actual recent experience data on leaks, failures, 
and incidents; (2) consideration of all defect and leak data for 
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the life of each pipeline, including its construction, in risk 
analysis for similar or related segments to ensure that all 
applicable threats are adequately addressed; (3) a revised risk 
analysis methodology to ensure that assessment methods are 
selected for each pipeline segment that address all applicable 
integrity threats, with particular emphasis on design/material 
and construction threats; and (4) an improved self-assessment 
that adequately measures whether the program is effectively 
assessing and evaluating the integrity of each covered pipeline 
segment.  (P-11-29). 

38.g Conduct threat assessments using the revised risk analysis 
methodology incorporated in your integrity management 
program, as recommended in Safety Recommendation P-11-
29, and report the results of those assessments to the 
Commission and the Pipeline and Hazardous Materials 
Safety Administration. (P-11-30). 

38.h Develop, and incorporate into PG&E’s public awareness 
program, written performance measurements and 
guidelines for evaluating the plan and for continuous 
program improvement. (P-11-31). 

Adopted Remedies Proposed by CPSD in I.11-02-016 (Recordkeeping OII) 

1. PG&E’s gas transmission organization shall achieve at least a Level 3 
information maturity score under the Generally Accepted Records Keeping 
Principles within 3 years.   

2. Rejected 

3  PG&E shall issue a corporate policy and standard that will: 

3.a  Communicate recordkeeping expectations that underlie its 
post-2010 Corporate Records and Information Management 
Policy and Standard for all departments and divisions across 
PG&E. These expectations shall be incorporated into 
procedures specific to meet the needs of every Line of Business. 

3.b  The Information Management and Compliance Department 
shall design a governance controls catalog for recordkeeping 
practices to assess compliance with the corporate policy and 
standard, consistency of behavior with official records being 
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stored in approved systems of record, and timeliness of 
addressing records during their lifecycle. 

3.c  The retention schedule will support the policy by providing 
retention length for all identified official records to meet legal 
and regulatory mandates. 

4. PG&E shall develop and implement an education and training 
program for the gas transmission organization in Records and Information 
Management principles and practices within an information governance 
framework.  The education and training program shall include the following: 

4.a All staff shall be receive training to understand the 
responsibilities and tasks that relate to managing records.  
These education and training programs shall be updated and 
offered at regular intervals, at least twice annually, to include 
amendments to the records management program and for the 
benefit of new staff. 

4.b There shall be specific and additional training for those staff 
involved directly in the management of retention and disposal 
of records.  These education and training programs shall be 
offered at least annually. 

4.c There shall be specific and additional training focusing on all of 
the recordkeeping systems used within the Gas Operations 
Organization.  Employees and PG&E contractors who have 
duties using these programs shall be required to attend these 
training sessions. These education and training programs shall 
be offered at least annually. 

5. PG&E shall develop and deploy the systems necessary to manage, 
maintain, access and preserve records (physical and electronic, in all formats and 

media types); their related data, metadata, and geographic location and 
geospatial content to the extent appropriate in accordance with legal and 
business mandated rules, utilizing technology that includes appropriate aids to 
help improve data and metadata quality. 

6. PG&E shall establish accountability for development and 
implementation of a PG&E governance strategy across gas transmission that 
shall rest with PG&E Senior Management and a method of accountability shall 
be developed and implemented.  
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7. PG&E shall identify and document the employees responsible for 
implementing the Records and Information Management program for gas 
transmission.  

8. PG&E shall develop consistent standard practices that include gas 
transmission records management linked to corporate polices on information 
governance.  

9. PG&E shall implement mandated retention periods for all records 
relevant to gas transmission.  

10. PG&E shall ensure that each gas transmission standard conforms 
with Records and Information Management (RIM) policies for gas transmission.  

11. PG&E shall include the treatment of active and inactive records in its 
Records and Information Management (RIM) Policy for gas transmission.  

12. PG&E’s records management processes shall be managed and 
maintained in accordance with the traceable, verifiable and complete standard, 
including retention of physical and digital pipeline records for the “life of the 
asset.” 

13. The accuracy and completeness of data within gas transmission 
records shall be traceable, verifiable and complete and when errors are 
discovered, the record shall be corrected as soon as correct information is 
available and the reason(s) for each change shall be documented and kept with 
the record.  

14. PG&E shall create a standard format for the organization of a job file 
so that PG&E personnel will know exactly where to look in a file folder, or set of 
file folders, to find each type of document associated with a job file. At a 
minimum, a job file will contain traceable, verifiable and complete records to 
support the MAOP of the pipeline segment installed; design documentation; 
purchase documentation showing the sources and specifications of equipment 
purchased; permits; environmental documents; field notes; design, construction 
and as-built drawings; x-ray reports and weld maps; pressure test records; 
correspondence with the CPUC; and inspection reports and correspondence. 

15. Job file data, including drawings, for all parts of the active PG&E gas 
transmission system shall be immediately accessible from multiple locations. The 
development of a complete and accurate catalog of job files that can be searched 
immediately shall be included within this objective. 

16. The information that was contained in PG&E’s historic records and 
documents, and that has been identified as ‘missing or disposed of,’ and is 
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necessary to be retained for the safe operation of the pipelines, pursuant to laws, 
regulations and standards and the PG&E retention schedule, shall be recovered. 
This recovery shall include but not be limited to: 

a.  updating and verification of data in engineering databases, 
such as the leak database, GIS and the integrity 
management model, 

b.  updating plat sheets and other engineering drawings, and  

c.  updating and organizing job files.  

When PG&E cannot locate records, it may apply conservative 
assumptions consistent with the requirements of Ordering 
Paragraph 1 of D.11-06-017.  PG&E shall be required to fully 
document any engineering-based assumptions it makes for 
data that has been identified as “missing or disposed of.”  
Such assumptions must be clearly identified and justified and, 
where ambiguities arise, the assumption allowing the greatest 
safety margin must be adopted. 

17.  PG&E shall document adoption of, and changes and amendments to 
policies, standards and procedures within the Gas Operations Organization (or 
its successor division(s) with responsibility for design, construction, operations, 
maintenance, testing, safety and integrity management of PG&E’s natural gas 
pipeline system).  The documentation shall include the reasons for adoption, 
amendment or cancellation of the policies, standards and procedures. An audit 
trail of changes shall be maintained, retained for as long as the standard is in 
effect.  If a policy, standard or procedure is cancelled, a copy of the policy, 
standard or procedure in effect at the time of cancellation, as well as the reason 
for its cancellation, shall be preserved permanently, taking heed of potential 
changes in technology that may render documents unreadable in the future. 

18. PG&E will identify each section of pipe that has been salvaged and 
reused within the PG&E gas transmission system. For each section of pipe 
identified, PG&E will change the installed date in its GIS and its IM model to the 
date the pipe was originally installed in the PG&E pipeline system. 

19. Rejected.  TURN proposed remedy 1 adopted instead. 

20. PG&E shall implement the recommendations included in the final 
Pricewaterhouse Coopers (PwC) audit report. (TURN Exhibit 16, Appendix B). 
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21.   Using independent auditors, CPSD will undertake audits of PG&E’s 
recordkeeping practices within the Gas Transmission Division on an annual basis 
for a minimum of ten years after the final decision is issued in I.11-02-016.  

22.   PG&E will correct deficiencies in recordkeeping discovered as a 
result of each CPSD audit and will report to CPSD when such deficiencies have 
been corrected.  

Adopted Remedies Proposed by CPSD in I.11-11-009 (Class Location OII) 

1. Systems:  PG&E shall utilize industry-standard software for 
electronic storage of class location information.  PG&E shall devise a process to 
capture new PG&E service hook-ups especially in proximity to transmission 
lines and incorporate into the class location analysis.  

2. Procedures:  PG&E shall update procedures, patrolling process 
instructions, and related Operator Qualification training to require written 
confirmation to Patrol Supervisors that follow up has been performed on all new 
construction that the patroller has previously observed and documented.  

3.  Procedure 6.3 (3) shall be rewritten as “List all new observations 
regardless if it is believed that the ground crew has already investigated the 
observation.”  

4. TD-4412-07 section 6.1 (2) shall include specific language for the 
pilot to recommended increased patrolling to the Aerial Patrol Program 
Manager.  

5.  PG&E shall ensure that the Report of New Construction forms are 
completed.  

6.  The Aerial Patrol Program Manager’s duties shall be increased to 
include oversight and review of the quality and accuracy of patrol reports.  

7.  PG&E shall create a detailed procedures manual containing the 
Aerial Patrol Program Manager’s duties to ensure quality control of aerial patrol 
responsibilities.  

8.  Training:  PG&E shall utilize varied training exams for patrolling.  

9. The new training exams for patrolling shall include questions with 
greater detail and complexity than the current exam and shall use aerial photos 
as exam exhibits where pilots indicate which structures are approximately 660 
feet from the right of way and would require reporting. Training materials and 
associated tests shall be reviewed and updated to enhance employee 
competency, utilize aerial photos and other aids, and reflect field conditions to 
approximate buildings’ key distances from lines.  
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10.  Improve Aerial Patrol Pilot training:  PG&E’s pilot training shall 
include aerial photographs taken at an altitude of 750 feet, which replicates what 
the pilots see on patrol, and include a number of structures both within and 
outside of the 660 foot standard. Use the photos as exam exhibits where the pilots 
indicate which structures are approximately 660 feet from the right of way and 
would require reporting.  Training shall also include a Well-Defined Area 
(WDA) in the exhibit as well.  PG&E shall also include in its training 
photographs, video or other aids to reflect expected views to be seen from typical 
patrol altitudes.  

11.  Audits the patrolling process shall include a comparison of new 
construction observations with new gas/electrical hook ups near the line to 
ensure that new construction has not been missed.  

12.  A new item “All Sections of Document Completed” shall be added 
to the audit checklist when reviewing Reports of New Construction.  

13.  Audits shall make sure that copies of completed Reports of New 
Construction are being provided to local supervisors, as required by standard 
procedure TD-4127P-01 section 3.8 (5).  

Adopted Remedies Proposed by City of San Bruno 

1. Recommendation V.B rejected. 

2. PG&E shall reimburse CPSD for the costs of contracts to retain 
independent experts chosen by CPSD for verification audits and inspections to 
ensure compliance with the PSEP Decision and remedies ordered in this decision.  
This shall include CPSD’s costs for hiring qualified independent auditors to audit 
and issue reports for both PG&E’s MAOP Validation results and Project Mariner 
systems.  If CPSD determines that it needs the services of outside consultants to 
develop additional capabilities to evaluate and assess the integrity of PG&E’s 
pipeline system through the use of meaningful metrics, then the costs of such 
consultants will fall within the scope of this remedy.  The reimbursement amount 
is capped at $30 million.  

3. Recommendation V.D.1 rejected 

4. Recommendation V.D.2.a incorporated into CPSD adopted remedy 
23 for I.12-01-007. 

5. PG&E shall provide training to its Gas Service Representatives and 
Gas Control Operators to ensure that they coordinate effectively with emergency 
responders, follow PG&E’s own internal procedures when responding to 
emergencies, and each GSR under Gas Control Operators’ direction should be 
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trained and able to manually shut off emergency shutdown zone valves.  PG&E 
should also audit its GSRs and Gas Control Operators to ensure they are 
properly trained. 

6. Recommendation V.D.2.c incorporated into CPSD adopted remedy 4 
for I.11-02-016. 

7. Recommendation V.D.2.d incorporated into CPSD adopted remedy 
4 for I.11-02-016. 

8. Recommendation V.D.2.e incorporated into CPSD adopted remedy 4 
for I.11-02-016. 

9. Recommendation V.D.2.f incorporated into CPSD adopted remedy 
10 for I.11-11-009. 

10. PG&E shall enter into Mutual Assistance Agreements with the cities, 
counties and fire districts within its service territory by no later than December 
31, 2015.  The Mutual Assistance Agreements shall formalize PG&E’s emergency 
response role and disclosure obligations.  A copy of each Mutual Assistance 
Agreement shall be maintained in the appropriate Division Emergency Plan. 

11. Recommendation V.E rejected. 

12. Recommendation V.F rejected. 

Adopted Remedies Proposed by TURN 

1. PG&E shall create a centralized database to track where it has placed 
re- used or otherwise reconditioned pipe in its system.  For each such segment, 
the database should show the date of manufacture of the segment, if known.  If 
this date is unknown, the database should so indicate, to ensure that the segment 
is given appropriate attention in integrity management.  The database should 
include a link to reliable and readily accessible documentation showing, for each 
re-used or otherwise reconditioned pipe segment, that all steps necessary to 
prepare the segment for installation were performed and inspected.  If such 
documentation is unavailable, the centralized documentation should so indicate 
so that the segment will be given appropriate attention in integrity management.  
PG&E will maintain this database so long as there are sections of reused pipe in 
the PG&E operating gas transmission pipeline system. 

2. Recommendation 2A incorporated into CPSD adopted remedy 4 for 
I.12-01-007. 

3. Recommendation 2B incorporated into CSB adopted remedy 2.   

4. Recommendation 3 incorporated into CSB adopted remedy 2. 
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Adopted Remedies Proposed by DRA 

1. CPSD shall present a proposal to the Commission within 60 days of 
the effective date of this decision for a comprehensive audit of all aspects of 
PG&E’s operations, including control room operations, emergency planning, 
record-keeping, performance-based risk and integrity management programs 
and public awareness programs, as recommended by the NTSB. 

2. Recommendation I.B.7. that PG&E shall compensate TURN, CSB, 
CCSF and DRA for their litigation expenses in connection with these three 
proceedings, is rejected.   

 

(End of Appendix E) 
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Concurring Statement 
Catherine J.K. Sandoval, Commissioner, 
California Public Utilities Commission 

Re: San Bruno Orders Instituting Investigation, 
Presiding Officer’s Decisions and Decision on Penalties and Remedies 

 
On September 9, 2010, I watched with horror the live television coverage of the 

tragic gas explosion in San Bruno, California.  I shared with millions of Californians and 

Americans the shock, sadness, and worry about that explosion, and the losses and 

devastation left in its aftermath.   

When Governor Brown appointed me to the CPUC in January 2011, analyzing 

and addressing the root cause of what happened in San Bruno was top priority at the 

CPUC.  The CPUC worked to gather information, coordinated with the National 

Transportation Safety Board, appointed a Blue Ribbon Panel, and investigated the 

causes of this accident.  In spring of 2011, my staff, Ditas Katague, my Chief of Staff, 

Colette Kersten, my Energy Advisor, and Steve St. Marie, my water advisor and I 

visited the site of the San Bruno explosion on a rainy spring day before the drought.  

Looking at the empty lots where houses used to be and where children once played 

brought tears to my eyes and my heart.  Wildflowers were growing on the lots where 

houses once stood, as if God had planted flowers in the memory of the families who 

lived there. 

The CPUC's investigation and analysis revealed that San Bruno was not just an 

isolated tragedy, but reflected larger systemic failures that affected all PG&E gas 

customers.  I thank the CPUC's Safety and Enforcement Division (SED) (then CPSD) for 

its work in developing the Orders Instituting Investigation.  I am proud that my 

colleagues and I who voted to open the OIIs in 2011 and 2012 recognized that the San 

Bruno investigation needed to analyze the incidents leading to the San Bruno explosion 

in the context of the systemic issues that posed a threat to public safety and system 

reliability.  The central question posed in the OIIs was whether PG&E had fulfilled its 
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duty as a utility to provide safe, reliable service at just and reasonable rates, with 

adequate facilities, and complied with other requirements of the California Public 

Utilities Code, this Commission's Decisions, Orders, and rules, and with federal law. 

The OIIs led to a detailed process of investigation, document production, 

litigation, analysis, comments, reply comments, hearings, public comment, and other 

procedures that built the record evidence.  We heard from the people of San Bruno, 

from the parties, and from other Californians and Americans about what happened that 

led to the San Bruno explosion.  We considered suggestions about steps to ensure this 

would never happen again.  During the process, the CPUC in 2011, ordered PG&E to 

take steps to ensure the safety of the gas system through hydrotesting to verify pipeline 

safety and integrity, and to improve recordkeeping.  The CPUC ordered several other 

steps to ensure that we relied on evidence, not assumptions, to protect gas pipeline and 

public safety. 

The methodical and, yes, lengthy process, of the OIIs led to the PODs carefully 

developed and meticulously prepared by ALJ Yip-Kikugawa and ALJ Wetzel that my 

colleagues and I adopt today.  The OII process created record evidence to support the 

Decision we adopt today that imposes substantial penalties on PG&E both for the 

failures that led to the explosion on September 9, 2010 in San Bruno, California, and for 

systemic deficiencies that affect all of PG&E’s gas customers and every community it 

serves.  Accordingly, the Decision on penalties and remedies we adopt today orders 

PG&E shareholders to pay for improvements to its natural gas infrastructure including 

the recordkeeping and management systems.  These landmark decisions will improve 

gas safety and reliability for a generation.   

With today’s decision, we take steps to heal wounds and restore confidence.  

This occurs in the context of other CPUC efforts to improve our decision-making 

process through the work of the Commissioner Committees, and through the 

evaluation and analysis of our rules and procedures.   
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Today, we mark a turning point in the relationship between the Commission and 

the public, Pacific Gas and Electric and the public, PG&E and the CPUC.  We honor the 

victims who lost their lives and were injured that day.  We thank the first responders, 

families, friends, and community who helped the victims of the San Bruno blast.  We 

thank the CPUC employees who worked with dedication and integrity to restore safety 

and reliability, and to create a record that is the foundation for accountability.  We give 

new impetus to and underscore the vital importance of the work of PG&E’s employees, 

management, and shareholders to improve PG&E’s gas pipeline system.  That work is 

reflected in the PG&E employees who turned off the gas on September 9, 2010, and 

those who have worked to inspect and improve the gas pipeline, recordkeeping, leak 

detection, management, and other systems.  This decision orders PG&E shareholders to 

pay for more work to create a safe and reliable gas delivery and management system, 

worthy of the people of it serves. 

I would like to take a moment to remark upon the decision-making process and 

the rare procedural mechanism, codified in CPUC Rules of Practice and Procedure 

Section 15.5(b), this Commission utilized in reviewing the appeal to the Presiding 

Officer’s Decision on the Remedies portion of this case.  When a Presiding Officer’s 

Decision is appealed, the Rules create an opportunity for Commissioners to discuss the 

issues raised in the appeal in a noticed and calendared closed session meeting.  Leading 

up to today’s vote, there have been notices posted on the Commission’s calendar and 

around the Commission building noticing closed session meetings regarding the 

Appeal to the Presiding Officers’ Decision.  These closed session meetings enable 

Commissioners to exchange thoughts on the issues raised on appeal, without impairing 

any Commissioner’s ability to come to an individual decision or an alternate Decision. 

This was a productive procedural mechanism.  I would welcome more 

opportunities for deliberative discussion, consistent with CPUC rules. 

Few mechanisms exist whereby Commissioners have the ability to meet and 

exchange views on issues.  They are: (1) a Ratesetting Deliberative Meeting, (2) during 
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Commissioner Reports or comments about agenda items at regular Commission 

Business Meetings, a topic upon which I remarked at our last session, and (3) an appeal 

of a Presiding Officer’s Decision.  Just as Commissioners in other states have rules that 

allow collaborative deliberation, I recommend that as we evaluate Commission 

modernization efforts and potential rule changes, we consider creating more 

opportunities for deliberative discussion. 

The Decisions we adopt today signal that we expect accountability and 

performance from utilities we regulate and from ourselves at the CPUC.  Since the 

tragic San Bruno explosion, the CPUC has stepped up enforcement, fined utilities 

including PG&E and others for safety violations, increased SED’s authority to impose 

fines, and refocused the CPUC and the utilities it regulates on the primacy of safety.  

Where appropriate, the CPUC will investigate and take action to protect public safety, 

and we have explicitly made safety our highest priority.  Californians should receive 

what the law says they have the right to expect: safe, reliable utility service at just and 

reasonable rates with adequate facilities.  Let this Decision and our votes today herald a 

new era of commitment to safety and integrity, in the memory of and out of respect for 

the victims of the San Bruno blast, and for all Californians.  

 

April 9, 2015    /s/ CATHERINE J.K. SANDOVAL  
          Catherine J.K. Sandoval 

                Commissioner 
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DECISION REGARDING $850 MILLION PENALTY ALLOCATION  
FOR PACIFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY FOR  

GAS PIPELINE SAFETY ENHANCEMENTS 
 

Summary 
This decision finalizes the ratemaking treatment relating to the  

$850 million penalty assessed in Decision (D.) 15-04-0241 for violations by Pacific 

Gas and Electric Company (PG&E) associated with the September 9, 2010 gas 

transmission pipeline explosion and subsequent fire in San Bruno, California.  

We previously required that the $850 million penalty must be used to fund 

approved gas transmission pipeline safety enhancements, but we deferred a final 

determination as to the amount to be used for capital investments versus for 

current expenses.  As determined below, we direct PG&E to allocate 81 percent 

of the $850 million to fund capital expenditures, with the remaining 19 percent  

to fund expenses.  In this decision, we also adopt a finalized list of approved gas 

transmission pipeline projects and programs which meet the California Public 

Utilities Commission's definition of “safety related,” the costs of which are to be 

funded through the $850 million penalty. 

To reflect our determinations regarding allocation of the $850 million 

penalty between capital and expense, we make adjustments to finalize PG&E’s 

Gas Transmission and Storage (GT&S) revenue requirement as previously 

                                              
1  See D.15-04-024, issued April 9, 2015, re:  Decision on Fines and Remedies to be Imposed on Pacific 
Gas and Electric Company for Specific Violations in Connection with the Operation and Practices of its 
Natural Gas Transmission System Pipelines. 
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adopted on an interim basis in D.16-06-0562 for test year 2015 and for  

post-test year 2016-2018.  We also correct a minor technical error included in 

D.16-06-056.  As explained in D.16-06-056, the interim GT&S revenue 

requirement adopted therein was reduced by the incremental amount of 2015 

revenues that would be amortized over a five-month period associated with the 

delay caused by PG&E’s violation of the ex parte rules.3  The effects of today’s 

decision on the adopted revenue requirement for 2015, 2016, 2017 and 2018 are 

summarized below.  The 2015 amounts are shown after applying the ex parte 

disallowance.  We set forth the applicable revised revenue requirement and rate 

tables in the Appendices C-J to this decision to reflect the changes in rates that 

result from the findings of this decision.  

Year  2015  2016  2017  2018 

Base Revenue Requirement,4 

Pipeline Safety Enhancement Plan 
Included (1000s of $) 

 $815,207  $1,061,436 $1,125,292   $1,230,110

1. Background 

This decision finalizes Pacific Gas and Electric Company’s (PG&E) Gas 

Transmission and Storage (GT&S) revenue requirements through 2018, as 

adopted on an interim basis in Decision (D.) 16-06-056.  Pursuant to D.16-06-056, 

interim GT&S revenue requirements were adopted subject to the results of 

                                              
2  We note that there are pending applications for rehearing of D.16-06-056.  Today's decision is 
not intended to resolve the rehearing applications or to prejudge their outcome.  A subsequent 
Commission order will resolve the pending applications for rehearing. 
3  See also D.14-11-041. 
4  Excludes carrying costs on working gas and load balancing gas. 
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today’s decision.5  The finalized rates adopted herein reflect our adopted 

ratemaking treatment of the $850 million penalty that was imposed for violations 

associated with the September 9, 2010 gas transmission pipeline explosion and 

subsequent fire in San Bruno, California. 

In D.16-06-056, Ordering Paragraph (OP) 63, we directed that the 

ratemaking issues relating to the $850 million penalty would be finalized by 

subsequent order.  Pursuant to OP 63 in D.16-06-056, we allowed parties to 

comment as to the appropriate list of safety-related programs and projects to be 

used in tracking PG&E’s actual expenditures relating to the $850 million penalty.  

Parties could also address how the $850 million should be allocated to pay for 

shareholder-funded gas transmission pipeline safety improvements as ordered in 

D.15-04-024.  

PG&E, The Utility Reform Network (TURN), Indicated Shippers (IS), and 

the California Manufacturers & Technology Association (CMTA) filed opening 

briefs on July 7, 2016.  On July 26, 2016, Dynegy, TURN, CMTA with the 

California League of Food Processors (CLFP), and IS provided supplemental 

opening briefs based on additional information provided by PG&E.  Reply briefs 

were filed on August 2, 2016, by PG&E, Office of Ratepayer Advocates (ORA), IS, 

CMTA and CLFP, and Northern California Generation Coalition (NCGC).  

On September 6, 2016, the Administrative Law Judge (ALJ) issued a ruling 

setting a workshop to discuss Results of Operations (RO) modelling issues.  In 

the ruling, the ALJ noted that certain assumptions underlying the RO model may 

                                              
5  The adopted revenue requirement was reduced by the incremental amount of 2015 revenues 
that would be amortized over a five-month period associated with the delay caused by PG&E’s 
violation of the ex parte rules.  Until a final revenue requirement is adopted, a placeholder 
disallowance of $137.840 million was used to establish interim rates. 
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or may not be appropriate in the circumstances of implementing this penalty.  

The ALJ permitted the Energy Division to circulate illustrative RO modelling 

results to the parties in advance of the workshop, and the Energy Division 

provided illustrative results to the service list by e-mail on September 9, 2016.  

During the workshop on September 26, 2016, parties examined the issue and 

provided comments. 

2. Framework for the Ratemaking  
Treatment of the $850 Million Penalty 
In the interests of making PG&E’s gas transmission system as safe as 

possible for the public, ratepayers, utility workers, and the environment, in  

D.15-04-024, we required, among other things, that PG&E shareholders pay an 

$850 million penalty.  The $850 million penalty was one of the sanctions assessed 

against PG&E in reference to the September 9, 2010 gas transmission pipeline 

explosion and subsequent fire in San Bruno, California.  We further required in 

D.15-04-024 that the $850 million penalty be spent exclusively on approved gas 

transmission safety-related projects or programs, most of which was to be spent 

on capital investments. 

Since the $850 million penalty was to be funded exclusively by 

shareholders, we thus required that any safety-related costs associated with the 

$850 million penalty be excluded from PG&E’s GT&S revenue requirements 

adopted in Application 13-12-012.  Accordingly, any expenses funded through 

the $850 million penalty were to be excluded from the revenue requirement.  

Likewise, capitalized expenditures funded through the $850 million penalty were 

to be permanently excluded from PG&E’S rate base.  PG&E was not permitted  
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to add such expenditures to rate base or to earn a profit on them.6  By excluding 

these capital expenditures from rate base via the Capital Sub-Account, ratepayers 

will never pay for depreciation or a return on the excluded plant in future 

general rate cases.7  

Only costs for which PG&E would have been granted rate recovery in the 

GT&S proceeding count towards the $850 million penalty.  Work that PG&E 

chose to do at shareholder expense (i.e., not approved in the GT&S proceeding or 

a similar subsequent proceeding) does not count towards the $850 million total. 

In D.15-04-024, we adopted a tracking process to ensure that the amounts 

spent on safety-related projects funded through the $850 million penalty are paid 

by shareholders, not recovered from ratepayers.  Safety-related expenses and 

capital expenditures were to be tracked in a “Shareholder-Funded Gas 

Transmission Safety Account,” consisting of two subaccounts – one for expense 

and one for capital expenditures.8  PG&E was authorized to record costs incurred 

on or after January 1, 2015, for approved safety-related programs and projects 

into these accounts. 

We also provided guidance in D.15-04-024 as to how the $850 million was 

to be allocated between expense versus capital expenditures.  As a framework for 

                                              
6  See OP 7 of D.15-04-024. 
7  If the total penalty amount was not exhausted by designated safety-related projects or 
programs authorized in this proceeding, a determination of additional capital projects or 
programs to be funded by shareholders would be made in future proceedings, as necessary to 
ensure that PG&E ultimately spends the full $850 million designated for safety-related projects 
and programs. 

8  See D.15-04-024 at 96 (slip op.).  On May 20, 2015, PG&E filed Advice Letter 3596-G to 
establish the “Shareholder Gas Transmission Safety Account” and two subaccounts.  Resolution 
G-3509, issued December 17, 2015, directed PG&E to make certain revisions through a 
supplemental advice letter, filed on December 31, 2015, and approved on March 7, 2016. 
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this purpose, we looked to the budgets adopted in the Pipeline Safety 

Enhancement Plan proceeding (D.12-12-030).  As authorized therein, capital 

expenditures for 2013 and 2014 totaled $696.2 million, and approved expenses 

totaled $162.5 million.  The sum of $696.2 million and $162.5 million total $858.7 

million, reflecting 81 percent as capital expenditures (i.e., $696.2/$858.7) and  

19 percent as expenses (i.e., $162.5/858.7 million).  Applying a similar pattern to 

the $850 million penalty, we specified that up to $161.5 million (19 percent of the 

$850 million) was to apply to current expenses, and a minimum of $688.5 million 

(81 percent of the $850 million) was to apply to capital expenditures.9 

We directed PG&E to cap the amount in the Expense Sub-Account at the 

lesser of $161.5 million or the amount of “safety-related” costs so designated.  

If the total was less than $161.5 million, the limit included in the Capital  

Sub-Account was to be adjusted above $688.5 million by a corresponding 

amount, so that the two sub-accounts would total $850 million.  For items 

included in the Expense Sub-Account, we adopted a forecast in D.16-06-056 of 

when those expenses will be incurred.  Those expenses must be excluded in 

calculating the ratepayer-funded revenue requirements for each applicable year. 

On June 1, 2015, PG&E identified safety-related gas transmission projects 

and programs in the GT&S rate case forecast that it claimed should be recorded 

in the Shareholder-Funded Gas Transmission Safety Account (SFGTSA) and its 

two subaccounts.  These authorized expenses and capital expenditures for  

safety-related gas transmission projects or programs were to be funded by 

shareholders, subject to adopted expense and capital expenditure spending 

                                              
9  D.15-04-024 at 94-95. 
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limits.  If the total funded by shareholders was not exhausted by designated 

safety-related projects or programs authorized in the GT&S proceeding, we 

would make a determination of additional capital projects or programs to be 

funded by shareholders in future proceedings, as necessary to ensure that PG&E 

ultimately spends the full $850 million designated for safety-related projects and 

programs.10  

As noted in the Second Amended Scoping Memo, however, certain parties 

asserted that prioritization of programs and projects cannot be made until a final 

decision on authorized GT&S revenue requirement was issued.  TURN, ORA 

and IS, in particular, argued that D.15-04-024 contemplated two separate tasks in 

this regard:  (1) determining PG&E’s revenue requirement for safety-related 

programs and projects and (2) determining which of the authorized programs 

and projects costs would be offset by the $850 million penalty.  ORA contended 

that a discrete list of disallowances for capital projects is needed that can be 

tracked from year to year to ensure that these projects do not creep into rate base. 

In view of parties’ concerns, we deferred the final identification of  

safety-related projects for use in tracking spending relating to the $850 million 

penalty.  In D.16-06-056, we adopted PG&E’s proposed listing on an interim 

basis for purposes of identifying the safety-related projects used to track and 

verify that PG&E spends the $850 million penalty on approved projects only.   

We solicited comments on whether, in light of the revenue requirements adopted 

in D.16-06-056, any revisions in the adopted list were warranted.  

                                              
10  D.15-04-024 at 95. 
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As a related matter, we also solicited comments to consider further how 

the $850 million should be allocated between expenses versus capital 

expenditures as reflected in the GT&S revenue requirement in this proceeding. 

 Parties filed an opening and reply round of briefs addressing the 

prioritization of safety-related programs and projects.  Further, we invited 

parties to address whether the expense-versus-capital allocation of the  

$850 million as specified in D.15-04-024 should be changed.  We also asked 

parties to identify the specific authorized safety-related programs and projects 

that meet the California Public Utilities Commission’s (Commission) definition of 

being “safety-related” for purposes of tracking actual spending to be funded by 

the $850 million penalty. 

In finalizing the GT&S revenue requirements in this proceeding, we 

finalize our determination of the respective limits on expenses and capital 

expenditures that apply for safety-related gas transmission projects or programs 

as necessary to exhaust the $850 million penalty to be funded by shareholders. 

3. Approved Safety Programs and Projects  
to Offset the $850 Million Penalty 
3.1. Position of PG&E 
PG&E previously identified both the capital-related and expense-related 

programs and projects in its June 1, 2015 pleading11 to be applied against the  

$850 million penalty.  In its July 7, 2016 opening brief, PG&E asserts that these 

previous listings are still appropriate to apply to the $850 million penalty offset, 

                                              
11  In its June 1, 2015 Response to an ALJ ruling calling for information to implement  
D.15-04-025, PG&E identified capital and expense projects and programs to meet the 
Commission's definition of “safety related,” the costs of which should be offset by the  
$850 million penalty. 
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with two exceptions.  These two exceptions are the capital and expense 

associated with PG&E’s Routine Spending for Compression and Processing 

(Asset Family – Facilities).  PG&E had originally believed that these costs met the 

Commission’s definition of “safety related” because they include work to repair 

or replace valves and other transmission pipeline equipment.  PG&E states, 

however, that based on closer examination, it has determined that the vast 

majority of the work relates to compressor equipment rather than pipeline 

equipment.  PG&E now believes that this work should not be categorized as 

“safety-related” for purposes of determining costs to be offset by the $850 million 

penalty.  

In its July 2016 brief, PG&E identified the projects and programs that it 

believes to be “safety-related,” designated as capital expenditures  

(in Appendix A to the brief) versus expense (in Appendix B).  These appendices 

agree with PG&E’s June 1, 2015 filing, other than for classification of the Routine 

Spending for Compression and Processing noted above.  PG&E reflected this 

change in redlining. 

PG&E thus requests authority to record to the SFGTSA the safety-related 

costs it incurs or has incurred since January 1, 2015 in these categories up to the 

amounts the Commission adopted in D.16-06-056 through 2018 or until such 

earlier time as PG&E has recorded the full $850 million to the SFGTSA. 

3.2. Position of Other Parties 
TURN was the only party to respond on the issue of PG&E’s updated 

listing of the approved safety-related programs and project costs as an offset by 

the $850 million penalty.  TURN accepts PG&E’s modified designation of 

programs and projects that meet the definition of “safety-related,” as set forth in 
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PG&E’s opening brief.  TURN recommends that costs be allocated to those 

designated projects and programs as identified by PG&E. 

3.3. PG&E’s Proposed List of Safety-Related  
Programs and Projects is Adopted 

Particularly in view of the fact that there is no opposition on this issue, we 

conclude that PG&E’s proposed list of safety-related programs and projects that 

qualify as “safety-related,” as identified in its July 7, 2016 comments, is 

reasonable and should be adopted. 

Accordingly, we adopt the modified list of programs and projects  

incorporated in PG&E’s Appendix A and B, respectively, for purposes of 

identifying and tracking expenses and capital expenditures incurred by PG&E 

relating the $850 million penalty offset.  This modified list supersedes  

Appendix G of D.16-06-056, which previously set forth 2015 expenses and capital 

expenditures, and 2016 and 2017 expenses and capital additions based on  

post-test year escalation rates for safety-related capital expenditures and 

expenses as originally identified in PG&E‘s June 1, 2015 filing. 

4. Allocation of $850 Million Penalty to Expense  
versus Capital Expenditure and Sequence of the  
Penalty versus Ex Parte Disallowance 
This section addresses two interconnected disputes:  (1) the allocation of 

the penalty between expense and capital expenditure and (2) the sequencing of 

the five month ex parte disallowance adopted in D.14-11-041 in relation to the 

penalty.  We conclude that it is appropriate to apply the penalty 81 percent to 

capital expenditure and 19 percent to expense and that there shall be no change 

to the sequencing of the ex parte disallowance, i.e., the penalty is applied before 

calculation of the ex parte disallowance as previously decided in D.16-06-056.  

Our decision on each of these issues is consistent with prior decisions. 
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As noted above, in D.15-04-024, we determined that up to 19 percent of the 

penalty could be applied to expense, with the remaining 81 percent or more 

applied to capital expenditure. 

As adopted in D.16-06-056 and D.14-11-041, PG&E’s revenue requirement 

was reduced by the incremental amount of 2015 revenues that would be 

amortized over a five-month period associated with the delay caused by PG&E’s 

violation of ex parte rules.  Any revenue requirement effects due to the  

$850 million penalty were to be subtracted first to derive the ex parte 

disallowance.  As a result of this sequencing, the ex parte disallowance varies 

depending on how much of the $850 million penalty is applied to reduce the 

amount of current expenses versus capital expenditures. 

4.1. Position of PG&E 
PG&E takes no position regarding the relative percentage allocation of the 

$850 million penalty offset between capital expenditures versus expense items.  

PG&E, however, does dispute arguments advanced by other parties that the 

Commission mitigate two “unintended consequences” of the allocation by:  

(1) reconsidering the decision to sequence the calculation of the ex parte 

disallowance after the application of the $850 million penalty and (2) altering 

PG&E’s RO model to lower the revenue requirement that would result if  

100 percent of the $850 million penalty were applied to expense. 

PG&E argues that such changes are simply a function of the calculation of 

a revenue requirement using the ratemaking principles adopted by the 

Commission.  PG&E argues, however, that irrespective of how the $850 million is 

allocated between expense and capital items, the Commission’s previously 

adopted approach of sequencing the calculation of the ex parte disallowance 

should not be changed.  PG&E believes that the Commission correctly 
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determined that the $850 million penalty must be applied before calculating the 

ex parte disallowance in order to carry out the Commission’s intent to treat the  

ex parte disallowance as a ratepayer reparation, not a penalty.  PG&E argues that 

that determination should not be disturbed.  PG&E disputes characterizations of 

the calculation of the ex parte disallowance as a shareholder “windfall.” 

4.2. Positions of ORA and TURN 
TURN recommends that the Commission’s previously determined 

allocation of 81 percent capital and 19 percent expense should continue to apply 

for purposes of spending authorizations relating to the $850 million penalty.  

ORA agrees with TURN. 

As a way to mitigate the magnitude of rate increases adopted in  

D.16-06-056, TURN acknowledges that allocating more of the $850 million 

penalty as an offset to expenses would reduce the current GT&S revenue 

requirement and thus produce lower rate levels during the current rate cycle.  

TURN also believes, however, that using more of the penalty amount as an offset 

to expenses would run counter to the apparent intent of D.15-04-024 to apply 

most of the offset to capital expenditures, and thereby, provide longer-term 

benefits to ratepayers.  TURN also argues that the best balance of short- and 

long-term benefits would result from the allocation that maximizes net present 

value benefits to ratepayers.   In this regard, TURN expects that the 81 percent 

capital/19 percent expense allocation would offer higher net present value 

benefits to ratepayers than would a 100 percent expense approach.  TURN 

observes that a 100 percent allocation to expense produces only slightly lower 

rates in 2017 and 2018 than the 81 percent/19 percent capital-to-expense ratio. 

Based on rate tables provided by PG&E in response to the ALJ’s e-mail 

ruling, TURN states that rates in 2017 and 2018 would be “slightly lower” (with 
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the difference shrinking in 2018) under a 100 percent expense allocation.  TURN 

expects the effect of lower rate base from the 81 percent capital/19 percent 

expense allocation would yield lower rates than would a 100 percent expense 

allocation in subsequent years, however, and continuing into the future.  The 

length of time that future rate levels will be lower depends on the depreciation 

lives of the affected assets. 

TURN also argues that the choice between a 100 percent expense allocation 

versus an 81 percent capital/19 percent expense allocation for the $850 million is 

unduly complicated by the sequence that applies in calculating the disallowance 

for the delay due to PG&E’s improper ex parte communications. 

TURN disagrees with the Commission’s decision12 to calculate the ex parte 

penalty by first deducting the $850 million penalty from the revenue 

requirement.  If the ex parte disallowance were calculated on a revenue 

requirement before deducting the penalty, PG&E would be subject to a  

$138 million delay disallowance.  This amount assumes no $850 million penalty.  

Based on calculations from PG&E, if the ex parte disallowance is calculated after 

the $850 million offset, there would be a $75 million reduction in the 

disallowance under the 81 percent capital/19 percent expense scenario.  

Allocating 100 percent of the $850 million to expenses would negate virtually all 

of the 2015 revenue requirement increase and, therefore, reduce the delay 

disallowance nearly to zero.  TURN characterizes this result as a “windfall” to 

PG&E’s shareholders. 

                                              
12  D.16-06-056 and D.14-11-041. 
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TURN argues that maximizing the penalty allocation to capital costs 

would thus preserve more of the ex parte delay disallowance, thereby minimizing 

what TURN characterizes as a “windfall” to PG&E shareholders and muting the 

$850 million penalty. 

By applying the ex parte disallowance after the penalty offset, the impact of 

the $850 million penalty is, therefore, to reduce the ex parte disallowance by  

$63 million under the 81 percent/19 percent approach and to negate the full  

$138 million under a 100 percent expense allocation. 

TURN believes that allowing the $850 million penalty to moderate the 

adverse financial impacts to PG&E under either scenario is contrary to the 

Commission’s punitive intent in D.15-04-024.  TURN states that it intends to seek 

rehearing of the sequencing determination.  TURN recommends the 81 percent 

capital/19 percent expense approach even assuming the sequencing changed, 

but believes the choice becomes a closer call. 

TURN also expresses concerns about tax benefits relating to the  

$850 million penalty expenditures inappropriately flowing to PG&E’s 

shareholders.  PG&E believes these concerns apply whether the penalty is 

applied to expenses or to capital expenditures and thus are not a distinguishing 

factor in the choice of allocations.  TURN recommends that if any of the  

$850 million is allocated to capital spending, PG&E shareholders should not gain 

any net present value benefit from the short-term tax deductions from which 

ratepayers do not benefit under PG&E’s results of operations model because of 

the rate base offset.  TURN believes that ratepayers should ultimately be made 

whole for lost tax benefits that result from allocating penalty amounts to capital 

costs.  TURN believes this requirement should be enforced by an independent 

audit subject to review and comment by the parties to this proceeding. 
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4.3. Positions of Industrial Customer Groups 
Parties representing PG&E’s large industrial customers propose that the 

$850 million penalty should be allocated 100 percent to expenses of the current 

rate cycle.  IS, in particular, believes the expense-versus-capital expenditure 

allocations adopted in D.15-04-054 should be changed to apply 100 percent of the 

$850 million penalty to rate case period expense, arguing that ratepayer benefits 

are maximized under this approach.  CMTA, CLFP, and NCGC make similar 

arguments as discussed below. 

The large industrial customers favor allocation 100 percent of the  

$850 million penalty to offset 2015-2017 expenses to mitigate “rate shock” 

resulting from D.16-06-056.  They argue that allocation of 81 percent of the  

$850 million penalty to offset capital expenditures and only 19 percent to offset 

expense would do little to mitigate this rate shock.  For example, NCGC 

contends that certain electric generation customers face a 202 percent increase in 

cost for gas transmission and recommends that we allocate the penalty to 

expense in order to mitigate this increase.  An approximation of rate impacts can 

be drawn from comparisons between Table J-1A and Table G-15A (revised) of 

PG&E’s May 26, 2016 Revised Rate Appendices.  These rate schedules differ only 

in the application of the $850 million penalty using the 81 percent capital/19 

percent expense allocation.  Based on this data, IS states that application using 

these percentages will reduce the industrial rate increase by roughly $0.13/Dth 

(Dekatherm) in 2016 in the face of an increase of more than $1/Dth. 

IS concedes that, in theory, allocating more of the penalty to capital might 

yield a greater net present value, but claims that nothing in the record 

illuminates the long-term benefits.  
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IS also argues that, under TURN’s proposal, the reduction benefits–-in the 

form of reduced depreciation expense, taxes and return--would be realized over 

asset lives of up to 60 years.  Given the extended period required to recapture the 

penalty value long term, IS argues that the annual impacts of the  

81 percent/19 percent may be limited. 

CMTA argues that it is impossible to predict future rate changes and rate 

impacts of capital reduction benefits stretching years into the future. 

CMTA/CLFP members express concern over the magnitude of the rates 

authorized for 2016, 2017 and 2018 and not with long-term minor rate impacts. 

CMTA/CLFP argue that their members need immediate and maximum rate 

relief to deal with the near-term financial impacts of annual bill increases of 

$500,000 or more and are willing to forego the loss of what they characterize as 

“uncertain small capital reduction benefits that may or may not show up as 

noticeable rate impacts many years in the future.” 

IS argues that noncore customers face an unprecedented doubling or 

tripling of transportation rates as a result of the increases approved in  

D.16-06-056.  Absent other Commission action, the only further mitigation of 

these increases will come from allocation of the $850 million penalty to rates, 

which carries the potential to significantly reduce the level of rate increases at 

least for this rate cycle.  

IS agrees with TURN that the $850 million penalty should be applied after 

the ex parte disallowance to avoid entirely eliminating the reductions otherwise 

passed through to ratepayers and the deterrent effect on PG&E.  IS argues that 

any other resolution will reduce benefits to ratepayers by undermining the 

penalty and the deterrence effect of the disallowance.  IS and other industrial 

customer parties believe that by calculating the ex parte disallowance after 
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deducting the $850 million penalty serves to dilute the ratepayer benefits and 

PG&E punishment intended by the Commission in approving the San Bruno 

Penalty and five-month ex parte disallowance. 

Although IS favors the 100 percent expense allocation, IS characterizes 

such an allocation as resulting in a “windfall” to PG&E investors.  PG&E’s 

Results of Operation model shows a return that is $157 million greater over the 

2015-18 period under the 100 percent allocation compared to the  

81 percent/19 percent allocation method.  While the 81 percent/19 percent 

allocation provides a shareholder return of $971 million, the 100 percent expense 

method provides a $1.13 billion return over the rate period.  IS characterizes this 

$157 increment as a “shareholder windfall.”  To prevent this claimed shareholder 

“windfall,” IS proposes an incremental ratemaking disallowance to mitigate this 

result under the 100 percent expense method. 

4.4. Penalty Shall Be Applied First  
and Allocated 81 Percent to Capital 

We conclude that the allocation of the $850 million penalty between 

expense (19 percent) versus capital expenditures (81 percent), as previously 

adopted in D.15-04-024, is reasonable for purposes of finalizing the 2015 - 2018 

GT&S revenue requirements.  Further, we conclude that the sequencing of the 

$850 million penalty before the five-month ex parte disallowance, as previously 

adopted in D.16-06-056, is appropriate.  The resulting revenue requirements and 

rate impacts are appended to this decision.  

Allocating the penalty 81 percent to capital and 19 percent to expense 

provides the greatest long-term benefit to ratepayers, as noted by TURN and 

ORA.  This higher net present value of ratepayer benefits is a key factor in our 

analysis.  Different assumptions can be made for various factors relevant to this 

calculation (e.g., PG&E’s future costs of capital, ratepayers’ risk-adjusted 
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discount rates).  However, any reasonable assessment of these values would lead 

to a conclusion that ratepayers receive a net present value benefit from this 

allocation relative to a 100 percent expense allocation.  Thus, we agree with 

TURN and ORA. 

We decline to adopt proposals to apply 100 percent of the $850 million 

penalty as an offset to expenses.  Applying a 100 percent expense allocation 

would not be consistent with D.15-04-024 in which we stated that the majority of 

the funds to be spent on pipeline safety were to be capital expenditures.13  By 

simply allocating 100 percent of the $850 million penalty to current expense, 

there would be no continuing benefits to ratepayers in subsequent years.  By 

contrast, an investment in long-term capital spending will provide benefits to 

ratepayers for years to come, continuing through the useful lives of the resulting 

facilities. 

Instead of framing their proposals within a long-term perspective, the 

arguments of the industrial customers advocating a 100 percent expense 

allocation focus on temporary mitigation of what they characterize as rate shock.  

We recognize the concerns expressed with the level of rate increases adopted in  

D.16-06-056 – these increases are significant and notably larger than increases 

adopted in some prior rate cycles.  We also note that the percentage increases 

faced by non-core customers for gas transportation cost are relatively higher than 

the levels faced by core customer classes and that the percentage increase varies 

considerably across customer categories.  We conclude, however, that the 

proposal to apply 100 percent of the penalty to offset safety-related expenses is 

                                              
13  D.15-04-024 at 94. 
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not an appropriate remedy when viewed in the larger context of all ratepayers’ 

welfare over the long run.  Under the industrial customers’ position, current rate 

levels would be temporarily lowered by allocating 100 percent of the penalty to 

offset expenses.  Yet, by exhausting 100 percent of the penalty funds during the 

current rate cycle, effects of cost increases from D.16-06-056 are not eliminated, 

but are merely shifted to a later rate cycle.  The impact of the cost increases 

adopted in D.16-06-056, if delayed into future rates is not obviously and 

significantly preferable to those same cost increases if applied to rates 

immediately. 

IS also argues that any long-term benefits would accrue to future 

ratepayers who do not experience the substantial rate increases resulting from 

this GT&S rate cycle.  While it is correct that future ratepayers do not experience 

rate levels borne by current customers, such an observation offers no basis as to 

how to allocate the $850 million across time periods.  Both current and future 

customers bear their own respective share of costs based on factual conditions, 

ratemaking principles and costs of service that apply at each respective time.   

The level of rates facing current ratepayers does not give them an inherently 

stronger claim to the benefits of the $850 million penalty offset as compared to 

future ratepayers.  Determinations of how to allocate the $850 million penalty 

across rate cycles is not a function simply of the rate levels that otherwise 

rightfully apply across rate cycles. 

We conclude that over the long term, moreover, ratepayers as a whole are 

more likely to realize lower rates on a net present value basis under the  

19 percent/81 percent allocation rather than by exhausting 100 percent of the 

penalty during the current rate cycle.  The method that maximizes ratepayer 

benefits over the long term is preferable to one focusing solely on short-term 
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advantages.  In assessing net present value benefits to ratepayers relating to 

these future savings, their value would depend on the discount rate available to 

the average ratepayer.  The discount rate faced by individual ratepayers no 

doubt varies, and in particular, residential ratepayers may face different discount 

rates than do industrial customers, for example.  Even though no party has 

precisely calculated the net present value benefits, however, we conclude that 

ratepayers generally benefit from a capital cost offset by avoiding future revenue 

requirements to cover the related depreciation charges as well as the cost of 

capital and related tax obligations for equity portion of the investment. 

We find no error in the sequence adopted in D.16-06-056 for calculating the 

ex parte disallowance.  As explained in D.16-06-056, while a lower revenue 

requirement would result in a lower ex parte disallowance, the $850 million 

penalty must be applied first.  The incremental revenues that PG&E is authorized 

to collect over the five-month delay period cannot be determined until the  

safety-related programs and project costs are deducted from the otherwise 

authorized revenue requirement.  The applicable offset for the $850 million 

penalty must, therefore, be determined to calculate what 5/12 of that incremental 

revenue requirement is. 

Assuming the $850 million were allocated 100 percent to expense, the 

reduction for 2015 would result in no incremental revenues in 2015.  In that case, 

ratepayers would thus not be exposed to higher rates as a result of the delay, and 

there would be no need for an ex parte disallowance to compensate customers for 

the delay.   Since we are adopting an 81 percent/19 percent allocation, however, 

there will be a positive ex parte disallowance.  

The adopted revenue requirement must first be reduced by the  

$850 million penalty to determine what is to be collected from ratepayers.  The 
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amount to be collected is then allocated so that five months of the incremental 

2015 revenue requirement would be absorbed by shareholders and only seven 

months’ worth would be collected from ratepayers. 

As explained in D.16-06-056:  

The ex parte disallowance simply reduces the amount of the 
authorized revenue requirement to be collected from 
ratepayers.  This is true whether the $850 million San Bruno 
penalty is allocated as part of this Decision or in a separate 
decision.  More importantly, a final decision in this case 
cannot be rendered until after the $850 San Bruno penalty is 
applied. Thus, applying the ex parte disallowance prior to 
applying the San Bruno penalty would be contrary to the  
Ex Parte Sanctions Decision. 
Based on the above, the proper sequence for applying the 
penalties is to first reduce the adopted revenue requirement 
by the $850 million San Bruno penalty to determine the final 
revenue requirement to be collected from ratepayers.  The  
ex parte disallowance would then be applied so that five-
twelfths of the 2015 incremental increase is collected from 
PG&E shareholders.  In this Decision, we have included a 
placeholder for the ex parte disallowance.  However, as the 
revenue requirement adopted in this Decision will be reduced 
with the allocation of the $850 million San Bruno penalty, the 
ex parte disallowance will be adjusted at the time that final 
decision issued.14 

As noted by PG&E, the ex parte disallowance is a ratemaking reparation to 

compensate ratepayers for any negative impacts resulting from the delay in this 

proceeding caused by PG&E’s improper ex parte communications.  The ex parte 

disallowance was intended to hold ratepayers harmless for five months of the 

delay attributable to PG&E’s conduct.  The disallowance, therefore, was “to be 

                                              
14  D.16-06-056 at 405-406. 
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calculated based on the maximum of all authorized revenues that would have 

been amortized (collected from) ratepayers during the period of delay (currently 

believed to be five months.)”15  

As described in D.15-04-024, PG&E shall track both the expense and capital 

components of the $850 million penalty in sub-accounts of the SFGTSA.  As we 

noted, PG&E shall track its expense and capital expenditures as debits in this 

account, up to the lesser of (i) the amount authorized (including any 

contingency) or (ii) the amount actually expended. 

5. Correcting a Technical Error in D.16-06-056 
In D.16-06-056, we discussed hydrostatic station testing.  Our discussion 

clearly and correctly indicated our intent to defer consideration of the entire 

program to a later reasonableness review.  Accordingly, we held that the entire 

program would be excluded from rates and tracked in a memorandum account.16  

However, in the appendices to the decision, one component of the program, 

Compression and Processing ($455,000, 2015$), was incorrectly included in rates 

for 2015 and tracked in a balancing account.  As an expense item, this amount 

was escalated for 2016, 2017, and 2018.17  PG&E has implemented the Hydrostatic 

Station Testing Memorandum Account (HSTMA) in Advice Letter 3733-G, filed 

July 8, 2016, and included the $455,000 and associated escalated amounts in rates. 

In order to correct this error, PG&E shall revise the HSTMA to remove the 

Hydrostatic Station Testing Compression and Processing (HSTCP) amounts from 

rates and include the entire Hydrostatic Station Testing program in the HSTMA. 

                                              
15  D.15-06-035 at 10.   
16  D.16-06-056 at 135-136. 
17  D.16-06-056, Appendix I, Table 3. 
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6. Results of Operations (RO) Modeling 
We adopt revised GT&S revenue requirements and related tariff rate 

revisions as set forth in the appendices to incorporate the adopted penalty offset 

approach as discussed above.  The adopted revenue requirements reflect RO 

modeling adjustments to ensure that the reduction to rate base excludes the 

appropriate amounts consistent with the intent of D.15-04-024.  In view of the 

unusual nature of the penalty offset procedure that we adopt, a workshop was 

held on September 26, 2016 for parties to offer input on the appropriate RO 

modeling procedures to implement the necessary revenue requirements 

adjustments.  The primary technical RO modeling issue discussed at the 

September 26, 2016 workshop was how or if certain ratemaking items  

(e.g., retirements, working cash, deferred tax, depreciation expense, and net 

salvage) are related to the capital portion of the penalty.  However, a related 

material policy issue arose at the workshop.  Parties disagreed about the intent of 

the Commission in D.15-04-024 about how the capital portion of the penalty 

should be applied.  Workshop participants acknowledged that the situation of a 

penalty applied to capital expenditures is unusual. 

The illustrative results provided by the Energy Division apply the  

$688.5 million capital penalty as a reduction to gross additions to plant in service.  

Other factors that change as a function of plant in service (e.g., depreciation 

expense, working cash, etc.) are calculated dynamically in the RO model.  For 

example, a change in the amount of plant in service automatically changes the 

calculated amount of plant-related elements such as depreciation expense.  The 

RO model calculation of depreciation includes a provision for salvage value net 

of removal costs, estimated to be incurred once the plant in service is retired.  As 

a result, by changing the plant in service amount, the RO model dynamically 
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calculates resulting changes in depreciation, including net salvage.  Notably, 

Energy Division calculates a $54.5 million increase in net salvage (an element of 

the depreciation reserve) as a result of this application of the penalty.  Generally, 

net salvage is negative because cost of removal exceeds gross proceeds from 

salvage.  The increase in net salvage can be thought of as lower future costs of 

removal because for ratemaking purposes, “a project” is not implemented.  

Energy Division’s illustrative results show a $676.5 million reduction in rate base 

due to the application of the capital penalty.  The $12 million difference between 

the rate base reduction and the penalty amount is calculated as follows: 

Rate Base Changes Net of Gross Additions: 

             59,820   Negative Line 3 (Retirements) 

           (59,820)  Negative Line 23 (Retirements) 

             (7,092)  Positive Line 9 (Working Cash) 

             60,994   Negative Line 20 (Deferred Tax) 

             12,689   Negative Line 22 (Dep. Exp.) 

           (54,544)  Negative Line 24 (Net Salvage) 

             12,048   Sum of above 

PG&E contends that the penalty should be applied to capital expenditures, 

which PG&E interprets as a combination of gross additions and net salvage.   

Based on this interpretation, PG&E argues that the Energy Division’s illustrative 

results inappropriately lead to a total capital penalty of $743.0 million  

(= $688.5 million of gross additions + $54.5 million of net salvage).  PG&E 

proposes two alternative approaches to implement its position.  In PG&E’s first 

approach, PG&E applied 4.62 percent18 of the $688.5 million penalty as net 

                                              
18  Based on workpapers indicating that this is a typical ratio. 
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salvage19 and the remainder as gross additions.  Using this approach, PG&E 

calculates a rate base reduction of $628.1 million.  In PG&E’s second approach, 

PG&E applied the entire $688.5 million as a reduction to gross additions.  Under 

the second approach, PG&E calculates a rate base reduction of $637.0 million.  In 

each of PG&E’s approaches, the remaining factors were not calculated 

dynamically by the RO model, but were instead approximated.  Some factors 

(e.g., depreciation expense) were approximated using typical ratios; other factors 

(e.g., working cash) were taken directly from Energy Division’s illustrative 

results. 

TURN contends that the intent of the Commission in D.15-04-024 is that 

the entire amount of the capital penalty be removed from rate base.  Accordingly, 

TURN presented illustrative numbers showing adjustments for return, 

depreciation, and taxes so that the full $688.5 million is deducted from rate base.  

Like PG&E, TURN’s adjustments are approximated using a combination of ratios 

and copying from Energy Division’s illustrative results.  According to TURN’s 

estimate, the revenue requirement difference relative to Energy Division’s 

illustrative results is less than $2 million per year. 

As stated by parties at the workshop, this is a novel situation.  It appears 

that few, if any, parties directly addressed certain fine details of the application 

of the capital penalty in the RO model prior to our decision setting the penalty in 

D.15-04-024.  As a result, we must now reiterate and clarify our intent that was 

originally expressed in D.15-04-024.  In that decision, we repeatedly framed the 

                                              
19  In the workshop transcript, PG&E refers to cost of removal rather than net salvage.  These 
terms only differ by the gross salvage amount, which may be small relative to the cost of 
removal.  In workshop discussion, parties generally used the terms interchangeably.  In order to 
be consistent, we refer to net salvage in our discussion in this decision. 
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penalty in terms of “capital expenditures” without defining that term.20  

However, we also discussed the penalty in terms of “rate base”21 and as 

“plant,”22 again, without defining these terms.  Further, we clearly stated our 

intent that PG&E would not earn depreciation or rate of return on the capital 

penalty.23 

We find TURN’s interpretation is most consistent with our discussion of 

the penalty in terms of rate base.  The language of D.15-04-024 indicates our 

expectation that the entire penalty amount would be removed from rate base, 

particularly:  “the amounts of capital expenditures to be funded by shareholders 

shall be excluded from PG&E’s rate base to be determined in A.13-12-012 and in 

all PG&E proceedings thereafter.”24  We find that by simply relying on the 

default RO model dynamic calculations and the underlying assumptions, the 

result would be to lessen the impact of capital penalty on rate base and future 

revenue requirements relative to our intent in D.15-04-024.  Therefore, as a policy 

matter, we require that the rate base reduction due to application of the penalty 

equal $688.5 million.  Energy Division’s illustrative results indicate that this can 

be achieved by the end of 2016.  This leaves the technical matter of how to 

accomplish this goal. 

TURN’s approach applies the difference between the rate base adjustment 

and the capital penalty demonstrated in Energy Division’s illustrative results as a 

                                              
20  See, e.g. D.15-04-024 at 95, 97, 98, and 222. 
21  See, e.g. D.15-04-024 at 95, 98, and 99. 
22  See, e.g. D.15-04-024 at 97, 98, 99, and 223. 
23  See, e.g. D.15-04-024 at 98, 99, and 222. 
24  D.15-04-024 at 95. 
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further adjustment to rate base.  Thus, TURN implicitly relies on the dynamic 

calculations of the RO model.  TURN makes the adjustment to Energy Division’s 

results on a prorated basis according to the amount of the penalty applied in 

2015 and 2016.  TURN acknowledges that its approach relies on certain 

simplifications (e.g., assuming an imputed depreciation expense rate). 

However, in another circumstance, we have made an adjustment to rate 

base as a direct line-item adjustment independent of other factors.25  This simple 

approach is consistent with our intent in D.15-04-024 and is appropriate here.  

We will adopt rate base adjustments applied in 2015 and 2016, prorated based on 

the Energy Division’s illustrative results.  Although we require that the capital 

expenditures for the programs in Appendix G, Table 2, shall be recorded in the 

SFGTSA to ensure that the programs are implemented at the required levels, the 

rate base offset is not directly tied to the specific assets funded.  Instead, the rate 

base offset is a ratemaking approach to implement the penalty in a simple 

manner consistent with our intent in D.15-04-024.  D.15-04-024 adopted detailed 

accounting and tracking requirements relating to the capital portion of the  

$850 million penalty.  Those requirements apply in tracking the implementation 

of the revenue requirements adjustments made pursuant to this decision.  These 

adjustments will be accounted for in accordance with those tracking 

requirements the assets funded through the capital portion of the penalty  

(see Appendix A).  The weighted-average expected life of these assets is  

58 years.26  Revenue-dependent ratemaking items (e.g., income taxes, franchise 

fees) are calculated dynamically after the rate base offset is applied.  However, 
                                              
25  See, D.15-11-021 at 455. 
26  See Appendix G, Table 4. 
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rate base components (e.g., working cash) are calculated before the rate base 

offset is applied and are not impacted by the application of the rate base offset 

(i.e., they are not dynamically calculated).  The applied rate base offsets are 

summarized below: 

Year Applied 2015 2016 Total 

Rate Base Offset ($ millions, end of year) $379.325 $309.177 $688.502 

Year Depreciation is Complete 2073 2074  

We intend that PG&E shall maintain corresponding offsets to its rate base 

over this depreciation period.  PG&E should devise an appropriate and 

transparent method for accounting for these offsets in future rate cases and 

demonstrate this method in its next GT&S application.   

For comparison, this table summarizes the Energy Division’s illustrative 

results, PG&E’s first approach, and the adopted rate base offset.   

($millions) Energy 
Division 

PG&E Adopted Rate 
Base Offset 

Gross Additions  $      (688.5)  $      (688.5)  $               -    
Retirements  $          59.8   $               -     $               -    
Working Capital  $          (7.1)  $          (7.1)  $               -    
Deferred Tax 
Liabilities 

 $          61.0   $          54.2   $               -    

Depreciation 
Reserve 

 $      (101.7)  $        (18.6)  $               -    

Rate Base  $      (676.5)  $      (628.1)  $      (688.5) 

7. Update Transmission Integrity Management  
Program (TIMP) Balancing Account 
D.16-06-056 created a TIMP Balancing Account with spending caps for 

certain categories.  Many of the categories in the TIMP Balancing Account are 

partially funded by the capital portion of the penalty implemented by this 



A.13-12-012, I.14-06-016  ALJ/KD1/ge1 
 
 

- 30 - 

decision.  Accordingly, it is necessary to update the spending caps in the TIMP 

Balancing Account based on the amounts funded by the penalty.  We direct 

PG&E to include this update in the advice letter implementing this decision. 

8. Comments on Proposed Decision 
The proposed decision of ALJ Kevin Dudney in this matter was mailed to 

the parties in accordance with Section 311 of the Public Utilities Code and 

comments were allowed under Rule 14.3 of the Commission’s Rules of Practice 

and Procedure.  Comments were filed on November 21, 2016 by PG&E, 

ORA/TURN, IS, and CMTA/CLFP, and reply comments were filed on 

November 26, 2016 by PG&E, ORA, and TURN. 

Several parties repeated various arguments addressed previously, 

including arguments in favor of a 100% allocation of the penalty to expense and 

sequencing the ex parte disallowance prior to the application of the penalty.  

Although some clarifying changes were made, no substantive changes were 

made on these issues.   

PG&E expresses significant disagreement with the method of 

implementing the capital portion of the penalty as a rate base offset.  Specifically, 

PG&E alleges that this method conflicts with precedent regarding tax benefits 

and that the method constitutes a violation of normalization under the Internal 

Revenue Code and federal tax policy.  We address each of these allegations 

below.   

PG&E notes that in D.84-05-035,27 we held that tax benefits that result from 

disallowed costs should belong to shareholders.  However, as TURN correctly 

notes in reply comments, in that decision we addressed elective expenditures 
                                              
27  15 CPUC 2d.   
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such as donations; a very different subject than penalties.  We agree with TURN 

that D.84-05-035 is inapplicable here.   

PG&E explains that tax authorities require normalization accounting in 

order for a taxpayer to be eligible for depreciation allowance.  PG&E contends 

that the rate base offset approach creates a normalization violation due to 

inconsistent treatment of costs for depreciation versus tax purposes.  PG&E 

discusses Private Letter Rulings issued by the Internal Revenue Service.  As 

PG&E notes, the Private Letter Rulings cannot be cited as precedent as they 

address the unique circumstances of the taxpayer to whom they are issued.  We 

disagree with PG&E’s conclusion that the rate base offset creates a normalization 

violation.  We do not intend the rate base offset, or the penalty generally, to 

create tax timing differences.   

We intend that PG&E comply with normalization rules and we wish to 

avoid the potential adverse consequences of a finding of a normalization 

violation by the Internal Revenue Service.  Therefore, we will allow PG&E to 

establish a Tax Normalization Memorandum Account to track relevant costs.   

If PG&E chooses to seek a ruling from the Internal Revenue Service on this 

subject, PG&E shall file and serve a copy of the request as a Tier 1 advice letter at 

least 30 days before sending the request to the Internal Revenue Service.  Then, 

PG&E may seek an appropriate adjustment to its revenue requirement and/or 

rate base by Tier 2 advice letter in the event that PG&E receives a relevant ruling 

from the Internal Revenue Service contradicting this decision.   

Finally, PG&E and ORA each also noted certain technical errors in the RO 

and rates tables supporting the proposed decision.  The tables supporting this 

decision have been corrected and clarified in response to these comments.   
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9. Assignment of Proceeding 
Carla J. Peterman is the assigned Commissioner and Kevin Dudney is the 

assigned ALJ in this proceeding. 

Findings of Fact 
1. The uncontested list of safety-related capital and expense items included in 

PG&E’s July 7, 2016 Opening Brief is reasonable for allocating and tracking 

PG&E’s spending of the $850 million penalty adopted in D.15-04-024.  This list of 

safety-related programs and projects is set forth in Appendices A and B. 

2. An allocation of the $850 million penalty adopted in D.15-04-024,  

19 percent to expense and 81 percent to capital expenditures, offers a higher net 

present value benefit to ratepayers than would be achieved by a larger allocation 

to expense. 

3.  An allocation of the $850 million penalty adopted in D.15-04-024,  

19 percent to expense and 81 percent to capital expenditures, is consistent with 

the policy objectives of D.15-04-024. 

4. An allocation of the $850 million penalty adopted in D.15-04-024,  

19 percent to expense and 81 percent to capital expenditures, is reasonable. 

5. In the appendices to D.16-06-056, one component of the hydrostatic testing 

program, Compression and Processing ($455,000, 2015$), was incorrectly 

included in rates for 2015 and tracked in a balancing account.  As an expense 

item, this amount was escalated for 2016, 2017, and 2018.   PG&E has 

implemented the HSTMA in Advice Letter 3733-G, filed July 8, 2016, and 

included the $455,000 and associated escalated amounts in rates.  In order to 

correct the error, the HSTMA must be revised to remove this component. 
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6. Relying on the default RO model dynamic calculations and the underlying 

assumptions would lessen the impact of capital penalty on rate base and future 

revenue requirements relative to our intent in D.15-04-024. 

7. For consistency with D.15-04-024, the rate base reduction due to 

application of the penalty should equal $688.5 million.  

8. Many of the categories in the TIMP Balancing Account are partially funded 

by the capital portion of the penalty implemented by this decision.  Accordingly, 

it is necessary to update the spending caps in the TIMP Balancing Account based 

on the amounts funded by the penalty.   

Conclusions of Law 
1. The list of safety-related programs and projects set forth in  

Appendices A and B should be adopted for purposes of identifying and tracking 

PG&E’s expenditures relating to the $850 million adopted in D.15-04-024.  

2. The $850 million penalty adopted in D.15-04-024 should be applied to the 

safety-related programs identified in Appendices A and B, 19 percent to expense 

and 81 percent to capital expenditures. 

3. PG&E should be required to revise the HSTMA to remove the HSTCP 

amounts from rates and include the entire Hydrostatic Station Testing program 

in the HSTMA.  

4. PG&E should be required to update the spending caps in the TIMP 

Balancing Account to account for the amounts of the spending categories funded 

by the penalty implemented in this decision. 

5. Since this decision authorizes a rate decrease, 30-day notice before the 

effective date of the advice letters implementing this decision is not required by 

General Order 96-B, Rule 4.2. 
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6. PG&E should be authorized to establish a Tax Normalization 

Memorandum Account.   

7. PG&E should be required to file and serve any request to the Internal 

Revenue Service concerning normalization of the capital portion of the penalty as 

a Tier 1 Advice Letter at least 30 days before sending the request. 

8. In the event that PG&E receives a ruling from the Internal Revenue Service 

contradicting this decision, PG&E should be authorized to request an 

appropriate adjustment to its revenue requirement and/or rate base by Tier 2 

Advice Letter. 

9. In order to give prompt effect to the rate reductions adopted herein, this 

decision should be effective today. 

10. Application 13-12-012 and Investigation 14-06-016 should be closed. 

 
O R D E R 

 

IT IS ORDERED that: 

1. Pacific Gas and Electric Company shall adjust its rates and authorized 

ratemaking accounting mechanisms, as previously authorized in  

Decision (D.) 16-06-056, to apply over the remainder of this gas transmission and 

storage rate case cycle through December 31, 2018, based upon the amounts set 

forth in Appendices C-J, except that recovery of the under collection will be over 

the period shown in Appendix J, Table 1 (31 months).  The revised rates adopted 

herein represent a true-up of the interim rates adopted in D.16-06-056, to reflect 

the offset of the $850 million penalty adopted in D.15-04-024, to be funded solely 

by shareholders and allocated 81 percent to capital expenditures and 19 percent 

to expenses.  These offsets shall be tracked in the Shareholder-Funded Gas 

Transmission Safety Account adopted in D.15-04-024. 
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2. Pacific Gas and Electric Company shall file a Tier 2 advice letter in 

compliance with General Order 96-B within 10 days of the effective date of this 

decision to revise its unbundled backbone and storage tariffs and rate tables  

to implement the rate adjustments adopted in this order.  The advice letter shall 

also revise the Hydrostatic Station Testing Memorandum Account previously 

approved in Advice Letter 3733-G to include the entire Hydrostatic Station 

Testing Program.  The advice letter shall also update the spending caps in the 

Transmission Integrity Management Program Balancing Account to account for 

the amounts of the spending categories funded by the penalty implemented in 

this decision.  The advice letter may also create a Tax Normalization 

Memorandum Account.  The protest period for the advice letter shall be reduced, 

with protests due 10 days after the advice letter filing.  No additional customer 

notice need be provided pursuant to General Rule 4.2 of General Order 96-B for 

this advice letter filing.The revised tariff sheets will become effective on 

January 1, 2017, if the Commission’s Energy Division determines that they are in 

compliance with this order by December 20, 2016.    If the advice letter is 

approved after December 20, 2016, Pacific Gas & Electric Company shall 

incorporate the revised rates and revisions to its accounts as part of its next 

monthly gas rate change for rates effective on the 1st of the month following 

approval of the advice letter that falls at least five days prior to the 1st of the 

month. 

3. The list of safety-related programs and projects for capital and expense, as 

set forth in Appendices A and B are hereby adopted for purposes of identifying 

and tracking expenditures by Pacific Gas and Electric Company relating to its 

obligations to use the $850 million penalty for purposes of gas transmission 

pipeline safety enhancements, as directed by Decision (D.) 15-04-024.   
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Appendix G, (Table 1 Column (B) and Table 2 Columns (B) and (E)), to this 

decision identify the specific programs and related costs to be recorded in the 

Shareholder-Funded Gas Transmission Safety Account.  These Appendices 

supersede Appendix G of D.16-06-056 (which previously set forth 2015 expenses 

and capital expenditures, and 2016 and 2017 expenses and capital additions for 

safety-related capital expenditures and expenses). 

4. The Energy Division results of operations model and rates model, as well 

as the workpapers supporting the modeling used to produce the rates in the 

appendices of this Decision, are received into the record of this proceeding, and 

identified as Exhibit ALJ-3.  Upon the issuance of this decision, the Energy 

Division will provide a copy of the models, as well as the workpapers supporting 

the modeling used to produce the rates to Pacific Gas and Electric Company 

(PG&E) and the Office of Ratepayer Advocates.  Other parties to the proceeding 

seeking to obtain access to the models and workpapers must first enter into a 

non-disclosure agreement with PG&E, and then contact Energy Division to 

arrange to receive a copy. 

5. In the event that Pacific Gas and Electric Company (PG&E) chooses to 

make any request to the Internal Revenue Service concerning normalization of 

the capital portion of the penalty, PG&E shall file and serve a copy of the request 

as a Tier 1 Advice Letter at least 30 days before sending the request.  If PG&E 

receives a ruling from the Internal Revenue Service contradicting this decision, 

PG&E is authorized to request an appropriate adjustment to its revenue 

requirement and/or rate base by Tier 2 Advice Letter. 
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6. Application 13-12-012 and Investigation 14-06-016 are closed. 

This order is effective today. 

Dated December 1, 2016, at San Francisco, California.  

 
 

MICHAEL PICKER 
             President 
CATHERINE J.K. SANDOVAL 
CARLA J. PETERMAN 
LIANE M. RANDOLPH 
 Commissioners 
 

 

I abstain. 
 
/s/  MICHEL PETER FLORIO 
  Commissioner 
 
 



Advice 3805-G 
February 6, 2017 
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APPENDIX G
Pacific Gas and Electric Company

2015 Gas Transmission and Storage Rate Case (2015 GT&S)
Safety Program Costs ($850 million)

TABLE INDEX

Table

Expense Program Proposal Based on Adopted 1 (Updated)

Capital Addition Program Proposal Based on Adopted 2 (Updated)

Revenue Requirement Impact of Rate Base (RB) Adjustment in 2015 and 2016 3 (New)

PG&E-TURN-ORA Exhibit Joint 1, Depreciation Stipulation, Table 15A-1 Extract 4 (New)
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APPENDIX G: Table 1 (Updated)

Pacific Gas and Electric Company

2015 Gas Transmission and Storage Rate Case (2015 GT&S)

Safety Program Costs ($850 million)

Expense Program Proposal Based on Adopted 

(Thousands of Nominal Dollars)

Exhibit 2015

Line
(PG&E-1 & 2)

Chapter Chapter Name Programs Sub-Programs Related MWC
D.16-06-056 

Adopted
D.15-04-024

Penalty Adopted

(A) (B) (C)

1 4A ILI HP, II, JT, KE, KF, 34 31,521 31,521

2 ILI Casings 3,545 3,545

3 Non-Traditional ILI 146 146

4 Non-Traditional ILI DE&R -                    -                 

5 Traditional ILI 14,521 14,521

6 Traditional ILI DE&R 13,310 13,310

7 Direct Assessment HP, II 24,982 24,982

8 External Critical Direct Assessment - ECDA 14,461 14,461

9 Internal Critical Direct Assessment - ICDA 7,664 7,664

10 Stress Corrosion Cracking Direct Assessment - SCCDA 2,857 2,857

11 Hydrostatic Testing HP, II, JT, KE, KF, 34 103,475 2,548

12 Hydrostatic Testing 100,927 (100,927) -                 

13 Hydrostatic Testing - LNG/CNG 2,548 2,548

14 Earthquake Fault Crossings JT 2,590 2,590

15 Geo-Hazard Threat Identification HP, JT, 34 211 211

16 Programs to Enhance Integrity Management HP, II, JT, KE, KF 7,315 7,315

17 Risk Analysis 6,263 6,263

18 Root Cause Analysis 1,052 1,052

19 Inoperable and Hard to Operate Valves KE, JT 242 242

20 170,337 69,410

21 4B Class Location Program HP, JT, KF, JO 3,985 3,985

22 Water and  Levee Crossing JT 1,372 1,372

23 Shallow Pipe Program JT 3,073 3,073

24 8,429 8,429

25 6 Engineering Critical Assessment Phase 2 JT, 34 8,682 8,682

26 Routine Spend M&C 34, JT, KE, KF 8,390 8,390

27 Engineering Critical Assessment Phase 1 JT, KF, 34 15,634 15,634

28 32,705 32,705

29 7 Corrosion Control Cathodic Protection Rectifier JO 450 450

30 Cathodic Protection Monitoring JO 1,820 1,820

31 Cathodic Protection Resurvey JO 177 177

32 Cathodic Protection Troubleshooting JO 177 177

33 CP Corrective Maintenance JO 1,340 1,340

34 Corrosion Investigations HP, 34 5,455 5,455

35 Close Interval Survey HP 8,759 8,759

36 AC Interference HP, 34 528 528

37 DC Interference HP, 34 2,552 2,552

38 Casings HP, 34 39,592 (39,592) -                 

39 Internal Corrosion HP 8,784 8,784

40 Atmospheric Corrosion Inspection and Remediation JO, JT, HP, 34 20,437 20,437

41 90,070 50,478

42 8 Locate and Mark DF 8,986 8,986

43 Pipeline Maintenance JO, KE, KF 30,182 30,182

44 Leak Management 6,128 6,128

45 Required Pipeline Patrol 8,553 8,553

46 Pipeline Maintenance and Repair 11,200 11,200

47 Operate Transmission Pipeline 3,406 3,406

48 Right-of-Way Support 895 895

49 Maintenance Expense Projects JT, KF 36,960 15,979

50 Pipeline Projects 30,614 (20,981) 9,633

51 Permits and Fees Projects 6,346 6,346

52 76,128 55,147

53 Grand Total 377,669 (161,500) 216,169

Transmission Pipe 
Engineering Programs

Asset Family - 
Facilities

Gas Transmission 
System Operations 
and Maintenance

Transmission Pipe 
Integrity and 
Emergency Response 
Programs
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APPENDIX G: Table 2 (Updated)

Pacific Gas and Electric Company

2015 Gas Transmission and Storage Rate Case (2015 GT&S)

Safety Program Costs ($850 million)

Capital Addition Program Proposal Based on Adopted

(Thousands of Nominal Dollars)

2015 2016 2017

Line

Exhibit 
(PG&E-1 & 2)

Chapter Chapter Name Programs Sub-Programs
Related 

MWC

D.16-06-056  
Gross 

Additions
D.15-04-024 

Penalty Adopted

D.16-06-056  
Gross 

Additions
D.15-04-024 
Penalty (1) Adopted

D.16-06-056  
Gross 

Additions Total
(A) (B) (C)=(A)+(B) (D) (E) (F)=(D)+(E) (G) (H)=(C)+(F)+(G) 

1 4A ILI Traditional ILI Cost 44, 98 42,212 (42,212) 0 68,240 (49,945) 18,294 78,024 96,318

2 Non-Traditional ILI Cost 98 2,649 (2,649) 0 12,094 (8,851) 3,242 12,628 15,871

3 44,861 (44,861) 0 80,333 (58,797) 21,536 90,652 112,188

4 Hydrostatic Testing Hydrotest - LNG/CNG Cost 73 2,781 (2,781) 0 2,845 (2,082) 763 2,918 3,681

5 Hydrostatic Testing 75 20,136 (20,136) 0 20,595 (15,074) 5,521 21,126 26,648

6 22,918 (22,918) 0 23,440 (17,156) 6,284 24,044 30,328

7 Earthquake Fault Crossings 44, 75 4,728 (4,728) 0 4,836 (3,540) 1,297 4,961 6,257

8 Vintage Pipe Replacement 44, 75 135,152 (135,152) 0 138,234 (101,175) 37,059 141,797 178,856

9 Geo-hazard Threat Identification 44, 75 7,055 (7,055) 0 7,215 (5,281) 1,934 7,401 9,335

10 Valve Automation 75 39,696 (39,696) 0 40,601 (29,716) 10,885 41,648 52,532

11 Inoperable and Hard to Operate Valves 75 6,292 (6,292) 0 6,436 (4,711) 1,725 6,602 8,327

12 260,701 (260,701) 0 301,096 (220,376) 80,720 317,105 397,825

13 4B Class Location Program 44, 75 16,021 (16,021) 0 16,386 (11,993) 4,393 16,809 21,201

14 Water and Levee Crossing Program 44, 75 12,558 (12,558) 0 12,844 (9,401) 3,443 13,175 16,618

15 Shallow Pipe Program 44, 75 16,189 (16,189) 0 16,559 (12,119) 4,439 16,985 21,424

16 44,768 (44,768) 0 45,789 (33,514) 12,276 46,968 59,244

17 6 Asset Family - Facilities Gas Transmission SCADA Visibility 76 5,327 (5,327) 0 5,448 (3,988) 1,461 5,589 7,049

18 Routine Capital Spending - M&C 75, 76 19,309 (19,309) 0 19,749 (14,455) 5,295 20,258 25,553

19 24,636 (24,636) 0 25,198 (18,443) 6,755 25,847 32,602

20 7 Corrosion Control CP Systems - Replace 75 3,061 (3,061) 0 3,131 (2,292) 839 3,212 4,051

21 CP Systems - New 75 7,704 (7,704) 0 7,880 (5,767) 2,113 8,082 10,195

22 Coupon Test Stations 75 1,105 (1,105) 0 1,130 (827) 303 1,159 1,462

23 AC Interference Mitigation 75 4,270 (4,270) 0 4,368 (3,197) 1,171 4,480 5,651

24 DC Interference Mitigation 44, 75 756 (756) 0 773 (566) 207 793 1,001

25 Casings 44,75 15,985 (15,985) 0 16,349 (11,966) 4,383 16,771 21,154

26 Internal Corrosion 75, 84 503 (503) 0 514 (376) 138 527 665

27 (Reference Information on Other Historical Work) 75 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

28 33,384 (33,384) 0 34,145 (24,991) 9,154 35,024 44,178

29 9 Program Management Office 75 6,124 (6,124) 0 6,264 (4,585) 1,679 6,425 8,105

30 6,124 (6,124) 0 6,264 (4,585) 1,679 6,425 8,105

31 10 Capacity 73 9,710 (9,710) 0 9,931 (7,269) 2,662 10,187 12,850

32 9,710 (9,710) 0 9,931 (7,269) 2,662 10,187 12,850

33 Grand Total 379,324 (379,324) 0 422,424 (309,177) 113,247 441,556 554,803

0 0 (688,501)
Net of 2015 
and 2016 0

Note (1) - Penalty applied on a proportional basis using 2016 D.16-06-056 amounts.

Gas System Operations

Transmission Pipe 
Integrity and Emergency 
Response Programs

Transmission Pipe 
Engineering Programs

Program Management 
Office
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APPENDIX G: Table 3 (New)
Pacific Gas and Electric Company

2015 Gas Transmission and Storage Rate Case (2015 GT&S)
Safety Program Costs ($850 million)

Revenue Requirement Impact of Rate Base (RB) Adjustment in 2015 and 2016
(Thousands of Dollars)

Total 2015 2016

2016 Total Company Rate Base Adj - EOY 688,502 379,325 309,177

Line 2015 2016 2017 2018

Revenue Requirement Calculations (Note 1) : (A) (B) (C) (D)

1 Revenue Requirement (L9 + L10) 5,298 (47,906) (94,657) (93,745)

2 Uncollectibles (L1 x Uncollectible Rate) 17 (156) (307) (304)

3 Franchise Fees (L1 x Franchise Fee Rate) 50 (450) (889) (881)

4 Subtotal (L2 + L3) 67 (605) (1,196) (1,185)

5 Property Tax (Prior Yr Net Plant x L23 / 2) + (Current Yr Net Plant x L23 / 2) 0 (2,079) (5,826) (7,436)

6 Income Taxes (L21) 14,914 (742) (21,754) (20,201)

7 Depreciation Depreciable Plant x 1/58 (WAVG Life) (1,706) (7,931) (11,871) (11,871)

8 Subtotal (L5 + L6 + L7) 13,208 (10,752) (39,451) (39,508)

9 Operating Expenses (L4 + L8) 13,275 (11,358) (40,647) (40,693)

10 Net for Return (L11 x L12) (7,977) (36,548) (54,009) (53,053)

11 Wt Avg (WAVG) Rate Base (Note 2) (2015 & 2016 Rate Base Adjustment amortized down over 58 years) (98,970) (453,452) (670,091) (658,220)

12 Rate of Return % (PG&E's Authorized Cost of Capital) 8.06% 8.06% 8.06% 8.06%

Income Tax Calculations:

13 WAVG Rate Base (Note 2) (2015 & 2016 Rate Base Adjustment amortized down over 58 years) (98,970) (453,452) (670,091) (658,220)

14 WAVG Preferred & Equity (PG&E's Authorized Cost of Capital - equity portion) 5.46% 5.46% 5.46% 5.46%

15 Equity Earnings (L13 x L14) (5,408) (24,777) (36,614) (35,965)

16 Property Tax Deduction (L5) 0 (2,079) (5,826) (7,436)

17 Tax Repair Deduction (Note 3) (2015 & 2016 Rate Base Adjustment x Auth.Tax Repair Deduction %) (27,096) (21,618) 848 848

18 Subtotal Deductions (L16 + L17) (27,096) (23,697) (4,978) (6,588)

19 Taxable Income (L15 - L18) 21,688 (1,080) (31,636) (29,377)

20 Combined Tax Rate (Incl. NTG) Tab FactorsAndRates: L9 68.765% 68.765% 68.765% 68.765%

21 Income Tax (L19 x L20) 14,914 (742) (21,754) (20,201)

Note 1 :  Workpapers show revenue requirements through 2075.

Note 2 :  See "688.5M_WAVG-RateBaseAdjustment_Details.xlsx " for Year 2015 WAVG Rate Base Adjustment details.

Note 3 :  FIT Repair Allowance Adjustment, Exhibit (PG&E-2), page 16-18.

A.13-12-012, I.14-06-016  ALJ/KD1/ge1

4



APPENDIX G: Table 4 (New)
Pacific Gas and Electric Company

2015 Gas Transmission and Storage Rate Case (2015 GT&S)

Safety Program Costs ($850 million)
PG&E-TURN-ORA Exhibit Joint 1, Depreciation Stipulation, Table 15A-1 Extract

Calculation of Weighted Average Survivor Curve Life
(Thousands of Dollars)

Line Future Survivor Weighted Average
No. Accruals Curve Life Calculation

(A) (B) (C) = (A) x (B)
GAS PLANT
Transmission Plant (excluding Line 401 and Stanpac)

1 366.1 Compressor Station Structures 11,402,662           50 - R2 570,133,088
2 366.2 Measuring and Regulating Station Structures 8,263,678             50 - R2 413,183,892
3 366.3 Other Transmission System Structures 14,221,117           40 - R2 568,844,688
4 367 Mains 1,935,123,086      62 - R2 119,977,631,326
5 368 Compressor Station Equipment 253,440,118         40 - R2 10,137,604,722
6 369 Measuring and Regulating Station Equipment 195,586,533         45 - R1 8,801,394,005
7 371 Other Equipment 37,224,475           50 - R1.5 1,861,223,764                 

8 Total Transmission Plant (excluding Line 401 and Stanpac) 2,455,261,669      142,330,015,486             

Weighted Average Life = 
Total (C) / Total (A)

9 58
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PG&E Gas and Electric 
Advice Filing List 
General Order 96-B, Section IV 
 

 

AT&T Don Pickett & Associates, Inc. OnGrid Solar 
Albion Power Company Douglass & Liddell Pacific Gas and Electric Company 
Alcantar & Kahl LLP Downey & Brand Praxair 
Anderson & Poole Ellison Schneider & Harris LLP Regulatory & Cogeneration Service, Inc. 
Atlas ReFuel Evaluation + Strategy for Social 

Innovation 
SCD Energy Solutions 

BART G. A. Krause & Assoc. SCE 
Barkovich & Yap, Inc. GenOn Energy Inc. SDG&E and SoCalGas 
Bartle Wells Associates GenOn Energy, Inc. SPURR 
Braun Blaising McLaughlin & Smith, P.C. Goodin, MacBride, Squeri, Schlotz & 

Ritchie 
San Francisco Water Power and Sewer 

Braun Blaising McLaughlin, P.C. Green Charge Networks Seattle City Light  
CPUC Green Power Institute Sempra Energy (Socal Gas) 
California Cotton Ginners & Growers Assn Hanna & Morton Sempra Utilities 
California Energy Commission ICF SoCalGas 
California Public Utilities Commission International Power Technology Southern California Edison Company 
California State Association of Counties Intestate Gas Services, Inc. Southern California Gas Company 

(SoCalGas) 
Calpine Kelly Group Spark Energy 
Casner, Steve Ken Bohn Consulting Sun Light & Power 
Cenergy Power Leviton Manufacturing Co., Inc. Sunshine Design 
Center for Biological Diversity  Linde Tecogen, Inc. 
City of Palo Alto Los Angeles County Integrated Waste 

Management Task Force 
TerraVerde Renewable Partners 

City of San Jose Los Angeles Dept of Water & Power TerraVerde Renewable Partners, LLC 
Clean Power MRW & Associates Tiger Natural Gas, Inc. 
Clean Power Research Manatt Phelps Phillips TransCanada 
Coast Economic Consulting Marin Energy Authority Troutman Sanders LLP 
Commercial Energy McKenna Long & Aldridge LLP Utility Cost Management 
Cool Earth Solar, Inc. McKenzie & Associates Utility Power Solutions 
County of Tehama - Department of Public 
Works 

Modesto Irrigation District Utility Specialists 

Crossborder Energy Morgan Stanley Verizon 
Crown Road Energy, LLC NLine Energy, Inc. Water and Energy Consulting 
Davis Wright Tremaine LLP NRG Solar Wellhead Electric Company 
Day Carter Murphy Nexant, Inc. Western Manufactured Housing 

Communities Association (WMA) 
Defense Energy Support Center ORA YEP Energy 
Dept of General Services Office of Ratepayer Advocates Yelp Energy 
Division of Ratepayer Advocates Office of Ratepayer Advocates, Electricity 

Planning and Policy B 
 

 




